The Immunobiology of Japanese Encephalitis Virus

Maximilian Larena

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of The Australian National University

August 2012



THE JOHN CURTIN School of Medical Research

Statement of Declaration

All experimental work and text presented in this thesis is the original work of the author unless otherwise stated. This thesis conforms to the Australian National University guidelines and regulations, and the work contain within has not been submitted for the purpose of obtaining any other degree at this or other universities.

aren

Maximilian Larena

August 2012



I would to express my deep gratitude to the Australian Agency for International Development (AusAID) scholarships program of the Australian government, for granting me the Australian Leadership Awards for PhD studies, with special mention to the ANU AusAID liason officer, Carol Laslett, for facilitating my basic needs upon my arrival and providing me substantial advice on surviving as a research scholar in Canberra.

I am grateful to my supervisory panel, Associate Professor Mario Lobigs, Dr Matthias Regner, and Dr Eva Lee for their support and advice all throughout my PhD years. I also offer my special thanks to Megan Pavy and Paivi Lobigs for sharing their technical expertise, which was instrumental in the design of my successful experiments.

I would like to express my great appreciation to Dr Jayaram Bettadapura, Dr Michael Frese, Associate Professor Gunasegaran Karupiah, Professor Arno Mullbacher, Professor Ian Ramshaw, Dr Charani Ranashige, and Professor Carola Vinuesa for their technical and professional advices. I particularly express my deep gratitude to Dr Anna Cowan for her dedication in providing me a supporting environment to obtain superior and quality research experience.

I wish to acknowledge the assistance provided by Anne Prins for her immunohistochemistry and histology services, Dr Harpreet Vohra and Michael Devoy for their services in flow cytometry, Matthew Tinning and his team at the Australian

Genomics Resource Facility (AGRF) for their services on Nimblegen sequence capture

and Illumina sequencing technology, Dr. Belinda Whittle and her team at the Australian Phenomics Facility (APF) for their services on genotyping, allele discrimination by Amplifluor SNPs technology, and genome mapping, and the bioinformatics team of AGRF and APF for the analysis of my data. I would also like to thank Professor Roy Hall and his group from the School of Chemistry and Molecular Biosciences, University of Queensland, especially Dr Natalie Prow, for assisting me in my vaccine protection experiments.

I thank my colleagues, Saila Ismail, Miheer Sabale, and Jo Shuang, for providing me an enjoyable and relaxing work environment. I especially thank my friend, Dr Siti Nor Khadijah Addis, for her knowledge, professionalism, and the reliable support she extended to my work.

I am more than grateful to the ANU Filipino community and the Philippine Studies group for providing me an excellent intellectual and social environment, with special mention to my closest friends Cesar, Lara, Chester, Paul, Akram, Venus, Weng, Michelle, Lemuel, Andrew, and Beauty. I, most of all, thank my unending source of support and inspiration, my parents, Arthur and Carmelita, and the rest of my family, Arnold, Allan, Carolyn, Anthony, John, and Sebastian.



Japanese encephalitis virus is the leading cause of viral encephalitis in Asia. In spite of this, the immunological correlates for recovery from primary Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) infection remain poorly defined. In this work, I have first established a mouse model for Japanese encephalitis in which a low-dose virus inoculum was administered subcutaneously into adult C57BL/6 mice. In this model, \sim 60% of the mice developed fatal encephalitis, concomitant with virus burden in the central nervous system (CNS). JEV infection induced a peak natural killer (NK) cell response on day 4 post-infection (pi), a peak CD8⁺ T cell response on day 7 pi, a peak anti-JEV IgM response on day 8 pi, and an increasing anti-JEV IgG responses from day 8 pi onwards.

Second, to investigate the relative importance of immune effector cell populations, splenocyte transfer experiments, and JEV-challenge of mice with acquired or induced cellular deficiency were performed. Using mice lacking B cells (μ MT^{-/-} mice) and immune B cell transfer to wild-type mice, I find a critically important role for humoral immunity in preventing virus spread to the CNS. T cell help played an essential part in the maintenance of an effective antibody response necessary to combat the infection, since mice lacking major histocompatibility complex class II showed truncated IgM and

blunted IgG responses, and the infection was uniformly lethal. On the other hand, NK

cells were dispensable for protection against lethal Japanese encephalitis, while CD8⁺ T

V

cells, by itself, have no significant effect on the survival of JEV-infected mice.

Third, cytolytic effector pathways and interferon gamma (IFN- γ) help protect against lethal JE. Granule exocytosis and Fas-Fas ligand pathways of cytotoxicity act within the CNS to reduce disease severity, and show a redundancy in control of JEV infection. Only mice defective in both cell contact-dependent cytotoxic effector mechanisms display increased susceptibility to subcutaneous challenge with a low dose of JEV. Also, I demonstrate that IFN- γ is critical in recovery from primary infection with JEV by a mechanism involving suppression of virus growth in the CNS, but not in extraneural tissues, and that T cells are the main source of the cytokine that promotes viral clearance from the brain.

Fourth, the chemokine receptor, CCR5, serves as a host antiviral factor important against lethal JE. CCR5 deficiency resulted in increased mortality, and viral burden in the CNS. Absence of CCR5 did not only result in impaired trafficking of leucocytes into the brain, but also resulted in a multifaceted deficiency of cellular immune responses characterized by reduced NK cell activity, reduced CD8⁺ T cell activity, and low splenic cellularity. This result is consistent with a mechanism by which CCR5 expression enhances lymphocyte activation and thereby promotes host survival after JEV infection.

Fifth, a novel immunodeficient mouse strain, *Tuara*, was established. *Tuara* mice displayed enhanced susceptibility to flavivirus infections, due to a loss-of-function mutation that was originally derived from an inbred knockout mouse strain, MHCII-A α^{-1}

^{/-}. The gene of interest was segregated from the MHCII defect, and after customized

sequence capture and re-sequencing, was localized within ~50 Mb region of

Chromosome 1. Among the candidate list, a G>T transversion on mouse genome

reference position 52,179,547 bp of STAT1 gene was identified as the most likely

Vİ

causal mutation.

Finally, towards application of the insights gained on the basic immunobiology of JE, vaccination experiments using 'new generation' JE vaccines were performed. They revealed a dominant role of humoral immunity in vaccine-mediated protection of mice from lethal challenge with JEV, and in cross-protection against related viruses belonging to the JE serocomplex. CD8⁺ T cells were not required for protection, while CD4⁺ T cells provided substantial helper function for the protective humoral immune responses induced by vaccination. These immune correlates for homologous and heterologous protection against JE serocomplex viruses were observed in vaccination with either a live attenuated vaccine (ChimeriVax-JE), or a candidate inactivated Vero cell culture-derived JE vaccine (ccJE) formulated with Advax[™], a novel immunologically active polysaccharide adjuvant.



List of manuscripts accepted or for submission as journal publication, either with principal or supplementary contribution:

Lobigs, M., Larena, M., Alsharifi, M., Lee, E., & Pavy, M. (2009). Live chimeric and inactivated Japanese encephalitis virus vaccines differ in their cross-protective value against Murray Valley encephalitis virus. J. Virol. 83(6), 2436-2445.

Larena, M., Regner, M., Lee, E., & Lobigs, M. (2011). Pivotal role of antibody and subsidiary contribution of CD8+ T cells to recovery from infection in a murine model of Japanese encephalitis. J. Virol 85(11):5446-55.

Larena, M., & Lobigs, M. (2011). Immunobiology of Japanese Encephalitis Virus, Flavivirus Encephalitis, Daniel Ruzek (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-307-669-0, InTech, Available from: http://www.intechopen.com/articles/show/title/immunobiology-ofjapanese-encephalitis-virus

Larena, M., Regner, M., & Lobigs, M. (2012). The chemokine receptor CCR5, a therapeutic target for HIV/AIDS antagonists, is critical for recovery in a mouse model of Japanese encephalitis. Manuscript under review. PLoS One.

Larena, M., Regner, M., & Lobigs, M. (2012). Cytolytic effector pathways and interferon-gamma help protect against Japanese encephalitis. Manuscript for submission.

Larena, M., & Lobigs, M. (2012). Forward genetics approach in determining loss-offunction mutation spontaneously generated in an inbred knockout mice strain. Manuscript for submission.

Larena, M., Prow, N., Hall, R., Petrovsky, N., and Lobigs, M. Advax-adjuvanted inactivated Vero-cell grown Japanese encpehalitis vaccine provides cross-protection against challenges with Murray Valley encephalitis virus and West Nile NY99 virus. Manuscript for submission.

Frese, M., Lee, E., Larena, M., Ramshaw, I., & Lobigs, M. Flavivirus co-expressed interferon-beta: immunogenicity and organ-specific delivery using an abortive viral infection. Manuscript for submission.

Lee, E., **Larena, M.**, & Lobigs, M. A single N-linked glycosylation of chimeric Yellow Fever-West NIIe virus Kunjin strain Envelope protein is a major determinant for neurovirulence in mice. Manuscript for submission.

viii

Conferences / Courses / Trainings attended:

6th Annual Scientific Meeting Australasian Virology Society, Kingscliff, New South Wales, Australia^b

5th Diploma in Vaccinology Course, Institu Pasteur, Rue de Dr Roux 25/28, 75724 Paris Cedex 15, France

International Union of Microbiological Societies (IUMS) 2011 Congresses and XVth International Congress of Virology in Sapporo, Japan^b

1st International Conference on Translational Medicine. John Curtin School of Medical Research, The Australian National University. Canberra. Australia^b

29th Annual Meeting of American Society for Virology, Montana State University, Montana, Wyoming, USA^a

2nd Global Health Sicence Course, Department of Public Health and Department of Continuing Education, University of Oxford, Oxford, Oxfordshire, United Kingdom

3rd Annual Biosecurity Symposium: Global Health Security. The National Center for Biosecurity. Canberra, Australia.

5th Scientific Meeting Australasian Virology Group, Lorne, Victoria, Australia

39th Annual Meeting Australasian Society of Immunology, Gold Coast, Queensland, Australia

10th Federation of Immunological Societies of Asia-Oceania Advanced Immunology Training Course, Tangalooma Island, Queensland, Australia

2009 Leadership Referesh Workshop. Australian Leadrship Awards. Canberra Australia.

Australian Society for Medical Research ACT Young Investigator's Foum, Canberra, Australia^a

4th Australian Influenza Symposium, Canberra, Australia

National Health and Medical Research Council Internship and Leadersip Practice. Australian Leadership Awards. Canberra, Australia

Australian Academy of Science / Sir Mark Oliphant conference: Vaccine and Immunotherapy Technologies, Canberra, Australia

Note: ^aoral presentation, ^bposter presentation

Awards received:

Vice Chancellor Conference Travel Award to attend XVth International Congress on Virology

at Sapporo, Japan

Vice Chancellor Travel Grant for Cross-institutional Study to attend Global Health Science course at University of Oxford

Vice Chancellor Conference Travel Award to attend 29th Annual Meeting of American Society for Virology at Motana, USA

iX

Australian Leadership Award for PhD scholarship

List of Abbreviations

%	Percent
°C	Degrees Celsius
Ab	Antibody
ADAR	dsRNA-specific adenosine-deaminase
ADEM	Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis
AGRF	Australian Genomics Resource Facility
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
APF	Australian Phenomics Facility
Arbovirus	Arthropod-borne virus
BDV	Borna disease virus
BHK	Baby hamster kidney
bp	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
С	Capsid protein
C6/36	Aedes albopictus salivary gland cells
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CLEC5A	C-type lectin domain family 5
CLR	C-type lectin receptor
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CNS	Central Nervous System
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CSF	Colony stimulating factor
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
Cyp20a	Cytochrome P450, family 20, subfamily a, polypeptide 1
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyletrichloroethane
DENV	Dengue virus
DISC	Death-inducing signaling complex
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA

X

DTT	Dithiothreitol
Е	Envelope
ECTV	Ectromelia virus
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ENU	N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter
FasL	Fas ligand
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
fp	Footpad
g	Gram
g	Centrifugal force
GBP	Guanylate-binding proteins
GMT	Geometric mean titer
Gzm	Granzymes
h	Hour
HBSS	Hanks' balanced salt solution
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HSP	Heat shock protein
ip	Intraperitoneal

ic	Intracranial
ICOS	Inducible T cell co-stimulator
IFN	Interferon
IFN-a-R	Interferon-alpha receptor
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IRF	IFN regulatory factor

xi

ISG	IFN-stimulated gene
iv	Intravenous
Jak-Stat	Janus kinase - signal transducer and activation of transcription
JEV	Japanese encephalitis virus
Kb	Kilobase
kDa	Kilodalton
KUN	Kunjin
L	Liter
LCMV	Lymphocytic Choriomenengitis virus
LGP2	Laboratory of genetics and physiology 2
LRR	Leucine-rich repeats
М	Membrane protein
Μ	Molar
Mb	Megabase
mAb	Monoclonal Antibody
MCMV	Mouse cytomegalovirus
MDA-5	Melanoma differentiation-associated antigen 5
MEM	Minimal essential medium
Met	Methionine
μg	Microgram
Mg	Milligram
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
min	Minute
Ml	Millilitre
mm	Millimetre

mM	Millimolar
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MST	Mean survival time
MVEV	Murray Valley encephalitis virus
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NaHCO ₃	Sodium hydrogen carbonate

xii

NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
ng	Nanogram
NK	Natural killer
NO	Nitric oxide
NOD	Nucleotide binding oligomerization domain
NOS-1	Nitric oxide synthase type 1
NS	Non-structural protein
nt	Nucleotide
OAS	Oligoadenylate synthetases
OD	Optical density
ORF	Open Reading Frame
pi	Post-infection
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PFU	Plaque forming unit
PKR	Protein kinase
pmol	Picomole
prM	pre-Membrane protein
PRNT	Plaque reduction neutralization test
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptor
Prss40	Protease, Serine, 40
PSN	Penicillin-streptomycin-neomycin
qRT-PCR	Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RER	Rough endoplasmic reticulum
RIG	Retinoic acid-inducible gene
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAse	Ribonuclease
rpm	Revolutions per minute

xiii

RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SAP	SLAM-associated protein
SC	Subcutaneous
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of mean
SFV	Semliki Forest virus
SLEV	St. Louis encephalitis virus
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphisms
SNV	Single-nucleotide variation
ssRNA	single-stranded RNA
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription protein
TBEV	Tick-borne encephalitis virus
TFH	Follicular helper T
TIR	Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TMEV	Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid
Tyk2	Tyrosine kinase 2
U	Unit
UTR	Untranslated region
UV	Ultraviolet
VACV	Vaccinia virus
WNV	West Nile virus
μl	microliter



Table of Contents

Chapter 1	Introduction 1		
1.1	Classification, Epidemiology, and Biology of JEV 2		
	1.1.1 Taxonomy of flaviviruses 2		
	1.1.2 Geographical distribution of Flaviviruses 4		
	1.1.3 Basic structure and genome organization of flaviviruses 5		
	1.1.4 Replication cycle of Flaviviruses 10		
	1.1.5 History of JEV discovery and spread11		
	1.1.6 Transmission cycle13		
1.2	Clinical spectrum of Japanese encephalitis17		
	1.2.1 Clinical manifestations		
	1.2.2 Animal models		
1.3	Innate Immune response to JEV 20		
	1.3.1 Sensing of the pathogen 20		
	1.3.2 Type 1 interferon induction and signalling		
	1.3.3 Cellular factors, chemokines and cytokines		
1.4	Adaptive Immunity		
	1.4.1 B cells		
	1.4.2 T cells		
1.5	Control and Prevention of JE		
	1.5.1 JE Vaccines 40		
	1.5.2 Vaccine Adjuvants		
Chapter 2	Materials and Methods 52		
2.1	Viruses and cells 53		
2.2	Plaque Assay 54		
2.3	Mice		
2.4	Mouse inoculation and tissue collection 56		
2.5	Real-time RT-PCR		
2.6	Histology and immunohistochemistry		
2.7	Lymphocyte isolation from the brain		
2.8	Cell surface and intracellular cytokine staining		
2.9	In vivo depletion of CD8 ⁺ T cells		

XV

2.10	In vivo depletion of NK1.1 ⁺ cells	62
2.11	T cell enrichment by nylon wool separation and	
	complement-mediated lysis>>>	64
2.12	Complement-mediated lysis of CD4 ⁺ and/or CD8 ⁺ T cells	64
2.13	Positive selection of CD19 ⁺ B cells by magnetic bead separation	. 65
2.14	Transfer experiments	67
2.15	Serological tests	. 67
2.16	Neutralization assay	. 68
2.17	NK cell cytotoxic assay	. 68
2.18	Preparation of L-929 conditioned medium	. 69
2.19	Preparation of bone marrow-derived macrophages	. 69
2.20	JEV growth inhibition by IFN- α treatment	70
2.21	Interferon assay	71
2.22	Allelic discrimination by Amplifluor SNPs genotyping	72
2.23	Nimblegen capture and re-sequencing	. 73
2.24	MHCII-Aα genotyping	. 74
2.25	ChimeriVax-JE immunization	. 75
2.26	Inactivated Vero-cell culture derived-JE immunization	76
2.27	Statistical analyses	. 76
Chapter 2	Pixetal role of antibody and subsidiary contribution of $CD8^+$ T	
Chapter 5	call to recovery from infection in a murine model of Iananese	
	enconhalitis	77
2 1		. 78
3.1	Descrite	. 70
3.2	Results	01
	3.2.1 Mouse model of Japanese encephantis by subcutaneous	
	infection of adult B/6 mice with a low-dose	
	virus inoculum	81

xvi

	3.2.6 The protective effect of JEV-immune T cells requires
	both the CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ subpopulations $\dots \dots
	3.2.7 Deficiencies in the cytolytic effector pathways of
	lymphocytes do not exacerbate the pathogenesis of JEV 102
3.3	Discussion 104
Chapter 4	Redundancy of Fas and granzymes in recovery from
	primary Japanese encephalitis virus infection
4.1	Introduction 110
4.2	Results 113
	4.2.1 Combined deficiencies in Fas-FasL and granule exocytosis
	pathways of cytotoxicity increase the susceptibility of mice
	to Japanese encephalitis113
	4.2.2 Defective control of virus growth in the CNS of
	Fas ^{-/-} xGzmA/B ^{-/-} mice 114
	4.2.3 Humoral immunity in Fas ^{-/-} xGzmA/B ^{-/-} mice 118
	4.2.4 Cytokine production in the absence of Fas and
	Gzm A and B 120
	4.2.5 Cellular migration into the CNS 122
	4.2.6 NK cells are dispensable for recovery from lethal
	JEV infection 124
4.3	Discussion
Chapter 5	Disease-ameliorating CNS viral load reduction by
	Interfron-y-producing T cells in a mouse model of
	Japanese encephalitis132
5.1	Introduction133
5.2	Results

5.2.1	IFN-γ is required for protection against
	Japanese encephalitis 136
5.2.2	Increased viral burden in the CNS in the
	absence of IFN- γ
5.2.3	Intact humoral immunity in the absence of IFN- γ
5.2.4	Cellular Migration into the CNS142
5.2.5	IFN-γ-producing T cells are essential for viral
	xvii

		clearance from the CNS144
5.3	Discus	sion
Chapter 6	The ch	emokine receptor CCR5, a therapeutic target for HIV/AIDS
	antago	nists, is critical for recovery in mouse model of Japanese
	enceph	nalitis
6.1	Introdu	uction
6.2	Result	s 155
	6.2.1	CCR5 is required for protection from
		Japanese encephalitis
	6.2.2	Humoral immunity in the absence of CCR5
	6.2.3	Blunted NK and CD8 ⁺ T cell responses in CCR5 ^{-/-} mice 160
	6.2.4	Impaired leukocyte proliferation and trafficking
		in CCR5 ^{-/-} mice
	6.2.5	Early transfer of CCR5-deficient splenocytes increases
		survival of recipient CCR5 ^{-/-} mice challenged with JEV 168
6.3	Discus	ssion 171
Chapter 7	Forwa	rd genetics approach in localizing loss-of-function mutation
	sponta	meously generated in an inbred knockout mouse strain 176
7.1 In	troducti	on 177
7.2 R	esults ar	nd Discussion
	7.2.1	Spontaneous mutation in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice resulting in
		enhanced susceptibility to flavivirus infection
	7.2.2	High viral burden in MHCII-Aa ^{-/-} mice
	7.2.3	Enhanced virus growth in primary macrophages isolated
		from MHCII-Aa ^{-/-} mice
	724	The unknown susceptibility allele in MHCII-Aa ^{-/-} mice

- The tuara mouse: breeding the recessive susceptibility 7.2.5 allele to homozygocity on a background of wt MHC-II 208
- High viral burden and widespread viral tropism 7.2.6
- Intact adaptive immune responses in *tuara* mice213 7.2.7 7.2.8
 - xviii

	7.2.9	The unknown susceptibility allele display partial
		inactivation of the interferon (IFN) antiviral pathway 218
	7.2.10	Customized sequence capture and re-sequencing identified
		candidate mutations responsible for the fulminant disease
		phenotype 222
Chapter 8	Protec	tive role of memory B cells in vaccination against JEV and
	related	d flaviviurses
8.1	Introd	uction
8.2	Result	ts and Discussion
	8.2.1	Absolute requirement for B cells in vaccine-mediated
		immune response 237
	8.2.2	$\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice are highly susceptible to JEV infection and
		provide a model for evaluating B cell memory responses
		following vaccination 239
	8.2.3	Inactivated JE vaccines protect $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice from sc
		challenge with JEV246
	8.2.4	JE-ADVAX [™] elicits immune B cells that efficiently
		protect against lethal JEV challenge 253
	8.2.5	Durability of protection with JE-ADVAX TM
	8.2.6	Cross-protection against highly virulent WNV _{NY99}
		challenge with JE-ADVAX [™] in the absence
		of $CD8^+$ T cells
	8.2.7	Cross-protection with MVE 266

Chapter 9	Conlcluding Remarks
-----------	---------------------

	270
	//X
Reterences	 410
NUIUIUUUU	

xix

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Classification of Flavivirus genus
Figure 1.2	Geographic distribution of encephalitic flaviviruses of
	major medical importance5
Figure 1.3	Flavivirus genome organization and protein expression
Figure 1.4	Neutralizing epitopes on JEV E glycoprotein domains
Figure 1.5	Flavivirus replication cycle 11
Figure 1.6	Natural transmission cycle of JEV14
Figure 1.7	Cyclical epidemic pattern of JE 16
Figure 1.8	CD4 ⁺ T cells helper functions 32
Figure 1.9	Effector pathways of cytotoxicity
Figure 1.10	List of licensed adjuvants in Europe and USA 47
Figure 2.1	Real Time RT-PCR standard and amplification curve
Figure 2.2	Flow cytometry gating strategy 61
Figure 2.2	In vivo depletion of cell populations
Figure 2.2	In vitro depletion of cell populations
Figure 3.1	JEV burden in serum and tissues
Figure 3.2	JEV RNA in serum and spleen
Figure 3.3	Histology and immunohistochemistry 87
Figure 3.4	Antibody responses in B/6 wt and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice
Figure 3.5	CD8+ T cell response in B/6 wt mice infected with JEV91
Figure 3.6	Susceptibility of B/6 wt, μ MT ^{-/-} and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice to
	infection with JEV
Figure 3.7	In vivo depletion of CD8 ⁺ T cells increases viral burden in

XX

Figure 4.3	Immunohistochemistry117
Figure 4.4	Humoral immune response in Fas ^{-/-} xGzmA/B ^{-/-}
	and wild-type mice119
Figure 4.5	NK cell and CD8 ⁺ T cell cytokine production
Figure 4.6	Leukocyte trafficking into the CNS 123
Figure 4.7	Susceptibility to JEV infection after in vivo NK cell depletion 125
Figure 4.8	Viral burden in the absence of NK cells126
Figure 5.1	Susceptibility of IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wild-type mice to JEV infection 137
Figure 5.2	JEV burden in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wt mice
Figure 5.3	Humoral immune response in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wt mice
Figure 5.4	Leukocyte trafficking into the CNS 143
Figure 5.5	JEV burden in CNS tissue after immune splenocyte transfer146
Figure 6.1	Susceptibility of CCR5 ^{+/+} and CCR5 ^{-/-} mice to
	infection with JEV 156
Figure 6.2	JEV burden in serum and tissue samples
Figure 6.3	Antibody responses in CCR5 ^{+/+} and CCR5 ^{-/-} mice 159
Figure 6.4	NK and CD8 ⁺ T cell responses in CCR5 ^{+/+} and CCR5 ^{-/-} mice
	infected with JEV 162
Figure 6.5	Leukocyte trafficking into the CNS 166
Figure 6.6	Leukocyte numbers in spleen after JEV infection
Figure 7.1	Susceptibility of MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$, MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$, MHCII-A $\beta^{-/-}$ and
	B/6 mice to flavivirus infection
Figure 7.2	Susceptibility of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$, and B/6 wt mice to infection
-	with DENV-2 and ChimeriVax-JE184
Figure 7.3	Viral burden in B/6 and MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice

	after exposure to JEV	
Figure 7.4	Susceptibility of B/6 and MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ bone marrow-derived	
	macrophages to infection with flaviviruses	
Figure 7.5	Initial mouse-cross design for genome mapping	
Figure 7.6	F1 x MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mouse cross design for genome mapping 192	
Figure 7.7	Second mouse cross design for genome mapping 198	
Figure 7.8	Amplifluor SNPs genotyping of pooled DNA samples	
	XX	<i< td=""></i<>

Figure 7.9	Localization of unknown mouse resistance gene
Figure 7.10	Amplifluor SNPs genotyping of individual DNA samples 202
Figure 7.11	Mapping of the unknown virus susceptibility allele to an \sim 7 Mb
	region on chromosome 1 204
Figure 7.12	List of genes localized within NCBI mouse genome build 37.1
	position 39,913,715 and 43,799,240 of chromosome 1
Figure 7.13	Susceptibility of B/6 wt and MyD88 ^{-/-} mice to
	flavivirus infection
Figure 7.14	Generation of the <i>tuara</i> mouse strain
Figure 7.15	Susceptibility of <i>tuara</i> mice to challenge with JEV
	and WNV_{KUN}
Figure 7.16	High viral burden and widespread viral tropism in <i>tuara</i> mice212
Figure 7.17	Susceptibility of B/6 and tuara bone marrow-derived macrophages
	to infection with JEV
Figure 7.18	Antibody and CD8 ⁺ T cell responses in JEV-infected B/6 and
	<i>tuara</i> mice
Figure 7.19	Susceptibility of <i>tuara</i> mice to a DNA virus 217
Figure 7.20	IFN- α production in JEV-infected <i>tuara</i> and B/6 mice
Figure 7.21	Inhibition of JEV replication after IFN- α stimulation of bone
	marrow-derived macrophages from B/6 wt and tuara mice
Figure 7.22	Expression profile of Prss40 gene229
Figure 7.23	Expression profile of Cyp20a1 gene 230
Figure 7.24	Identified pathogenic mutations in human STAT1 gene 232
	C_{respect} is a f $R^2 m^{-/-}$ miss to low dose challenge with IFV 243
Figure 8.1	Susceptibility of p2III infect to low-dose chancinge with $JEV \dots 245$
Figure 8.2	Viral burdens in B/o wi and p2m ⁻ infected P/6 wit and
Figure 8.3	Antibody and NK cell responses in JE v-infected B/o wi and
	$\beta 2m^{-1} m_1 ce$

Figure 8.5	Immune B cells mediate protection of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE
	against homologous challenge with JEV254
Figure 8.6	Low dose Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine exerts long-term
	protection against challenge with JEV
Figure 8.7	Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine induces durable and protective
	B cell response

xxii

Figure 8.8	Cross-protective value of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine against	
	challenge with WNV _{NY99}	264
Figure 8.9	Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine provides B cell-mediated cross-	
	protection against WNV _{NY99} challenge	265
Figure 8.10	Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine exerts cross-protection against	
	challenge with MVEV	268
Figure 9.1	Kinetics of immune response after primary JEV infection	272



List of Tables

Table 1.1	Functional description of flaviviral proteins7
Table 1.2	Historical highlights of JE 13
Table 1.3	List of pathogen recognition receptors 21
Table 1.4	List of toll-like receptors (TLRs) 22
Table 1.5	Innate immune factors affecting outcome of JEV infection
Table 1.6	Impact of cell-mediated immunity on pathogenesis
Table 1.7	Classification of Adjuvants 48
Table 2.1	List of viruses used in the study53
Table 2.2	List of knockout mice strains 55
Table 3.1	Effect of JEV dose on mortality and survival time of B/6 mice 84
Table 3.2	Effect of CD8+ T cell depletion on susceptibility to JEV infection
	in B/6 and 129 mice
Table 3.3	Contribution of humoral and cellular immune responses to
	recovery from JEV infection 101
Table 5.1	Protective value of T cell expressed IFN-γ against lethal
	JEV challenge145
Table 6.1	Adoptive transfer of immune splenocytes from CCR5 ^{+/+} or CCR5 ^{-/-}
	donor mice protect CCR5-deficient recipient mice against Japanese
	encephalitis 170
Table 7.1	Summary of resistance/susceptibility genes identified through

alassiant or forward genetics approach 179

	classical or forward genetics approach	. 1 / 7
Table 7.2	Susceptibility of F1 and various control mouse strains to	
	WNV _{KUN} infection	193
Table 7.3	Susceptibility of N2 mice to WNV _{KUN} infection	193
Table 7.4	Susceptibility of F1 and various control mouse strains to	
	WNV _{KUN} infection	199
Table 7.5	Susceptibility of N2 (MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ x F1) to WNV _{KUN} infection	199

xxiv

Table 7.6	List of mouse orthologs of 22 human genes identified by RNA
	interference as important for resistance against WNV infection 206
Table 7.7	List of candidate Indel mutations 228
Table 7.8	List of candidate SNV mutations 228
Table 7.9	List of STAT1 knockout mice
Table 7.10	Classification of STAT1 mutation in humans
	$\sigma_{\rm c} = 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1$
Table 8.1	Contribution of vaccine-mediated humoral and CD4 1 cell
	immune responses against challenge with JEV
Table 8.2	Protective value of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine
Table 8.3	JEV-specific IgG isotype antibody responses after
	Advax-adjuvanted ccJE immunization 251
Table 8.4	Post-immunization and post-challenge JEV-specific neutralizing
	antibody titres against JEV252
Table 8.5	Post-challenge serum antibody and PRNT ₅₀ titres in
	β2m ^{-/-} recipient mice groups
Table 8.6	Post-challenge serum antibody and PRNT ₅₀ titres
	in β2m ^{-/-} mice
Table 8.7	Post-challenge serum antibody and PRNT ₅₀ titres in B/6 wt
	recipient mice groups
Table 8.8	Contribution of immune responses to heterotypic protection by
	ChimeriVax-JE against MVEV 269
	Dent of IEV infaction 274
Table 9.1	Factors affecting outcome of JEV infection



Chapter 1

Introduction



Japanese encephalitis (JE) is an acute central nervous system inflammatory disease caused by an infection with Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), a small, enveloped, plusstrand RNA virus belonging to the family *Flaviviridae*. It is the leading cause of viral encephalitis in South-East Asia, India and China, where 3 billion people are at risk of contracting the disease (Erlanger *et al.*, 2009). Annually, about 35,000 – 50,000 cases of JE are reported, resulting in about 10,000 deaths and a high incidence of neuropsychiatric deficits among survivors (Solomon, 2004; Tsai, 2000). Treatment of JE patients is supportive and in the absence of availability of antiviral compounds the mainstay of protection against JE is vaccination (Halstead & Thomas, 2011). In the past decades there has been an expansion of the geographic distribution of the virus in Asia and the Asia-Pacific region (van den Hurk *et al.*, 2009) and there is an urgent requirement for improved human and veterinary JE vaccines. An understanding of the immunological responses that lead to recovery from infection with JEV and account for vaccine-mediated protection is important in the design of rational approaches to new treatments and vaccines against the disease, and will be the focus of this introduction.

1.1 Classification, Epidemiology, and Biology of JEV

1.1.1 Taxonomy of flaviviruses

The Flaviviridae are a large family of positive-sense single-stranded RNA viruses. The

name is derived from the Latin word "flavus" (meaning yellow), named after the first

described human virus, the jaundice-causing Yellow Fever virus (YFV) discovered by

Walter Reed in 1901. The family Flaviviridae is classified into 3 genera: Flavivirus,

Hepacivirus, and Pestivirus (Heinz et al., 2000; Lindenbach et al., 2007). The

Flavivirus genus comprise of at least 70 viruses, and is further subdivided, based on

molecular phylogenetics, into clusters, clades, and species, or based on serological criteria, into antigenic complexes or subcomplexes (Billoir *et al*, 1997; Kuno *et al*, 1998; Kuno *et al.*, 2001; Lindenbach *et al.*, 2007; Westaway and Blok, 1997; Zanotto *et al.*, 1996). The genus mostly consists of arthropod-borne viruses causing major human diseases, including flu-like illness, hepatitis, hemorrhagic fevers, and encephalitis. The principal vectors of one group are *Ixodes* ticks, transmitting tick-borne viruses such as Powassan virus, TBEV-European subtype, and TBEV-Far Eastern subtype. Another group are transmitted by mosquitoes, which include *Aedes-borne* flaviviruses such as JEV, West Nile virus (WNV), Murray Valley encephalitis virus (MVEV), and St Louis encephalitis virus (SLEV) (Fig 1.1).



Dakar batNoneIIINo vectorFigure 1.1Classification of Flavivirus genus.Flaviviruses are classified,based on serologic criteria, into serocomplexes, or based on phylogenetic studies, intoclusters, clades, or species.Figure was adapted, with some modifications, fromMukhopadhyay et al. (2005).

1.1.2 Geographical distribution of Flaviviruses

Encephalitic flaviviruses of the JE serocomplex have a widespread global distribution (Mackenzie et al., 2004) (Fig. 1.2). JEV is largely endemic in the Asia-Pacific region encompassing Japan, extreme south-eastern part of Russia, Korea, Taiwan, and China in the northeast, to Nepal, Bhutan, Bangladesh, India, Sri Lanka, and southern Pakistan in the west, and to Southeast Asia, Papua New Guinea, and Torres Strait Islands in the southeast (van de Hurk et al., 2009). In 1998, expansion of JEV towards the Australian mainland was documented with a single human case and seroconverted sentinel pigs on Cape York Peninsula (Hanna et al, 1999). MVEV, on the other hand, is locally endemic in Australia, Papua New Guinea, and eastern Indonesia (Knox et al, 2012; Marshall, 1988). WNV has a widespread distribution throughout Africa, south and central Asia, the Middle East and southern Europe (Kramer et al., 2008). WNV strain Kunjin (WNV_{KUN}) , is endemic in the Australasian region, while another WNV strain started to appear in New York City on 1999 (WNV_{NY99}), and rapidly spread throughout the Americas in a span of ~8 years (Kramer et al., 2008). Lastly, SLEV is endemic in North and South America (Day, 2001). Regions were two or more viruses of the JE serocomplex overlap in geographic distribution include India and the Indochinese peninsula for WNV and JEV, North America for WNV and SLEV, Australia for WNV_{KUN} and MVEV, and eastern Indonesia and Papua New Guinea for WNV_{KUN}, JEV, and MVEV. Flaviviruses belonging to the JE serocomplex that are of minor

medical importance and of limited geographical distribution, include Calcipacore virus

in South America, MVEV subtype Alfuy in Australia, and Usutu, Koutango, and

4

Yaounde viruses in Africa (Mackenzie et al., 2004).



Figure 1.2 Geographic distribution of encephalitic flaviviruses of major medical importance. World map indicating the distribution of the most important encephalitic flaviviruses belonging to the JE serocomplex: SLEV, WNV, JEV, and MVEV. Figure was adapted from Mackenzie *et al.* (2004).

1.1.3 Basic structure and genome organization of flaviviruses

Flaviviruses are ~50 nm small enveloped viruses, with an electron dense core of ~30 nm (Murphy, 1980; Kuhn *et al.*, 2002; Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, 2003). The viral particles have an outer surface made up of two viral proteins, the envelope (E) and membrane (M) protein, while the core is an assembly of viral capsid (C) proteins and a positive-sense, single-stranded RNA genome of ~11,000 nucleotides in length (Sumiyoshi *et al.*, 1987).

The 5' terminus carries a type 1 cap structure (m7GpppAmpN2), while the 3' terminus is non-polyadenylated (Lindenbach., 2007). The genome serves as the messenger RNA (mRNA) that codes for a single polyprotein composed of (from the amino-terminus) 3 structural proteins: C, E, and premembrane (prM), and 7 non-structural (NS) proteins: NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, and NS5 (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Flavivirus genome organization and protein expression. (A) Flavivirus approximate genome size of 10.8 KB, with open reading frame flanked by non-coding regions of capped 5' and non-polyadenylated 3' ends. (B) Chronological list of expressed structural and nonstructural genes, with proportional representation of individual proteins based on amino acid length. (C) Putative topology of flavivirus protein cleavage products in relation to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane, with labelled enzymes responsible for various specific cleavages. Figures adapted, with some modifications from Lindenbach *et al.* (2007) and Murray *et al.* (2008).



The NS proteins are thought to play a role in the morphogenesis of flaviviruses (Murray *et al.*, 2008) (summarized in Table 1.1). Capsid protein subunits form the nucleocapsid containing the viral genomic RNA, while the prM protein serves as the precursor of the mature M protein (Dokland *et al.*, 2004; Jones *et al.* 2003; Konishi and Mason, 1993). The latter forms a dimmer with E protein and prevents the premature fusion of the E protein during passage of immature virions through the secretory pathway (Elshuber *et al.*, 2003; Wengler and Wengler, 1989). The cleavage of prM by the cellular enzyme furin into pr and M coincides with the formation of E protein homodimers, a process important for virus maturation (Stadler *et al.*, 1997; Yu *et al.*, 2008).

Viral protein	Functional description				
E	Receptor binding and membrane fusion Main target of neutralizing antibodies				
prM	Precursor of M protein Prevents premature fusion of E protein during virus maturation				
С	Structural component of the nucleocapsid, C-terminal hydrophobic anchor of nascent C protein is a signal peptide for ER translocation of prM				
NS1	RNA replication Interferon inhibition				
NS2A	RNA replication Genome encapsidation				
NS2B	RNA replication Capsid Cleavage Cofactor for the NS2B-NS3 serine protease that cleaves at the C/prM, NS2A/NS2B, NS2B/NS3, NS3/NS4A, NS4B/NS5 junctions				
NS3	RNA replication Capsid Cleavage Genome encapsidation Forms part of NS2B-NS3 serine protease that cleaves at the C/prM				

Table 1.1 Functional description of navivnal proteins.	able 1.1	Functional	I description	of flaviviral	proteins.
--	----------	------------	---------------	---------------	-----------

NS2A/NS2B, NS2B/NS3, NS3/NS4A, NS4B/NS5 junctions Helicase and RNA triphosphatase activity

7

NS4A RNA replication Interferon inhibition

NS4B RNA replication

NS5 RNA replication RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and Methytransferase activity Interferon inhibition The E protein plays an essential role in the early entry steps of the viral replication cycle through its receptor-binding and fusion functions (Allison *et al.*, 2001; Chu and Ng., 2004; Davis *et al.*, 2006*b*; Huang *et al.*, 2010; Lee E. *et al.*, 2006; Navarro-Sanchez *et al.*, 2003). It has three ectodomains, domain 1 (DI), DII, and DIII (Luca *et al.*, 2012). A single N-linked glycosylation site is located at amino acid position 154 in JEV, and is considered important for flavivirus particle release and infectivity, virulence, and stimulation of innate immune responses (Beasley *et al.*, 2005; Davis *et al.*, 2006*a*; Hanna *et al.*, 2005, Lee and Lobigs, 2010). Given its surface-exposed position on the virion particle, the E glycoprotein is the principal immunologic protein of JEV and related flaviviruses (Lobigs and Diamond, 2012). Mapping of the neutralizing epitopes on the E glycoprotein revealed 4 important sites: DI lateral ridge, fusion loop, DIII lateral ridge, and DI-DII hinge (Luca *et al.*, 2012) (Fig. 1.4).





Figure 1.4 Neutralizing epitopes on JEV E glycoprotein domains. Reconstructed virion indicating neutralizing epitopes mapped on fusion loop, DI-DII hinge, DI lateral ridge, and DIII lateral ridge of JEV glycoprotein. (A) Colored-green

spheres represent side chains of residues for binding sites of previously established JEV neutralizing antibodies. JEV E-specific neutralizing antibodies (B) 4G2 (G104, G106, and L107) was mapped to the fusion loop; (C) B2 (I126), NARMA3 (Q52), and 503 (Q52, I126, K136, and S275) to the DI-DII hinge; (D) A3 (K179) to the DI lateral ridge; (E) E3 (G302) and E3.3 (I337, F360, and R387) to the DIII lateral ridge (colored-green spheres as side chains of residues for binding site). Figure was adapted from Luca *et al.* (2012).

1.1.4 Replication cycle of Flaviviruses

The replication cycle commences with binding and uptake of the virion through receptor-mediated endocytosis (Chambers et al., 1990; Lindenbach et al., 2007) (Fig. 1.5). Candidate cellular receptors for E glycoprotein interaction include DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR (Davis et al., 2006; Mukhopadhyay et al., 2005). Fusion of the viral envelope with the endosomal membrane is induced by low pH within the endosomal compartment (Allison et al., 2001; Bressanelli et al., 2004; Fritz et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2010). Following uncoating of the nucleocaspid, the viral genome is released into the cytoplasm. The RNA genome serves as the template for RNA replication, messenger RNA for viral protein translation, and genetic material for the formation of new viruses (Chambers et al., 1990; Chu and Westaway, 1985; Chu and Westaway, 1992). The genome encodes for a single open reading frame of ~10,300 nucleotides, that is translated into an ~3,400 amino acid long polypeptide, with structural proteins (C, E, and prM) encoded in the amino-terminal and the non-structural protein encoded in the carboxy-terminal portion (Lindenbach et al., 2007). Host and viral proteases subsequently cleave the polyprotein co- and post-translationally into 10 protein subunits. A negative sense RNA genome serves as an intermediate for RNA replication in the cytoplasm, with non-structural proteins involved in the replication complex. The virus assembles by budding through the membranes of endoplasmic reticulum, and

progeny virions transit via the Golgi complex during virus egress from the infected cell

10

(Mackenzie and Westaway, 2001).



Figure 1.5 Flavivirus replication cycle. Sequential steps in flavivirus replication: attachment, fusion, uncoating, RNA replication and polyprotein synthesis, assembly, budding, and exocytosis. Figure adapted from Stiasny and Heinz (2006).

1.1.5 History of JEV discovery and spread

Description of encephalitis in humans was initially reported in Japan as early as 1871

(van den Hurk et al., 2009) (Historical highlights summarized in Table 1.2). Minor

epidemics occurring during summer have been reported regularly in Japan from 1873 to

1968, with major epidemics documented in 1924, 1935, and 1948 (Shiraki, 1970; Vaughn and Hoke, 1992). In 1935, JEV was first isolated from the brain of an
individual who succumbed to encephalitis (Mitamura *et al.*, 1936). It was originally designated as "type B encephalitis" to distinguish it from "type A encephalitis" (von Economo encephalitis or encephalitis lethargica). With regular "summer epidemics" every 2-3 years in Japan, Korea, and Taiwan until the middle of 1960's, historical records show its gradual spread as major epidemics in a southeast to southwest direction; commencing with mainland China in 1940, Philippines in 1950's, Vietnam in 1965, Chiang Mai Valley of Thailand in 1969, West Bengal in 1973, Nepal in 1978, Pakistan in 1983, Sri Lanka in 1985 (Chakravarty *et al.*, 1975; Grossman *et al.*, 1973*a*; Grossman *et al.*, 1973*b*; Grossman *et al.*, 1973*c*; Mackenzie *et al.*, 2007, Peiris *et al.*, 1992; Solomon, 2003; Umenai *et al.*, 1985; Vitarana *et al.*, 1988; Yamada *et al.*, 1971)

Phylogenetic analysis revealed that JEV isolates are classified into 5 genotypes (I-V) (Solomon *et al.*, 2003*b*; Mohammed *et al.*, 2011). In spite of the first case description in Japan, and the epidemiologic history of apparent southward spread, genetic studies have revealed that, on the contrary, the virus must have originated from the Malay archipelago, with subsequent outward spread all throughout Asia. This is supported by the discovery that all 5 genotypes (including the oldest genotype) were only found in a confined geographical area of Malaysia and Indonesia (Mohammed *et al.*, 2011). It is estimated that the current JEV genotype strains evolved from an ancestral strain in the Malaysia-Indonesia region in the mid 1500's, with a mean evolutionary rate of 4.35×10^{-4} (range: 3.5 to 5.3×10^{-4}) nucleotides substitution/site /year.



Table 1.2 Historical highlights of JE

Time	Event
1871	First reported cases of JE in Japan
1924	First reported major epidemic in Japan
1935	Isolation of the virus from the brain of an infected individual
1954	Licensure of mouse brain-derived inactivated JE vaccine in Japan
1965	First reported major epidemic in Vietnam
1969	First reported major epidemic in Thailand
1973	First reported major epidemic in India
1968	Development of primary hamster kidney-cell grown inactivated JEV vaccine in China
1983	Documented westward expansion of JEV into Pakistan
1987	First complete nucleotide sequence of JEV RNA genome
1988	Licensure of live-attenuated vaccine SA-14-14-2 in China
1995	First 2 cases of JE in Torres Strait Islands, Australia
1998	First report of JEV infection on the Cape York Peninsula of mainland Australia
2003	Phylogenetic analysis classified JEV into 5 genotypes
2005	Cessation of production of mouse brain-derived inactivated JE vaccine
2009	Licensure of Vero cell-grown formalin-inactivated JE vaccine in US, Europe, Australia
2010	Licensure of live-attenuated vaccine ChimeriVax-JE in Australia
2012	Crystal structure of JEV E glycoprotein determined

1.1.6 Transmission cycle

Mosquitoes of the rice paddy-breeding Culex vishnui subgroup are the established

vectors for JEV, with *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* as the principal vector, and *Culex gelidus*, *Culex fuscocephala* and *Culex annulirostris* as secondary vectors in limited geographical areas (Buescher *et al.*, 1959*c*; Gresser *et al.*, 1958*b*; Keiser *et al.*, 2005; Mackenzie *et al.*, 2002; Peiris *et al.*, 1993; Reisen, 1981; Ritchie *et al.*, 1997; Vythilingam *et al.*, 1997). Infected mosquitoes transmit the virus to pigs and ardeid

birds, which serve as reservoir and amplifying hosts, and to humans and horses, which serve as accidental or dead end hosts (Buescher and Scherer, 1959; Scherer and Buescher, 1959; Scherer *et al.*, 1959a) (Figure 1.6). Vertical transmission of JEV in mosquitoes has also been demonstrated; however, its role in viral persistence in the field remains unknown (Rosen *et al.*, 1989; Rosen *et al.*, 1978; Takashima and Rosen, 1989). Seroconversion is observed in cattle, dogs, monkeys, and sheep but is unlikely to play a role in the transmission cycle of JEV, given its inability to exhibit detectable viremia (Vaughn and Hoke, 1992; van den Hurk *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 1.6 Natural transmission cycle of JEV. JEV is maintained in the environment through an enzoonotic cycle with pigs and ardeid birds. *Culex* mosquitoes serve as the vector. Infected *Culex* mosquitoes transmit JEV to humans and horses, which are dead-end or accidental hosts.



Due to the proximate location of human dwellings and pig-rearing facilities, pigs are the principal reservoir host of JEV causing human infections (Burke and Leake, 1988; Buescher *et al.*, 1959*a*; Konno *et al.*, 1966; Scherer *et al.*, 1959*d*; Scherer *et al.*, 1959*e*). Characteristics that make pigs an important amplifying host include i.) high natural infection rates, ii.) high viremia that can last up to 4 days, iii.) high porcine feeding rates of infected vectors, iv.) high birth rate, and v.) high turnover population needed for commercial use (Gresser *et al.*, 1958*a*; Scherer *et al.*, 1959f; Scherer *et al.*, 1959g). Ardeid wading birds, such herons and egrets, on the other hand, are vital for the maintenance of JEV in the environment (Buescher *et al.*, 1959*b*; Buescher *et al.*, 1959*d*; Buescher *et al.*, 1959*e*; Scherer *et al.*, 1959*c*; Rodrigues *et al.*, 1981). The propensity of ardeid birds to migrate great distances makes them a candidate reservoir host important in establishing JEV in new geographic locations (Nga *et al.*, 2004; Solomon, 2004). Other postulated mechanisms by which JEV is established in new areas include windblown infected mosquitoes and travel or migration of infected individuals (Ming *et al.*, 1993; Ritchie and Rochester, 2001; Sellers, 1980; Vaughn and Hoke, 1992).

Two typical patterns of JEV transmission are described. In tropical areas, such as Cambodia, Indonesia, Thailand and Vietnam, an endemic pattern with year-round transmission is observed, with occasional outbreaks during the rainy season or as a consequence of increased irrigation in rice paddy areas (Burke *et al.*, 1985*b*). In temperate areas, such as Japan, China and South Korea, an epidemic pattern is

observed, with increased incidence during summer seasons. The latter was presented in

a study by Konno et al. (1966), which earlier depicted a cyclical transmission pattern

15

for JEV among humans, mosquitoes, and pigs (Fig. 1.7).



Figure 1.7 Cyclical epidemic pattern of JE. Following JEV inoculation, pigs demonstrate viremia after 4 days, and detectable antibodies after 10 days. This initial outbreak occurs in early July, with 20% of pigs becoming infected. Mosquitoes acquire JEV from viremic pigs, become infectious after 14 days external incubation period (EIP), and transmit JEV into more pigs. This second outbreak results in 100% seroconversion in pigs. A larger pool of viremic pigs results in larger population of infected mosquitoes. Fourteen days after EIP in a new batch of infected mosquitoes, the outbreak of JE in humans starts to appear. Figure adapted from Konno *et al.* (1966).



1.2 Clinical spectrum of Japanese encephalitis

1.2.1 Clinical manifestations

Infection with JEV starts with a bite of an infected Culex mosquito, although the possibility of transplacental transmission has been demonstrated in mice, swine and humans (Chaturvedi et al., 1980; Mathur et al., 1981; Morimoto et al., 1972). The infection is largely subclinical with only 1:50 to 1:10,000 human infections resulting in symptomatic disease (Tsai, 2000). The clinical features of infection range from a nonspecific febrile illness, aseptic meningitis and poliomyelitis-like syndrome to a severe meningoencephalomyelitis (Solomon, 2003; Solomon et al., 2000; Solomon et al., 1998). The incubation period is from 5 to 15 days before onset of prodromal symptoms, which include fever, generalized weakness, coryza, diarrhoea, and rigors. Afterwards, patients experience headache, vomiting, decreased sensorium and convulsion. Then a classic presentation ensues, including dull, flat, mask-like facies with wide unblinking eyes, tremor, generalized hypertonia and cogwheel rigidity. Other signs and symptoms found in a subset of patients include generalized tonic-clonic seizures, focal seizures, upper motor neuron facial nerve palsy, extrapyramidal manifestations, asymmetric paralysis and mental illness. Occasional extrapyramidal symptoms include nonintention tremors, cogwheel rigidity, head nodding and pill rolling movements,

opsoclonus, myoclonus, choreoathetosis, and bizarre facial grimacing and lip smacking

(Solomon et al., 2000). The case fatality ratio can be as high as 50-60 % (Tsai, 2000),

and one half of the survivors have long-term neurologic or psychiatric sequelae (Solomon, 2003).

1.2.2 Animal models

JE is also a veterinary disease with occasional fatal outcome in horses, and abortions and abnormal births in pigs (Halstead & Jacobson, 2003). While pigs can act as amplifier host in the transmission cycle of the virus, JEV infection of horses, like that of humans, does not generate sufficient viremia for virus transmission. The clinical course of JE in horses resembles that found in humans (Gould *et al.*, 1964; Lam *et al.*, 2005; Miyake, 1964; Yamanaka *et al.*, 2006). Bats have been shown to transmit JEV transplacentally, and to sustain low-level viremia in the lab via simulated hibernation, both of which are suggested to be a mechanism for overwintering of JEV (Sulkin *et al.*, 1964; Sulkin *et al.*, 1966). Also, simulated hibernation experiments have shown detectable viremia in JEV-infected lizards, snakes, and frogs (Doi *et al.*, 1983; Oya *et al.*, 1983).

Mice have been most extensively used as a model for studies on the pathogenesis of JEV (Kimura *et al.*, 2010), and show significant similarity to natural human infection. Age, genetic background and route of inoculation are risk factors for severe encephalitis (Grossberg & Scherer, 1966). The pathologic changes seen in mouse brain infected with JEV are similar to those observed in humans, with perivascular cuffs, cellular infiltrates, and mild vascular damage (Hase *et al.*, 1990; German *et al.*, 2006). Immunohistochemical staining reveals JEV infected neurons in multiple loci,

predominantly localized in the following areas: cortex, thalamus, and hippocampus (Wang and Deubel, 2011). The initial local site of JEV replication following footpad infection probably involves dendritic cells, given the evidence that they support JEV replication (Aleyas *et al.*, 2009; Cao *et al.*, 2011; Li *et al.*, 2010). Local spread then ensues with viremia and splenic viral load, detectable only by real time RT-PCR (Wang

and Deubel, 2011). Subsequently, virus enters the brain. Putative mechanisms for virus invasion into the CNS include i) hematogenous spread, ii) entry through olfactory neurons, iii) retrograde axonal transport through peripheral nerves, iv) a "Trojan horse" mechanism through infected monocytes and v) transcytosis through the endothelial cells of the blood-brain-barrier. JEV infection of neurons is accompanied by a local inflammatory reaction. Virus clearance from the CNS is complicated by the irreplaceable nature of neurons, and the fact that neuronal damage can be caused directly by virus infection or by infiltrating leukocytes in response to the infection (Griffin, 2011).



1.3 Innate Immune response to JEV

1.3.1 Sensing of the pathogen

Host cells detect distinct conserved molecular signatures (pathogen associated molecular patterns: PAMPs) of invading viruses through germ-line encoded transmembrane or cytosolic pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) (Bowie & Unterholzner, 2008) (Table 1.3). This initial sensing and recognition is of paramount importance in viral immunobiology, where activating intracellular signalling cascades ultimately lead to the induction of antiviral, inflammatory and adaptive immune responses. Transmembrane PRRs include C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) and the widely studied toll-like receptors (TLRs), both of which are upregulated after JEV infection (Gupta & Rao, 2011). CLRs contain carbohydrate recognition domains interacting with mannose, fucose, and glucan carbohydrate structures of pathogens (Geijtenbeek & Gringhuis, 2009). A particular CLR, C-type lectin domain family 5 (CLEC5A), is highly expressed after JEV infection and is associated with a proinflammatory profile (Gupta et al., 2010). Direct interaction of JEV with CLEC5A, resulting in macrophage and microglial cell activation, has recently been reported (Chen et al., 2012). CLEC5A has been implicated in the immunopathology of dengue hemorrhagic fever (Chen et al., 2008). Similarly, CLEC5A plays a role in JEV-induced inflammation and lethality (Chen et al., 2012). Treatment of JEV-infected mice with monoclonal antibodies against

CLEC5A resulted in reduced blood-brain-barrier damage, reduced microglial activation,

reduced bystander neuronal damage, and reduced cellular infiltration into the CNS

20

(Chen et al., 2012).

Table 1.3 List of pathogen recognition receptors

Membrane-bound receptors

Toll-like receptors (TLRs)

Structure: Composed of N-terminal leucine-rich repeats (LRR), transmembrane region, and cytoplasmic Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain

Expression: predominantly in macrophages, dendritic cells, and other leucocytes; all other cell types

Functions: recognition of all microbes, inflammation, Type-1 interferon induction, antimicrobial signalling

Examples: TLRs 1-13

C-type Lectin receptors (CLR's)

- **Group 1** Structure: Mannose receptors with
 - CLR's Carbohydrate binding protein, recognize high mannose structures *Expression*: macrophages and dendritic cells *Functions*: inflammation, activate a pathway of the complement system, mediate endocytosis of pathogens, cell-cell recognition *Examples*: Mannose receptor (CD206), DEC205
- Group 2 Structure Asialoglycoprotein receptors with
- **CLR's** Carbohydrate binding protein, recognize mannose, fucose, or glucan carbohydrate structures

Expression: mainly macrophages and dendritic cells

also on B cells and neutrophils

Functions: inflammation, antigen presentation, mediate endocytosis of pathogens, cell-cell recognition

Examples: DC-SIGN, CLEC2, CLEC4A, CLEC4C, CLEC4E, CLEC4K, CLEC5A, CLEC6A, CLEC7A, CLEC9A, CLEC10A, CLEC12A, CLEC12B

Cytosolic receptors

NOD-like receptors

Structure: Composed of LRRs domain; a nucleotide binding oligomerization domain (NOD); and a domain for the initiation of signaling, such as caspase recruitment domains (CARDs), pyrin, or baculovirus inhibitor of apoptosis repeat (BIR) domains *Expression:* mainly leucocytes, all other cell types

Functions: recognition of bacteria and viruses, regulation of inflammation and apoptosis

Examples: NOD1, NOD2

RIG-1-like receptors

Structure: RNA helicases; composed of two N-terminal CARDs, a central DEAD box helicase/ATPase domain, and C-terminal regulatory domain

Expression: mainly leucocytes, all other cell types

Functions: intracellular recognition of viruses

Examples: Retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-1), Melanoma differentiation associated-protein 5 (MDA5), LGP2

TLRs are composed of a leucine-rich repeat-containing ectodomain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular Toll-interleukin 1 receptor (TIR) domain (Kawai & Akira, 2010) (Table 1.4). The ectodomain mediates recognition of PAMPs, while the intracellular TIR domain mediates downstream signal transduction. TLR signaling, except that via TLR3, requires the TIR-domain adaptor molecule, MyD88, and 21 therefore can be prevented by MyD88 knockout (Kawai & Akira, 2010). Aside from MyD88, TLR4 can activate an alternative signalling pathway, which is through adaptor proteins TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing interferon- β and TRIF-related adaptor molecule (Lu *et al.*, 2008). In the absence of MyD88, bone marrow-derived macrophages and dendritic cells infected with JEV have reduced production of inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-6, IL-10, IL-12, and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α (Aleyas *et al.*, 2009). This supports a role of TLR signalling through MyD88 in shaping the immune responses to JEV. However, this is not reflected in a markedly altered disease outcome, given that MyD88^{-/-} mice only show a partial impairment in interferon (IFN)- α production and similar susceptibility to JEV in comparison to wild-type mice (Kato *et al.*, 2006), suggesting a redundancy in pathways for recognition of JEV infection.

TLR	Ligand	Expression location	Adapter Protein
TLR1	Multiple triacyl lipopeptides	Cell surface	MyD88/MAL
TLR2	Lipoteichoic acid, zymosan HSP70, Lipoarabinomannan	Cell surface	MyD88/MAL
TLR3	Double-stranded RNA	Cell compartment	TRIF
TLR4	Lipopolysaccharide Lipoteichoic acid Viral glycoproteins	Cell surface	MyD88/MAL TRIF/TRAM
TLR5	Flagellin	Cell surface	MyD88
TLR6	Multiple diacyl lipopeptides	Cell surface	MyD88/MAL
TLR7	Single-stranded RNA	Cell compartment	MyD88
TLR8	Single-stranded RNA	Cell compartment	MyD88
TLR9	Unmetheylated CpG DNA	Cell compartment	MyD88
TLR10	Unknown	Cell compartment	My88
TLR11	Pofilin	Cell surface	MyD88
TLR12	Unknown	Unknown	Myd88
TLR13	Unknown	Unknown	MyD88, TAK-1

Table 1.4List of toll-like receptors (TLRs)

Functional TLR 10 is not found in mice. Functional TLR11, 12, and 13 are not found in humans.

Cytosolic PRRs are essential for detecting pathogens invading the cytosol. They are classified into nucleotide binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like and retinoic acidinducible gene (RIG)-1-like receptors (Wilkins and Gale, 2010) (summarized in Table 1.3). NOD-like receptors, NOD2 and NLRP3, recognize ssRNA and dsRNA, respectively, and have significant antiviral activity through IFN signalling. Both proteins are expected to recognize flaviviral genomic RNA, although their role in JEV infection remains to be investigated. RIG-1-like receptors, also known as RNA helicases, have a conserved DExD/H box helicase domain and a C-terminal regulatory domain among the three recently identified members, RIG-1, melanoma differentiationassociated antigen 5 (MDA-5) and laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (LGP2) (Wilkins and Gale, 2010). The C-terminal regulatory domain serves as the recognition site for sensing ssRNA and dsRNA. Kato et al (2006) have shown that RIG-1 receptor signaling, but not that via MDA-5, is critical for the antiviral response against JEV: RIG-1^{-/-}, but not MDA-5^{-/-} mice, display impaired type 1 IFN production and increased susceptibility to JEV infection. LGP2 was initially reported as a dominant negative regulator of RIG-1 and MDA-5 signalling (Komuro & Horvath, 2006; Murali et al., 2008); however, Satoh et al (2010) have demonstrated that bone marrow-derived dendritic cells from LGP2^{-/-} mice infected with JEV have an impaired production of IFN-β, indicating that LGP2 functions upstream of RIG-1 and MDA-5 to potentiate viral RNA-induced signalling as a positive regulator.

1.3.2 Type 1 interferon induction and signalling

Interferons (IFNs) are a group of cytokines first discovered based on their antiviral activity against influenza (Borden *et al.*, 2007). Three families of IFNs, type I, type II and the recently identified type III, can be distinguished. Type I IFNs include multiple

IFN-α subsets, a single IFN-β, IFN- ω , and the recently discovered IFN-ε (Hardy *et al.*, 2004). All members bind to the same cell surface receptor, and are located in a single gene cluster both in humans and in mice. In addition to their antiviral activity, type I IFNs are key to efficient establishment of the adaptive immune responses (Borden *et al.*, 2007). Type III IFNs (IFN- λ 1, - λ 2 and - λ 3) are new members of the IFN superfamily first discovered in 2003 and shown to be related to type I IFN (Ank *et al.*, 2006). However, they differ by signalling through a receptor complex that is different from that used by type I IFNs. Numerous RNA and DNA viruses induce and are sensitive to IFN- λ s, although it remains unclear if type III IFNs are important in the host response against JEV infection. Type II IFN consists of a single cytokine, IFN- γ , and its function in JEV infection is described in Section 1.3.3.

IFN production after JEV infection was initially documented in mice (Rokutanda, 1969) and later in humans (Burke and Morill, 1987). Early *in vitro* and *in vivo* animal studies depicting its significance as an antiviral compound against JEV employed the use of IFN inducers (Ghosh *et al.*, 1990; Taylor *et al.*, 1980) and recombinant IFN- α (Crance et al., 2003). Furthermore, mice deficient in IFN- α receptor infected with JEV show sustained high viremia and fulminant disease (Lee *et al.*, 2004; Lee & Lobigs, 2002; Lobigs *et al.*, 2009), demonstrating that type I IFN is a key tropism determinant of JEV.

IFN gene expression is induced by the binding of PRR-activated transcription factors to

their promoters (Borden et al., 2007). They include IFN regulatory factor (IRF) proteins

and NF-kB (Honda et al., 2006; Tenoever et al., 2007). In the case of JEV infection,

RIG-1-dependent IRF-3 and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase-dependent NF-kB activation

is essential for IFN production (Chang et al., 2006). NF-kB-dependent and NF-kB-

independent mechanisms of IFN induction after JEV infection have been suggested by

Abraham et al (2010). Binding of IFN to its cognate receptor at the cell surface triggers a signalling cascade, the Janus kinase - signal transducer and activation of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway, ultimately triggering IFN-stimulated response element and expression of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs). ISGs serve as mediators of IFN action directed towards initiation of antiviral and immunoregulatory functions (Borden et al., 2007). Antiviral proteins associated with flaviviral infections include double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR), the 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetases (2'-5'-OAS), ISG15, ISG20, viperin and IFN-induced transmembrane proteins (Brass et al., 2009; Hsiao et al., ; Jiang et al., 2010; Kajaste-Rudnitski et al., 2006; Samuel et al., 2006). Of these, 2'-5'-OAS proteins are the most widely studied and acts through activation of RNAse L, a potent endoribonuclease that cleaves viral RNA (Silverman, 2007). The critical role of 2'-5'-OAS in the control of West Nile virus (WNV) infection was first reported in mice (Mashimo et al., 2002; Perelygin et al., 2002) and recently in horses and humans, where distinct OAS1a gene polymorphisms were identified as a risk factor (Lim et al., 2009; Rios et al., 2010). Given the association of OAS with the flavivirusresistance phenomenon in mice (Brinton & Perelygin, 2003), this ISG most likely also plays an important role in recovery from JEV infection. ISG-15 is an additional ISG recently documented to be involved in the control of JEV infection (Hsiao et al., 2010).

Considering its antiviral action, the therapeutic potential of recombinant IFN in human cases of JE has been investigated. While an initial study suggested a benefit (Harinasuta

et al., 1985), a subsequent randomised double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial did

not (Solomon et al., 2003b). The failure to observe a benefit in the larger scale study

posed the question of clinical relevance of IFN treatment. It remains to be seen, whether

the outcome might differ if higher doses were given, given earlier in the course of

infection, or given in combination with other drugs. It is likely that the failure of IFN

therapy after an established JEV infection can be attributed to the IFN-antagonistic mechanisms of the virus itself. JEV counteracts the effect of IFN by blocking tyrosine kinase 2 (Tyk2) and Stat activation (Lin *et al.*, 2004). This is mediated by the viral NS5 protein through the activation of protein tyrosine phosphatases (Lin *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, JEV NS4A protein is reported to block IFN action through inhibiting phosphorylation of Stat 1 and Stat 2 (Lin *et al.*, 2008*a*). Moreover, aside from IFN antagonism at the level of Jak-Stat signalling, JEV is also able to inhibit a downstream antiviral molecule, viperin, by promoting its degradation via a proteasome-dependent mechanism (Chan *et al.*, 2008).

1.3.3 Cellular factors, chemokines and cytokines

Neutrophil leucocytosis is a unique feature in human cases of JE (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1979; Singh *et al.*, 2000*a*). A neutrophil chemotactic factor derived from JEVstimulated macrophages has been reported to induce neutrophilia (Khanna *et al.*, 1991). Additionally, an increased level of the neutrophil chemoattractant, IL-8, found in CSF and serum of JEV infected individuals is significantly associated with neutrophilia and an elevated level of IL-8 in CSF and plasma is linked with adverse clinical outcome (Singh *et al.*, 2000*b*; Winter *et al.*, 2004). This contrasts with a potentially beneficial role of neutrophils in the control of JEV infection by a mechanism involving the degradation of virus via triggering a respiratory burst and the generation of toxic

radicals (Srivastava et al., 1999).

Cells of the monocytic lineage and the release of soluble factors thereof have been implicated in JEV pathogenesis. Macrophages predominate the inflammatory cells

infiltrating the brain parenchyma of individuals with Japanese encephalitis (Johnson et

al., 1985). They are permissive for JEV replication, and provide a putative mechanism for JEV entry into the CNS (Aleyas et al., 2009; Hasegawa et al., 1990; Mathur et al., 1988; Yang et al., 2004). Cathepsin L-mediated processing of the capsid protein appears to play a role in JEV replication in macrophages, since mutant virus resistant to cleavage by the protease has impaired growth in macrophage but not fibroblast or mosquito cell lines (Mori et al., 2007). Microglia are a brain-resident macrophage cell population, which can be infected with JEV for prolonged periods without morphological alteration, suggesting that microglia might serve as a reservoir for viral persistence in the CNS (Thongtan et al., 2010). Local immune responses initiated by microglial cells may provide protection against JEV infection of the CNS. However, microglial activation resulting in elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β) and chemokines (IL-8, RANTES, MCP1) in the CSF and plasma may give rise to irreversible neuronal damage and correlates with an increased mortality rate (Chen et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2010b; Ghoshal et al., 2007; Ravi et al., 1997; Saxena et al., 2008; Winter et al., 2004). Astroyctes were originally classified as a subclass of glial cells with pleiotropic functions for maintenance of CNS homeostasis, and only recently were they shown to be immunocompetent cells (Dong & Benveniste, 2001). JEV infected astrocytes are an important source of chemokines (CCL5 and CXCL10) for migration of leukocytes into the CNS (Bhowmick et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2010a).

Lastly, natural killer (NK) and γ/δ T cells form the cytotoxic arm of the innate immune

pathways. Both exhibit cellular cytotoxicity by causing apoptotic lysis of virally infected cells, either through a direct cell-cell contact mechanism or, indirectly, by release of soluble cytokines, IFN- γ and TNF- α . An *in vitro* study has demonstrated the antiviral activity of IFN- γ against JEV (Hasegawa *et al.*, 1990). IFN- γ mediates its antiviral effect, at least in part, through induction of nitric oxide (NO) synthase

(Karupiah et al., 1993) and an inhibitory effect of NO on JEV growth has been documented (Lin Y.L. et al., 1997; Saxena et al., 2000). IFN- γ , derived from γ/δ T cells is necessary for the early control of dissemination of WNV, which is closely related to JEV (Wang *et al.*, 2003a). γ/δ T cells may play a protective role at the interface of innate and adaptive immunity, since $TCR\delta^{-/-}$ mice display higher susceptibility after secondary challenge with WNV compared to wild-type mice (Wang T. et al., 2006). It will be interesting to uncover whether γ/δ T cells are also important in experimental models of JEV.

Factor	Outcome after JEV infection		
Pathogen Recognition			
Myd88	absence = \downarrow production of inflammatory cytokines,		
RIG-1	absence = \downarrow production of type 1 IFN; \uparrow disease severity		
MDA-5	absence = no effect on production of type 1 IFN; no effect on disease severity		
LGP2	absence = ↑ production of type 1 IFN		
Interferon Induction and Signalling			
NF-κB	↑ PI3K dependent production of type 1 IFN		
IRF-3	↑ RIG-1 dependent production of type 1 IFN		
IFN-α	inhibits virus, no effect with treatment of human cases		
IFN-a receptor	absence = ↑ disease severity		
Jak-stat	inhibited by viral NS4A and NS5 proteins		
ISG15	inhibits virus		
Viperin	inhibited via proteosome-dependent mechanism		

Table 1.5 Innate immune factors affecting outcome of JEV infection

Cellular Factors	
Neutrophils	neutrophilia, intracellular degradation of JEV ↑ release of inflammatory cytokines; ↑ pathology
Macrophage	monocytosis;
Microglial Cells	microgliosis;
Astrocytes	↑ release of inflammatory cytokines
\uparrow = increase, \downarrow = decrease	

1.4 Adaptive Immunity

Adaptive immunity represents the second wave of immune responses and is characterized by specificity, high potency, and development of memory. For it to become activated, it requires signals from antigen presenting cells of the innate immune system. This can be directly through cell-to-cell communication or, indirectly, by recognition of soluble cytokines. Adaptive immunity is composed of the humoral and cell-mediated immune responses mediated by B and T lymphocytes, respectively. The essential contribution of the adaptive immune responses in recovery from viral infections has been evident from empirical observations in people with defective B cell or T cell development (Fulginiti *et al.*, 1968; Wilfert *et al.*, 1977; Wyatt, 1973).

1.4.1 B cells

Humoral immunity has paramount protective function in primary JEV infection. The importance of a vigorous, virus-specific, humoral immune response in ameliorating and preventing illness has been documented in human cases of JE (Burke *et al.*, 1987; Libraty *et al.*, 2002; McCallum, 1991) and in animal models by administration of antibody prior or subsequent to infection with JEV (Goncalvez *et al.*, 2008; Gupta *et al.*, 2003; Kimura-Kuroda & Yasui, 1988; Zhang *et al.*, 1989).

Mechanistically, antibodies elicited against flaviviruses exhibit their action directly by

neutralization of infectivity, or indirectly by antibody-dependent cell-mediated

cytotoxicity, Fc-y-receptor-mediated clearance, or complement-mediated cytotoxicity

(Pierson et al., 2008). Neutralizing antibodies predominantly target the E protein of the

virion, although protective antibodies against prM and NS1 proteins have also been

documented (Dewasthaly *et al.*, 2001; Kolaskar & Kulkarni-Kale, 1999; Konishi *et al.*, 1991; Konishi *et al.*, 1992*a*; Konishi *et al.*, 1992*b*; Lin *et al.*, 2008*b*; Lin *et al.*, 1998; Nam *et al.*, 1999; Seif *et al.*, 1995; Wu et al., *2003*; Wu & Lin, *2001*; Xu et al., *2004*). The latter can control JEV infection by their complement-mediated cytolytic potential (Krishna *et al.*, 2009; Lin *et al.*, 2008*b*; Lin *et al.*, 1998). Antibody neutralizes flavivirus infectivity with high efficiency mainly by interfering with early steps of the viral entry pathway, including attachment, internalisation, and fusion (Butrapet *et al.*, 1998; Crill & Roehrig, 2001; Goncalvez *et al.*, 2008; Nybakken *et al.*, 2005).

1.4.2 T cells

T cells can be classified phentoypically, on the basis of their antigen receptor usage (α/β vs γ/δ) and their co-receptor expression (CD4 vs. CD8), or functionally (cytotoxic vs helper). Generally, cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) are predominantly of CD8⁺ and, at times, helper T (Th) cells of CD4⁺ phenotype. T cells of the γ/δ phenotype recognize non-classical major histocompatibility complex (MHC) antigens and form part of the innate immune response as described earlier. On the other hand, CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ α/β T cells recognize MHC-I and MHC-II plus peptide antigen, respectively, and serve as mediators of adaptive immune responses.

1.4.2.1 CD4⁺ T cell immune response

Multifaceted CD4⁺ T cells contribute to controlling infection by various mechanisms, including antiviral cytokine production, activation of antigen-presenting cells, antibody class switching, direct cytotoxicity, and maintenance of CD8⁺ T cell activity (Zhu *et al.*, 2010). Follicular helper T cells (T_{FH}) are a subset of CD4⁺ T cells that enter B cells

follicles to provide help in germinal center formation. T_{FH} require expression of inducible T cell co-stimulator (ICOS) and SLAM-associated protein (SAP) for optimal T_{FH}-B cell interaction important in generation of long-lived plasma cells and memory B cells (Bertram et al., 2002; Crotty et al., 2003; Kamperschroer et al., 2006) (Fig. 1.8A). Direct costimulatory interactions, mainly through CD40L-CD40, between CD4⁺ T cells and B cells are also necessary for the optimal generation of humoral immunity (Borrow et al., 1996; Sangster et al., 2003). CD4⁺ T cell-mediated help for generation of effector CD8⁺ T cells is via various mechanisms, including paracrine release of interleukin-2 by CD4⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cell direct CD40L-CD40 interaction with antigen-presenting cell that enhances priming of CD8⁺ T cells, and upregulation of CD25 on CD8⁺ T cells (Swain et al., 2012; Obar et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2006) (Fig 1.8B). On the other hand, CD4⁺ T cell-mediated help for generation of memory CD8⁺ T cells is via downregulation of apoptotic genes in CD8⁺ T cells, such as TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1) (Fuse et al., 2009; Janssen et al., 2003; Janssen et al., 2005; Oh et al., 2009). Also, CD4+ T cell direct CD40L-CD40 interaction with CD8⁺ T cells has been shown to enhance generation of memory $CD8^+$ T cells (Mueller *et al.*, 2006).

The protective value of JEV-immune $CD4^+$ T cells has been explored in adoptive transfer experiments in mice (Biswas *et al.*, 2009). Exposure to JEV induces effective $CD4^+$ T cells immunity, characterised by T cell proliferation, production of Th1 and

Th2 cytokines, and immunoglobulin class switching (Konishi et al., 1995; Ramakrishna

et al., 2003). Putative Th epitopes that elicit virus-specific and flavivirus cross-reactive

proliferative responses in immune splenocytes have been mapped in E protein (Kutubuddin *et al.*, 1991). In humans, exposure to live JEV infection or vaccination similarly induces JEV-specific and flavivirus cross-reactive $CD4^+$ T cell responses

(Aihara *et al.*, 1998; Konishi *et al.*, 1995). A region of NS3 protein (residues 193 - 324) has been identified as the dominant source of peptide determinants for CD4⁺ T cells in a healthy JEV-endemic cohort (Kumar *et al.*, 2004*a*; Kumar *et al.*, 2004*b*). Patients with severe encephalitis had impaired NS3-specific CD4⁺ T cell responses, indicating a critical protective role of these immune cells in the pathogenesis of JE (Kumar *et al.*, 2004*a*).



Figure 1.8 CD4⁺ T cells helper functions. CD4⁺ T cell-mediated help of B cells (A) is mediated through a subset of CD4⁺ T cells called Follicular helper T (TFH) cells. In addition to release of soluble cytokines, direct interaction of TFH with B cells, 32

most importantly CD40L-CD40 interaction, induces germinal center formation, isotype switching and affinity maturation of antibody responses. All of which are important in the production of efficient neutralizing antibodies targeted towards eliminating viral pathogens. CD4⁺ T cell-mediated help of CD8⁺ T cells (B) via release of interleukin-2 (IL-2), direct CD40L–CD40 interaction, and indirectly via activation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Activation of APCs by CD4⁺ T cells, via direct CD40L-CD40 interaction and cognate peptide-MHCII-II interaction, leads to enhanced priming of CD8⁺ T cells by activated APCs. CD4⁺ T cell-mediated help in generation of memory CD8⁺ T cells involves downregulation of pro-apoptotic genes in CD8⁺ T cells, such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL). BCR: B cell receptor, TCR: T cell receptor, TH: T helper, ICOS: inducible T cell co-stimulator, ICOSL: ICOS ligand, MHC: major histocompatibility complex. Figure was adapted from Swain *et al.* (2012).

1.4.2.2 CD8⁺ T cell immune response

Cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells exert their function by lysing virally infected cells directly through Fas-FasL interaction or the perforin-granzymes exocytosis mechanism, and indirectly by release of soluble cytokines, IFN- γ and TNF- α (Russel and Ley, 2002; Mullbacher *et al.*, 2004) (Fig. 1.9). The binding of FasL, expressed on CD8⁺ T cells, to Fas receptor on infected target cell, initiates apoptosis via the activation of a caspase cascade (Rouvier *et al.*, 1993; Nagata, 1997). FasL-Fas interaction induces the association of Fas-Associated protein with Death Domain, caspase-8, caspase-10, and c-FLIP, which altogether form the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) (Peter *et al.*,

2007). The formation of DISC transduces a downstream signalling pathway, leading to

target cell apoptosis.

Polarized release of pore-forming perforin and proteolytic granzymes by effector CD8⁺

T cells to infected target cells initiate apoptosis via caspase-dependent and independent

mechanisms (Henkart, 1994; Heusel *et al.*, 1994; Simon and Kramer, 1994; Trapani and Smyth, 2002). It was originally thought that entry of granzymes into the target cell is mediated through the plasma membrane pores created by perforin, however recent evidence demonstrate that it is not the case (Chowdhury and Lieberman, 2008; Pipkin and Lieberman, 2007). The more accepted alternative mechanism of granzyme entry is still perforin-dependent. It speculates that the microscopic holes created by perforin induces a calcium influx, which subsequently activates a cellular membrane response leading to dynamin-dependent endocytosis of all substances, including perforin and granzymes, located at the narrow interphase between the effector and target cell (Keefe *et al.*, 2005; Pipkin and Lieberman, 2007).

To date, there are 5 identified human granzymes (Gzm) (A, B, H, K, M) and 11 mouse granzymes (A, B, C, D, E, F, G, K, L, M, N) (Granville, 2010). Among which, GzmA and GzmB are the most extensively studied. GzmA and GzmB induce apoptosis in target cells using different mechanisms, which is largely dependent on the cleavage specificities of the particular protease (Andrade, 2010). GzmB cleaves after aspartate residues (Asp-ase), making it able to activate pro-apoptotic caspases 3, 7, and 8, and activate effector proteins important in caspase-independent apoptotic pathways, such as BH3 interacting domain death agonist and inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 2007; Cullen *et al.*, 2007). Endpoint of cell-death induced by GzmB is characterized by oligonucleosomal DNA fragmentation (Chowdhury and

Lieberman, 2008). GzmA, on the other hand, cleaves target substrates containing consensus sequences with arginine or lysine at the P1 position, for instance Histone-A1 and lamins (Andrade, 2010; Lieberman and Fan, 2003; Zhu *et al.*, 2006; Zhu *et al.*, 2009). GzmA–induced death is mechanistically independent to that of GzmB, and results in single-stranded DNA breaks in target cells (Andrade, 2010).



Effector pathways of cytotoxicity. T cell receptors (TCR) on the Figure 1.9 surface of CD8⁺ T cells recognize cognate peptide-MHC-I complex presented by an infected target cell. The specific recognition activates an intracellular signal that leads to unidirectional secretion of lytic granules, containing perforin (perf) and granzymes (A or B in circles) into the synaptic cleft. Perforin is required for the uptake of granzymes by the target cell. Granzymes induce target-cell apoptosis by caspase-dependent and independent mechanisms. Effector-target cell FasL-Fas interaction can trigger apoptosis mediated through activation of a caspase cascade. Simultaneously, TCR stimulation induces target cell production of soluble antiviral cytokines, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interferon gamma (IFN- γ). Recognition of TNF- α by the TNF- α receptor expressed by target cells triggers apoptosis via the caspase cascade. IFN- γ , on the other hand, enhances target cell transcriptional activation of Fas and molecules of the MHC-I antigen presentation pathway, which creates a positive feedback loop of enhancing target cell apoptosis. The figure was adapted, with some modifications, from Mullbacher et al. (2004).

Early reports demonstrated JEV-specific CD8⁺ T cell proliferative responses and cytolytic activity in humans and mice after vaccination or exposure to live JEV infection (Konishi et al., 1995; Konishi et al., 1997; Konishi et al., 1998a; Murali-Krishna et al., 1995a; Murali-Krishna et al., 1994; Murali-Krishna et al., 1995b). Peptide determinants recognized by JEV-immune CD8⁺ cells are starting to be identified: they include a H-2K^d-restricted E protein-derived peptide (CYHASVTDI) (Takada et al., 2000) and a H-2D^b-restricted NS4B protein-derived peptide (SAVWNSTTA) (Trobaugh et al., 2010). In humans, the CD8⁺ T cell response against JEV appears to be biased to peptide determinants derived from the NS3 protein (Kumar et al., 2004b; Kumar et al., 2003), as was first reported for the CTL response against the closely related Murray Valley encephalitis virus (MVEV) in mice (Lobigs et al., 1994). This response against determinants in NS3 protein is broadly flavivirus cross-reactive and paradoxically recognises disparate epitopes from JEV and distantly related flaviviruses, but ignores more similar peptides from "self" and other virus families (Regner et al., 2001), suggesting that primary sequence homology is not always the crucial factor in peptide recognition in the cross-reactive cellular immune responses against flaviviruses.

A dominant protective role of $CD8^+$ T cells in JEV infection was initially reported by Murali-Krishna et al (1996); however, this involved co-injection of a large number of splenocytes with virus into the brain and required co-transfer of $CD4^+$ T cells. A series

of detailed studies have uncovered a conflicting role of CD8⁺ T cells in recovery from infection with encephalitic flaviviruses (Table 1.6). While essential for virus elimination from the CNS and survival in mouse models of West Nile encephalitis (Shrestha and Diamond, 2004; Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*a*; Wang *et al.*, 2003b; 2004), a disease-potentiating effect of CTLs was documented in mice infected with MVEV (Licon Luna

et al., 2002). Notably, mice genetically deficient in the Fas- or perforin-dependent pathways of cytotoxicity show greatly increased susceptibility to virulent lineage I WNV infection (Shrestha and Diamond, 2007; Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*a*), but do not differ from wild-type mice in susceptibility to infection with lineage II WNV strain, Sarafend (Wang *et al.*, 2004), and are more resistant to infection with MVEV (Licon Luna *et al.*, 2002). These findings highlight a difference in pathogenesis between even closely related flaviviruses belonging to the JEV serocomplex (Mullbacher *et al.*, 2004) that most likely involves a difference in the capacity of the cellular immune response to resolve the virus infections in the CNS.

Table 1.6	Impact of cell-mediated	immunity	on pa	thogenesi	S

Knock-out mice or Treatment	WNV lineage 1	WNV lineage 2	MVEV
CD8 ⁺ T cell-deficient or depleted	Î	- 1	nt
β2m-deficient	Ť	Ť	\downarrow
Perforin deficient	Ť	no effect	no effect
Granzyme A & B deficient	nt	Ť	no effect
Perforin and Granzyme A & B deficient	nt	↑	no effect
Fas ligand deficient	Ť	no effect	\downarrow
Perforin x Fas Ligand deficient	nt	↑	Ļ
IFN-y-deficient	Ť	no effect	Ť

 \uparrow = increase, \downarrow = decrease, nt = not tested. Figure adapted, with some modifications, from Lobigs et al. (2009)



1.4.2.3 Modulation of MHC-I

MHC-I is expressed on virtually all mammalian cells and the cell surface expression of this class of restriction elements for CTLs is up-regulated as a consequence of infection with JEV and other flaviviruses in a diverse range of cell types from different species (King and Kesson, 1988; Kesson et al., 2002; Lobigs et al., 2003). Flavivirus-induced up-regulation of MHC-I cell surface expression is, at least in part, IFN-independent (Abraham et al., 2010; Kesson & King, 2001; Mullbacher & Lobigs, 1995), and also includes that of non-classical MHC-I (Abraham et al., 2008). Although the physiological relevance of this phenomenon in virus transmission remains unclear, it has been proposed that the process may contribute to reduced NK cell activity, which is inhibited by engagement with MHC-I by NK cell inhibitory receptors (Hershkovitz et al., 2008; Momburg et al., 2001). It has also been hypothesised that flavivirus-induced up-regulation of MHC-I leads to transient T cell autoimmunity (given the increase in "self" antigen presentation), followed by subsequent suppression of "self"-reactive T cell activity, and that flavivirus infection or live vaccination of humans in the tropics could contribute to the observed lower incidence of overt autoimmunity in the tropics than in temperate climates, where flaviviruses are not endemic (Lobigs et al., 1996).



Control and Prevention of JE 1.5

No approved therapeutic agent is available for JE. Treatment is mainly supportive, for instance, using mannitol to decrease increased intracranial pressure (Solomon et al., 2002). Clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of corticosteroids and IFN- α on improving the outcome of patients with JE have shown discouraging results (Hoke et al., 2002; Solomon et al., 2003a). The only means to combat JE, therefore, is through effective means of control and prevention.

Given that the life cycle of arboviruses alternates in stages between mosquito vectors and animal or human hosts, vector control and mass vaccination are two suitable approaches available for control and prevention. Chemical insecticides used in vector control were noted for their early successes (Walker and Lynch, 2007; World Health Organization, 2006). For instance, dichlorodiphenyletrichloroethane (DDT) is regarded as the instrumental insecticide that paved the way for the elimination of arthropod-borne diseases, such as yellow fever and malaria, in North America (Gubler, 2004; Karunamoorthi, 2011). However, issues pertaining to its toxicity in humans and adverse environmental impact, such as bioaccumulation, brought forward its ban from use (Eskenazi et al., 2009; van den Berg, 2009). Due to safety issues and environmental concerns of chemical insecticides, recent alternatives were developed, including Release of Insects containing a Dominant Lethal (RIDL)-based or Wolbachia-based strategies.

Both strategies are designed to shorten the lifespan of mosquitoes, thereby preventing

the development of vector-capable adult mosquitoes. The RIDL strategy employed by

Oxitec (United Kingdom) requires mass release of genetically modified mosquitoes that

carry a dominant lethal gene (Alphey et al., 2002; Thomas et al., 2000). The

Wolbachia-based strategy involves mass release of mosquitoes infected with natural

strains of *Wolbachia*, an easily transmissible bacterium that causes life shortening in mosquitoes (Fu *et al.*, 2010; Moreira *et al.*, 2009; McMeniman *et al.*, 2009; Xi *et al.*, 2005).

Experience with yellow fever vaccination revealed that eradication of arboviruses is not likely possible, for two main reasons: constant presence of reservoir or maintenance hosts in the environment, and constant presence of primary and alternative vectors maintaining the virus in both urban and rural cycles (Barrett and Higgs, 2007). It is then thought that the most cost-effective way of controlling spread of arboviral diseases is through mass vaccination.

1.5.1 JE Vaccines

Vaccination is the most cost-effective measure in controlling the spread of JE (Jelinek, 2008). In countries were routine immunization against JE were implemented, the dramatic drop in annual incidence of JE was observed (Erlanger *et al.*, 2009). For the past 50 years, the formalin-inactivated mouse brain-derived JEV was the only licensed vaccine for international use. However, due to the perceived issues of safety, the use of the vaccine was suspended, and its production was ceased since 2005 (Appaiahgari *et al.*, 2010). It is though that the recommendation was done in the anticipation of the arrival of new generation JE vaccines. For a new JE vaccine to get through the

regulatory process, it has to display non-inferiority to formalin-inactivated mouse brain-

derived JE vaccine. This is based on an established surrogate marker for JE vaccine

efficacy, which is PRNT₅₀ titre (50% plaque reduction and neutralization test) of at least

40

1:10 (Hombach et al., 2005, Markoff, 2000).

1.5.1.1 Inactivated mouse brain-derived JE vaccine

In 1954, a formalin-inactivated mouse brain-derived JE vaccine (JE- VAX®) was licensed in Japan (Fischer *et al.*, 2010; Scholer *et al.*, 2009). Its formulation was subsequently modified through the decades, with the vaccine containing inactivated JEV strain Beijing-1 and/or Nakayama. The internationally licensed vaccine is an inactivated JEV Nakayama-NIH strain produced in The Research Foundation for Microbial Diseases of Osaka University (Biken, Osaka, Japan), and distributed worldwide in the recent past by Sanofi Pasteur as JE-VAX. Each one ml dose formulation contains 500 μ g of gelatin, <100 μ g of formaldehyde, <0.0007% v/v Polysorbate 80, <50 ng of mouse serum protein, and 0.007% thimerosal preservative. Aside from effective use in military personnel and tourists from JE-nonendemic to JE-endemic countries, JE- VAX® vaccine was instrumental in the dramatic decline of JE incidence in JE-endemic countries, such as in Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, and Thailand (Fischer *et al.*, 2010).

Two large clinical trials have demonstrated the efficacy of JE-VAX® vaccine. The first study demonstrated a vaccine efficacy rate of 80% after one year of follow-up in children receiving a two-dose regimen of the vaccine, while a single dose vaccine was not efficacious (Hsu *et al.*, 1971). The second study demonstrated a combined vaccine efficacy rate of 91% after two years of follow-up in children receiving monovalent

vaccines (containing either Nakayama or Beijing-1 strain), while no difference was

noted between monovalent vs. bivalent vaccines (Hoke et al., 1988).

Twenty percent of JE- VAX® vaccine recipients were associated with local adverse events, such as localized erythema, tenderness, and swelling at the injection site, while

10% of vaccine recipients experienced mild systemic effects, such as fever, chills, headache, myalgia, rash, and gastrointestinal symptoms (Defraites et al., 1999; Poland et al., 1990). The frequency of severe hypersensitivity reaction is estimated to range from 10 to 260 cases per 100,000 vaccine recipients (Fischer et al., 2010). These serious, but rare, systemic allergic reactions include generalized urticaria, angioedema of the extremities, face, and oropharynx, with or without accompanying bronchospasm, respiratory distress, and hypotension. History of anaphylaxis, urticaria, or other allergies provides a 2 to 11 times likelihood of developing a reaction after JE- VAX® vaccination (Berg et al., 1997; Plesner et al., 2000; Sakaguchi et al., 2001b). A study in Japan has demonstrated gelatin, a vaccine stabilizer, as the likely compound that induces IgE-mediated immediate hypersensitivity reaction in children (Sakaguchi et al., 1997; Sakaguchi et al., 1998; Sakaguchi et al., 2001a). Approximately 0.1-2 cases per 100,000 JE-MB recipients demonstrated moderate to severe neurologic symptoms, including encephalitis, gait disturbances, Parkinsonism, and seizures (Fischer et al, 2010). Cases of fatal acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) were reported in Korea and Japan, and in 2005, this was one of the cited reasons that prompted Japanese officials to suspend the used of JE-MB vaccine (Ohtaki et al., 1995; Matsui et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2000). However, the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety found no evidence of increased risk for ADEM after JE-MB vaccination (Fischer et al., 2010).

1.5.1.2 Inactivated Beijing-3 strain JE vaccine

In 1968, a primary hamster kidney cell culture-derived JEV Beijing-3 strain (P-3) was developed in China (Scholer *et al.*, 2009). It was widely used in China until it was gradually replaced by a live, attenuated (SA14-14-4) vaccine. No large-scale

randomized control trials were done to fully evaluate the safety and immunogenicity of the P-3 vaccine. A single case-control study revealed a limited protection of 78% after 2-dose primary vaccination plus annual boosters (Luo *et al.*, 1994). The limited efficacy and requirement of multiple doses was seen as the basis for the Chinese authorities to shift to using the SA14-14-2 vaccine (Scholer *et al.*, 2009).

1.5.1.3 SA14-14-4 JE vaccine

In 1988, Chinese authorities licensed SA14-14-2, a live attenuated JE vaccine produced at the Chengdu Institute of Biological Products (CDIBP), China. SA14-14-2 was generated by serial passages of SA14 strain in primary hamster kidney cell culture, and in live mice and hamsters, with subsequent plaque purifications in primary chick embryo cell culture (Appaiahgari *et al.*, 2010; Halstead and Thomas, 2011). Q-One Biotech (UK) has determined the SA14-14-2 to be free of adventitious viruses after quality assurance check of the master seed vaccine and vaccine lots. It has been administered to more than 200 million children in China, and has recently been licensed in India, Sri Lanka, Nepal, and South Korea (Appaiahgari *et al.*, 2010).

Three small case-controlled studies (Hennessy *et al.*, 1996; Bista *et al.*, 2001; Ohrr *et al.*, 2005) demonstrated the efficacy rate of SA14-14-4 at > 95%. No large randomized trial was done to assess vaccine effectiveness; however, epidemiologic observational studies have revealed significant disease reduction in areas where the vaccine was used

(Zhou et al., 1999, Zhou et al., 2001). A cluster-randomized control trial by Liu et al.

(1997) has shown that SA14-14-4 vaccine, relative to unvaccinated controls, was not

associated with increased adverse events. In addition, the WHO's Global Advisory

Committee on Vaccine Safety has acknowledged the excellent safety and efficacy

profile of the SA14-14-4 vaccine. In over a million children followed up in safety
43

studies, approximately 5-10% present with transient fever, 1-3% present with local reactions, rash or irritability, and no reported cases of acute encephalitis or anaphylactic reactions (Halstead *et al.*, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 1997). The excellent safety profile was also supported by a post-marketing surveillance study of SA14-14-2 vaccine use in South Korea (World Health Organization, 2005).

1.5.1.4 ChimeriVax-JE vaccine

60.

ChimeriVax-JE is a recent live attenuated recombinant JE vaccine produced by replacing the E and prM genes of YF-17D with JEV vaccine strain SA14-14-4 (Chambers *et al.*, 1999; Monath *et al.*, 2012). The construct was created at the St Louis University Health Sciences Center and Acambis Inc., and was recently licensed for production by Sanofi Pasteur. ChimeriVax-JE is highly stable, and its infection and replication is restricted to mosquito vectors (Monath *et al.*, 1999; Bhatt *et al.*, 2000). Its safety, immunogenicity, and protective capacity have been demonstrated in preclinical studies (Monath *et al.*, 1999).

Two randomised control phase 3 clinical trials revealed noninferiority of a single dose of ChimeriVax-JE relative to 3 dose regimen of inactivated mouse brain-derived JE vaccine (Torresi *et al.*, 2010). Long-term immunogenicity after single dose ChimeriVax-JE immunization was demonstrated in a study done by Nasveld et al.

(2010), which showed seroprotection in 99% and 97% of participants at 1 and 6 months

post-immunization, respectively. Furthermore, 87% of the participants, who were

seroprotected at month 6, were still be protected at month 60, while 96% of the

participants, who received a booster dose at month 6, were still be protected at month

A series of clinical studies did not show serious or life-threathening adverse events that were related to ChimeriVax-JE immunization (Halstead and Thomas, 2011). The rate of mild adverse events in participants receiving Chimerivax-JE was lower relative to control YF-17D immunization (Monath *et al.*, 2002; Monath *et al.*, 2003), or similar compared to hepatitis A vaccination (Chokephaibulkit *et al.*, 2010). A large post-marketing surveillance study will be needed to fully assess the safety of ChimeriVax-JE vaccine.

1.5.1.5 Alum-adjuvanted Vero cell culture-derived JE vaccine

An inactivated Vero cell culture-derived JE vaccine (ccJE) is manufactured by Intercell Biomedical (Livingston, United Kingdom) and is distributed by Novartis Vaccines (Fischer *et al.*, 2010; Schioler *et al.*, 2007). The inactivated vaccine is adjuvanted with aluminium hydroxide (Alum), and is derived from the attenuated SA14-14-2 JEV strain. Each 0.5-mL dose contains 6 µg of purified, inactivated JEV proteins, 0.1% aluminum hydroxide, and does not contain gelatin stabilizers, antibiotics, or preservative thimerosal. Given that a correlate for protection was established for JE vaccines, no efficacy study was needed for licensure of Alum-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine. Instead, a noninferiority to JE-MB vaccine study was done, which revealed comparable immunogenicity (Fischer *et al.*, 2010). Durability of protective neutralizing antibodies

after a 2-dose regimen of Alum-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine was 95% at 6 months and 83%

at 12 months (Schuller et al., 2008). In contrast, another study performed in a different

vaccinee population, revealed a less durable protective neutralizing antibody response

of 83% after 6 months, 58% after 1 year, and 48% after 2 years (Dubischar-Kastner et

45

al., 2009).

A pooled analysis of seven studies on Alum-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine revealed a frequency of 3% of local adverse events, which was comparable to controls and better than for the JE- VAX® vaccine (14%) (Dubischar-Kastner *et al.*, 2009). Mild systemic symptoms were comparable in Alum-adjuvanted ccJE, JE- VAX®, and placebo control groups (36% vs 40%, respectively). Only 1% of subjects receiving Alum-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine presented with serious advents, while no serious anaphylactic reactions or neurologic adverse events were recorded (Dubischar-Kastner *et al.*, 2009). However, given that only a small population has received the vaccine, a post-marketing surveillance study is underway to fully evaluate vaccine safety.

1.5.2 Vaccine Adjuvants

An adjuvant is a substance added to a vaccine formulation intended to enhance the quality of the immune response to the antigen. It is derived from the Latin word "adjuvare," meaning "to help". In the 1920's, the word adjuvant was first used by Gaston Ramon of the Institut Pasteur, upon observing that the immune response in horses given diphtheria toxin was enhanced when local inflammation is present at the inoculation site (Lombard and Moulin, 2007). An adjuvant, when added to a vaccine formulation, offers the following benefits: i.) increase potency of weak immunogen, ii.) improve immunogenicity of vaccines when given to aged or immunocompromised

individuals, iii.) reduce dose of antigen used in vaccine formulation (antigen-sparing

capacity), thereby lowering costs of vaccines, and iv.) enable various modes of vaccine

delivery (Coffman et al., 2010). The latter is exemplified by mucosal vaccination using

pertussis or cholera toxin adjuvants, which potentiates Th2 responses, and thereby

46

increases neutralizing IgA and IgE antibody responses at mucosal sites.

For the past ~70 years, Alum has been the only adjuvant licensed for international use (Fig. 1.10). Multiple attempts were done to introduce novel adjuvants through the years, and yet failed due issues of safety and reactogenecity. However, this changed in recent years when empirical studies were replaced with in-depth investigations uncovering the molecular mechanisms of adjuvant mode of action, resulting in series of new generation adjuvants entering or about to enter the market (Coffman *et al.*, 2010). A web-based vaccine adjuvant database has summarized a total of 104 adjuvants, both licensed and candidates included (Sayers *et al.*, 2012). Adjuvants can be classified, based on their mode of action, into: i.) antigen delivery systems, ii.) immune potentiators, and iii.) combination systems (Table 1.7).



USA

Figure 1.10 List of licensed adjuvants in Europe and USA. Alum is the only

licensed adjuvant from 1926 until 1997. Since then, a series of adjuvants have been approved for use in Europe: MF59 in 1997 for seasonal influenza vaccine (*Fluad*), ASO4 in 2005 for hepatitis B vaccine (*Fendrix*) and human papilloma virus vaccine (*Cervarix*), and ASO3 in 2008 for pandemic flu vaccine (*Prepandrix*). In the United States, ASO4 was licensed in 2009 for *Cervarix*. MF59 (Novartis) and ASO3 (GlaxoSmithKline): oil-in-water emulsion based on squalene, ASO4 (GlaxoSmithKline): Monophosphoryl lipid A + Alum.
Table 1.7Classification of Adjuvants

Туре	Mode of action	Examples		
1. Antigen delivery systems	a.) Forming depots	Water-in-oil emulsion		
2. Immune potentiator	b.) Antigen delivery to antigen- presenting cell Act directly to activate immune system	Liposomes ISCOMS TLR agonists MPL (TLR4) Flagellin (TLR5) Imiquinod (TLR7 and/or TLR8) CpG (TLR9)		
3. Combination systems	Combination of antigen delivery system and immune potentiator	Aluminum salts ASO2 ASO4		
MPL: Monphosphoryl lipid A, ASO2: oil-in-water emulsion containing MPL and QS-21, ASO4: Alum and MPL, ISCOMS: immune stimulating complexes				

1.5.1.1 Alum adjuvant

Alum (Aluminum salts) is the most commonly used vaccine adjuvant with a proven safety record (Exley *et al.*, 2010; Marrack *et al.*, 2009). It has been extensively used in humans, and is included in vaccine formulations targeted against diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, hepatitis A and hepatitis B. The mechanism of action of Alum was originally believed mainly through depot formation at the injection site, that facilitates efficient antigen uptake and presentation. However, recent studies have documented alternative mechanisms, mainly through enhanced immune stimulation, and involving i.) NRLP3

inflammasome, ii.) lipid sorting, and iii.) extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK).

An *in vitro* study has demonstrated the ability of Alum to stimulate caspase-1 and produce the inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β and IL-18. The activation of caspase-1 by

alum is mediated through the NRLP3 inflammasome (Eisenbarth et al., 2008; Hornung

et al., 2008; Li *et al.*, 2007). The role of NRLP3 inflammasome was confirmed with the use of NALP3^{-/-} or caspase-1^{-/-} mice, which were unable to mount a substantial humoral immune response after alum-adjuvanted immunization. Alum is also able to bind to sphingomyelin and cholesterol on dendritic cell surface membranes. The binding results in lipid sorting, such as clustering of immunorecpetor tyrosine-based activation motif-containing receptors. Lipid sorting subsequently activates intracellular transduction pathways, mediated through Syk and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (Flach *et al.*, 2011). Lastly, Alum is identified to interact with another kinase, ERK, which stimulates abortive phagocytosis in dendritic cells, and thereby facilitating the uptake of a specific antigen (Flach *et al.*, 2011)

Two main disadvantages have been associated with Alum. One is the recorded frequency of adverse side effects including injection site pain and inflammation, lymphadenopathy, and eosinophilia (Goto *et al.*, 1993; Goto *et al.*, 1997), and, in some cases, its association with a chronic inflammatory disease known as macrophagic myofascitis (Gherardi *et al.*, 2001; Gherardi and Authier, 2003). Another limitation is the limited efficacy of Alum to enhance immune responses to a specified antigen (Doherty *et al.*, 2006), for instance, its failure to augment cell-mediated immune responses and failure to provide durable memory B cell responses (Kool *et al.*, 2011, Exley *et al.*, 2010; Marrack *et al.*, 2009).

1.5.1.2 Advax adjuvant

Advax is a promising adjuvant that has been shown to enhance the protective value of vaccines targeted against influenza virus, human immunodeficiency virus, African Horse Sickness virus, and *Burkholderia mallei* (Cristillo *et al.*, 2011; Cooper and

Petrovsky, 2011; Eckersley *et al.*, 2011; Layton *et al.*, 2011; Lobigs *et al.*, 2010). The delta inulin polysaccharide particle Advax is a strong candidate as an ideal adjuvant: it is safe, non-reactogenic, tolerable, immunogenic when combined with an antigen, and significantly antigen-sparing (Cooper and Petrovsky, 2011; Honda-Okubo *et al.*, 2012). Recently, it has been shown that co-administration of Advax with inactivated ccJE dramatically improved the immunogenicity of the vaccine (Lobigs *et al.*, 2010). This was reflected by solid neutralizing titres, which were known to be protective against JEV infection or heterologous challenges with MVEV or WNV.

The simple inert polysaccharide composition of Advax adjuvant also imparts it an advantage as a safe formulation (Cooper and Petrovsky, 2011). Preclinical studies have revealed that, based on footpad swelling test, local injection site reactogenicity was very minimal when using Advax adjuvant relative to recently licensed adjuvants in the market (Honda-Okubo *et al.*, 2012). The mechanism of action of Advax adjuvant is not yet completely understood. It is known to stimulate a balanced Th1 and Th2 responses, and is associated with robust and durable antibody and T cell responses (Honda-Okubo *et al.*, 2012). It is thought that Advax adjuvant does not work through enhanced activation of innate immune inflammation observed in Toll-like receptor agonists, nor does it have direct action on T cell activation. Advax adjuvant is known to bind to undefined receptors in mononuclear cells, with a consequent upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (CD11c, CD83, CD86, MHC-II) required for efficient antigen

presentation (Cooper and Petrovsky, 2006; Honda-Okubo et al., 2012). It is then

currently hypothesized that Advax adjuvant works through enhancing early antigen

50

presentation, and thereby boosting adaptive immune responses.

Aims of the study:

The immunological correlates of recovery from JEV infection remains poorly defined. It is the aim of this study to establish the role of adaptive immunity in host recovery in mouse models of primary JEV infection. Furthermore, it is aimed to use these insights to establish the immunological mechanism of protection of candidate JE vaccines.

Objectives:

- 1. To establish a pathogenesis model of JEV infection that mimics natural infection route and dose in humans.
- 2. To determine the role of humoral immunity in the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis.
- 3. To determine the role of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations in the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis.
- 4. To determine the role of effector mechanisms of cytotoxicity in the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis.
- 5. To highlight the commonalities with and differences from WNV or MVEV in the role of adaptive immune pathways in recovery from JEV infection.
- 6. To determine the role of the chemokine, CCR5, in the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis.
- 7. To determine the impact of adaptive immune pathways in vaccine-mediated protection, and establish the mechanism of protection of a new generation JE vaccine.

Hypotheses:

In murine models of Japanese encephalitis, effectors of adaptive immunity play an important role in recovery from primary infection. Likewise, all components of the adaptive immune pathways are crucial for protection provided by JE vaccines.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods



2.1 Viruses and cells

Cell lines were originally obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Vero cells (African green monkey kidney) and YAC-1 cells (Moloney leukemia virus-induced T cell lymphoma) were grown at 37°C with 5% CO₂ atmosphere in Eagle's minimal essential medium plus nonessential amino acids (MEM) (Invitrogen) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS). Working stocks of JEV (strain Nakayama) were infected Vero cell culture supernatants (2x10⁸ PFU/ml) stored in single-use aliquots at -70°C. Other previously prepared viruses (Table 2.1) stored in single-use aliquots at -70°C included MVEV (strain MVE-1-51), WNV strain Kunjin (WNV_{KUN}), WNV strain New York 1999 (WNV_{NY99}), ChimeriVax-JE, yellow fever virus (YFV), dengue virus type 2 strain PUO (DENV-2), vaccinia virus Western Reserve strain (VACV_{WR}).

Virus	Stock titre ^a	Preparation
JEV	2x10 ⁸ PFU/ml	Vero cell culture supernatant
MVEV	2x10 ⁹ PFU/ml	10% suckling mouse brain homogenate ^b
WNV_{KUN}	1x10 ⁹ PFU/ml	10% suckling mouse brain homogenate ^b
WNV_{NY99}	1x10 ⁸ PFU/ml	C6/36 cell culture supernatant
ChimeriVax-JE	1x10 ⁷ PFU/ml	Vero cell culture supernatant
DENV-2	5x10 ⁶ PFU/ml	C6/36 cell culture supernatant
YFV	1x10 ⁷ PFU/ml	C6/36 cell culture supernatant
VACV _{WR}	1x10 ⁷ PFU/ml	Infected CV1 cell lysate

Table 2.1List of viruses used in the study

^a Stocks stored in single use aliquots at -70 °C.

^b Homogenates in Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS) containing 20 mM HEPES buffer (pH 8.0) and 0.2% bovine serum albumin (HBSS-BSA)

Plaque Assay 2.2

Titration of JEV was by plaque formation on Vero cells monolayers used at 80% confluence in six-well tissue culture plates (Nunc). Samples from infected cell culture supernatants, serum, or tissue homogenates were serially diluted in ten-fold dilution steps in HBSS-BSA on ice, and 100 µl of diluted samples was inoculated on Vero cell monolayers. For virus adsorption, plates were incubated for 1 h at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO2, with gentle shaking every 15 minutes. Four ml of agar overlay medium containing 1% M199 medium and Bacto-agar (Difco, Detroit, Mich.), supplemented with 10 mM L-glutamine, 2% FCS, and 100U of antibiotics [penicillin (30 µg/ml; Sigma, St. Louis, Mo.), streptomycin sulfate (50 µg/ml; Sigma), and neomycin sulfate (50 µg/ml; Sigma)] was added to each well. Following incubation for 72 to 96 h at 37°C, 1 ml of 0.03% neutral red (BDH Chemicals, Poole, England) in HBSS were added to stain the monolayers. After 16 hours incubation at 37°C, the stain and agar overlay were removed, and plaques were counted to quantify viral titer expressed in PFU (plaque forming unit).

2.3 Mice

C57B1/6 (B/6), C57B1/10 (B/10), CBA, Balb/c, 129x1/SvJAPB (129), B6.129P2/J (CCR5^{+/+}) and various knockout mice strains (summarized in Table 2.1) were bred under specific pathogen-free conditions, and supplied by the Animal Breeding Facility at the John Curtin School of Medical Research, The Australian National University

(ANU), Canberra. Female mice were used in all experiments. All animal experiments

54

were conducted with approval from ANU Animal Ethics Committee.

Mice strain	Brief description	Reference
μ MT - ^{/-}	B cell-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of a membrane exon of the	Kitamura et al., 1991
β 2m ⁻′⁻	MHC-I-deficient or $CD8^+$ T cell-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the second exon of the $\beta2m$ gene	Koller <i>et al</i> ., 1990
MHCII-αβ ^{-/-}	MHC-II-deficient or $CD4^+$ T cell-deficient mice designed via targeted 80 kb deletion of the entire MHC-II region	Madsen <i>et al.</i> , 1999
MHCII-α ^{-/-}	MHC-II-deficient or CD4 ⁺ T cell-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the H2-Ag gene	Cosgrove <i>et al</i> ., 1991
MHCII-β ^{-/-}	MHC-II-deficient or $CD4^+$ T cell-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the H2-AB gene.	Grusby <i>et al</i> ., 1991
RAG-1 ^{-/-}	Combined B and T cell-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the recombination activating gene-1 (RAG-1).	Mombaerts <i>et al</i> ., 1992
Fas ^{-/-}	Fas-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the Fas gene.	Adachi <i>et al</i> ., 1995
Perf	Perforin (Perf)-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of perforin gene.	Kagi <i>et al</i> ., 1994
GzmA/B ^{-/-}	Granzymes (Gzm) A and B-deficient mice produced by crossing GzmA ^{-/-} and GzmB ⁻	Simon <i>et al</i> ., 1997 Ebnet <i>et al</i> ., 1995 Heusel <i>et al</i> ., 1994
Perf ^{/-} xGzmA/B ^{-/-}	Perforin (Perf), GzmA, and GzmB- deficient mice produced by crossing Perf ^{-/-} and GzmA/B ^{-/-} mice.	Mullbacher et al., 1999
Fas ^{-/-} xGzmA/B ^{-/-}	Fas, GzmA, and GzmB-deficient mice produced by crossing Fas ^{-/-} and GzmA/B ^{-/-} mice.	Rode <i>et al</i> ., 2004
IFN-γ ^{-/-}	Interferon gamma (IFN-γ)-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the IFN-γ gene.	Dalton <i>et al</i> ., 1993
B6.129P2-CCR5 ^{-/-}	Chemokine CCR5-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the	Kuziel <i>et al.</i> , 2003
IFN-α-R ^{-/-}	Interferon alpha receptor (IFN- α -R)- deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of the IFN- α -R gene	Muller <i>et al</i> ., 1994
B6.MyD88-/-	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88)-deficient mice designed via targeted disruption of MvD88 gene	Adachi <i>et al</i> ., 1998
Balb/c.MyD88 ^{-/-}	MyD88-deficient mice on Balb/c	Sutherland et al.,2011

Table 2.2List of knockout mice strains

$TNF-\alpha-R^{-/-}$

background produced by backcrossing MyD88^{-/-} mice 10 times on Balb/c wt mice. Tumor necrosis factor alpha receptor Korner et al., 1993 (TNF-a-R)-deficient mice designed via $\frac{1}{\text{All mice are in B6 background except otherwise indicated.}}$

2.4 Mouse inoculation and tissue collection.

For subcutaneous (sc) and intracranial (ic) inoculation, mice were anesthetized with 50 µl of a 10% ketamine-xylazole solution in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) by intramuscular injection. Mice were infected sc via the footpad or ic with a single injection of a defined dose of JEV in 20 µl HBSS-BSA. Mouse challenge experiments using intravenous (iv) inoculation were done via the lateral tail vein with a single injection of a defined dose of JEV in 100 µl HBSS-BSA. Mice were monitored twice daily. Daily changes in 5 parameters including hair coat, posture, breathing pattern, activity, and movement were recorded (scored) as normal (0), mild (1), moderate (2), or severe (3), and severely moribund mice (clinical score > 7) and/or mice with hindlimb paralysis were euthanized by rapid cervical dislocation. For tissue processing, mice were euthanized at the time points indicated and a sterile midline vertical thoracoabdominal incision was made to expose the internal organs. After cardiac puncture for blood collection, animals were perfused with 10 ml sterile PBS. The brain and spinal cord were excised intact and collected for virus titration. For determination of virus titers, sample tissues were snap frozen on dry ice. One-half of the brain samples were placed in cell culture medium and homogenized for lymphocyte isolation.



2.5 Real-time RT-PCR.

For determination of viral burden in mouse serum and spleen samples, total RNA in 50 µl splenic homogenates (10% [wt/vol]) and 50 µl serum was extracted using Trizol (Invitrogen) as described previously (Lee et al., 2004), and virion RNA content, expressed in genome equivalents, was determined by quantitative reverse transcription (RT)-PCR. For a genome copy standard, JEV RNA extracted from a Vero cell-grown virus stock and quantitated by spectrophotometry was used. RT was performed at 43°C for 90 min in a 10 µl mixture containing 2 µl sample RNA, Expand reverse transcriptase (Roche), RNase inhibitor (Invitrogen), 10 mM deoxynucleoside triphosphate, 10 pmol downstream primer (5'-TTGACCGTTGTTACTGCAAGGC-3'), 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and the manufacturer's recommended buffer condition. Real-time PCR was performed using IQSybr qPCR mixture (Bio-Rad) and 0.2 nM downstream and (5'-GCTGGATTCAACGAAAGCCACA-3') cycling under upstream primers conditions of 95°C for 3 min for 1 cycle and 95°C for 30 sec, 63°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 60 sec for 40 cycles. Each sample was tested in duplicate, and genome copy numbers were determined by extrapolation from a standard curve generated within each experiment. The detection limit of the assay was 4×10^3 RNA copies/ml.





Figure 2.1 Real time RT-PCR for quantification of Japanese encephalitis

viral RNA. Representative real time RT-PCR (A) standard curve and (B) plotted melt curve analysis performed for quantification of viral RNA in serum and tissues.



2.6 Histology and immunohistochemistry

After dissection, brain tissue samples were placed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin fixative and stored at room temperature. For examination of basic cell morphology and neuronal myelin integrity, 6 µm sagittal brain sections were stained with hematoxylin & eosin and luxol fast blue, respectively. Immunohistochemistry was performed with an avidin-biotin-complex technique. Triplicate sagittal sections of brain samples were incubated overnight with anti-NS1 monoclonal antibody, 4G4 (Clark et al., 2007), at 4°C to stain JEV antigen. After 10 min incubation at room temperature with biotinylated rabbit anti-rat Ig (DAKO Corporation) as secondary antibody, specimens were incubated for 10 min at room-temperature with streptavidin-HRP complex a mixture of 3,3'-diaminobenzidine Subsequently, Corporation). (DAKO tetrahydrochloride-chromogen and substrate buffer (DAKO Corporation) was applied for 5 min at room temperature. Slides were examined under bright-field microscopy and brown staining of cells was indicative of positive immune reactivity.

2.7 Lymphocyte isolation from the brain

Homogenized brain samples were digested with 2 mg collagenase type I (Gibco-Life Technologies) in 5 ml MEM plus 5% FCS for 45 min at 37°C with intermittent shaking, then centrifuged at 400 g for 10 min. Pellets were resuspended in 2 ml 90% percoll in MEM plus 5% FCS and overlaid gently with 60%, 40% and 10% percoll (GE Healthcare) in MEM plus 5% FCS. The gradients were centrifuged at 800 g for 30 min

at 25°C and lymphocytes collected from the 40 - 60% interface were subsequently

59

analysed by flow-cytometry.

2.8 Cell surface and intracellular cytokine staining.

The surface marker staining employed in this thesis utilized the following reagents (all from Becton Dickinson except otherwise indicated): allophycocyanin (APC)-conjugated anti-CD8 antibody; phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated anti-CD3, anti-CD25, anti-CD69, anti-NK1.1, anti-F4/80 (Caltag) and anti-CCR5 antibodies; fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated anti-CD4, anti-NK1.1, anti-F4/80 (Serotec) and anti-CD19 antibodies; and peridinin-chlorophyll-protein complex (PerCP)-conjugated anti-CD45 and anti-CD3 antibody (BioLegend). 10⁵ events were acquired for each sample on a four-color FACSort flow-cytometer. Results were analyzed using Cell Quest Pro Software. For intracellular cytokine staining, 1x10⁶ splenocytes were suspended in 100 µl MEM with 5% FBS and stimulated for 16 h with 10⁻⁴ M H-2D^b-binding 9-mer JEV NS4B protein-derived peptide, SAVWNSTTA, in the presence of 1 µl/ml brefeldin A (eBioscience). An ectromelia virus (ECTV) H-2K^b-restricted peptide, TSYKFESV (Tscharke et al., 2005), was used at 10⁻⁴ M as a negative-control peptide. For stimulation of ex vivo splenocytes with JEV, splenocytes were infected at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1 for 1 h at 37°C and washed twice with MEM containing 5% FBS before incubation for 16 h in MEM plus 5% FBS in the presence of brefeldin A. Enumeration of activated NK cells by intracellular staining for IFN-y expression was performed directly on ex vivo splenocytes. Cells were surface stained with anti-CD8before paraformaldehyde antibodies fixation anti-NK1.1-PE and APC or permeabilization with saponin (Biosource) according to the supplier's instruction. Cells

were then stained with anti-IFN-y-FITC (BioLegend) and/or anti-tumor necrosis factor

alpha (TNF- α)-PE (Invitrogen), and washed twice with fluorescence-activated cell

60

sorter (FACS) washing buffer (2% FBS in PBS) before assessment by FACS analysis.



Figure 2.4 Flow cytometry gating strategy. Representative dot plot for FACS analysis of intracellular cytokine staining of IFN- γ and/or TNF- α in CD8⁺ T cells. Lymphocytes were isolated based on forward scatter and side scatter. Subsequently, CD8⁺ T cells were gated for analyzing intracellular expression of IFN- γ , TNF- α , or both IFN- γ and TNF- α .



2.9 In vivo depletion of CD8⁺ T cells

CD8⁺ T cells in B/6 and 129 mice were depleted by ip injection with 0.5 mg of a rat anti-mouse CD8a monoclonal antibody (2.43, IgG2b, BioXcell). Control mice were injected with 0.5 mg of an isotype control antibody (MPC-11, IgG2b, BioXcell). The antibodies were diluted in 0.5 ml PBS and injected at 3, 2 and 1 days before and at 7 days after virus infection. The efficiency of depletion was >98%, based on FACS analysis of lymphocytes in blood on day 7 pi.

2.10 In vivo depletion of NK1.1⁺ cells

NK1.1⁺ cells in B/6 mice were depleted by ip injection with 100 μ g of a rat anti-mouse NK1.1⁺ monoclonal antibody (PK136, IgG2a, BioXcell). The antibodies were diluted in 0.5 ml PBS and injected one day before, on the day, one day after virus infection, and every 4 days thereafter. Control mice were injected with corresponding volume of PBS. The efficiency of depletion was >98%, based on FACS analysis of lymphocytes in blood on days 2 and days 7 pi.





Figure 2.4 *In vivo* depletion of cell popultions. Example dot plots representing *in vivo* depletion of (A) $NK1.1^+$ and (B) $CD8^+$ T cells by ip injection of anti mouse NK1.1+ (PK136) and anti-mouse CD8a (2.43) monoclonal antibody, respectively. Control dot plots represent untreated mouse.



nylon wool separation 2.11 T cell enrichment by and complement-mediated lysis.

For T-cell enrichment, 1.2x10⁸ splenocytes suspended in HBSS plus 10% FCS were loaded onto 10-ml nylon wool columns and incubated for 45 min at 37°C. Effluent from the columns was collected, and cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 400 x g for 5 min. This procedure resulted in a population of 90% T cells with 5% B cell contamination. To further improve the purity of T cells eluted from nylon wool columns, the T-cell-enriched splenocyte population was incubated with anti-CD45R/B220 supernatant (RA2-3A1) in minimal essential medium plus 5% FCS for 30 min at 4°C, followed by incubation with rabbit serum complement (Cedarlane Laboratories Ltd.) for 30 min at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with PBS before transfer into recipient mice. This procedure gave rise to a population of 95% T cells with 1% B-cell contamination.

2.12 Complement-mediated lysis of CD4⁺ and/or CD8⁺ T cells

For CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell depletion or for further enrichment of either CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells, total splenocytes or B cell-depleted splenocytes were incubated with a 1:3 dilution of either anti-CD4 (RL172) or anti-CD8 (31M) supernatant in MEM plus 5% FCS for 30 min at 4°C, followed by incubation with rabbit serum complement (Cedarlane Laboratories) for 30 min at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with PBS before transfer into recipient mice. The efficiency of depletion of $CD4^+$ or $CD8^+$ cells was >95% as

assessed by FACS.

2.13 Positive selection of CD19⁺ B cells by magnetic bead separation

Single-cell splenocyte suspensions were prepared by pressing the spleen tissue gently against a fine metal mesh tissue sieve. Erythrocyte lysis was by suspension of the splenocyte pellet in 4.5 ml distilled water followed immediately by the addition of 0.5 ml of 10x PBS. Lysed cells were discarded after centrifugation at 400 x g for 5 min. Cells were resuspended in 900 μ l of buffer (PBS containing 0.5% BSA and 2mM EDTA) per 10⁸ cells. Then 100 μ l of CD19⁺ microbeads were added per 10⁸ total cells. Following incubation for 15 minutes at 4°C, samples were washed with 1 ml of buffer per 10⁷ cells, subjected to centrifugation at 400 x g for 5 minutes, and resuspended in 500 μ l buffer per 10⁸ cells for magnetic separation. LD columns were placed in the MACS separator, and rinsed with 2 ml of buffer. The cell suspension was then loaded into the columns. Effluent from the columns, containing B-cell depleted cells, was collected, and cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 400 x g for 5 min. Efficiency of B cell depletion was >99% as assessed by FACS analysis





Figure 2.4 *In vitro* depletion of cell popultions. Example dot plots representing *in vitro* depletion of (A) CD4+ T and (B) CD8+ T cells by complement

mediated lysis, and (C) B cells by magnetic beads separation.

2.14 Transfer experiments

Eight-week-old B/6 mice were infected with 1×10^3 PFU of JEV, iv, and were sacrificed a week later for aseptic removal of spleens. Single-cell splenocyte suspensions were prepared by pressing the spleen tissue gently through a fine metal mesh tissue sieve. Erythrocyte lysis was by suspension of the splenocyte pellet in 4.5 ml distilled water followed immediately by the addition of 0.5 ml of 10x PBS. Lysed cells were discarded after centrifugation at 400 g for 5 min. Cells were purified by antibody complement depletion and/or magnetic beads separation as described earlier. Splenocytes were resuspended in 100 μl PBS and injected through the lateral tail vein of 8-week-old B/6 recipient mice. Recipient mice were challenged a day later with 1x10³ PFU JEV via footpad injection.

2.15 Serological tests

For titration of JEV-specific antibody isotypes in mouse serum, ELISAs were performed with HRP-conjugated rabbit anti-mouse Ig and the peroxidase substrate, 2,29-azino-di(3-ethyl-benzthiasoline sulfonate). The JEV Nakayama strain was used for ELISA antigen production as described (Colombage et al., 1998). For determination of ELISA end-point titres, absorbance cut-off values were established as the mean absorbance of eight negative-control wells containing sera of naive mice plus 3 SD. Absorbance values of test sera were considered positive if they were equal to or greater than the absorbance cut-off and end-point titres calculated as the reciprocal of the last

67

dilution giving a positive absorbance value.

2.16 Neutralization assay

Neutralization titers, measured in a 50% plaque reduction neutralisation test, were determined as previously described (Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*c*). Naive and JE-immune serum samples underwent complement-inactivation by heating at 56 °C for 30 minutes. Then, serum samples were serially diluted twofold with HBSS-BSA in 96-well trays, and 110 μ l of JEV at ~200 PFU was added. Plates were incubated at 37 °C for 1 h. Duplicate aliquots at 100 μ l were assayed for infective virus by plaque formation on Vero cell monolayers in six-well plates as earlier described. JEV incubated with naive serum from the same mouse strain served as negative controls, and approximately yielded 50–100 PFU per well. PRNT50 titres were calculated as the reciprocal of serum dilutions that resulted in a \geq 50 % plaque number reduction.

2.17 NK cell cytotoxic assay

Mice were infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, iv, and sacrificed at days 4 and 7 postinfection (pi). Spleens were collected and tested for NK cell cytotoxicity in a standard ⁵¹Cr-release assay (Momburg *et al.*, 2001), using uninfected YAC-1 cells as targets. Splenocytes from uninfected mice were used as controls. P values were calculated from a four-point logarithmic regression curve, interpolated at an effector-to-target (e/t) cell ratio of 30.



2.18 Preparation of L-929 conditioned medium

A murine fibrosarcoma cell line, L-929, was used as a source of macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (Austin et al., 1971; Stanley, 1985). L-929 cells derived from ATCC (ATCC no. CCL-1) were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10 mM l-glutamine, 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, and 10% FBS. After cells were grown to confluence, L-929 conditioned medium was harvested, and subjected to centrifugation at 400 x g to remove cellular debris. Supernatants were then collected and stored in 10 ml aliquots at −70°C.

2.19 Preparation of bone marrow-derived macrophages

B/6 or knock-out mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation. Aseptically, skin in the lower extremities was removed, and muscles dissected to exposed the femur, tibia, and fibula. Bones were excised through a cut in the proximal hip and distal ankle joints, and placed in dish containing complete Mixed Lymphocyte Culture media (MLC media supplemented with 1% L-glutamine, 1% NEAA, 1% pyruvate, 50 µM 2-ME, 100 units PSN, and 10% FBS). Both ends of individual bones were severed to expose the cellfilled marrow cavity. Using a 10-ml syringe, the marrow cavity was flushed with complete MLC media to expel cells. Collected cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 400 x g, and resuspended in a complete MLC supplemented with 10% L-929 supernatant. Bone marrow-derived cells were cultured at 1×10^6 cells/well in 6-well

plates, and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Culture media were replaced with

fresh complete MLC + 10% L-929 supernatant every 48 hours. Differentiation into

69

mature macrophages was observed approximately on day 7 after start of culture.

2.20 JEV growth inhibition by IFN- α treatment

Bone marrow-derived macrophages in 6-well plates were prepared as earlier described, and incubated with various concentrations of IFN- α (PBL Interferon Source) (250, 100, 10, 1, and 0.1 Units) for 16 hours. Following washing with complete MLC media plus 5% FBS, cells were incubated with 100 µl of JEV at MOI of 1, for 1 hr at 37°C, with intermittent gentle shaking. Cells were washed twice, and cultured with complete MLC media plus 10% L-929 supernatant for 48 hrs. Culture supernatant (100 µl) were collected at 12, 16, 24, and 48 hrs pi, and inhibition of virus growth by IFN- α was determined by plaque titration on Vero cell monolayers.



2.21 Interferon assay

Determination of IFN- α levels in infected serum or tissue culture supernatants were performed as instructed in the *VeriKine*TM mouse IFN- α ELISA kit. First, an IFN- α standard stock (10,000 pg/ml) was serially diluted in twofold dilution steps (concentrations from 400 pg/ml to 12.4 mg/ml). Samples (100 µl) and IFN- α standards were added into pre-coated microplate strips. Following addition of 50 µl of diluted antibody solution to each well, plates containing the strips were covered with plastic sealers, and incubated for 1 hr at 25°C with shaking at 450 rpm, and for 20 hrs at 4°C without shaking. Plate content was discarded, and plates were washed 4 times with diluted wash buffer solution. Following addition of 100 µl of diluted HRP solution to each well, plates were covered with plastic sealers and incubated for 2 hrs at 25°C with shaking at 450 rpm. Plate content was discarded, and plates were washed 4 times with diluted wash buffer solution. Substrate (100 µl) was then added to wells, and plates incubated unsealed for 15 minutes at 25°C in the dark and without shaking. Finally, 100 µl of stop solution were added into the wells, and within 5 minutes absorbance at 450 nm was determined spectrophotometrically.



2.22 Allelic discrimination by Amplifluor SNPs genotyping

The genotyping team of the Australian Phenomics Facility (APF), headed by Dr Belinda Whittle, performed the allelic discrimination by Amplifuor SNPs genotyping. An amplification cocktail was prepared, with each 10 µl reaction volume containing 3.15 µl distilled H₂0, 0.5 µl 20x amplifluor SNP FAM primer (Millipore), 0.5 µl 20x amplifluor SNP JOE primer (Millipore), 2 µl 20x SNP specific primer mix, 1 µl 10x reaction mix S plus, 0.8 µl dNTPs (2.5 mM each), 0.05 µl Platinum hotstart Taq Polymerase (Invitrogen), and 2 µl DNA samples stored in Tris-Buffered H₂0. DNA from B/6, CBA and F1 mice and distilled H₂0 were used as controls. Sample amplification cocktails (8 µl) were placed in 96-well plates. Plates were covered with optically clear strips, and run under cycling conditions of 95-C for 4 min for 1 cycle, 95-C for 10 sec, 60-C for 20 sec, 72-C for 40 sec for 34 cycles, and 72-C for 3 min for 1 cycle. Plates were read in a fluorescent plate reader using the following: excitation filter 490/10 nm and emission filter 520/10 (gain 2200), and excitation filter 530/10 and emission filter 560/10 (gain 2400). Data was analysed using Fluostar optima software.



2.23 Nimblegen capture and re-sequencing

Customized sequence capture by hybridization (Roche NimbleGen 2.1M capture array) was performed by the next generation sequencing team from the Australian Genomics Research Facility (AGRF, Melbourne), headed by Matthew Tinning. Ezra Lyon, and her team from Roche NimbleGen, designed the sequence capture probe set, and provided all the array reagents to AGRF. Re-sequencing of the captured samples was done using Illumina HiSeq sequencing system at AGRF. The bioinformatics team of AGRF performed the bioinformatic analysis. Alignment was performed with Illumina CASAVA v1.8.2 and aligner module ELAND v2 (Efficient Large-Scale Alignment of Nucleotide Databases). Illumina Exome script was applied to the primary alignment folder to generate CASAVA build folder and Exome coverage statistics. Functional annotation of genetic variants including single nucleotide variations, insertions, and deletions was done using the ANNOVAR software. A second bioinformatics analysis, using an in-house software, was done by the bioinformatics team of APF.



2.24 MHCII-Aα genotyping

The genotyping team of APF, headed by Dr Belinda Whittle, performed the MHCII-A α genotyping by PCR. Briefly, samples were prepared, with each 10 µl reaction volume contains 2.6 µl distilled H₂0, 0.4 µl of 10 µM MCHII-A α wt reverse primer (5'-GGTGTGAGCACGTACCATTG-3'), 0.2 µl of 10 µM MCHII-A α common forward primer (5'-TGGAGACATTGGCCAGTACA-3'), 0.8 µl of 10 µM neomycin common primer (5'-GGATGATCTGGACGAAGAGC-3'), 5 µl 2x Mix (Qiagen Multiplex PCR kit), and 1 µl DNA sample. DNA samples from B/6 wt, F1, and MCHII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were used as controls. Samples were rin under cycling conditions 95 °C for 4 min for 1 cycle, 95°C for 15 sec, 60°C for 20 sec, 72°C for 30 sec for 35 cycles, and 72°C for 2 min for 1 cycle. Following amplification, samples were added with 30 µl of loading buffer, were loaded into 1.5 % agarose gel stained with gel red. The gel was electrophoresed for 10 minutes at 350 volts.



2.25 ChimeriVax-JE immunization

For challenge experiments, groups of 8-week-old B/6 or knockout mice were immunized sc with one dose of 1×10^5 PFU of ChimeriVax-JE. A month after immunization, mice were inoculated, via the fp, with 1×10^3 PFU of JEV. Mortality was recorded after a 28-day-observation period. For splenocyte transfer experiment, 6-weekold donor IFN- α -R^{-/-} mice were immunized sc with 1×10^5 PFU ChimeriVax-JE, and were sacrificed a month later for aseptic removal of spleens and blood extraction. Serum samples were isolated after centrifugation for 10 min at 10,000 rpm, heat inactivated for 30 min at 56°C, and stored at -70°C. Single-cell splenocyte suspensions were prepared, and T cells were enriched by nylon wool separation and complementmediated lysis of B cells as earlier described. Groups of ten-week-old IFN- α -R^{-/-} mice groups received either total splenocytes, T cells, immune serum, or immune serum plus T cells, and were challenged a day after splenocyte transfer with 1×10^2 PFU MVEV via fp injection. Mortality was recorded in recipient mice after a 28-day-observation period



2.26 Inactivated Vero-cell culture derived-JE immunization

Jespect (inactivated JEV SA14-14-2 strain) was obtained from CSL Ltd, Australia, and was diluted in PBS admixed with 0.1% aluminum hydroxide. A formalin-inactivated Vero-cell culture-derived JE (Nakayama strain) vaccine was obtained from Kitasato Institute, Japan (Torinawa and Komiya, 2008). A low or high dose ccJE vaccine (0.5 µg and 0.05 µg, respectively) was diluted in PBS alone or admixed with 1 µg of Advax. B/6 wt or knockout mice were immunized sc with various vaccine formulations, at two weeks apart, and challenged, one month after complete of the vaccination schedule, via the fp with 1×10^3 PFU of JEV or sc with 1×10^3 WNV_{NY99}. Mortality was recorded after a 28-day-observation period. For splenocyte transfer experiments, B/6 or $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ donor mice were immunized twice with Advax-adjuvanted ccJE (0.5 μ g), given 2 weeks apart. Splenocytes were isolated from donor mice one month, three months, or 6 months after completion of vaccine regimen. B cells were purified by complement-mediated lysis of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells, while $CD4^+$ T cells were purified via magnetic separation of B cells plus complement-mediated lysis of CD8⁺ T cells. Recipients mice were challenge with a defined dose of JEV, WNV_{NY99} or MVEV, one day after splenocyte transfer.

2.27 Statistical analyses

Mortality data were plotted into Kaplan-Meier curves and assessed by the log-rank test

for significance. The Mann-Whitney test was applied to assess differences in data

gathered between two experimental groups. A P value of ≤ 0.05 was considered as

significant.

Chapter 3

Pivotal role of antibody and subsidiary contribution of CD8⁺ T cell to recovery from infection in a murine model of Japanese encephalitis

The findings in this Chapter has been published:

Larena, M., Regner, M., Lee, E., & Lobigs, M. (2011). Pivotal role of antibody and subsidiary contribution of CD8+ T cells to recovery from infection in a murine model of Japanese encephalitis. J. Virol 85(11):5446-55.

Introduction 3.1

Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) is a mosquito-borne flavivirus belonging to the JEV serocomplex, which also includes the closely related Murray Valley encephalitis (MVEV) and West Nile viruses (WNV). In terms of incidence and severity of disease in humans, JEV is the most important member of this serocomplex. It is the leading cause of viral encephalitis in Asia, accounting for 35,000-50,000 cases per year and an estimated 10,000 deaths, with long-term neurologic sequelae in about one-half of the survivors (Solomon, 2004). In the past decades, there has been an expansion of the geographic distribution of the virus in Asia and emergence of virus transmission and human cases of encephalitis in Pakistan, the eastern Indonesian archipelago, New Guinea and northern Australia (reviewed in (Mackenzie et al., 2004)). Vaccination is the main measure for protection against Japanese encephalitis (reviewed in reference (Beasley et al., 2008)), but due to expense and logistics is not available to a large population in Asia that should be immunised.

The majority of human infections with JEV are subclinical, with the ratio of apparent to inapparent infections estimated to range from 1:25 to 1:1000 (Solomon, 2004). Host factors, rather than variation in viral virulence, are thought to dominantly determine outcome of infection in terms of disease severity (reviewed in reference (Halstead and Jacobson, 2003)). Of these factors, an understanding of the immunological responses

that lead to recovery from JEV infection is important in the design of rational

approaches to new treatments and vaccines.

However, insight into the immunological correlates of recovery from JEV infection is incomplete (reviewed in reference (Mullbacher et al., 2003)). Among the innate

immune pathways, an essential role of type I interferons (IFN) in recovery is illustrated by the uncontrolled growth of the virus in mice lacking a functional IFN-a receptor (Lee and Lobigs, 2002). Similarly, the importance of a vigorous humoral immune response in ameliorating or preventing illness has been documented in human cases of Japanese encephalitis (Burke *et al.*, 1985*a*; McCallum *et al.*, 1991; Libraty *et al.*, 2002) and in animal models by administration of antibody prior or subsequent to infection with JEV (Goncalvez *et al.*, 2008; Gupta *et al.*, 2003; Kimura-Kuroda *et al.*, 1988; Zhang *et al.*, 1989).

In contrast, the relative contribution of the cellular immune responses to recovery from JEV infection remains unclear. A limited number of studies in mice suggest, for instance, a protective value of JEV-immune CD4⁺ T cells by a mechanism involving enhanced antibody production (Biswas *et al.*, 2009) and a possible role of CD8⁺ T cells in virus clearance (Murali-Krishna *et al.*, 1996), although the latter study involved co-injection of a large number of splenocytes with virus into the brain and required co-transfer of CD4⁺ T cells. Thus, insight into the immunobiology of JEV is lagging in comparison to the significantly more detailed understanding of the role of innate and adaptive immune responses in recovery from infection with the related WNV, predominantly derived from studies on virulent lineage I North-American isolates in mice deficient in defined immune effector functions (reviewed in reference (Klein and Diamond, 2008)).

This raises the question of generality of immunological correlates identified for WNV

as determinants of disease outcome for JEV and other viruses of medical importance

belonging to the JEV serocomplex (Mullbacher et al., 2004). For instance, the

contribution of CD8⁺ T cells to recovery from flaviviral infection is variable and can

range from protective to immunopathological outcomes (Licon Luna *et al.*, 2002; Wang *et al.*, 2003; Shrestha and Diamond, 2004). To begin to answer this question, I have established a pathogenesis model in adult C57Bl/6 (B/6) mice for Japanese encephalitis involving conditions that mimic natural infection route and dose, and report both commonality and differences with WNV in the role of adaptive immune pathways in recovery from JEV infection.



3.2 **Results**

3.2.1 Mouse model of Japanese encephalitis by subcutaneous infection of adult B/6 mice with a low-dose virus inoculum. To establish a mouse model for Japanese encephalitis which resembles the natural infection route and virus dose and which allows investigation of the immunological correlates for recovery from infection, the pathogenesis of the prototype (Nakayama) strain in adult (8-week-old) B/6 mice was first characterised. After a low-dose sc challenge with 10³ PFU of JEV, most mice presented with clinical signs of infection starting at day 10 pi, which included progressive generalized paresis, piloerection and rigidity. Severe neurological impairment demonstrated by ataxia, postural imbalance and generalized tonic-clonic seizures were evident later in the course of infection, invariably leading to fatality within 24 - 36 hrs after disease onset. A small number of mice presented with unilateral hind limb paralysis without central manifestations. A dose-insensitive survival curve was observed similar to previous findings with WNV and MVEV (Wang et al., 2003; Diamond et al., 2003a; Licon Luna et al., 2002) thus, over a dose range of 10 - 10⁵ PFU the mortality rate was comparable (60 - 67%; Table 1). The mean survival time (MST) of animals that succumbed to infection was 12 - 13 days, except for the 10^5 PFU dose group, where a dual pattern of early (8 days pi) and late (11 days pi) mortality was observed, overall resulting in a shorter MST. Rapid and uniform mortality was seen when mice were infected with 10^7 PFU (MST = 6.0 days). All surviving mice infected

by the sc route, even those infected with 10 PFU, seroconverted and showed high JEV-

specific antibody ELISA endpoint titers (\geq 3.5 log).

When mice were infected via the ic route, the mortality rate and average time to death were dose dependent (Table 1). Virus doses of 10 and 100 PFU gave a 100% mortality

rate (MST = 8.0 and 6.4 days, respectively), while 1 PFU gave an 80% mortality rate (MST = 10.3 days) and 0.1 PFU did not result in disease. These data suggest that, in contrast to peripheral infections, the quantity of virus directly entering the brain serves as an accurate predictor of disease outcome. Consistent with the high lethality of JEV infection of the central nervous system (CNS) (a 50% lethal dose of \leq 1 PFU given ic), partial seroconversion was found in the 0.1-PFU dose group.

Viral burdens in serum, spleen, spinal cord, and brain samples were determined in order to elucidate the kinetics of growth of JEV in adult B/6 mice (Fig. 1). Virus was undetectable by plaque assay in both serum and spleen samples across all time points. A more sensitive assay utilizing real-time RT-PCR detected low levels of JEV RNA in serum and spleen samples (Fig. 2). Peak viremia occurred on day 2 pi with a geometric mean titer (GMT) of 9×10^4 RNA copies/ml of serum, whereas splenic viral burdens peaked at day 4 p.i. with a GMT of 3×105 RNA copies/g of tissue. Virus invasion of the brain was first apparent on day 6 in only 3 out of 9 mice (Fig. 1). This increased to 55% of the brain samples showing virus infection at day 8 pi (GMT = 1×10^4 PFU) and 60% of the virus-positive brains at day 10 pi (GMT = 4×10^4 PFU). Viral dissemination to the spinal cord occurred later in the course of infection and was first detected on day 8 pi in 33% of the samples (GMT = 1×10^3 PFU), increasing to 40% of the samples collected on day 10 p.i. (GMT = 2×10^3 PFU). Accordingly, viral entry into the CNS commenced in the brain, from where the virus spread centripetally to the spinal cord.

Sections of brain were examined for histopathological changes at day 10 pi with JEV.

Hallmarks of acute viral encephalitis, including microglial nodules surrounding degenerating neurons (Fig. 3A) and perivascular leukocytic infiltration (Fig. 3B) appeared widespread in focal regions of the brain. Meningeal inflammation

characterized by mononuclear infiltration into the leptomeninges was also seen (Fig. 3C). There was no evidence of demyelination as indicated by intact myelinated axonal networks after luxol fast blue staining (Fig. 3D). Immunohistochemical staining utilizing an anti-flavivirus NS1 antibody was employed to identify specific sites of neuronal lesions within the brain parenchyma. JEV infected neurons were found in multiple loci, predominantly localized in the following areas: cerebral cortex, hippocampus, thalamus, brainstem and cerebellum (Fig. 3E). The pathological lesions observed as a clinical correlate of disease.


Challenge route and dose*	Mortality (No. of deaths/total)	MST (days) ± SD	% Seroconversion of surviving mice ^b
Subcutaneous			
10 PFU	63% (5/8)	11.8 ± 1.1	100
10 ² PFU	67% (10/15)	12.8 ± 2.5	100
10 ³ PFU	63% (12/19)	13.3 ± 1.7	100
10 ⁵ PFU	60% (3/5)	9.7 ± 1.5	100
10 ⁷ PFU	100% (5/5)	6.0 ± 0.7	
Intracranial			
0.1 PFU	0% (0/5)	-	60
1 PFU	80% (4/5)	10.3 ± 1.0	100
10 PFU	100% (5/5)	8.0 ± 1.4	
10 ² PFU	100% (5/5)	6.4 ± 0.5	

Table 3.1 Effect of JEV dose on mortality and survival time of B/6 mice

^a Eight-week-old B/6 mice were infected with various doses of JEV via the sc or ic routes; virus dose in 20 µl HBSS/BSA. Surviving mice were monitored for 28 days.

^b Antibody against JEV in serum of surviving mice was measured at 28 days pi by ELISA.





Figure 3.1 JEV burden in serum and tissues. JEV burden in serum (A), spleen (B), brain (C) and spinal cord (D) of B/6 wt, μ MT^{-/-} and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice after infection with 10³ PFU of JEV, s.c. At the indicated time points, animals were sacrificed and virus content in serum and tissues measured by plaque titration. Each symbol represents an individual mouse and geometric mean titers (GMT) are indicated by horizontal bars. The lower limit of virus detection is indicated by the horizontal dotted line.





Figure 3.2 JEV RNA in serum and spleen. JEV RNA detected in serum and spleen samples of B/6 WT mice after sc infection with 10³ PFU of JEV are shown. At the indicated time points, animals were sacrificed and the viral RNA contents of serum and spleen samples were measured by real-time RT-PCR. Each symbol represents an individual mouse, and GMTs are indicated by horizontal bars.





Histology and immunohistochemistry. Brain sections of B/6 wt Figure 3.3 mice at 10 days pi with 10³ PFU of JEV, s.c. Hematoxylin and eosin stain showing (A) microglial nodules (arrow) with neuronophagia (arrow head), (B) perivascular mononuclear infiltration (arrow) and (C) leukocytic infiltration of the meninges (arrows). (D) Intact myelinated axonal projections (arrows) of cerebellum after luxol

fast blue staining. (E) Detection of JEV antigen by immunohistochemistry using anti-NS1 protein. Infected cells or injured neurons (arrows) in representative sections of cerebral cortex, brainstem, thalamus, hippocampus, and cerebellum.

3.2.2 Induction of humoral and cell-mediated immunity after JEV infection in B/6 mice. JEV-specific IgM appeared at day 4 pi and peaked at day 8 pi with a mean titer of 1:450 (Fig. 4A). Both anti-JEV IgG1 and IgG2b appeared later in the course of infection and were first detectable at 8 day pi, attaining mean titers of 1:1400 and 1:275, respectively, at day 10 pi (Fig. 4B). Qualitative measurement of the antibody response revealed neutralizing activity as early as day 4 pi (PRNT₅₀ titer = 20in 2 of 4 mice), concomitant to the onset of detectable anti-JEV IgM antibody, and reached a mean PRNT₅₀ titer of 330 (range: 80 - 640) at day 10 pi (Fig. 4C).

B/6 mice produced a robust $CD8^+$ T cell response following infection with 10^3 PFU JEV, i.v. The infection induced the characteristic up-regulation of expression of the early activation marker, CD69, which peaked on day 1 pi and that of the late activation marker, CD25, which peaked on day 4 pi (Fig. 5A). Among the CD8⁺ T lymphocytes from JEV primed mice, ${\sim}5\%$ were stimulated to produce IFN- γ with JEV NS4B peptide, SAVWNSTTA, also described by others to be recognized by H-2D^b-restricted JEV-immune CD8⁺ T cells (Trobaugh et al., 2010). Two other putative D^b-binding JEV peptides (on the basis of a predictive algorithm for MHC class I binding peptides using the SYFPEITHI database; (Rammensee et al., 1999) corresponding to amino acids TAWRNRELL in the E protein failed to stimulate IFN- γ production, as did a D^brestricted ectomelia virus (ECTV)-specific negative control peptide (Fig. 5B). NS4B peptide stimulation of JEV-immune ex vivo splenocytes resulted in greater IFN-y

expression than stimulation with live JEV, suggesting poor infection of splenocytes and

suboptimal antigen presentation with the latter approach.

The JEV-immune CD8⁺ T cell response in the spleen, defined here by the total number of NS4B peptide-reactive CD8⁺ lymphocytes, first appeared at day 4 pi, reached a peak

of ~10⁶ cells at day 7 pi, but markedly declined thereafter (Fig. 5C). The majority of these splenocytes were polyfunctional and expressed both IFN- γ and TNF- α followed ex vivo stimulation with NS4B peptide, with peak numbers of 7 x 10^5 cells at day 7 pi. CD8⁺ T cell recruitment into the site of infection was measured by isolation of lymphocytes from JEV infected brains (Fig. 5D). CD8⁺ T cell infiltration was already apparent at day 4 pi, showing a 2-fold increase (1.2×10^4 cells) relative to baseline. On day 7 pi, corresponding to the peak of the primary JEV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response in spleen, CD8⁺ T cell numbers in JEV infected brains reached a plateau, which was maintained until day 10 pi (>100-fold increase relative to baseline; P = 0.002). Ex vivo $CD8^+$ T cells isolated from brain at day 7 pi secreted IFN- γ both in the presence and absence of stimulation with NS4B peptide (Fig. 5E). This is in contrast to splenocytes harvested at day 7 pi, which required peptide stimulation for IFN-y production. Considering the presence of virus in the brain at this time point, the difference may reflect antigen presentation via JEV-infected mononuclear cells present in brain-derived cell preparations, resulting in CD8⁺ T cell activation and cytokine secretion in the absence of ex vivo peptide stimulation. Alternatively, brain-derived lymphocytes may show a greater background level of IFN- γ secretion than those isolated from the spleen.





Figure 3.4 Antibody responses in B/6 wt and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{--}$ mice. Eightweek-old B/6 wt and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{--}$ mice were infected with10³ PFU of JEV, s.c., and sera collected at the indicated time points. Anti-JEV IgM (A) and IgG (B) isotype antibody titers were determined by ELISA. Data presented are reciprocal mean endpoint titers representative of 4 mice per group with SD indicated by error bars. (C) Neutralizing antibody titers determined by plaque reduction neutralization assay. Data

Neutralizing antibody titers determined by plaque reduction neutralization dosely. Base presented are mean PRNT₅₀ titers representative of 4 - 7 mice per group and error bars indicate the SD. Asterisks denote significance of difference between samples from wt relative to MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice (* = *P* <0.05; ** = *P* <0.01).



Figure 3.5 CD8⁺ T cell response in B/6 wt mice infected with JEV. (A) Eight-week-old B/6 mice were infected with 10^3 PFU of JEV, iv, or left uninfected. Spleens (n = 3/group) were collected at the indicated time points and splenocytes were stained for CD8 and lymphocyte activation markers, CD69 or CD25. Data presented are the percentage of CD8⁺ cells expressing the early activation marker, CD69, or the late activation marker, CD25. Error bars denote the SD and data are representative of 2

independent experiments. (B) Splenocytes harvested at 7 days pi, as above, were stimulated ex vivo with live JEV, D^b-restricted JEV NS4B protein-, E protein- or NS1 protein-derived peptides, a D^b-restricted ectomelia virus (ECTV) negative control peptide, or mock treated and IFN-g production in CD8⁺ T cells measured by flowcytometry. Means for 3 samples \pm the SD are presented and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. (C) Kinetics of JEV-immune CD8⁺ T cell activation measured after ex-vivo stimulation with D^b-restricted JEV NS4B peptide. Data show the number of $CD8^+$ T cells/spleen that express IFN- γ , TNF- α , or both cytokines following stimulation. Means for 3 samples \pm the SD are presented and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. (D) Kinetics of infiltration of CD8⁺ cells into the brain of 8-week-old B/6 wt mice infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, sc. Lymphocytes were isolated from the brain of infected mice as described in Materials and Methods and stained for CD8 expression. Each symbol represents an individual mouse and horizontal lines indicate mean values for each time point. (E) JEV-immune $CD8^+$ T cells in spleen and brain of B/6 wt mice infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, s.c., at 7 days pi were measured by IFN-g expression in CD8⁺ cells following ex vivo stimulation in the presence or absence of JEV NS4B peptide. Means for 6 - 8 samples \pm the SD are presented. Asterisks denotes significance (* = P < 0.05; ** = P < 0.01).



3.2.3 Antibody is essential for recovery from JEV infection. To assess the role of antibody in JEV pathogenesis, mortality and virus growth following infection with 10³ PFU of JEV, sc, were assessed in $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice, which are deficient in B cells and antibody production. The challenge was uniformly lethal and mortality occurred significantly earlier than was found in wt mice (MST = 11.1 and 12.1 days pi, respectively; P = 0.001; Fig. 3.6). In contrast to wt mice, JEV infection produced high viremia in all $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice on day 4 pi (GMT = 1.5 x 10⁵ PFU/ml) and the viremia persisted at that level until the animals succumbed to infection (Fig. 3.1). Virus was also detected in spleen of infected $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice at 4 days pi and at later time points (Fig. 3.1). However, the viral load in spleen was mostly less than that in serum, making it unclear whether virus grew efficiently in that organ. For the same reason it is unclear, whether the viral titers detected in brains of all $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice on day 4 pi were due to virus content in residual blood, although animals were perfused prior to organ collection. Viral load in brain increased 10- and 10,000-fold at 6 and 8 days pi, respectively, and the titers in $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice exceeded those in wt mice by ~3 log and ~5 log on days 6 and 8 pi (Fig. 3.1). Viral dissemination into the spinal cord of $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice occurred earlier and was more widespread than in wt mice: virus was first detected on day 6 pi in 60% of mice (GMT = 3×10^4 PFU) and was present in spinal cords of all animals on day 8 pi with JEV titers exceeding those in wt mice by 4 log. Taken together, absence of antibody in $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice leads to uncontrolled viremia, early neuroinvasion and widespread viral dissemination in the CNS, and a uniformly lethal outcome of infection

with a shorter MST than in wt mice.



Figure 3.6 Susceptibility of B/6 wt, μ MT^{-/-} and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice to infection with JEV. Groups of 12-week-old mice were infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. Data was constructed from two independent experiments. Significance of difference in mortality between wt and knock-out mice was determined by using the log-rank test: * *P* = 0.028; *** *P* = 0.0002.



3.2.4 CD4⁺ T cell are instrumental for virus clearance but not for early virus-neutralizing antibodies. MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice are deficient in CD4⁺ T cells which, in turn, are important in priming and memory formation of antiviral B and CD8⁺ T cell responses and the production of inflammatory cytokines (Zhu et al., 2010). All MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to JEV infection, in contrast to a mortality rate of 55% observed for a group of age-matched wt mice (P = 0.028; Fig. 3.6). Interestingly, the MST of infected MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice suggested a dual course of disease progression, where the MST of the majority of mice was similar to that of wt controls (~12.5 days pi), while 21% of MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice displayed a later average time to death (~20 days pi). Similar to wt mice, virus was not detectable in serum and spleen during the first 8 days of infection and virus was found in brain in some mice at 6 and 8 days pi (Fig. 3.1). However, at 10 days pi, 3 out of 5 MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice developed a moderate viremia and all animals showed virus in the brain with the GMT exceeding that in wt controls by 4 log. Virus dissemination into the spinal cord was also more prominent in MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ than wt mice at 10 days pi (Fig. 3.1).

The lack of CD4⁺ T cells did not prevent induction of a JEV-specific IgM response in infected MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice, but markedly truncated this response (Fig. 4A). While peaking at day 8 pi in wt mice, JEV-specific IgM declined after day 6 pi in MHC-II- $\alpha\beta^{-1}$ ^{/-} mice and was significantly lower on days 8 and 10 pi than in wt (P = 0.02). Immunoglobulin class-switching to IgG was significantly blunted in MHC-II- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice

with anti-JEV IgG1 titers in wt mice exceeding those in the CD4⁺ T cell-deficient mice

by ~10- and 20-fold on days 8 and 10 pi, respectively (Fig. 4B). IgG2b isotype

antibodies against JEV first appeared at 10 days pi in wt mice but remained

undetectable in MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 4B). Importantly, the neutralising activity of the

humoral immune response against JEV first detectable in both mouse strains at day 6 pi

only increased marginally on day 8 pi in infected MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice and subsequently declined, while in wt mice neutralising antibody levels continued to increase. As a consequence, the PRNT₅₀ titer in JEV infected wt mice (mean = 330, range 80 – 640) significantly exceeded that in MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice (mean = 40, range 20 - 80) at day 10 pi (P = 0.007; Fig. 4C). Accordingly, the deficient humoral immune response after day 6 pi in MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice most likely is the dominant factor contributing to the late viremia and high mortality in the JEV infected host lacking CD4⁺ T cell function.



3.2.5 Marginal contribution of CD8⁺ T cells to the control of JEV infection.

To establish the role of CD8⁺ T cells in recovery from primary JEV infection, B/6 mice were depleted *in vivo* of $CD8^+$ T cells and challenged with 10^3 PFU JEV, sc (Table 3.2). Only a marginal, but statistically insignificant, increase in susceptibility to JEV of mice depleted of CD8⁺ T cells was seen compared to a group of B/6 mice treated with an isotype control antibody (84% and 67% mortality, P = 0.07). Similarly, the time to death was slightly earlier in $CD8^+$ T cell-depleted mice than in the control group (P =0.12; Table 2). CD8⁺ T cell depletion did not allow the generation of detectable viremia during the course of JEV infection (data not shown). However, $CD8^+$ T cells contributed to a significant reduction in virus growth in the brain and spinal cord (Fig. 3.7). Thus, depletion of $CD8^+$ T cells resulted in a ~100-fold increase in virus titers in both tissues on day 10 pi, relative to controls, accompanied by a greater number of spinal cord samples showing the presence of virus in treated relative to mock-treated animals. Thus, although CD8⁺ T cells did not provide a significant advantage in terms of survival following JEV infection, they demonstrated a beneficial role in controlling virus growth in the CNS, with the proviso that the latter may occur at the cost of increased immunopathology.

The already high susceptibility of B/6 mice to JEV infection may have concealed a survival advantage mediated by $CD8^+$ T cells in the depletion experiment. Therefore, the contribution of $CD8^+$ T cells to recovery from JEV infection was tested in the 129

mouse strain, which shows a low mortality rate (~10%) following infection with 10^3

PFU of JEV, sc. The depletion of CD8⁺ T cells had no impact on the survival rate of

97

JEV infected 129 mice (Table 3.2).

Mouse strain and treatment ^a	Mortality (No. of deaths/total) ^b	MST (days) ± SD °
C57BI/6		
Isotype Control	67% (14/21)	13.0 ± 1.7
CD8 ⁺ T cell-depleted	84% (16/19; <i>P</i> = 0.07)	12.1 ± 2.6 (<i>P</i> = 0.12)
129x1/SvJAPB		
Isotype Control	11% (1/9)	14
CD8+ T cell depleted	0% (0/11; <i>P</i> = 0.26)	-

Table 3.2 Effect of $CD8^+$ T cell depletion on susceptibility to JEV infection in B/6 and 129 mice

^a Eight-week-old mice were treated i.p. with 0.5 mg of $CD8^+$ T cell-depleting or isotype control antibody in 500 µl PBS on days -1, 0, +1 and +7 of sc challenge with 10³ PFU of JEV. Surviving mice were monitored for 28 days.

^b Survival data were analysed for significance between the treated and corresponding control groups by the log-rank test. Data were constructed from two independent experiments.

^c Differences in mean survival times between treated and control groups were analysed for significance by the Mann-Whitney test.





Figure 3.7 In vivo depletion of CD8⁺ T cells increases viral burden in brain and spinal cord. Groups of CD8⁺ T cell-depleted and control antibody-treated 8-week-old B/6 wt mice were infected sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV and sacrificed on day 10 pi to determine the viral load in brain and spinal cord by plaque titration. Symbols represent individual mice and data was constructed from two independent experiments. Horizontal line denotes GMT. Asterisks denote significance (* = P < 0.05).



3.2.6 The protective effect of JEV-immune T cells requires both the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subpopulations. Infection of B/6 mice with JEV elicits a vigorous cellular immune response, which is illustrated by the protective value of JEV-immune splenocyte transfer in recipient mice against JEV challenge (Table 3.3). Thus, total immune splenocytes and purified B cells protected all recipient mice against infection with 10³ PFU JEV, sc, when transferred 1 day before challenge. However, transfer of purified JEV-immune CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells did not provide a significant survival advantage to recipient mice challenged with JEV (Table 3.3). Interestingly, pooled transfer of both T cell subpopulations significantly reduced mortality in a group of recipient mice (P = 0.002; Table 3.3). These data yet again show the dominant protective role of the humoral immune response contrasting with an at best marginal contribution of CD8⁺ T cells in recovery from primary infection with JEV.



Treatment*	Mortality (No. of deaths/total) ^b	MST (days) ± SD ^c
PBS control	70% (7/10)	12.0 ± 2.0
Naïve splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	73% (22/30)	12.5 ± 2.0
Immune splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	0% (0/10; <i>P</i> = 0.0004)	-
Immune B cells (5 x 10 ⁶ cells)	0% (0/10; <i>P</i> = 0.0004)	-
Immune T cells (5 x 10 ⁶ cells)	29% (6/21; <i>P</i> = 0.0017)	12.8 ± 1.0
Immune CD4 ⁺ T cells (5 x 10^6 cells)	64% (9/14; <i>P</i> = 0.99)	12.1 ± 2.0
Immune CD8 ⁺ T cells (5 x 10^6 cells)	76% (16/21; <i>P</i> = 0.59)	12.0 ± 2.3

Table 3.3Contribution of humoral and cellular immune responses to
recovery from JEV infection

^a Eight-week-old donor B/6 mice were infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, iv, or left uninfected and sacrificed 7 days later for splenocyte collection and purification of splenocyte subpopulations. Cells were transferred to 8-week-old B/6 mice and recipients infected a day later with 10³ PFU of JEV, sc. Surviving mice were monitored for 28 days.

^b Data are representative of 2 or 3 independent experiments. Immune splenocyte treatment groups were compared to the naïve splenocyte control group to test for statistical significance.

^c No significant difference was noted between immune splenocyte treatment and control groups.



3.2.7 Deficiencies in the cytolytic effector pathways of lymphocytes do not exacerbate the pathogenesis of JEV. CD8⁺ T cells exhibit direct antiviral activity by killing virus infected cells via two cytolytic effector mechanisms, the Fas-mediated death pathway and the granule exocytosis pathway, involving the delivery of perforin and granzymes into the target cell. Having already demonstrated that neither *in vivo* depletion nor transfer of virus-immune CD8⁺ T cells significantly impacted on disease outcome, it is predicted that mice defective in Fas, perforin, or granzymes A and B would show comparable susceptibility to JEV as wt mice. This was confirmed in figure 3.8: neither mortality rate nor MST differed significantly between wt and Fas^{-/-}, Perf^{-/-} or GzmA/B^{-/-} mice tested at 8 and 12 weeks of age.





Figure 3.8 Susceptibility of mice defective in cytolytic effector pathways to infection with JEV. Groups of 8-week-old (A) and 12-week-old (B) B/6 wt, Perf ^{/-}, GzmA/B^{-/-} and Fas^{-/-} mice were challenged sc with 10³ PFU of JEV and monitored for 28 days for mortality. Data was constructed from 3 independent experiments.



3.3 Discussion

B/6 mice showed a partial susceptibility to s.c. infection via the footpad with the prototype strain of JEV and developed a lethal encephalitis in ~60% of animals over a wide dose range of $10 - 10^5$ PFU. This lack of a dose response in mortality following virus challenge by an extraneural route is a hallmark of flavivirus infection (for instance, see references (Licon Luna et al., 2002; Diamond et al., 2003a)) and is thought to reflect, at least in part, the dose dependence of induction of the innate immune responses critical in early control of virus dissemination (Monath et al., 2003). Consistent with high-dose WNV and MVEV infections in B/6 mice (Licon Luna et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2003), the sc injection of 10⁷ PFU of JEV was uniformly lethal and the MST corresponded to that of groups of mice ic inoculated with 10^2 PFU of JEV. This finding and that of the presence of multiple loci of infection in the brain supports the hematogenous route as the principal pathway of JEV entry into the CNS and implies virus content in blood as a key determinant thereof. Vero cell-grown JEV was used exclusively in this investigation. Interestingly, studies with cell culture have suggested that flavivirus propagated in mosquito cells could differentially modulate innate immune responses from virus grown in mammalian cells (Arjona et al., 2007; Silva et al., 2007). However, this conclusion was not supported by pathogenesis studies with mice (Daffis et al., 2008; Lim et al., 2010).

The humoral immune response was critically important for recovery of mice from extraneural challenge with JEV. Mice lacking B cells and the ability to produce antibody (μ MT^{-/-} mice) developed a high viremia at day 4 pi, which persisted until all animals succumbed to infection; early entry of virus into the brain with widespread dissemination in the CNS were also found. Additionally, purified immune B cell 104

transfer fully protected recipient wt mice from JEV challenge. The appearance of viremia and splenic tissue viral titres at day 4 pi in μ MT^{-/-} mice correlated with the time point when antibodies with neutralising activity became detectable in JEV infected wt mice. Antibodies elicited against flaviviruses clear virus by neutralization of infectivity, or indirectly by antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity, Fc- γ -receptor-mediated clearance or complement-mediated cytotoxicity (Pierson et al., 2008). Thus, in mice lacking the ability to clear virus by antibody, JEV and WNV (Chambers *et al.*, 2008; Diamond *et al.*, 2003*a*; Diamond *et al.*, 2003*b*) produce a fulminating and lethal infection.

T cell help was not required to mount an early IgM response against JEV; however, the response was truncated in MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-\prime-}$ relative to wt mice. As expected, IgG class-switching first observed in wt mice at ~8 days pi was markedly blunted in the absence of CD4⁺ T cells. This dysfunctional antibody response largely explains the adverse outcome of JEV infection in MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-\prime-}$ mice, which was characterised by uniform mortality, elevated brain viral titres and viral dissemination into the spinal cord. Moreover, 60% of MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-\prime-}$ mice displayed detectable viremia late in the course of infection, when a significant disparity in neutralizing antibody titers in wt and MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-\prime-}$ mice was found. Failure of effective virus clearance from extraneural tissues most likely accounted for CNS invasion in all infected MHCII- $\alpha\beta^{-\prime-}$ mice showed a

markedly protracted time to death, which could either have been the result of a delayed entry into the CNS following the late viremia associated with waning neutralising antibody, or reduced lymphocyte infiltration into the infected brain associated with reduced immunopathological manifestations. A study on the role of CD4⁺ T cells in WNV infection also found a truncation of IgM and blunting of IgG antibody responses

due to the absence of CD4⁺ T cells, as well as uniform mortality with prolonged survival of some mice (Sitati and Diamond, 2006). Accordingly, the protective role of CD4⁺ T cells by providing help for antibody responses is clearly apparent in both flavivirus models. However, a second critical function of CD4⁺ T cells required for a sustained CD8⁺ T cell response and, in turn, CD8⁺ T cell-mediated clearance of virus from the CNS documented for WNV (Sitati and Diamond, 2006) was not apparent in the mouse model for Japanese encephalitis, given the failure of CD8⁺ T cells to effectively clear JEV from the CNS and prevent a lethal disease outcome.

A striking finding from this investigation was the lack of effect of $CD8^+$ T cells on survival phenotype in the mouse model of Japanese encephalitis. I have confirmed that infection of B/6 mice with JEV elicited functional, virus-specific, $CD8^+$ T cells, illustrated by production of IFN- γ and TNF- α upon *ex vivo* stimulation of lymphocytes with a previously described H-2D^b JEV NS4B peptide (Trobaugh et al., 2010). This response was comparable in magnitude to that clicited by WNV against the corresponding WNV NS4B peptide (Brien et al., 2007; Purtha et al., 2007) and followed the standard kinetics of induction of anti-flaviviral cytotoxic T cells with peak activity in the spleen at day 7 pi (Kesson et al, 1987; Purtha et al., 2007). It was also confirmed a high level of CD8⁺ T cell infiltration into the brain in response to JEV infection and showed activation and virus-specificity of lymphocytes isolated from the infected brain. Thus, given the effective induction and functionality of anti-JEV CD8⁺ T

cells, it was surprising that transfer of this JEV-immune splenocyte population failed to

provide protection against JEV in recipient mice. Similarly, in vivo depletion of >98%

of CD8⁺ T cells in two mouse strains (B/6 and 129), which differed in susceptibility to

JEV, did not markedly impact on mortality rate following JEV challenge. However,

viral burden in the CNS was significantly higher following CD8⁺ T cell depletion than

in control mice, showing *in vivo* functionality of the response. It remains unclear, whether immunopathology associated with CD8⁺ T cell infiltration into the brain or an insufficient magnitude of the response, per se, explain why the viral load reduction in the CNS mediated by CD8⁺ T cells did not translate into a survival advantage. Finally, genetic deficiency in key molecules (Fas, perforin or granzymes A and B) of the two main CD8⁺ T cell cytolytic effector pathways did not alter susceptibility of B/6 mice to JEV. Collectively, these data suggest an at best marginal contribution of CD8⁺ T cells to recovery from infection with JEV.

This and other investigations on the immunobiology of the encephalitic flaviviruses have uncovered a conflicting role of CD8⁺ T cells in recovery from infection. While essential for virus elimination from the CNS and survival in mouse models of West Nile encephalitis (Shrestha and Diamond, 2004; Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*a*; Wang *et al.*, 2003; Wang *et al.*, 2004), I present in this chapter that the CD8⁺ T cell response did not markedly affect outcome of infection with JEV, whereas a disease-potentiating effect of cytotoxic T cells was documented in mice infected with MVEV (Licon Luna *et al.*, 2002). Notably, mice genetically deficient in the Fas- or perforin-dependent pathways of cytotoxicity showed greatly increased susceptibility to virulent lineage I WNV infection (Shresthaand Diamond, 2007), but did not differ from wt mice in susceptibility to infection with JEV (Fig. 8) or lineage II WNV strain, Sarafend (Wang *et al.*, 2004), and were more resistant to infection with MVEV (Licon Luna *et al.*, 2004). These

findings highlight a difference in pathogenesis between closely related flaviviruses belonging to the JEV serocomplex, which most likely involves a difference in the capacity of the cellular immune response to resolve the virus infections in the CNS. It has been well documented that extraneural infection of adult mice with virulent lineage I WNV produces virus titers in brain of $10^3 - 10^5$ PFU in the majority of animals

between days 6 and 10 pi and that CD8⁺ T cell-mediated clearance of virus from the CNS allows most mice to recover (for instance, references (Shrestha and Diamond, 2004; Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*a*)). Similar immune-mediated resolution of virus infection of the CNS leading to improved disease outcome is not apparent in murine infections with JEV and MVEV, where a strong correlation between rate of CNS infection and mortality exists (this chapter and reference (Licon Luna *et al.*, 2002)). The mouse models of West Nile, Murray Valley and Japanese encephalitis reflect the human disease with these viruses, given that patients with West Nile virus meningitis and encephalitis often have less severe outcomes (Lindsay *et al.*, 2010), in contrast to patients with Japanese or Australian encephalitis who frequently suffer debilitating neurological complications (Burrow *et al.*, 1998; Solomon, 2004).



Chapter 4

Redundancy of Fas and granzymes in recovery from primary Japanese encephalitis virus infection



4.1 Introduction

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and natural killer (NK) cells are key mediators of the host's direct antiviral functions (reviewed in (Clark and Tyler, 2009; Russel and Ley, 2002)). Naive CTL precursors require activation through the recognition of specific viral peptide determinants on an antigen-presenting cell in the context of MHC restriction elements, mostly MHC-I. Induced CTLs require, as part of the adaptive immune responses, several days of proliferation before they can exert collectively the full extent of their antiviral functions. These virus-specific CTLs are mainly of the $CD8^+$ T cell phenotype; however, the cytotoxic potential of $CD4^+$ T cells has also been recognized (reviewed in (Brown, 2010; van de Berg et al., 2008)). NK cells, on the other hand, are constitutively armed with preformed cytotoxic granules (reviewed in (Chowdhury and Lieberman, 2008)), making them readily inducible, and able to rapidly respond to a viral challenge. These effector cells of the innate arm of the antiviral immune response recognize virally infected cells through a combination of activating and inhibitory receptors (reviewed in (Lanier, 2008)). CTLs and NK cells utilize identical contact-dependent mechanisms for induction of target cell apoptosis for viral clearance, viz. the Fas-FasL and granule exocytosis pathways of cytotoxicity.

Fas receptor (Fas, CD95 or Apo-1) is a transmembrane protein that is expressed on all nucleated cells (reviewed in (Kaufmann *et al.*, 2012; Lavrik and Krammer, 2012)).

Ligation of Fas on virally infected cells to Fas ligand (FasL) expressed on effector

cytotoxic cells initiates a classical caspase cascade, and ultimately leads to target cell

death. In addition to its role in immune cell homeostasis and regulation of tumor

progression (reviewed in (Bouillet and O'Reilly, 2009, Ehrenschwender and Wajant,

2009)), the Fas-FasL pathway is vital for viral load reduction and/or recovery from viral

infections, for example in protection against hepatitis B virus (HBV) (Yang *et al.*, 2009), herpes simplex type 2 (HSV-2) (Ishikawa *et al.*, 2009), and West Nile virus (WNV) infection (Shrestha and Diamond, 2007a). Moreover, it is considered as a key pathway necessary for preventing the development of chronic inflammatory disease after mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection (Fleck *et al.*, 1998). On the contrary, the Fas-FasL pathway can also contribute to adverse disease outcomes, for example after LCMV (Zajac et al., 1996), MVEV (Licon Luna *et al.*, 2002), SFV (Alsharifi *et al.*, 2006), or reovirus infections (Lopez *et al.*, 2009), and can sustain chronic hepatic inflammation caused by HCV infection (Cruise *et al.*, 2006).

The granule exocytosis pathway constitutes an effector cell release of pore-forming protein, perforin, and a family of serine proteases, predominantly granzymes (Gzm) (reviewed in (Chowdhury and Lieberman, 2008; Voskoboinik *et al.*, 2010)). To date, there are 5 known human and 11 mouse Gzm. The pro-apoptotic Gzm A and B are the most abundantly released members of this family of molecules at the site of the immunological synapse, and are consequently the most extensively studied. The role of individual molecules involved in the granule exocytosis pathway varies amongst different viral infection models. A deficiency in perforin alone results in severe disease in models of Ebola (Gupta *et al.*, 2005), LCMV (Walsh *et al.*, 1994), MCMV (Loh *et al.*, 2005; Dix et al., 2003), Theiler's virus (Rossi *et al.*, 1998), and WNV infection (Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*a*), as opposed to better outcomes in models of respiratory

syncytial virus (Aung et al., 2001) and MVEV (Licon Luna et al., 2002). On the other

hand, Gzms seem to display functional redundancy since a deficiency in individual

Gzms usually does not result to increased susceptibility, except in certain cases, for

instance, ectromelia (Mullbacher et al., 1999) and LCMV infection (Zajac et al., 2003).

In the previous chapter, I have shown that Fas^{-/-}, Perf^{/-}, and GzmA/B^{-/-} mice did not display increased susceptibility to JEV infection, although defective clearance of virus from the CNS was observed. It remained uncertain whether immunopathology associated with leukocyte infiltration into the CNS, less than optimal killing of virus infected cells, or other factors explained why the viral load reduction in the CNS did not translate into survival advantage. Here, I re-evaluated the phenomenon with the use of mice deficient in both effector pathways of cytotoxicity. I also show that NK cells, which are competent, along with CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells, in eliminating virus infected cells by triggering contact-dependent cell death pathways, do not significantly contribute to disease outcome in a mouse model of Japanese encephalitis.



4.2 Results

4.2.1 Combined deficiencies in Fas-FasL and granule exocytosis pathways of cytotoxicity increase the susceptibility of mice to Japanese encephalitis. In chapter 3, I showed that single cytotoxic effector pathway defects did not result in increased mortality from low dose challenge with JEV. Mice deficient in Fas, perforin, or Gzms A and B had similar survival rates relative to wt controls. Here, I extend my investigation on the contribution of T (and NK) cell-mediated cytotoxicity in the recovery from Japanese encephalitis by examining the susceptibility of mice with combined deficiencies of essential mediators of the Fas-FasL and granule exocytosis pathways. Twelve-week-old Fas^{-/-}, Perf^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}, Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}, and wt control mice were challenged sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, and morbidity and mortality were recorded during a 28-day-observation period. In all groups, moribund mice presented with similar clinical signs starting with generalized piloerection, paresis and rigidity, and later progressing to severe neurological signs demonstrated by postural imbalance, ataxia and generalized tonic-clonic seizures. The median survival time of mice that succumbed to infection did not differ significantly between groups (12.7 ± 1.5) days for Fas^{-/-}, 12.5 \pm 1.8 days for Perf^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}, 12.4 \pm 0.7 days for Fas^{-/-} $xGzmA/B^{-/-}$, and 12.7 ± 1.6 days for wt control mice). The mortality rate of mice defective in either Fas-FasL or granule exocytosis pathways of cytotoxicity was comparable to that of wt controls: 50% for Fas^{-/-}, 55% for Perf^{/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}, and 60%

for wt control mice. Interestingly, a combinatorial defect affecting both pathways of cytotoxicity resulted in a significant increase in mortality, where 90% of Fas^{-/-} $xGzmA/B^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to infection (Fig. 4.1). These data indicate a redundancy of the two contact-dependent effector pathways of T or NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in

resistance to a lethal JEV infection.

4.2.2 Defective control of virus growth in the CNS of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice. Viral load in serum, and peripheral and CNS tissues of wt and Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV was determined at 2-day-intervals pi (Fig. 4.2). Viremia and viral load in spleen detected by real-time RT-PCR did not differ significantly between the two groups. Peak viremia was found at day 2 pi $(5x10^4 \text{ vs.})$ 1x10⁵ RNA copies/ml of serum in groups of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wt mice, respectively) and peak splenic viral burden on day 4 pi $(9x10^4 \text{ vs. } 7x10^4 \text{ RNA copies/g})$ of tissue in groups of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wt mice, respectively) (Fig. 4.2A,B). However, the defect in Fas-FasL and granule exocytosis pathways significantly compromised the ability of mice to control virus growth in the CNS and/or prevent virus entry into the brain. Compared to wt, the proportion of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice showing detectable virus titers in brain was markedly greater, and viral load 10- and 1000-fold higher on days 8 and 10 pi, respectively (Fig. 4.2C). In addition, dissemination of virus into the spinal cord was more evident in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice, with viral titers exceeding those in wt mice by 2 log on day 10 pi (Fig. 4.2D). These findings were supported by markedly increased detection of JEV antigen in various regions of the brain of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} relative to wt mice (Fig. 4.3). Altogether, these data indicate that failure of control of virus growth in the CNS, but apparently not in extraneural tissues, may explain the increased susceptibility of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice to infection with JEV.





Figure 4.1 Susceptibility of Fas^{-/-}, Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}, Perf^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}, and wild-type mice to JEV infection. Groups of 12-week-old mice were infected sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV, morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data presented were constructed from two independent experiments. Mortality in Fas^{-/-}, Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and Perf^{/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice was compared to wild-type mice to test for statistical significance using the log-rank test (**, P < 0.01).







JEV burden in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wild-type mice. JEV burden Figure 4.2 in serum (A), spleen (B), brain (C), and spinal cord (D) samples of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wild-type after sc infection with 10³ PFU of JEV is shown. At the indicated time points, animals were sacrificed and the viral RNA content of serum and spleen samples were measured by real-time RT-PCR, while viral content in brain and spinal cord samples were measured by plaque titration. Data shown were constructed from 2 independent experiments, each symbol represents an individual mouse, and horizontal lines indicate geometric mean titers. The lower limit of virus detection is indicated by the horizontal

dotted line. Asterisks denote significant differences (**, P < 0.01).



Figure 4.3 Immunohistochemistry. Brain sections of uninfected Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B ^{-/-} mice, and Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B ^{-/-} and wild-type mice infected for 10 days with 10³ PFU of JEV, sc. Detection of JEV antigen by immunohistochemistry was with the use of a monoclonal antibody that recognises the flavivirus NS1 protein. Representative sections of the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, thalamus, cerebellum and brainstem are shown. Brown staining is indicative of infected cells.



4.2.3 Humoral immunity in Fas^{-/-}**xGzmA/B**^{-/-}**mice.** Intact humoral immunity is absolutely required for protection from Japanese encephalitis (Chapter 3). Fas is highly expressed on activated and germinal center B cells, and is essential in maintenance of both T and B cell homeostatsis (Hao et al., 2008; Wang et al., 1996). In addition, expression of Fas and Gzms on CD4⁺ T cells may impact on its helper function in inducing efficient antibody production and maintenance (Desbarats et al., 1998; Gorak-Stolinska et al., 2001; Maksimow et al., 2006). With this in mind, I investigated whether $Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-}$ mice exhibited a defective humoral immune response against JEV. The kinetics and magnitude of antibody responses in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice did not differ significantly from that in wt mice. Generation of anti-JEV IgM antibody was comparable in both groups, appearing first on day 4 pi, and increasing thereafter (Fig. 4.4A). Likewise, class switching to IgG1 and IgG2b isotype antibodies was similar in both groups, initially detected on day 7 pi, and increasing on day 10 pi (Fig. 4.4B). The functional activity of the anti-JEV humoral immune response measured by neutralization assay was also comparable between both groups, with mean PRNT₅₀ titers of 536 (range, 80 to 1280) in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice and 656 (range, 40 to 1280) in wt mice on day 10 pi (Fig. 4.4C). In summary, these data indicate that the ability of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice to mount JEV-specific B cell immune responses remained unimpaired.





Figure 4.4 Humoral immune response in Fas^{-/-}**xGzmA/B**^{-/-} **and wild-type mice.** Eight-week-old Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wild-type mice were infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, and serum samples were collected at the indicated time points. Anti-JEV IgM (A) and IgG (B) isotype antibody titers were determined by ELISA. The data

presented are reciprocal mean endpoint titers representative of 4 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars. (C) Neutralizing antibody titers determined by plaque reduction neutralization assay. The data presented are mean $PRNT_{50}$ titers representative of 5 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars.
4.2.4 Cytokine production in the absence of Fas and Gzm A and B. Besides direct cytotoxic action mediated through the Fas-FasL and granule-exocytosis pathways, the antiviral activity of NK and CD8⁺ T cells is also mediated indirectly by the release of soluble cytokines (Mullbacher et al., 2004) Therefore, I investigated the capacity of NK and CD8⁺ T cells from Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice to produce IFN-γ and/or TNF- α following infection with JEV. At day 4 pi (at the peak of the NK cell response in this infection model [see Chapter 6]), the percentage of NK cells expressing IFN-y in spleens of Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice was not significantly different relative to wt mice $(5.2\% \text{ in Fas}^{-/-} \times \text{GzmA/B}^{-/-} \text{ vs. } 5.5\% \text{ in wt mice; Fig. 4.5A})$. Likewise, the CD8⁺ T cell immune response (determined by intracellular cytokine staining following ex vivo stimulation of CD8⁺ lymphocytes with a JEV NS4B protein-derived H-2D^b-binding peptide) in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} was comparable to that of wt at day 7 pi (3.1% in Fas^{-/-} xGzmA/B^{-/-} vs. 3.5% in wt mice; Fig. 4.5B). In addition, the percentage of multifunctional CD8⁺ T cells, characterized by expression of both IFN- γ and TNF- α in single T cells did not differ significantly between the two groups (Fig. 4.5C). Collectively, these data indicate intact production of cytokines in NK and CD8⁺ T cells in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice.





Figure 4.5 NK cell and CD8⁺ T cell cytokine production. Eight-week-old Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wild-type mice were infected iv with 10³ PFU of JEV or left uninfected. (A) Spleens were collected at indicated time points and the percentage of NK1.1⁺ or CD8⁺ splenocytes expressing IFN- γ were identified by flow cytometry. For CD8⁺ T cells, splenocytes were stimulated *ex vivo* with H2-D^b-restricted JEV NS4B protein-derived peptide. Means for 4 samples ± the SEM are presented. (B) CD8⁺ T cells expressing both IFN- γ and TNF- α at the indicated time points. Means for 4 samples ± the SEM are presented.



4.2.5 Cellular migration into the CNS. To investigate whether trafficking of leukocytes was defective in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice, leukocytes were isolated from brains of JEV infected Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wt mice by density gradient centrifugation and used to quantify leukocyte subpopulations by flow-cytometry. On days 7 and 10 pi, Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice did not show a significant difference in the numbers of NK cells, and CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells in the brain relative to wt control mice (Fig. 4.6A-C). This result shows that deficiency of both cytolytic effector pathways did not alter the ability of NK and T cells to infiltrate the infected brain, and that the substantially higher viral burden in the CNS later in infection in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice did not result in augmented trafficking of these leukocyte subpopulations into the brain in comparison to wt mice.





Figure 4.6 Leukocyte trafficking into the CNS. Kinetics of cell infiltration into the brain of 8-week-old Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} and wild-type mice infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV. Leukocytes were isolated by density gradient centrifugation at the indicated time points from brains, and stained for identification as CD8⁺ T cell (A), CD4⁺ T cell (B), NK1.1⁺ cell (C). Data are representative of 2 independent experiments

(n = 4/group), and error bars denote the SEM.

4.2.6 NK cells are dispensable for recovery from lethal JEV infection. In chapter 3, 1 showed that the combined transfer of immune $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cell provided partial, albeit significant, protection from lethal Japanese encephalitis. This may have been, at least in part, due to the cytotoxic potential of, and/or secretion of cytokines (IFN- γ and TNF- α) from the two lymphocyte subpopulations. Given that these antiviral mechanisms are also exerted by NK cells, it was of interest to address a putative role of NK cells in recovery from infection with JEV, using the approach of *in vivo* depletion of NK cells with an antibody. Thus, 8-week-old B6 mice were treated with anti NK1.1 antibody or mock-treated at days -1, 0, +1, +4, and +8 of sc infection with 10³ PFU of JEV (Fig. 4.7). This protocol resulted in >98% depletion of NK cells on days 2 and 8 based on flow-cytometric staining of leukocytes using the NK1.1 antibody. The mortality rate in the group of NK cell-depleted and mock-treated mice (55% and 60%, respectively) and MST (13 ± 1.8 days and 12.8 ± 1.5 days, respectively) did not differ significantly between the two groups.

To examine whether NK cells contribute to peripheral viral clearance, I determined the viral load in serum and spleen at early time points pi. Viremia and viral load in spleens did not show a significant difference between the two groups (Fig. 4.8A,B). Lastly, clearance of virus from the CNS was not defective in the absence of NK cells, since viral titers in brain and spinal cord were not significantly different between NK cell-depleted and mock-treated mice on day 10 pi (Fig. 4.8C,D).





Figure 4.7 Susceptibility to JEV infection after *in vivo* NK cell depletion. Groups of 12-week-old mice were administered ip with either anti-NK1.1 antibody or PBS, and infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data presented were constructed from two independent experiments.





Figure 4.8 Viral burden in the absence of NK cells. JEV burden in serum (A), spleen (B), brain (C), and spinal cord (D) samples of NK cell-depleted and mock-treated B/6 wt mice after sc infection with 10³ PFU of JEV is shown. On days 2 and 4 pi, animals were sacrificed and the viral RNA content of serum and spleen samples were measured by real-time RT-PCR, while viral content in brain and spinal cord samples on day 10 pi were measured by plaque titration. Data shown were constructed from 2 independent experiments, each symbol represents an individual mouse, and horizontal lines indicate geometric mean titers. The lower limit of virus detection is indicated by the horizontal dotted line.



4.3 Discussion

The biological significance of contact-dependent pathways of cytotoxicity in viral disease amelioration or exacerbation has become increasingly recognized over the past two decades with the availability of knockout mice with defects in key components of the pathways (reviewed in (Kaufmann et al., 2012; Mullbacher et al., 2003; Voskoboinik et al., 2010; Wang et al., 1996)). A multitude of studies using mice with single or combined deficiency in Fas, FasL, perforin, GzmA, or GzmB have revealed a lack of generalizability in terms of disease outcome between different viral models. This includes viruses that cause disease of the CNS, where one or both pathways may be absolutely required, partly beneficial, unnecessary, or detrimental to the host. For instance, an immunopathological role of the Fas-FasL and/or granule exocytosis pathways was observed in disease models of LCMV (Zajac et al., 1996), MVEV (Licon Luna et al., 2002), and SFV (Alsharifi et al., 2006). On the other hand, one or both pathways were required for protection from Theiler's virus (Rossi et al., 1998), WNV (Shrestha et al, 2006; Shrestha and Diamond, 2007a) and HSV-2 infection (Ishikawa et al., 2009). Even viral strain differences can account for distinct disease outcomes: for instance, intact granule exocytosis plus Fas-FasL pathways of cytotoxicity were essential for recovery from infection with a virulent North-American isolate of WNV (Shrestha et al., 2006a, Shrestha and Diamond, 2007), in contrast to a less virulent strain (WNV-Sarafend), which did not show increased disease in Perf'-, Fas-'-, and

FasL-deficient mice relative to wt (Wang et al., 2004) Similarly, mice deficient in Fas-

FasL signalling challenged with HSV-1 strain SC16 presented with defective peripheral

viral clearance (Johnson et al., 2008), as opposed to Fas receptor-deficient mice challenged with HSV-1 KOS strain, which did not present with increased peripheral

127

viral load (Pellegrini et al., 2003).

Here I show that mice defective in both contact-dependent cell death pathways (Fas^{-/-} xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice) display increased susceptibility to extraneural challenge with a low dose of JEV. The result resembles the finding of uncontrolled lethal infection of a neurotropic strain of mouse hepatitis virus in mice lacking both functional Fas-FasL and granule exocytosis-mediated effector pathways, but not in animals with single deficiencies in either Fas or perforin (Lin et al., 1997; Parra et al, 2000). Accordingly, both mouse models of neurotropic viral diseases showed redundancy of the two contactdependent cytolytic mechanisms for the control of lethal viral infections of the CNS. Intriguingly, in the mouse model of Japanese encephalitis, dispensability of either Fas-FasL or granule exocytosis pathways in disease outcome measured by mortality rate (this Chapter and Chapter 3) contrasted with markedly increased viral burden in the CNS in single knockout mice defective in either Fas, perforin, or Gzms (Chapter 3). While the latter finding was explained by proposing a counter-acting balance of immunoprotection vs. immunopathology mediated by cytolytic leukocytes at the site of CNS infection, it casts doubt on an interpretation that posits solely absence of cytolytic clearance of JEV as the reason for the observed mortality rate increase in the doubledeficient mice.

Other, non-cytolytic, functions of Fas and Gzms have been described that may have been beneficial in recovery from JEV, and could account for the discrepancy.

Accumulating data suggest a physiological role of Fas in regulating neuronal development, growth, differentiation, and regeneration in the CNS (reviewed in (Desbarats *et al.*, 2003; Peter *et al.*, 2007; Tamm *et al.*, 2004; Zuliani *et al.*, 2006)). Accordingly, in line with proposed diverse non-apoptotic functions of Fas expression in T cell survival, proliferation and/or activation, and also liver cell regeneration, Fas may

act as a protector as well as a destroyer of cells of the CNS following infection with a pathogen or in inflammatory disorders. Fas is strongly upregulated in brains of mice infected with JEV and WNV (Gupta and Rao, 2011; Shrestha and Diamond, 2007) and disruption of this putative neuroprotective role of Fas may, at least in part, explain the increased susceptibility of Fas^{-/-}xGzmAxB^{-/-} mice to JEV infection.

Granzymes, while residing in cytotoxic cells, are also found extracellularly, and their extracellular concentration is elevated during infection. Accordingly, it must be anticipated that the Gzms can act both intracellularly and extracellularly. Non-cytolytic activities mediated by GzmA and GzmB include diverse biological effects such as (i) stimulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, (ii) remodeling of extracellular matrices that can result in cell death through anoikis, (iii) stimulation of type 1 IFN responses by deregulating the activity of the three-prime repair exonuclease, TREX1, and (iv) proteolytic cleavage and inactivation of viral or host factors essential for viral replication (reviewed in (Andrade, 210; Froelich *et al.*, 2009)). Regarding the latter, the direct antiviral action of GzmB is crucial in the prevention of herpes simplex virus Type 1 (HSV-1) reactivation, mechanistically through the degradation of a viral protein essential for gene expression (Knickelbein *et al.*, 2008). It is of interest that GzmB-deficient but not perforin knockout mice showed increased susceptibility to infection with WNV (strain Sarafend) (Wang *et al.*, 2004), suggesting a beneficial non-cytotoxic effect of the molecule against flavivirus infection, which was also observed in flavivirus

growth experiments in human fibroblasts stably expressing GzmB (Lobigs *et al.*, 2008). The mechanism of this non-cytotoxic activity of GzmB against flaviviral infection has not been elucidated, but may involve viral or host protein cleavage by the serine

protease.

Defective control of JEV infection in mice lacking functional death receptor and/or granule exocytosis pathways of cytotoxicity was reflected in reduced viral burden in brain and spinal cord at later time points pi, while viral titers in serum and spleen did not differ significantly. This suggested that the contact-dependent functions of the cellular immune response mediated predominantly by NK and T cells are not important in the control of JEV in extraneural tissues, or at early time points when relatively low viral load is detectable in serum and spleen. This observation, combined with the limited capacity of cells of the CNS to regenerate following viral or immune-mediated death, may explain the only subsidiary role of CD8⁺ T cells in protection against Japanese encephalitis.

Other relevant immunologic factors that could account for increased susceptibility in Fas^{-/-}xGzmAxB ^{-/-} mice were excluded. First, the magnitude and functional activity of antibody responses in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B ^{-/-} mice remained intact, and displayed similar kinetics relative to wt. Second, NK and CD8⁺ T cell immune responses (as measured by intracellular cytokine production) in Fas^{-/-}xGzmA/B^{-/-} mice also displayed comparable activity relative to wt. Last, trafficking of leukocytes into the CNS remained unimpaired even with combined absence of Fas and Gzms.

The second major finding from this investigation was that NK cells were dispensable for recovery from JEV infection. While infection with JEV resulted in early activation

of NK cells (measured by intracellular IFN-y staining), depletion of NK cells did not

produce increased mortality, or a difference in viral burden in serum, spleen or the

CNS, relative to wt control mice. The result is consistent with the conclusion that NK

cells do not provide a survival advantage in mice infected with other closely related

flaviviruses belonging to the Japanese encephalitis serocomplex, viz. WNV and MVEV.

Flaviviruses are thought to have evolved an immune escape mechanism against NK cell attack involving up-regulation of MHC class I on the surface of infected cells (King and Kesson, 1988; Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*a*). MHC class I can engage with NK cell inhibitory receptors and thereby down-regulate the NK cell response, which may explain why despite apparent NK cell activation, the leukocyte subpopulation did not promote a survival advantage against Japanese encephalitis.



Chapter 5

Disease-ameliorating CNS viral load reduction by Interferon-γ-producing T cells in a mouse model of Japanese encephalitis



5.1 Introduction

Interferons (IFNs) are glycoprotein cytokines important in the host defence response against diverse groups of infectious diseases (reviewed in (Macmicking, 2012; Sadler and Williams, 2008)). They are grouped into three classes based on the receptor complex through which they signal. IFN- α and IFN- β are type I IFNs, and are produced early in the course of infection. Binding of IFN- α and - β to a single (IFN- α) receptor leads to the activation of a large set of IFN-inducible genes involved in antiviral and immunoregulatory pathways. On the other hand, IFN-y is classified as a type II IFN, and is predominantly produced by NK, NKT, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells of the innate arm of the immune response, and CD4⁺ Th1 and CD8⁺ T cells of the adaptive immune response (reviewed in (Schoenborn and Wilson, 2007)). The antiviral action of IFN-y is mediated through various mechanisms, including direct antiviral activity that overlaps with that triggered by the type I IFNs, activation and polarization of Th cell responses, enhanced major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I antigen expression and presentation, and activation of phagocytic myeloid cells. Lastly, newly classified members of the IFN superfamily, the type III IFNs (IFN- λ 1, - λ 2 and - λ 3), trigger similar immune responses as the type I IFNs but engage a different receptor complex, containing the molecules IFNLR1 and IL-10R2. Only limited information on the physiological role of the type III

IFNs is yet available (reviewed in (Levraud et al., 2007)).

Mouse models of flaviviral pathogenesis have established the critical requirement of

type 1 IFN signalling in defence against disseminating infections. Mice deficient in the

IFN- α receptor presented with widespread viral tropism, uncontrolled viremia, early

neuroinvasion, rapid CNS viral dissemination, and complete lethality when challenged 133

with Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) (Lee and Lobigs, 2002), Murray Valley encephalitis virus (MVEV) (Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*b*), and West Nile virus (Samuel and Diamond, 2005). In addition, challenge of IFN- α receptor-deficient mice with yellow fever virus (YFV) Asibi and Angola73 strains resulted in severe viscerotropic disease and complete lethality (Meier *et al.*, 2009). Although not lethal, dengue virus (DENV) infection of IFN- α receptor-deficient mice also showed rapid viral dissemination and increased viral load in comparison to type I IFN response sufficient mice (Shresta *et al.*, 2004).

In contrast, the importance of IFN- γ signalling on disease outcome after flaviviral challenge is variable. A modest increase in mortality was observed when B/6 IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice were challenged with a low dose MVEV (Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*b*), while no difference in susceptibility was observed when challenged with YFV (Liu and Chambers 2001; Meier *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, viral strain and mouse genetic background appeared to be a confounding variable influencing disease outcome: a modest increase in mortality was seen in 129 Sv IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice challenged with either DENV-1 or DENV-2 (Shresta *et al.*, 2004), however no effect was observed in an independent study where BALB/c mice deficient in IFN- γ were challenged with DENV-2 (Johnson and Roehrig, 1999); furthermore, as opposed to the inconsequential effect of an IFN- γ deficiency in challenge with WNV strains Sarafend and Kunjin (Wang Y. *et al.*, 2006), IFN- γ had an essential early antiviral role in recovery from infection with a

more virulent North-American WN strain (Shrestha et al., 2006b).

In Chapter 4, the relevance of contact-dependent mechanisms of NK and T cell-induced cytotoxicity in the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis was presented. Independent of these direct effector mechanisms of cell-mediated immunity, NK and T cells also exert

their protective effect by the release of the soluble factors, TNF- α and IFN- γ . In this Chapter, the role of the cytokine IFN- γ in recovery from Japanese encephalitis will be explored with the use of knockout mice deficient in production of the cytokine.



5.2 Results

5.2.1 IFN- γ is required for protection against Japanese encephalitis. Twelve-week-old IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wt control mice were challenged sc with 10³ PFU JEV, and morbidity and mortality were observed for 28 days. Similar initial clinical signs of generalized piloerection, paresis and rigidity, invariably progressing to severe neurological signs demonstrated by postural imbalance, ataxia and generalized tonic-clonic seizures appeared in both groups. The median survival time of mice that were sacrificed when severe signs of encephalitic disease were apparent, did not differ significantly between the two groups (11.7 ± 2.3 days for IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and 11.1 ± 2.1 days for wt mice. However, a deficiency in IFN- γ resulted in a significant increase in mortality rate: 86% for IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ versus 43% for wt mice (Fig. 5.1). This result clearly demonstrates a beneficial role of IFN- γ in the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis.





Figure 5.1 Susceptibility of IFN- γ^{-l-} and wild-type mice to JEV infection. Groups of 12-week-old mice were infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data presented were constructed from two independent experiments: Mortality in groups of IFN- γ^{-l-} mice (n = 22) was compared to that in groups of wt mice (n = 14) to test for statistical significance using the log-rank test (**, *P* < 0.01).



5.2.2 Increased viral burden in the CNS in the absence of IFN- γ . То investigate further on the mechanism of increased susceptibility to JEV infection in mice deficient in IFN- γ , viral titers in brain and spinal cord of IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wt control mice infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, sc, were determined by plaque assay on Vero cell monolayers. A deficiency in IFN-y resulted in increased CNS viral burden, with viral load in brains of IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice exceeding that in brains of wt mice by ~100- and ~1000fold on days 8 and 10 pi, respectively (Fig. 5.2C). Additionally, IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice exhibited more pronounced dissemination of virus into the spinal cord, with viral titers elevated by one log and three logs on days 8 and 10 pi, respectively, relative to wt (Fig. 5.2D). Viral titers in serum and spleen were not detectable by plaque assay, and JEV RNA detection utilizing real-time RT-PCR did not show a significant difference between the groups. Peak viremia was on day 2 pi (GMT: 1.1x10⁵ and 9.4x10⁴ RNA copies/ml of serum in wt and IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice, respectively; Fig. 5.2A), and peak splenic viral burden occurred on day 4 pi (GMT: 1.2x10⁵ and 1.9x10⁵ RNA copies/g of spleen in wt and IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice, respectively; Fig. 5.2B). Together, these data indicate that IFN- γ significantly contributes to the control of virus growth in the CNS, but is not critical for clearance of virus from extraneural tissues.





Figure 5.2 JEV burden in IFN- γ^{-1} and wt mice. JEV burden in serum (A), spleen (B), brain (C), and spinal cord (D) samples of IFN- γ^{-1} and wt mice after sc infection with 10³ PFU of JEV is shown. At the indicated time points, animals were sacrificed, and the viral RNA content in serum and spleen samples measured by real-time RT-PCR, while viral content in brain and spinal cord samples were measured by plaque titration. Data shown were constructed from 2 independent experiments, each symbol represents an individual mouse, and geometric mean titers (GMT) are indicated by horizontal lines. The lower limit of virus detection is indicated by the horizontal dotted line. Asterisks denote significant differences (*, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01).



5.2.3 Intact humoral immunity in the absence of IFN-y. An optimal antibody response is an obligatory requirement for protection from lethal Japanese encephalitis (Chapter 3). Therefore, I investigated whether a deficiency in IFN-y resulted in a poorer antibody response, and thereby causing a lethal outcome. The magnitude of anti-JEV IgM in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice presented with similar kinetics relative to wt mice, appearing first on day 4 pi and increasing thereafter (Fig. 5.3A). Moreover, the kinetics of class switching to IgG did not differ significantly between the two groups. Anti-JEV IgG1 and IgG2b responses were similar in both groups, appearing initially on day 7 pi, and increasing on day 10 pi. (Fig. 5.3B). In both groups, the magnitude of the IgG2b response exceeded that of the IgG1 antibody isotype. The functional activity of the antibody response, as determined by an in vitro virus neutralization assay, also displayed similar magnitude between both groups, with mean PRNT₅₀ titers of 768 (range, 320 to 1280) in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice and 652 (range, 20 to 1280) in wt mice on day 10 pi. (Fig. 5.3C). Together, these data suggest that IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice exhibit a humoral immune response after exposure to JEV that is comparable in quality and magnitude to that in wt mice.





Figure 5.3 Humoral immune response in IFN- γ^{-1-} and wt mice. Eight-weekold IFN- γ -/- and wt mice were infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, and serum samples were collected at the indicated time points. Anti-JEV IgM (A) and IgG (B) isotype antibody titers were determined by ELISA. The data presented are reciprocal mean endpoint titers representative of 4 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars. (C) Neutralizing antibody titers determined by plaque reduction neutralization

assay. The data presented are mean $PRNT_{50}$ titers representative of 5 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars.

5.2.4 Cellular Migration into the CNS. IFN- γ -mediated induction of chemokines, such as CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CXCL9, and CXCL10, which play a role in chemotaxis of leukocytes is well documented (reviewed in (Schroder *et al.*, 2004)). To assess whether there was an impairment of trafficking of leukocytes to the site of infection in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice, lymphocytes were isolated from brains of JEV infected IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wt mice by density gradient centrifugation, and leukocyte subpopulations quantified by flow-cytometry. On day 7 pi, IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice presented with similar numbers of NK, CD8⁺ T, and CD4⁺ T cells as compared to wt mice. This remained consistent on day 10 pi. Together, these data indicate that even in the absence of IFN- γ , migration of lymphocytes into the CNS after JEV infection remains intact.





Figure 5.4 Leukocyte trafficking into the CNS. Kinetics of cell infiltration into the brain of 8-week-old IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ and wt mice infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV. Leukocytes were isolated by density gradient centrifugation from the brains of infected mice at the indicated time points, and stained for identification of CD8⁺ T cell (A), CD4⁺ T cell (B) and NK1.1⁺ cell (C). Data are representative of 2 independent experiments (n = 4/group), and error bars denote the SEM.



5.2.5 IFN-γ-producing T cells are essential for viral clearance from the CNS. To confirm the protective role of IFN-γ against protection from lethal Japanese encephalitis, total splenocytes and immune T cells from JEV-infected IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ or wt mice were transferred to naive wt recipients that were challenged with 10³ PFU of JEV one day after transfer (Table 5.1). Consistent with the findings in Chapter 3, total splenocyte transfer from immune wt donors completely protected recipient wt mice from lethal infection. Likewise, total splenocyte transfer from immune IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice to wt recipients resulted in a 100% survival rate. On the other hand, immune T cell transfer from wt donor mice to wt recipients conferred substantial, albeit partial, protection from lethal encephalitis relative to naive T cell transfer (mortality rate: 28% and 75%, respectively). In contrast, immune T cell transfer from IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice to wt recipients did not result in significant protection (80% and 75% mortality in immune and naïve T cell recipients, respectively).

Moreover, viral load in brain of recipients of IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ immune T cells was notably higher compared to that in mice that received immune T cells from wt donors (GMT: 4.8x10⁵ versus 1.2x10³ PFU/g of brain tissue on day 10 pi, respectively; Fig. 5.5A). Consistent with this finding, the viral load in spinal cord was also significantly higher in the former than in the latter group (GMT: 3.9x10⁴ vs. <1x10³ PFU/g of spinal cord tissue, respectively; Fig. 5.5B). Taken together, these data suggest that the IFN- γ -mediated protection against lethal Japanese encephalitis is mediated, at least in part, by immune T

cells, and involves partial control of virus growth in the CNS.

Table 5.1 Protective value of T cell expressed IFN-γ against lethal JEV challenge.

Treatment ^{<i>a</i>}	Mortality (No. of deaths/ total) ^b	Mean survival time (days) \pm SD ^c
PBS control	67% (6/9)	12.3 ± 1.4
B/6 wt control donor mice		
Naïve wt total splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	75% (15/20; <i>P</i> =0.94)	12.9 ± 1.7
Immune total splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	0% (0/7; <i>P</i> =0.003)	-
Immune T cells (5 x 10^6 cells)	28% (5/18; <i>P</i> =0.01)	12.2 ± 1.3
IFN-y ^{-/-} donor mice		
Immune total splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	0% (0/5; <i>P</i> =0.01)	÷
Immune T cells (5 x 10^6 cells)	80% (12/15; <i>P</i> =0.10)	12.7 ± 1.5

^{*a*} Eight-week-old IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ or wt donor mice were infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, iv, or left uninfected and sacrificed 7 days later for splenocyte collection with or without T cell purification. Cells were transferred to 8-week-old wt recipient mice that were infected one day later with 10³ PFU of JEV into the footpad. Surviving mice were monitored for 28 days.

^b Data are representative of 2 independent experiments. Immune splenocyte treatment groups were compared to the naive splenocyte control group to test for statistical significance.

^c No significant difference was noted between immune splenocyte treatment and control groups.





Figure 5.5 JEV burden in CNS tissue after immune splenocyte transfer. JEV burden in brain (A), and spinal cord (B) samples in wild-type recipients of mock (naïve wt total splenocytes), IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$, or wt immune T cells is shown. Mice were sacrificed at day 10 post-challenge with 10³ PFU of JEV injected into the footpad, and viral content in tissues measured by plaque titration. Each symbol represents an individual mouse, and geometric mean titers are indicated by horizontal lines. The lower limit of virus detection is indicated by the horizontal dotted line. Asterisks denote

significant differences (*, P < 0.05).



5.3 Discussion

The pleiotropic cytokine, IFN-y, provided a substantial contribution to protection from lethal Japanese encephalitis. This was documented in the following findings: (i) low dose JEV challenge of IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice resulted in significantly increased mortality, (ii) significantly increased viral burden in brain, and (iii) more widespread dissemination of the virus into the spinal cord, relative to wt control mice; (iv) in addition, JEV-infected recipients (B/6 wt strain) of JEV immune T cells from IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ donor mice displayed no survival advantage relative to infected recipients of naïve T cells and a significantly higher mortality rate compared to recipients of immune T cells from IFN-y sufficient mice, as well as (v) increased viral burden in the CNS relative to the latter. These findings are supported by an in vitro study that showed dose-dependent inhibition of JEV replication in IFN-y-stimulated RAW 246.7 murine macrophages (Lin Y.L. et al., 1997). They are also consistent with reports from numerous investigation on the role of IFN-y in the control of other neurotropic viruses; for instance, Borna disease virus (BDV) (Friedl et al., 2004; Hausmann et al. 2005), herpes simplex virus type 1 (Liu et al., 2001), measles virus (Finke et al., 1995; O'Donnell et al., 2012; Patterson et al., 2002), mouse hepatitis virus (Bergmann et al., 2003; Bergmann et al., 2004; Parra et al., 1999; Pearce et al., 1999), lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (Friedl et al., 2004), Sindbis virus (Binder and Griffin, 2001; Burdeinick-Kerr et al., 2007), and Theiler's

murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) (Rodriguez et al., 2003) all require IFN-y as a

critical cytokine for limiting viral dissemination within the CNS.

Mechanistically, IFN-γ mediates clearance of virus (directly or indirectly) through cytolytic and non-cytolytic means (reviewed in (Chesler and Reiss, 2002; Schroder *et*

al., 2004)). Induction of cytolytic mechanisms include stimulating cell-mediated immunity by up-regulation of MHC-1 antigen processing and presentation, increasing sensitivity of target cells to apoptosis by up-regulation of Fas and TNF- α receptors, and facilitating target cell death by up-regulation of the pro-apoptotic proteins caspase-1 and IRF-1. However, given that in Japanese encephalitis the induction apoptosis in vital permanent neuronal networks would likely be counterproductive in achieving survival outcomes, the non-cytolytic mechanisms of IFN-y action may have been of greater importance. One major non-cytolytic pathway activated by IFN-y is through the induction of nitric oxide synthase type 1 (NOS-1) protein with consequent production of the antiviral molecule, nitric oxide (NO) (Karupiah et al., 1993). As a first in vitro proof, Lin et al. (1997) have shown that the activation of the NO pathway is responsible for IFN-y-mediated antiviral activity against JEV. The direct antiviral action of NO against JEV was corroborated in subsequent studies using various experimental approaches (Saxena et al., 2000; Saxena et al., 2001). Other than the NO-dependent mechanisms, IFN-γ-mediated generation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (Adams et al., 2004; Mao et al., 20011; Terajima and Leporati, 2005), protein kinase RNA-activated (PKR), dsRNA-specific adenosine-deaminase (ADAR), and guanylate-binding proteins (GBP) (reviewed in (Chesler and Reiss, 2002; Schroder et al., 2004)) have also been implicated as antiviral proteins, although further investigations are required to confirm activity of these factors in inhibition of JEV replication.

Interestingly, other studies have shown a neuroprotective role of IFN-y after CNS injury

(Baron et al., 2008; Gao et al., 2000; Garg et al., 2009; Imai et al., 2007; Lee J. et al.,

2006). Glial cells and neurons express the IFN-y receptor, and thus unsurprisingly their

growth and plasticity are influenced by the IFN-γ ligand (Butovsky *et al.*, 2006; Song *et*

al., 2005; Wong et al., 2004). Moreover, certain neurons express the IFN-y ligand itself,

and when released can act in an autocrine or paracrine fashion to influence neuronal differentiation (Neumann *et al.*, 1997). Independent from its immune-mediated role in viral clearance, IFN- γ was implicated to have a neural protective effect after infection with BDV (Hausmann *et al.*, 2005) and TMEV (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2003). Given that IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice, relative to wt, are more susceptible to infection with MVEV (Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*b*) and the WNV-NY strain (Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*b*), and yet did not display viral load difference on day 8 pi, it can be speculated that IFN- γ may, in part, play an undefined neuroprotective role in flaviviral encephalitis, apart from its immune-mediated effects.

Defects in humoral immunity were not responsible for the adverse outcome observed in mice deficient in IFN- γ , since IFN- $\gamma^{-\gamma}$ mice displayed comparable kinetics of antibody responses and virus neutralizing titers relative to wt mice. In addition, wt recipients of total immune splenocytes, but not immune T cells, from IFN- $\gamma^{-\gamma}$ donor mice were completely protected from JEV challenge, thereby indicating an intact B cell response. The splenocyte transfer experiments also attributed IFN- γ -producing immune T cells as the main effector cell population responsible for the disease-ameliorating effect of IFN- γ involving the partial control of virus growth in the CNS. This protective function of IFN- γ was most likely a synergistic effect provided by both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell populations, since (as demonstrated in Chapter 3) only a combined transfer of both cell populations afforded protection. Here I confirmed that both cell populations efficiently

trafficked into the infected brain in the absence of IFN-y.

NK cells are also an important source of IFN- γ in viral infections, including JEV infection, which was confirmed by intracellular staining for IFN- γ in NK cells isolated from JEV infected mice (Chapter 4). It has been suggested that NK cell-expressing IFN-149

γ has a contributory early role in viral clearance after DENV-2 challenge (Fagundes *et al.*, 2011). However, in the case of JEV infection, IFN-γ-producing NK cells most likely did not play a crucial role in recovery, since *in vivo* depletion of NK cells in JEV infected mice did not reduce survival rate nor impact on viral burden in CNS (Chapter 4). Finally, activated γδ T cells of the innate immune response are thought to be the main IFN-γ-producing cells responsible for early viral clearance and protection from lethal West Nile encephalitis (Shrestha et al., 2006*b*; Wang *et al.*, 2003). This is, however, unlikely the case in the mouse model of Japanese encephalitis, given that IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice did not display increased early viremia or peripheral viral load, nor shorter average survival times, relative to wt mice. Nevertheless, further research is required to confirm or discount a contribution of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the control of JEV infection.



Chapter 6

The Chemokine Receptor CCR5, a Therapeutic Target for HIV/AIDS Antagonists, is Critical for Recovery in a Mouse Model of Japanese Encephalitis

The findings in this Chapter has been accepted for publication:

Larena, M., Regner, M., & Lobigs, M. (2012). The chemokine receptor CCR5, a therapeutic target for HIV/AIDS antagonists, is critical for recovery in a mouse model of Japanese encephalitis. PLoS One.

6.1 Introduction

The migration of leukocytes in lymphoid organs and to sites of inflammation is coordinated by an array of chemokines that bind to specific receptors on immune cells (reviewed in reference (Allen et al., 2007)). Of these, the chemokine receptor, CCR5, is expressed on natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages, and $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells. In these cell types, it regulates chemotaxis and cell activation through interaction with the chemokine ligands CCL3, CCL4 and CCL5, which are up-regulated at the site of infection (reviewed in reference (Sorce et al., 2011)). Understanding the role of CCR5 in the control of pathogen infections has important implications for human health beyond that of other chemokine ligand/receptor interactions, in view of the discovery that CCR5 is a major co-receptor for HIV-1 (reviewed in reference (Alkhatib, 2009)). Therefore, the chemokine receptor is an important target for therapeutic intervention against HIV/AIDS, and recent clinical trials investigating the efficacy of CCR5 antagonists in patients with HIV/AIDS have provided promising results (reviewed in reference (Wilkin and Gulick, 2012)). However, it has been argued that if CCR5 had a protective role against another group of pathogens, for instance in flaviviral encephalitis, it follows that a therapeutic treatment, which aims to block the receptor, could exacerbate the diseases caused by these pathogens (Lim et al., 2006; Klein, 2008).

CCR5 was the first chemokine receptor recognized to play a critical role in recovery

from flavivirus encephalitis in a study that showed that absence of CCR5 prevented

efficient leukocyte trafficking to the brain and viral clearance in mice infected with

West Nile virus (WNV) (Glass et al., 2005). The important role of CCR5 in the human

host response against West Nile encephalitis was supported by a retrospective cohort 152

study involving persons homozygous for CCR5 Δ 32 (Glass *et al.*, 2006), a loss-offunction mutation found in 1-2% of Caucasians (Sorce *et al.*, 2011). Compared to individuals without the mutation, persons carrying a homozygous CCR5 Δ 32 allele had an increased risk for symptomatic WNV infection. This finding was corroborated with a large-scale database study, which associated homozygosity for CCR5 Δ 32 with an increased risk of early and late clinical manifestation following WNV infection (Lim *et al.*, 2010).

CCR5 Δ 32 homozygosity has also been associated with severe tick-borne encephalitis symptoms (Kindberg *et al.*, 2008) caused by infection with tick-borne encephalitis virus, and a severe case of yellow fever virus-associated viscerotropic disease (Pulendran *et al.*, 2008). Tick-borne encephalitis and yellow fever viruses are also members of the *Flavivirus* genus, raising the question of generality of CCR5 as an important host factor in recovery from flaviviral infections. Confirmation of a broader link between CCR5 deficiency and augmented incidence and severity of flaviviral disease would add to the concern of potential adverse outcomes associated with CCR5 antagonist use, in view of the large number of human infections inflicted by the different pathogenic members of the *Flavivirus* genus, and their widespread global distribution (reviewed in reference (Gould and Solomon, 2008)).

In this chapter, I investigated the role and mechanism of CCR5 in recovery from

infection in a mouse model of Japanese encephalitis. Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) is closely related to WNV, and in terms of human disease incidence and severity the most important member of a serocomplex of mosquito-borne, encephalitic flaviviruses (reviewed in reference (Solomon, 2004)). It is the leading cause of viral encephalitis in Asia, annually accounting for 30,000 to 50,000 cases and ~10,000 deaths.

Approximately 3 billion people in the Asia-Pacific region are at risk of infection with JEV. Host immune factors are thought to be the dominant determinants of disease outcome in Japanese encephalitis (reviewed in (Halstead and Jacobson, 2003)), with intact type I interferon (Lee and Lobigs, 2002) and vigorous humoral immune responses (Chapter 3) essential for recovery, and CD8⁺ T cell immunity providing a subsidiary contribution to controlling JEV infection. With the use of CCR5-deficient mice I present in this chapter that the chemokine receptor is an additional important host factor involved in reducing disease severity with Japanese encephalitis.



6.2 Results

6.2.1 CCR5 is required for protection from Japanese encephalitis. To assess the impact of CCR5 on the pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis, mortality was recorded in 8-week-old congenic CCR5^{-/-} and CCR5^{+/+} wild-type mice after i.v. challenge with 10³ PFU of JEV. Moribund mice in both groups presented with similar clinical signs starting with generalized piloerection, paresis and rigidity, invariably progressing to severe neurological signs demonstrated by postural imbalance, ataxia and generalized tonic-clonic seizures. Median survival time amongst mice that succumbed to infection did not differ between the two groups (11.7 ± 2.3 days for CCR5^{-/-} and 11.1 ± 2.1 days for CCR5^{+/+} mice). Nevertheless, absence of CCR5 resulted in a significant increase in mortality: 64% in CCR5^{-/-} versus 28% in CCR5^{+/+} mice (Fig. 6.1).

To address the mechanism for increased susceptibility of mice to JEV infection in the absence of CCR5, viral titers in CCR5^{-/-} and control mice infected with 10³ PFU, i.v., were determined by real-time RT-PCR in serum and spleen, and by plaque assay in brain and spinal cord. Both groups displayed similar viral burden in serum from day 2 to day 6 pi, with peak viremia occurring on day 2 pi (Fig. 6.2A). Similarly, viral load in spleen did not differ significantly between the two groups (Fig. 6.2B). On the other hand, viral spread into and/or clearance from the CNS was significantly affected by the absence of CCR5: compared to control mice, viral load in brains of CCR5^{-/-} mice was

between 10- and 10,000-fold higher on days 8 and 10 pi, respectively, with the proportion of mice showing detectable virus titers markedly greater in CCR5^{-/-} mice than that in the control group (Fig. 6.2C). In addition, viral spread in the CNS was more pronounced in CCR5^{-/-} mice, with viral titers in spinal cord exceeding those in CCR5^{+/+} mice by four log on day 10 pi (Fig. 6.2D).
Together, these data suggest that CCR5 is critically required for recovery from JEV infection.



Figure 6.1 Susceptibility of CCR5^{+/+} and CCR5^{-/-} mice to infection with JEV. Groups of 8-week-old mice were infected iv with 10^3 PFU of JEV. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. The significance of differences in mortality between wild-type (n=28) and knockout mice (n=42) was determined by using the log-rank test (**, *P* < 0.01).





Figure 6.2 JEV burden in serum and tissue samples. JEV burden in (A) serum, (B) spleen, (C) brain and (D) spinal cord of $CCR5^{+/+}$ and $CCR5^{-/-}$ mice after iv infection with 10^3 PFU of JEV. At the indicated time points, animals were sacrificed and the viral RNA content of serum and spleen samples were measured by real-time RT-PCR, while viral content in brain and spinal cord samples were measured by plaque titration. Data shown were constructed from 2 independent experiments. Each symbol represents an individual mouse, and geometric mean titers are indicated by horizontal lines. The lower limit of virus detection is indicated by the horizontal dotted line. Asterisks denote significant differences (**, P < 0.01).



6.2.2 Humoral immunity in the absence of CCR5. In chapter 3, I have established a pivotal role of antibody in recovery from JEV infection. Given that CCR5 is expressed on CD4⁺ T cells, which are required for efficient generation and maintenance of humoral immunity against JEV, I investigated whether a deficiency in CCR5 would result in poorer JEV-specific antibody responses. However, the kinetics and magnitude of the IgM response was similar in CCR5^{-/-} and control mice, appearing first on day 4 pi, and peaking on day 8 pi (Fig. 6.3A). Class switching to IgG production was also comparable between both groups, initially detected on day 8 pi, and increasing on day 10 pi (Fig. 6.3B). Assessment of functional activity of the antibody responses by neutralization assay revealed no significant difference between the two groups, reaching mean PRNT₅₀ titers of 660 (range, 80 to 1280) in CCR5^{-/-} mice and 570 (range, 160 to 1280) in CCR5^{+/+} mice on day 10 pi (Fig. 6.3C).

These data indicate that a deficiency in CCR5 does not compromise the ability of mice to prime JEV-specific B cell immune responses.





Figure 6.3 Antibody responses in CCR5^{+/+} and CCR5^{-/-} mice. Eight-weekold CCR5^{+/+} and CCR5^{-/-} mice were infected iv with 10³ PFU of JEV, and serum samples were collected at the indicated time points. Anti-JEV IgM (A) and IgG (B) isotype antibody titers were determined by ELISA. The data presented are reciprocal mean endpoint titers representative of 4 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by

error bars. (C) Neutralizing antibody titers determined by plaque reduction neutralization assay. The data presented are mean $PRNT_{50}$ titers representative of 5 mice per time point, and error bars indicate the SEM.

6.2.3 Blunted NK and CD8⁺ T cell responses in CCR5^{-/-} mice. NK cells form an important part of the cellular arm of the host's innate immunity, and function by killing virally infected cells and by release of the cytokines, IFN- γ and TNF- α . NK cell activity in JEV infected CCR5^{-/-} and control mice were determined by measuring cytolytic activity against YAC-1 cells and by intracellular staining of IFN- γ . At the peak of NK cell activity (day 4 pi), lysis of YAC-1 cells was significantly reduced in CCR5^{-/-} mice compared to CCR5^{+/+} mice (Fig. 6.4A,B). This was substantiated by a significantly reduced number of activated, IFN- γ -expressing, NK cells in spleen of CCR5^{-/-} relative to control mice at day 4 pi based on the expression of IFN- γ (Fig. 6.4C).

 $CD8^+$ T cells form the dominant cytotoxic arm of the adaptive immune system. I chapter 3, I have presented a subsidiary role of $CD8^+$ T cells in recovery from JEV infection. It is hypothesized that a defective $CD8^+$ T cell response could, at least in part, account for the increase in susceptibility of $CCR5^{-/-}$ mice to JEV infection. The primary murine $CD8^+$ T cell response against JEV and other flaviviruses peaks at 7 days pi, and thereafter markedly decline (Chapter 3; Kesson *et al.*, 1987; Purtha *et al.*, 2007). Figure 6.4D demonstrates a significantly blunted JEV-immune $CD8^+$ T cell response in $CCR5^{-/-}$ relative to control mice, determined by intracellular cytokine staining following *ex vivo* stimulation of $CD8^+$ lymphocytes with a JEV NS4B protein-derived H-2D^b-binding peptide. Relative to $CCR5^{+/+}$ mice, $CCR5^{-/-}$ mice showed a 61% and 74%

reduction in the number of IFN- γ -secreting CD8⁺ T cells, and a 60% and 64% reduction

in the number of TNF- α -secreting CD8⁺ T cells in spleen on days 4 and 7 pi with JEV,

respectively (Fig. 6.4E). This was also reflected in a significantly smaller number of

multifunctional JEV-immune $CD8^+$ T cells (defined as the number of $CD8^+$ T cells

expressing both IFN- γ and TNF- α following stimulation with cognate peptide), which

was reduced by 3-fold and 4-fold on days 4 and 7 pi, respectively, in the absence of CCR5 expression (Fig. 6.4F).

Collectively, these data indicate that a deficiency in CCR5 results in blunted NK and $CD8^+$ T cell responses after JEV infection.





Figure 6.4 NK and CD8⁺ T cell responses in CCR5^{+/+} and CCR5^{-/-} mice infected with JEV. Eight-week-old $CCR5^{+/+}$ and $CCR5^{-/-}$ mice were infected iv with 10^3 PFU of JEV or left uninfected. (A) Spleens were collected at day 4 pi and tested for NK cell cytotoxicity in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay using uninfected YAC-1 cells as targets. The percentage of NK cell lysis is plotted against an increasing e/t cell ratio. Means for 5 samples ± SEM are presented, and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. (B) NK cell cytotoxicity at indicated time points with an e/t cell ratio of 162

120:1. Means for 5 samples ± the SEM are presented, and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. (C) Numbers of NK1.1⁺ stained splenocytes expressing IFN- γ were identified by flow cytometry at day 0 and 4 pi Means for 5 samples ± the SEM are presented, and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. (D) Splenocytes harvested at day 7 pi and stimulated *ex vivo* with live JEV, H-2D^b-restricted JEV NS4B protein-derived peptides, H-2D^b-restricted ECTV negative-control peptide or mock treated, and IFN- γ production in CD8⁺ T cells was measured by flow cytometry. Means for 3 samples ± the SEM are presented, and data are represented, and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. (E) Kinetics of JEV immune CD8⁺ T cell activation measured after *ex vivo* stimulation with D^b-restricted JEV NS4B peptide, showing percentage of CD8⁺ T cells per spleen that express IFN- γ , TNF- α , or (F) both cytokines following stimulation. (G-I) Representative dot plots of cytokine production in NK and CD8⁺ T cells at indicated time points. Asterisks denote significant differences (*, *P* < 0.05).



6.2.4 Impaired leukocyte proliferation and trafficking in CCR5^{-/-} mice. CCR5 expression drives the migration of leukocytes into the CNS after WNV infection, and thereby contributes to viral clearance and recovery from infection (Glass *et al.*, 2005). To investigate whether this is also evident in this mouse model of Japanese encephalitis, I isolated leukocytes from brains of JEV infected CCR5^{+/+} and CCR5^{-/-} mice by density gradient centrifugation and quantified leukocyte subpopulations by flow-cytometry. On day 7 pi, CCR5^{-/-} mice showed a significant (~50%) reduction in infiltration of leukocytes into the brain relative to control mice, and this effect was found for all CCR5-expressing subpopulations, viz. NK cells, F480⁺/CD45^{hi} macrophages, CD8⁺ T cells and CD4⁺ T cells (Fig. 6.5A-D). This difference ceased to be significant by day 10 pi. These data show that in the case of Japanese encephalitis, the absence of CCR5 resulted in delayed trafficking of leukocytes into the brain, despite the much higher virus titers in the CNS of infected CCR5^{-/-} than CCR5^{-/+} mice.

Given the role of CCR5 expression in augmented leukocyte trafficking into the brain, I then assessed the proportion of cells of the different leukocyte subpopulations that express the chemokine receptor using $CCR5^{+/+}$ mice that were infected with JEV. On day 7 pi, 15% of NK cells, 12% of F4/80⁺/CD45^{hi} infiltrating macrophages, 8% of CD8⁺ T cells and 20% of CD4⁺ T cells were CCR5-positive (Fig. 6.5E). This proportion increased on day 10 pi in the case of CD8⁺ T cells (19%) and F4/80⁺/CD45^{hi} infiltrating macrophages (16%), but decreased for NK and CD4⁺ T cells. Similar numbers of

infiltrating CCR5-positive cells as a proportion of the different leukocyte subpopulations in the brain have been observed in mice with West Nile encephalitis

(Glass et al., 2005)

To assess whether impaired trafficking of leukocytes, per se, or a failure of leukocyte expansion in the periphery accounted for the reduced numbers of immune cells in the brain of infected CCR5^{-/-} relative to control mice, splenic cellularity in CCR5^{-/-} and CCR5^{+/+} mice were quantified at various time points after JEV infection. As expected, given that spleen serves as the main immune-responsive lymphoid organ after an iv challenge, total splenocyte numbers in CCR5^{+/+} mice increased following infection with JEV, with the peak expansion on day 7 pi (8 x 10⁷ cells/spleen; Fig. 6.6A). This contrasted with a significantly lower number of splenocytes in JEV infected mice lacking CCR5 expression, although the kinetics of the response was similar between the two groups of mice (Fig. 6.6A). The deficit in cell numbers was found across the different CCR5-encoding splenocyte subpopulations, showing a reduction of 43% for NK cells, 33% for F4/80⁺ macrophages, 34% for CD4⁺ T cells, and 39% for CD8⁺ T cells in CCR5^{-/-} mice relative to control animals on day 7 pi (Figure 6.6B-E). The percentage reduction of T cell numbers and activation phenotype (Fig. 6.4) in spleen on day 7 pi correlated closely with the differential leukocyte migration into the brains of $CCR5^{-/-}$ and wt mice (Fig. 6.5).

Together these data imply that the impaired trafficking of leukocytes into the CNS after JEV infection in CCR5^{-/-} mice may, at least in part, be a direct result of a deficit in leukocyte numbers in the periphery.





Figure 6.5 Leukocyte trafficking into the CNS. Kinetics of cell infiltration into the brain of 8-week-old $CCR5^{+/+}$ and $CCR5^{-/-}$ mice infected iv with 10³ PFU of JEV. Leukocytes were isolated at indicated time points from the brains of infected mice and stained for identification as (A) $CD8^+$ T cell, (B) $CD4^+$ T cell, (C) NK1.1⁺ cell and (D) F4/80⁺/CD45^{Hi} infiltrating macrophages. Leukocyte subpopulations were gated for

CCR5 expression (E) with representative histograms on day 10 pi (F). Means are derived from 4-9 samples per time point, error bars denote the SEM, and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. Asterisks denote significant differences (*, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01).



Figure 6.6 Leukocyte numbers in spleen after JEV infection. Kinetics of cell expansion in spleens of 8-week-old $CCR5^{+/+}$ and $CCR5^{-/-}$ mice infected iv with 10^3 PFU of JEV. (A) Spleens were collected at indicated time points from infected mice and total splenocyte numbers were determined. Cells were then stained and identified as $CD8^+$ T cell (B), $CD4^+$ T cell (C), NK1.1⁺ cell (D) and F4/80⁺ macrophages (E). Means

are derived from 4-8 samples per time point, error bars denote the SEM, and data are representative of 2 independent experiments. Asterisks denote significant differences (*, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001).

6.2.5 Early transfer of CCR5-deficient splenocytes increases survival of recipient CCR5^{-/-} mice challenged with JEV. The mechanistic studies on the role of CCR5 in recovery from JEV infection showed deficiencies in leukocyte trafficking to the CNS, blunted NK and CD8⁺ T cell responses, and low splenic cellularity, while a previous investigation on WNV concluded that CCR5 increased host survival predominantly by promoting leukocyte migration to the infected brain (Glass et al., 2005). To test whether defective immune cell priming and expansion significantly contributed to the increased susceptibility of CCR5^{-/-} mice to JEV infection, I adoptively transferred splenocytes from JEV infected CCR5^{-/-} and CCR5^{+/+} mice to CCR5^{-/-} recipients lethally challenged with the virus. Complete protection was achieved when total immune splenocytes from either donor strain were transferred at day 1 pi with JEV (Table 6.1). In contrast, no increase in survival was observed when the transfers were performed at 3 days pi, independent of whether the donor mice were CCR5 sufficient or deficient. This suggested that following the establishment of a CNS infection, viral clearance and protection mediated by the adaptive immune responses is ineffective in the case of Japanese encephalitis. This conclusion is not limited to the CCR5-deficient recipient mice, since a similar lack of protective value against JEV of late transfer (day 3 post-challenge) of immune spleen cells was also found in wild-type B6 recipients (unpublished data).

Given the dominant role of B cells (which do not express CCR5) in recovery from

Japanese encephalitis (Chapter 3), I then performed adoptive transfer experiments of B cell-depleted splenocytes from CCR5^{-/-} and CCR5^{+/+} donor mice to CCR5^{-/-} recipients at one day after JEV infection. Interestingly, even B cell-depleted splenocytes from both donor mice provided significant, albeit not complete, protection, increasing the survival rate of recipient mice to that of untreated CCR5^{+/+} mice infected with JEV (Table 6.1).

Together, these data confirm the important role of B cells in protection against Japanese encephalitis, and indicate that CCR5 expression was not required for the disease-ameliorating effect of B cell-depleted lymphocytes primed against JEV. The data also suggest that in the adoptive transfer model, control of JEV infection by immune T cells likely occurred extraneurally, since protection was seen only when the cells were provided early pi. Accordingly, migration of the lymphocytes to peripheral sites of infection did not require expression of CCR5.



Table 6.1 Adoptive transfer of immune splenocytes from CCR5^{+/+} or CCR5^{-/-} donor mice protect CCR5-deficient recipient mice against Japanese encephalitis.

Treatment	Mortality (No. of deaths/total) ^b	MST (days) ± SD °				
PBS control	71% (15/21)	11.4 ± 1.5				
Transfer at one day post-challenge						
Naïve CCR5 ^{+/+} splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	67% (8/12; <i>P</i> =0.92)	11.3 ± 2.3				
Naïve CCR5 ^{-/-} splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	78% (10/14; <i>P</i> =0.93)	11.6 ± 2.2				
Immune CCR5 ^{+/+} splenocytes (1 x 10^7 cells)	0% (0/10; <i>P</i> =0.0006)	-				
Immune CCR5 ^{-/-} splenocytes (1 x 10 ⁷ cells)	0% (0/10; <i>P</i> =0.0006)	-				
Immune CCR5 ^{+/+} splenocytes, B cell-depleted $(5 \times 10^{6} \text{ cells})$	33% (2/9; <i>P</i> =0.019)	12.0 ± 2.8				
Immune CCR5 ^{-/-} splenocytes, B cell-depleted $(5 \times 10^{6} \text{ cells})$	20% (2/10; <i>P</i> =0.012)	11.5 ± 0.7				
Transfer at three days post-challenge						
Immune CCR5 ^{+/+} splenocytes (2 x 10^7 cells)	67% (6/9; <i>P</i> =0.57)	12.2 ± 1.9				
Immune CCR5 ^{-/-} splenocytes (2 x 10^7 cells)	80% (8/10; <i>P</i> =0.65)	11.8 ± 2.8				

^a Eight-week-old donor CCR5^{+/+} or CCR5^{-/-} mice were infected with 10³ PFU of JEV, i.v., or left uninfected and sacrificed 7 days later for splenocyte collection with or without depletion of B cells. Cells were transferred to 8-week-old CCR5^{-/-} recipient mice infected 3 days or 1 day earlier with 10³ PFU of JEV i.v. Surviving mice were monitored for 28 days.

^b Data are representative of 2 independent experiments. Immune splenocyte treatment groups were compared to the naive splenocyte control group to test for statistical significance.

^c No significant difference was noted between immune splenocyte treatment and control groups.



6.3 Discussion

The role of the chemokine receptor CCR5 in infection is variable in terms of its impact on pathogenesis and disease outcome. An important disease-ameliorating contribution of CCR5 has been documented in settings of trypanosomiasis (Hardison et al., 2006), toxoplasmosis (Khan et al., 2006), influenza (Fadel et al., 2008; Dawson et al., 2000) parainfluenza (Kohlmeier et al., 2008), West Nile encephalitis (Glass et al., 2005), tickborne encephalitis (Kindberg et al., 2008), genital herpes (Thapa et al., 2007), and chlamydia infection (Olive et al., 2011), while no significant effect of CCR5 deficiency on the outcome of other microbial infections could be found (Zhong et al., 2004; Peterson et al., 2004; Nansen et al., 2002; Ank et al., 2005; Algood and Flynn, 2004). Mechanistically, the protective value of CCR5 has been largely attributed to its regulatory effect on leukocyte trafficking to the site of infection, although additional functions of CCR5 in the immune response involving antigen recognition (Castellino et al., 2006; Ank et al., 2005; Aliberti et al., 2000), priming and proliferation of lymphocytes (Hickman et al., 2011; Castellino et al., 2006; Ank et al., 2005; Aliberti et al., 2000; Thapa et al., 2007; Floto et al., 2006; Hugues et al., 2007; Nansen et al., 2002), and T cell memory formation (Kohlmeier et al., 2011; Kohlmeier et al., 2008) have also been recognized. In contrast, a disease-potentiating effect of CCR5 has been found in experimental cerebral malaria (Belnoue et al., 2003), schistosomiasis (Souza et al., 2011), leishmaniasis (Sato et al., 1999), cryptococcosis (Huffnagle et al., 1999),

herpes keratitis (Komatsu et al., 2008), mouse hepatitis virus-induced multiple sclerosis

(Glass and Lane, 2003), and HIV/AIDS (Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009), mostly as a

consequence of increased immunopathology, and in the case of HIV/AIDS due to usage

of CCR5 as an alternative receptor for virus infection (reviewed in reference (Alkhatib,

2009)). This dichotomy in the role of CCR5 in the immune response to infection with

different pathogens prevents generalization of the impact of the chemokine receptor in disease prognosis.

In this chapter, I establish a critical role of CCR5 in recovery from Japanese encephalitis, which was reflected in increased viral burden in the CNS, but not extraneural tissues, and increased mortality in the absence of CCR5 expression. It was previously shown that type I interferon and antibody, but not T cells, are key to control of virus replication in peripheral tissues in the mouse model of Japanese encephalitis, while T cells play a role in reducing viral burden and dissemination in the CNS. CCR5deficient mice displayed a wide-ranging debilitation of JEV-specific immune responses; these included poor NK cell activity, a suboptimal JEV-immune CD8⁺ T cell response, low splenic cellularity, and impaired trafficking of leukocytes (NK cells, macrophages, and CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells) to the brain. These factors most likely acted in concert to create a lethal combination of defective viral clearance from peripheral tissues and the CNS, thereby increasing the susceptibility of the host to JEV infection. In addition, recent findings suggest that CCR5, which is expressed in neurons and is up-regulated in the brain in pathological conditions, could have a direct neuro-protective function by increasing neuronal survival (reviewed in reference (Sorce et al., 2011)).

Our results are consistent with the previous finding of increased susceptibility of CCR5deficient mice in a model of West Nile encephalitis (Glass *et al.*, 2005), although

mechanistic differences in the role of CCR5 in recovery from WNV and JEV infection

are apparent. While a significant (\geq 50%) overall reduction in migration of NK cells,

CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, and activated infiltrating macrophages to the brain of JEV and

WNV infected CCR5^{-/-} mice was seen in both investigations, this difference relative to

CCR5^{+/+} control mice narrowed between days 7 and 10 pi in the case of JEV infection,

but became more pronounced for WNV. More importantly, the WNV study found similar splenic immune responses in CCR5 sufficient and deficient mice, whereas I observed markedly reduced numbers of lymphocytes in spleens of mice lacking CCR5 expression. It is likely that the latter was a major factor contributing to the severe phenotype in JEV infected CCR5-deficient mice, since adoptive transfer of B celldepleted immune splenocytes corrected the phenotype, independent of whether the cells were derived from CCR5^{-/-} or CCR5^{+/+} donor mice. Low splenocyte numbers in the absence of CCR5 may reflect restricted leukocyte proliferation secondary to poor early priming, increased cell turnover to other lymphoid organs, and/or increased T cell death. However, since the spleen is the main responsive peripheral lymphoid organ following an iv challenge, defective proliferation most likely accounts for the diminished splenocyte numbers in CCR5^{-/-} mice. Moreover, other studies have also observed restricted proliferation of splenocytes, or specific subsets thereof, in the absence of CCR5, both in physiologic (Weiss et al., 2011) and pathologic conditions (Ank et al., 2005; Thapa et al., 2007). The latter studies deal with virus challenge models with a resultant impairment in control of infection.

Concomitant with the limited number of leukocytes in spleens of CCR5-deficient mice infected with JEV, the functional activities of NK and CD8⁺ T cell responses were blunted, while the antibody response against JEV did not significantly differ from that elicited in infected wild-type mice. This finding was consistent with several other studies that demonstrated a critical role of CCR5 expression on naïve T cells in

activation of CD8⁺ T cell responses by guiding the cells to and enhancing interaction

with antigen-presenting dendritic cells in immunogen-draining lymph nodes (Aliberti et

al., 2000; Floto et al., 2006; Hugues et al., 2007; Hickman et al., 2011; Castellino et al.,

2006). In chapter 3, I have found that co-transfer of immune $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells,

but not individual transfer of either lymphocyte subpopulations, was protective in lethal

infection with JEV. Thus, the suboptimal stimulation of virus-specific T cell responses together with their reduced migration into the CNS most likely accounted for the increased susceptibility of CCR5-deficient mice to Japanese encephalitis.

It is unclear whether the reduced NK cell activity in CCR5-deficient relative to wildtype mice contributed to the increased disease severity with Japanese encephalitis, as has been proposed in studies on herpes simplex virus in CCR5^{-/-} mice (Ank *et al.*, 2005; Thapa *et al.*, 2007). Flaviviruses are in general poor inducers of NK cells, and flavivirus infection reduces the susceptibility of target cells to NK cell lysis (Momburg *et al.*, 2001; Lobigs *et al.*, 1996). The latter is thought to be a consequence of virus-induced up-regulation of MHC-I on the surface of flavivirus-infected cells (Abraham *et al.*, 2010; Kesson and King, 2001; King and Kesson, 1988; Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*a*; Mullbacher and Lobigs, 1995). Therefore, it appears that NK cell responses do not markedly enhance recovery from flavivirus infection. Consistent with this interpretation, in chapter 5, *in vivo* depletion of NK cells using monoclonal antibody anti-NK1.1 did not result in increased mortality or increased viral burden in the CNS in adult mice infected with JEV.

In conclusion, this chapter established CCR5 as a host factor against severe disease in a mouse model of Japanese encephalitis. Control and elimination of viral spread is largely dependent on rapid activation of antiviral leukocytes, and their recruitment to the sites

of peripheral infection and/or into the CNS. In the absence of CCR5, an extensive

immune dysfunction ensued, encompassing probable involvement of defective early

priming and subsequent aberrant leukocyte activation, restricted splenocyte expansion,

and limited trafficking. This finding raises possible safety concerns regarding the use of

CCR5 antagonists in HIV individuals, particularly in regions where both HIV and JEV

are endemic (Erlanger *et al.*, 2009; Simon *et al.*, 2006). While the benefits of taking the drug most likely far outweigh the potential risk of enhanced susceptibility to Japanese encephalitis, mitigating the latter risk factor by instituting precautionary measures including patient education, limiting mosquito exposure, and/or vaccination may be warranted.



Chapter 7

Forward genetics approach in localizing loss-offunction mutation spontaneously generated in an inbred knockout mouse strain



7.1 Introduction

The host 'resistome' is a collection of non-redundant genes that confers resistance from challenge with pathogens (reviewed in (Beutler *et al.*, 2006, Beutler *et al.*, 2007)). While some genes are pathogen-specific, mostly provide resistance against diverse group of pathogens. The resistome defines the survival outcome with which a particular susceptible host may present after an infectious insult. The acquisition of this vital network of resistant genes allowed the selection and survival of certain species, and served as a dominant force in evolution. Identifying the list of genes catalogued under resistome is fundamental in the understanding of host-pathogen interactions.

The recent technological advancements in forward and reverse genetics enabled the discovery and dissection of viral resistance/susceptibility genes (reviewed in (Gruenheid and Gros, 2010)). Much of our understanding on the immune system is derived from studies utilizing the reverse genetics approach; where a gene of interest is knocked-out by various recombinant techniques, and subsequent recording of the observable phenotype upon exposure to a particular pathogen. Techniques used in reverse genetics would include site-directed mutagenesis, gene targeting via homologous recombination, gene silencing via RNA interference, and interference via transgenes (reviewed in (Adams and van der Weyden, 2008)). On the other hand, the classic or forward genetic approach to biological problems is unbiased by hypotheses: it

begins with a phenotype of unknown origin and ends with the identification of mutation(s) that are responsible for the phenotype. The unidentified mutation can occur spontaneously or naturally, or can be randomly introduced via artificial means though radiation mutagenesis, ENU (*N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrosourea) mutagenesis, or *Sleeping Beauty* transposon system (reviewed in (Carlson and Largaespada, 2005)).

For the past 25 years, gene mapping and positional cloning are regarded as useful experimental approaches utilized in forward genetics to successfully uncover spontaneous mutations naturally generated in inbred mouse strains (reviewed in (Gruenheid and Gros, 2010; Vidal *et al.*, 2008)). These forward genetic approaches brought about remarkable discoveries, depicting for the first time various genes with diverse immunologic roles vital for defense against microbial infections; including NK cell activity, macrophage intraphagosomal activity, pathogen sensing, intracellular signal transduction pathway intermediates, and interferon-inducible effector antiviral proteins (Table 7.1). Furthermore, the availability of the assembled sequences of the human and mouse genomes and major advances in genome sequencing technologies have made gene discovery based on the classic genetic strategy a relatively straightforward process (Nelms and Goodnow, 2001).

In this chapter, I will present a finding of a virus resistance/susceptibility gene mutation spontaneously generated in an inbred knockout mouse strain. A classic genetic approach was employed: starting with a phenotype of increased susceptibility to viral infection, subsequently localizing the gene of interest in Chromosome 1, and finally short-listing candidate genes responsible for the loss-of-function mutation. A novel mouse strain, carrying the unknown mutation, was generated, and was designated as the '*Tuara*' mice (Originally derived from a Visayan language "Tua ra!" which is literally translated in

English as: "There it is". The expression is commonly used in the context of

discovering an object after a long, patient, and hardwork search. It is also fitted with the

178

acronym Translated Unit with Antiviral and Regulatory Activity).

Table 7.1 Summary of resistance/susceptibility genes identified through classical or forward genetics approach

	Locus	Chromosome	Mouse strain	Gene (mutation)	Phenotype
1988	Mx	16	Several	Mx1 (loss of expression)	Susceptibility to influenza
1993	Bcg/Ity/Lsh	1	Several	Nramp1 (G169D)	Susceptibility to infection wint typhimurium, L. donovar
1998	Lps	4	C3H/HeJ	Tlr4 (P714H)	LPS non-responsiveness, sus S. typhimurium infection
2001	Cmv1	6	C57BL/6J	Ly49h (presence versus absence)	Resistance to MCMV infectio
2002	Flv	5	Several	Oas1b (premature STOP)	Susceptibility to West Nile vi
2003	Lgn1	13	A/J	Naip5	Increased L. pneumophila re macrophages
2003	Lps2	17	ENU-induced	TRIF/Ticam1 (1 bp deletion)	Defective response to TLR-3
2004	Char4	3	AcB55, AcB61	Pkir (I90N)	Resistance to P. chabaudi in
2005	Cmv3	6	MA/My	Ly49p + H2k	Resistance to MCMV infectio
2005	Sst1	1	C3HeB/FeJ	Ipr1(loss of expression)	Susceptibility to pulmonary
2005	Obl	5	ENU-induced	CD36 (premature STOP)	Reduced response to TLR-2 Susceptibility to S. aureus
2005	heedless	18	ENU-induced	CD14	No activation of TRIF/TRAM of TLR-4. Defective respo ligands
2006	Crtq3	11	C3H/HeJ	Irgb10 (reduced expression)	Susceptibility to C. trachoma
2006	3d	19	ENU-induced	Unc93b (H412R)	Diminished response of TLR- presentation defect
2006	Ltsx1	11	Several	Nalp1b (gain of expression)	Susceptibility to anthrax leth
2007	Myls	8	BXH2	Irf8 (R294C)	Susceptibility to M. bovis, S. infection
2007	Char9	10	A/J	Vnn1/3 (reduced expression)	Susceptibility to P. chabaudi

Table adapted from Grunheid and Gros (2010)

A STATE AND A STAT

- ith BCG, S. ni Isceptibility to
- n
- irus infection
- eplication in
- and -4 ligands
- fection
- n
- ΤВ
- and 6 ligands. Is infection pathway downstream onse to TLR-2 and 6
- atis infection
- -3, -7 and -9 antigen
- hal toxin
- typhimurium and P. chabaudi
- infection

7.2 Results and Discussion

7.2.1 Spontaneous mutation in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice resulting in enhanced susceptibility to flavivirus infection. In chapter 3, the antiviral role of adaptive immune response-effector cell populations in recovery from JEV infection was presented. For instance, MHC-II-deficient mice that lack the four classical MHC-II genes via a large deletion of the entire class II region (MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$) were used as model to elucidate the role of CD4⁺ T cells in JEV pathogenesis. Infection of MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$ mice, relative to B/6 wt control mice, displayed 100% mortality and comparable overall mean survival time (MST) (Fig. 3.6). Most of MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to infection by day 12, while a remaining 21% had a MST of ~20 days, reflecting a failure to clear infection in the absence of CD4⁺ T help required for maintenance of the antiviral antibody response.

MHCII-A $\beta^{-/-}$ is another available MHC-II knockout mice designed via inactivation of the A β locus of the MHC-II complex. Challenge of MHCII-A $\beta^{-/-}$ mice with JEV similarly presented with 'delayed mortality', commencing at 12 days pi and onwards. Although, for reasons not clear, MHCII-A $\beta^{-/-}$ mice also displayed mortality rate that is comparable to B/6 wt (Fig 7.1A). MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ is the third alternative MHC-II-deficient mice designed via selective disruption of A α locus of the MHC-II complex.

Interestingly, sc infection of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice with JEV presented with an unexpected

disease outcome. Relative to wt, MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$ and MHCII-A $\beta^{-/-}$ mice, infection of

MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice resulted in a surprising phenotype of complete and rapid mortality,

with MST of 8.7 ± 3 days (Fig. 7.1A). The 'early mortality' observed in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$

suggests an unknown spontaneous mutation generated independently of the known

MHC-II gene defect. The phenotype was more pronounced when MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were infected with a naturally attenuated Australian strain of WNV, Kunjin virus (WNV_{KUN}) (Fig. 7.1B). All wt and MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$ survived WNV_{KUN} challenge, while 100% MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to infection with MST of 9 ± 2.0.

The investigation on the relative value of the putative viral resistance gene was then extended to a flavivirus outside of JE serocomplex. Given its importance in terms of global disease burden (reviewed in (Simmons *et al.*, 2012)), MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ and B/6 control mice were challenged intravenously (iv) with 1x10⁵ PFU of dengue virus serotype 2 (DENV-2), and mortality recorded over a 60-day observation period (Fig. 7.2A). As expected, all wt controls survived, and did not present with any signs of disease. On the contrary, 29% (2 out of 7) of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to infection, with late time of death on days 49 and 59 pi. Although not statistically significant, the data suggest that MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice are more susceptible with to infection with DENV-2 than wt mice.

Even more surprising is the finding that MHCII-A $\alpha^{-\prime}$ mice were also susceptible to an infection with a live-attenuated vaccine, ChimeriVax-JE. ChimeriVax-JE is a recently FDA-approved vaccine against JEV, that was genetically engineered via a construct composing of genes encoding for premembrane and envelope proteins of JEV (vaccine strain SA14-14-2) and nonstructural proteins of yellow fever 17D (YF-17D) vaccine

(Monath *et al.*, 2003). Subcutaneous challenge of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice with 1x10⁵ PFU of

ChimeriVax-JE resulted in 44% mortality, with a MST of 33.0 ± 5.4 days (Fig. 7.2B). It

was shown in early preclinical studies that ChimeriVax-JE has a superior safety profile

relative to its partially neuroattenuated, YF-17D vaccine. Thus, 4-week-old B/6 wt mice

survived intracranial (ic) inoculation of 1×10^3 PFU of ChimeriVax-JE, as compared to

complete lethality observed when the same dose of YF-17D was given (Guirakhoo et al., 1999, Monath et al., 2000). Similar to this finding, I have demonstrated that all B/6 wt mice survived ic challenge with 1×10^3 PFU of ChimeriVax-JE (Fig. 7.2C). In contrast, 100% of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to the infection, with a MST of 21.4 ± 0.6 days.

Altogether, these data show that MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice display an extraordinarily sensitivity to flaviviral challenge. This susceptibility phenotype cannot be explained *per se* by a defect in MHC-II genes. It was hypothesized that in addition to the targeted disruption of A α gene, a spontaneous mutation had occurred in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mouse strain resulting in the acquisition of an unidentified susceptibility allele for flaviviral infection.





Figure 7.1 Susceptibility of MHCII-A α/β^{-1} , MHCII-A α^{-1} , MHCII-A β^{-1} and B/6 mice to flavivirus infection. Groups of 8-week-old mice were infected sc via the footpad with 10³ PFU of JEV (A) or WNV_{KUN} (B). Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance in mortality between B/6 and various knockout mice (*, *P* < 0.05; ***, *P* < 0.001).







mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 60 days. Groups of 4-week-old mice were inoculated ic with 10^3 PFU of ChimeriVax-JE (C), and morbidity and mortality recorded daily for a 28-day-observation period. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05; ***, P < 0.001).

7.2.2 High viral burden in MHCII-Aa^{-/-} mice. After sc challenge with JEV, viral load in serum and CNS were significantly higher in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice relative to B/6 wt controls (Fig. 7.3). At day 2 pi viral load in serum of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice was >100fold higher than that in control mice (Fig. 7.3A). All infected MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice presented with rapid and uncontrolled virus dissemination into the CNS. At day 6 pi, viral load in brains of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice exceeded that in control mice by ~1,000-fold (Fig. 7.3B). In addition, virus dissemination into the spinal cords of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice appeared earlier with a significantly elevated geometric mean titer (GMT) of 2.2×10^9 (Fig. 7.3C). This is contrasted with undetectable levels of virus in control mice. As presented in chapter 3, virus spread from brain to spinal cord of wt mice takes place between day 8 and day 10 pi in <50% of animals. It should also be noted that, in chapter 3, virus dissemination into the spinal cord of MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$ mice occurred after day 8 pi (Chapter 3). Together, these data strongly suggest that in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, an unknown defect independent of MHC-II deficiency is responsible for the fulminant disease phenotype after JEV infection.





Figure 7.3 Viral burden in B/6 and MHCII-A α^{-1-} mice after exposure to JEV. Eight-week-old mice were challenged with 10³ PFU of JEV injected into the footpad, bled on day 2 pi for serum collection, and sacrificed on day 6 pi for collection of CNS tissues. Viremia was measured in RNA copies/ml by qRT-PCR; viral load in tissues was measured by plaque titration in Vero cells. The lower limit of virus detection was 1x10² PFU/g tissue. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, *P* < 0.05).



7.2.3 Enhanced virus growth in primary macrophages isolated from MHCII-Aa^{-/-} mice. Bone marrow-derived macrophages from mutant and B/6 wt mice were infected with JEV at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1, and virus yield in culture supernatant measured by plaque assay (Fig. 7.4). At 24 hour pi, virus growth in MHCII- $A\alpha^{-/-}$ macrophages was increased ~100-fold relative to that in cells from wt mice. This significant difference is similarly observed when bone marrow-derived macrophages were infected with WNV_{KUN} or YFV (Fig. 7.4). Relative to cells from wt mice, virus growth at 24 hours pi in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ macrophages infected with WNV_{KUN} or YFV was increased by ~50-fold. This cell culture model clearly demonstrates that an innate immune factor, unrelated to CD4⁺ T cell deficiency, is responsible for the enhanced susceptibility to viral infection.





Figure 7.4 Susceptibility of B/6 and MHCII-A α^{-l-} bone marrow-derived macrophages to infection with flaviviruses. Bone marrow cells were isolated from lower extremity bones of B/6 wt and MHCII-A α^{-l-} mice as described in materials and methods, and selectively cultured for 7 days towards macrophage differentiation. Mature macrophages were then infected with JEV, WNV_{KUN}, or YFV at MOI of 1. Virus load in culture supernatants at 24 pi was determined by plaque titration in Vero cells. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).



7.2.4 The unknown susceptibility allele in MHCII-Aa^{-/-} mice is a recessive trait with full penetrance. The genetic mapping approach enables rapid localization of a spontaneous mutation to a particular chromosomal region by co-segregation of the mutation with genetic markers interspersed throughout the genome (reviewed in (Nelms and Goodnow, 2001)). First, MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were crossed with a mapping strain (B/10 mice) to produce F1 (B6xB10) progeny (Fig. 7.5). The phenotypic outcome of the progeny F1 (Filial 1 generation) mice after flaviviral challenge will define the subsequent cross necessary for genome mapping. If all F1's succumbed to infection, the mutation is expressed in a dominant fashion, and F1 progenies should be intercrossed with each other to successfully segregate and localize the gene of interest. If all F1's survived the infection, then the phenotypic expression of the mutation is due to a recessive allele, and F1 progenies should be backcrossed with the original MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice for a successful subsequent linkage mapping. All eight-week-old F1 mice infected sc with 10^3 PFU WNV_{KUN} survived the challenge (Table 7.2). Similarly, all MHCII- $A\alpha\beta^{-/-}$, B/6, and B/10 control mice survived the infection. In contrast, 100% of MHCII- $A\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (n = 7) succumbed to the infection with WNV_{KUN}. This indicates that the unknown susceptibility allele is a fully penetrating recessive trait.

Given that the unknown mutation is a recessive phenotype, F1 (B6xB10) mice were backcrossed to MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice to generate N2 (nuclear or backcross generation) (B6xB6.B10) progeny (Fig. 7.6). Fifty percent of the N2 progenies were expected to

carry the unknown mutation (affected), while 50% were expected to be resistant

(unaffected); also, 50% of N2 progeny were expected to be homozygous for the targeted

disruption of the MHC-II Aa gene, and 50% heterozygous for this mutation. Progeny

N2 mice were then screened phenotypically by sc challenge with WNV_{KUN} . The result

displayed consistency with the expected outcome and confirmed the presence of an

unknown susceptibility gene defect independent of MHC-II (Table 7.3). The susceptibility allele segregated form the MHC-II locus in simple Mendelian pattern of inheritance: 47% of the total were affected mice with 24% carrying the MHCII-A $\alpha^{+/-}$ allele and 24% carrying the MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ allele, while 53% of the total were unaffected with 21% and 32% respectively carrying either MHCII-A $\alpha^{+/-}$ or MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ alleles.

Meiotic recombination in F1 and subsequent N2 mice generation acts as a genetic shuffle that can be used to distinguish regions of the genome that are closely linked to the susceptibility allele from regions that are unlinked. These regions were determined by linkage analysis in a last step of the mapping process by analysing the recombinant chromosomes inherited by N2 mice with a panel of single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) genetic markers that span the genome (Myajishev *et al.*, 2001; Petkov *et al.*, 2004*a*; Petkov *et al.*, 2004*b*). N2 mice were grouped as affected or unaffected for the virus susceptibility phenotype based on the outcome of infection with WNV_{KUN}. DNA from tail samples of each infected N2 mouse was isolated, stored, and subsequently pooled in affected or unaffected groups. Pooled DNA was then analysed with the use of ~90 SNPs genetic markers that can distinguish between B/6 and B/10 mice strains. Thus, SNPs closely linked to the unknown susceptibility allele will only yield the homozygous B/6 allelic fragment in N2 mutant mice, whereas analyses with unlinked markers will yield heterozygous B/6 and B/10 strain alleles. However, this initial attempt was unsuccessful. It was discovered that the original MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice,

initially thought to be of purely B6 background, were in fact a mixture of B/6 and B/10

(data not shown). Accordingly the $B6_{B10}$ nomenclature is used for a second attempt of

190

genome mapping.



Initial mouse-cross design for genome mapping. MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ Figure 7.5

mice were crossed to B/10 mice, and all progenies (F1) produced are heterozygous for

the MHCII-A α defect and the unidentified mutation. Two probable outcomes were identified in the chart when F1 mice are challenged with WNV_{KUN}. If all F1's succumbed to infection, the unknown susceptibility allele is a dominant trait; whereas when all F1's survived the infection, the unknown susceptibility allele is a recessive trait.


Figure 7.6 F1 x MHCII-A α^{-1-} **mouse cross design for genome mapping.** F1 (MHCII-A α^{-1-} xB10) mice were backcrossed to MHC-II-A α^{-1-} mice, which were identified as B/6 contaminated B/10 background, hence the symbol, B6_{B10}. Progenies produced (N2) are expected to be: 25% homozygous for unknown mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% homozygous for unknown mutation and heterozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% heterozygous for unknown mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% heterozygous for unknown mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% heterozygous for unknown mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect.



Mice	Mortality ^b	MST
B/6	0% (0/5)	
B/10	0% (0/5)	-
MHCII-A $\alpha/\beta^{-/-}$	0% (0/4)	-
MHCII-Aa-/-	100% (7/7)***	10 ± 0.00
F1	0% (0/6)	-

Table 7.2 Susceptibility of F1 and various control mouse strains to WNV_{KUN} infection.

^a Eight-week-old mice were challenged sc with 1×10^3 PFU sc WNV_{KUN} virus. Morbidity and mortality were recorded for 30 days.

^{*b*} Statistical significance was computed in comparison with B/6 mice control. Asterisks denote significant difference (***, p < 0.001).

Table 7.3 Susceptibility of N2 mice to WNV_{KUN} infection.

MHCII genotype	Number (percentage)	Number (percentage)	Total
MHCII-Aα ^{+/-}	9 (24%)	8 (21%)	17 (45%)
MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$	9 (24%)	12 (32%)	21 (55%)
Total	18 (47%)	20 (53%)	38 (100%)

Thirty-eight 8-week-old N2 (B6_{B10}xB6_{B10}B10) mice were challenged sc with $1x10^3$ PFU of WNV_{KUN}, and observed for 28 days to record mortality. All mice were genotyped by PCR for the MHCII-A α mutation as described in materials and methods.



Given that the original MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were in fact a mixture of B/6 and B/10 strain (earlier designated as B6_{B10}), a second attempt of genome mapping, using CBA mice as the mapping strain, was then performed. MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were crossed with CBA mice to produce F1 progenies (B6_{B10}CBA) (Fig. 7.7). As expected, all F1, CBA, and B/6 control mice were resistant to challenge with WNV_{KUN}, while 100% of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ succumbed to infection (Table. 7.4). This is consistent with the phenotypic outcome observed in F1 after the initial genome mapping, again confirming that the susceptibility allele is a fully penetrant recessive trait.

Thereafter, F1 (B6_{B10}xCBA) mice were backcrossed to MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ (B6_{B10}) mice to generate N2 (B6_{B10}CBAxB6_{B10}) progeny (Fig. 7.7). Phenotypic screening of the progeny N2 mice by WNV_{KUN} challenge revealed the expected outcome, where the susceptibility allele segregated from the MHC-II locus: 54% of the total are affected mice with 29% and 21% respectively carrying either MHCII-A $\alpha^{+/-}$ or MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ alleles, whereas 46% of the total are unaffected mice with 25% each carrying either MHCII-A $\alpha^{+/-}$ or MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ alleles (Table 7.5). DNA from each infected N2 mouse was stored, and subsequently pooled in affected or unaffected groups. Pooled DNA was then analysed with the use of ~110 SNPs genetic markers that can distinguish B/6 or B/10 against CBA (Fig. 7.8). This second screen of pooled DNA from affected and unaffected mice localized the unknown virus susceptibility allele to a ~60 MB region on chromosome 1 (Fig. 7.9).

To confirm and further fine-map the location of the susceptibility allele, additionally designed SNP markers that distinguish B/6 or B/10 against CBA were used that span across the identified ~60 Mb region on chromosome 1 (Fig. 7.10). DNAs from affected and unaffected mice were screened individually, and based on the outcome of this 194

screen the unknown susceptibility allele was mapped and narrowed down to a 6.86 Mb region on chromosome 1 (Fig. 7.11-12). The identified region spans 93 genes on chromosome 1 (Mouse Genome Informatics browser [http://www.informatics.jax.org/]). However the region does not contain a strong candidate that can explain host resistance/susceptibility to viral infection.

A siRNA screen for human genes associated with WNV infection identified 22 host resistance factors, 21 of which were novel (Krishnan et al., 2008). Of these, 2 mouse orthologs map to chromosome 1, but to sites that are 66 and 149 MB distal to the \sim 7 MB region, to which the unknown susceptibility allele was mapped (Table 7.6).

The 6.86 Mb region of interest contains two genes associated with immune function: interleukin 1 receptor type 1 (IL-1R1) and interleukin-18 receptor 1 (IL-18R1) (Fig. 7.12). Most cells constitutively express IL-1R1, which plays an important role in inflammatory processeses (reviewed in (Dinarello *et al.*, 2009)). Mice devoid of IL-1R1 exhibit attenuation of inflammatory responses, which predisposes to either increased or reduced susceptibility to microbial infections. The impact of IL-1R1 deficiency in viral infection models, however, is not pronounced nor did it display with a fulminant disease phenotype. This was exemplified by infections with VACV or influenza virus in IL- $1R1^{-/-}$ mice (Belisler *et al.*, 2010; Schmitz *et al.*, 2005; Szretter *et al.*, 2007; Zhao *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, downstream signalling of IL-1 through the IL-1R1 requires the

adaptor protein, MyD-88, recruited to the cytoplasmic domain for its activity. MyD88-/-

mice infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV did not display a significant difference in

mortality or time to death as compared to wt (Fig. 7.13). Lastly, the clinical use of IL-1

response antagonists in >100,000 patients with inflammatory diseases, for instance

rheumatoid arthritis, did not present with major adverse events such as increased susceptibility to viral infections (Dinarello *et al.*, 2009).

The receptor for IL-18 (IL-18R) is a pleiotropic cytokine belonging to the Toll/IL-1R superfamily, and is implicated in augmentation of cell-mediated immunity through interferon- γ (IFN- γ) production, enhancement of proinflammatory responses, and defense against bacterial, fungal and parasitic pathogens (Biet *et al.*, 2002). In spite of this, there is a less pronounced requirement for IL-18 signalling in recovery from viral infections. First, a defect in the IL-18R1 gene does not reflect fulminant disease phenotype observed when MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were challenged with a flavivirus or a poxvirus (presented later). Second, IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice did present with 'early death' phenotype when challenged with JEV (Chapter 5), and are not susceptible to WNV_{KUN} infection (Wang Y. *et al.*, 2006). Third, Poxviruses, which are able to cause fulminant disease in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (as described later), encode a soluble IL-18 binding protein that blocks biological activity of IL-18 in infected mice (Reading and Smith, 2003).

It should be highlighted that the gene of interest is not in absolute certainty located in the identified \sim 7 Mb genomic region. Based on SNP genotyping by amplifuour technology (Fig. 7.11), some unaffected mice presented to carry the mutation (unaffected mouse number 6), while some affected mice appeared to be wild type

(affected mouse number 6). It can be argued that some unaffected mice might have

succumbed to WNV_{KUN} challenge, and some affected mice might have survived the

infection. This is supported by the fact that based on previous experience in the lab.

Occasionally, one or few B/6 wt mice succumbed to WNV_{KUN} infection (unpublished

data), and my observation that a small number of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ or *tuara* mice succumb

to flaviviral challenge late in the course of infection (> 20 days pi). Thus, an affected mouse could succumb to WNV_{KUN} infection beyond the 28-day-observation period, and is therefore be recorded as unaffected.



1 4



Figure 7.7 Second mouse cross design for genome mapping. MHCII-A $\alpha^{-1/2}$ mice on B6_{B10} background were crossed to CBA mice, and all progenies (F1) produced are heterozygous for MHC-II-A $\alpha^{-1/2}$ and the unidentified mutation. All F1's survived the infection. F1 (B6_{B10}xB10) mice were back-crossed to MHC-II-A $\alpha^{-1/2}$ (B6_{B10}xB6_{B10}.CBA) progenies produced were: 25% homozygous for unknown mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% heterozygous for unknown mutation and heterozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% heterozygous for unknown

mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% heterozygous for unknown

mutation and heterozygous for MHCII-A α defect.

Table 7.4	Susceptibility	of	F1	and	various	control	mouse	strains	l
WNV _{KUN} infe	ection.								

Mice ^a	Mortality ^b	ATD
B/6	0% (0/5)	_
CBA	0% (0/5)	_
MHCII-Aa-/-	100% (5/5)***	10.2 ± 0.45
F1	0% (0/6)	-

^{*a*} Eight-week-old mice were challenged sc with 1×10^3 PFU of WNV_{KUN}. Morbidity and mortality were recorded for 30 days.

^b Statistical significance is computed in comparison with B/6 mice control. Asterisks denote significant difference (***, p < 0.001).

Table 7.5 Susceptibility of N2 (MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ x F1) to WNV_{KUN} infection.

MHCII genotype	Number (percentage) of affected	Number (percentage)of unaffected mice	Total
MHCIL-Aa-/-	7 (29%)	5 (25%)	12 (50%)
MHCII-A $\alpha^{+/-}$	6 (21%)	6 (25%)	12 (50%)
Total	13 (54%)	11 (46%)	24 (100%)

Twenty-four 8-week-old N2 mice were challenged sc with 1×10^3 PFU of WNV_{KUN} via fp, and observed for 28 days to record mortality. All mice were genotyped by PCR for MHC-II-A α mutation as described in materials and methods.





Figure 7.8 Amplifluor SNPs genotyping of pooled DNA samples. Pooled DNA from affected (red square) and unaffected (yellow square) N2 generation mice groups were analysed with the use of ~110 SNPs genetic markers that can distinguish CBA (green fluorescence) against B6 or B10 (red fluorescence) as described in materials and methods. DNA from tail samples of B/6 (red circle), CBA (green circle), and B/6xCBA (yellow circle) mice, and sample buffer without DNA (x) were used as controls. The selected example graphs represent 4 SNPs genomic markers located between 11.88 Mb and 191.15 Mb of chromosome 1, with best approximation and

200

localization of the unknown mutation at Chr1:39.91 Mb.



Localization of unknown mouse resistance gene. Diagrammatic representation of unidentified mouse resistance gene Figure 7.9 localized within chromosome 1 at NCBI genome build 37 positions 29.81 to 79.30 Mb. Mouse chromosome idiograms was derived from Larry.Pathology.Washington.Edu 70, a server maintained by Dr David Adler.



Figure 7.10 Amplifluor SNPs genotyping of individual DNA samples. Individual DNA from representative 7 affected (red squares) and 7 unaffected (yellow squares) N2 generation mice groups were analysed by amplifluor SNPs genotyping, with the use of SNPs genetic markers that can distinguish CBA (green fluorescence) against B6 or B10 (red fluorescence) as described in materials and methods. DNA from tail samples of B/6 (red circle), CBA (green circle), and B/6xCBA (yellow circle) mice, and sample buffer without DNA (x) were used as controls. The example graphs represent SNP genomic location 11.88 Mb and 36.92 Mb of chromosome 1, with best approximation and localization of unknown mutation at Chr1:36.92 Mb.

ID	rs3664960	rs3689181	rs13475788	gnf01.033.663	rs3680400	rs13459182	rs3716368	rs3683684	rs3677697	rs3684654	rs3678662	rs3720900	rs3658333
GP	11,883,199	22,682,233	29,807,982	36,936,327	39,913,715	43799240	49,547,396	68,960,284	79,303,391	107,414,374	134,378,492	157,556,435	174,778,0 63
Aff 01	Het	Het	Het	36	36	86	86	36	36	B6	B6		
Aff 02	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	B6	B6	B 6	86	B6	86	B6
Aff 03	Het	Het	B6	BG	B6	B6	BIG	B6	B6	Het	Het	Het	Het
Aff 04	BG	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	66	B6	36	36	B6	BG	Het
Aff 05	BG	B6	B6	BG	B6	B6	B6	B6	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Aff 06	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Aff 07	B6	B6	B6	B6	BI6	-B6	B6	B6	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Aff 08	616	56	B6	B6	B6	B6	56	B6	86	B6	86	Het	Het
Aff 09	B6	86	B6	B6	B6	- 36	B6	B6	86	B6	136	B6	BG
Aff 10	Het	Het	B6	86	B6	B6	B6	86	B6	B6	B6	BG	B6
Aff 11	Het	Het	Het	B6	B6	-B6	86	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	<u>B6</u>
Aff 12	86	B6	36	BG	- 36	B6	B6	<u>B6</u>	B6	B6	B6	BI6	BG
Un 01	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Un 02	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	B6	B6	B6	86
Un 03	B6	66	BG	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Un 04	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	. B6	B6	B6.	B6	Be
Un 05	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	B6	<u>B6</u>
Un 06	B6	B6	B6	56	BG	B6	.B6	B6	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Un 07	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het
Un 08	BG	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	B6 1
Un 09	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	BG	B6	B6	66	B6	Het	Het	Het
Un 10	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	66
Un 11	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	BG	B6	BG	B 6	B6	B6	Het	Het
Un 12	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het	Het

Figure 7.11 Mapping of the unknown virus susceptibility allele to an ~7 Mb region on chromosome 1. Informative haplotypes corresponding to 12 affected (Aff) and 12 unaffected (Un) N2 mice are presented. SNP markers that discriminate between B6 against B10 and CBA, chromosomal location and virus susceptibility phenotypes are shown. "Het" (in light shade background) refers to heterozygous $B6_{B10}$ and CBA genotypes in an indicated region, while "B6" (in darker shade background) corresponds to homozygous $B6_{B10}$ genotype, but excludes the CBA genotype. The unknown virus susceptibility allele was mapped to a ~50 Mb region of chromosome one (NCBI Build 37.1 position 29,807,982 and 79,303,391 as enclosed by outer bold borders), and narrowed to a ~6.86 Mb region of chromosome 1 (NCBI Build 37.1 position 39,913,715 and 43,799,240 as enclosed by inner bold borders). Mice that succumbed to WNV_{KUN} infection (10³ PFU injected into the footpad) were classified as affected, while mice that were resistant to infection were classified as unaffected.



Figure 7.12 List of genes localized within NCBI mouse genome build 37.1 position 39,913,715 and 43,799,240 of chromosome

1. Summary of genes identified within the ~7 Mb localized region of interest in chromosome 1 using the Esembl genome browser. Genes with known immunologic functions were highlighted with yellow-bordered boxes.



Table 7.6List of mouse orthologs of 22 human genes identified by RNAinterference as important for resistance against WNV infection.

Gene	Gene name	NCBI reference	Mouse ortholog
ACRC	acidic repeat containing	NM_052957	no ortholog
AMELY	amelogenin, Y-linked	NM_001143	no ortholog
ANP32B	acidic (leucine-rich) nuclear phosphoprotein 32 family, member B	NM_006401	Chr4:46463774- 46485529
ATCAY	ataxia, cerebellar, Cayman type (caytaxin)	NM_033064	Chr10:80667253- 80693578
DEFA3	defensin, alpha 3, neutrophil- specific	NM_005217	Chr8:22427088- 22428056
DHRS10	hydroxysteroid (17-beta) dehydrogenase 14;HSD17B14	NM_016246	Chr7:52810263- 52822688
DOCK4	dedicator of cytokinesis 4	NM_014705	41573073
FAM106A	family with sequence similarity 106, member A;FAM106A	NM_024974	no ortholog
FKBP1B	FK506 binding protein 1B, 12.6 kDa	NM_004116	Chr12:4839981- 4848401
IRF3	interferon regulatory factor 3	NM_001571	Chr7:52253018- 52258218
KBTBD8	kelch repeat and BTB (POZ) domain containing 8	NM_032505	Chr6:95067234- 95079712
KIAA0753	KIAA0753	XM_375397	Chr11:/196/431- 72020961
LPGAT1	lysophosphatidylglycerol acyltransferase 1	XM_375837	Chr1:193541713- 193608134
MSMB	microseminoprotein, beta	NM_002443	Chr14:32955212- 32971556
NFS1	NFS1 nitrogen fixation 1 homolog (S. cerevisiae)	NM_021100	Chr2:155904665- 155969922
NPIP	nuclear pore complex interacting protein	NM_006985	no ortholog
NPM3	nucleophosmin/nucleoplasmin, 3	NM_006993	Chr19:45822224- 45824081
SCGB2A1	secretoglobin, family 2A, member 1	NM_002407	no ortholog
SERPINB7	serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade B (ovalbumin), member 7	NM_003784	Chr1:109296232- 109349266
SLC16A4	solute carrier family 16, member 4 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 5)	NM_004696	Chr3:107094148- 107115033
SPTBN4	spectrin, beta, non-erythrocytic 4	NM_020971	28232705
TMEM146	transmembrane protein 146	NM_152784	Chr17:56767566- 56803879

Original data derived from Krishnan et al. (2008).





Figure 7.13 Susceptibility of B/6 wt and MyD88^{-/-} **mice to flavivirus infection.** Groups of 12-week-old mice were infected sc via the footpad with 10³ PFU of JEV. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments.



7.2.5 The *tuara* mouse: breeding the recessive susceptibility allele to homozygocity on a background of wt MHC-II. Interpretation of the contribution of the spontaneous mutation identified in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice to the phenotype of increased susceptibility to viral infection is complicated by the presence of the MHC-II defect. A new mouse strain that is homozygous for the virus susceptibility trait and wt at the MHC-II locus was then generated. Two methodologies were used to allow the segregation of the spontaneous mutation from the Aa gene knockout. N2 mice were screened for the MHC-II genotype by conventional PCR, and for the viral susceptibility allele by a genome screen using flanking SNPs markers at the area of interest in chromosome one. Mice that were homozygous for the virus susceptibility allele (expected "affected" phenotype) and heterozygous at the Aa gene locus were intercrossed to produce N3 progeny (Fig. 7.14). All progeny N3 mice were expected to be carrying the viral susceptibility allele, whereas only 25% were wt for the Aa gene. N3 mice that were identified by conventional PCR as wt for the Aa gene were intercrossed to produce N4 progeny mice. As expected, all N4 mice were homozygous for the virus susceptibility trait and wt at the MHC-II locus. These mice were established as a new strain, designated as the tuara mice strain. Tuara mice are on B6_{B10}xCBA genetic background (~75% B6_{B10} and ~25% CBA), and future work may require that the mice be backcrossed onto the B/6 background. However, given the strong susceptibility phenotype of *tuara* mice to virus infections in comparison to B/6 and CBA wt control mice, backcrossing to B/6 was not considered necessary for

functional studies of the unknown susceptibility allele in host resistance to infection.

The exquisite susceptibility of *tuara* mice was confirmed when challenged with either

WNV_{KUN} or JEV (Fig. 7.15A,B). All *tuara* mice succumbed to either WNV_{KUN} or JEV

infection with a fulminant phenotype similar to that of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice.



N3 mice (N2xN2)

100% of mice carry the unknown mutation 50% of mice are homozygous for MHCII-A α mutation and heterozyous for unknown mutation 25% of mice are homozygous for MHCII-Aα mutation and homozygous for unknown mutation 25% of mice are homozygous for MHCII-A α wild-type and homozygous for unknown mutation



Figure 7.14 Generation of the *tuara* mouse strain. A) N2 (B6_{B10}xB6_{B10}CBA) mice identified as MHCII^{+/-} by genotyping and carrying the unknown mutation based on SNP marker detection were crossed. All N3 progenies carry the unknown mutation: 50% homozygous for unknown mutation and heterozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% homozygous for unknown mutation and homozygous for MHCII-A α defect, 25% homozygous for unknown mutation and wt for MHCII-Aa. B) N3 mice that were

homozygous for the unknown mutation and wild-wild type for MHCII-A α were intercrossed to produce N4 progenies that are 100% homozygous for the unknown mutation and wild-type for MHCII-A α , which are designated as the *tuara* mouse strain.



Figure 7.15 Susceptibility of *tuara* mice to challenge with JEV and WNV_{KUN}. Groups of 8-week-old mice were infected sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV (A) or WNV_{KUN} (B). Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance (***, *P* < 0.001).



7.2.6 High viral burden and widespread viral tropism in tuara mice. Tuara and B/6 wt mice were infected sc with 1×10^3 PFU of JEV, and serum and various tissues were collected at 2-day-intervals to determine viral load by plaque titration in Vero cells. Viral load in serum and spleens of B/6 wt mice were undetectable, whereas tuara mice displayed persistent and significantly elevated viremia (Fig. 7.15A), and persistently detectable virus in spleens with GMT of $> 10^5$ PFU/g of tissue all throughout the recorded time points (Fig. 7.16B). Also, all infected tuara mice presented with rapid and uncontrolled virus dissemination into the CNS. Virus was initially detectable in brains of *tuara* mice on day 4 pi, and peaked at day 7 pi with the GMT ~5 log higher than that in wt mice (Fig. 7.16C). In contrast to undetectable virus in spinal cords of wt mice, virus dissemination into the spinal cords of tuara mice appeared already on day 4 pi, and was significantly elevated on day 7 (Fig. 7.16D). Moreover, tuara mice displayed widespread viral tropism. Various peripheral tissues including liver, kidney, muscle, and lungs on day 7 pi had detectable virus with GMT levels exceeding > $5x10^3$ PFU/g of tissue (Fig. 7.16E). This is in contrast to undetectable levels in the case of wt control group. Altogether, these data indicate that even in the absence of the MHC-II defect, tuara mice presented with a severe disease phenotype characterized by persistent viremia, widespread viral tropism, and widespread dissemination of the virus into the CNS.





Figure 7.16 High viral burden and widespread viral tropism in *tuara* mice. Eight-week-old mice were challenged with 10^3 PFU of JEV injected into the footpad, and sacrificed at indicated time points for serum and tissue collection. Viral load in (A)

serum (B) spleen (C) brain and (D) spinal cord and (E) other tissues (D7 pi only) was measured by plaque titration in Vero cells. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).

7.2.7 Intact adaptive immune responses in tuara mice. Given the rapid, fulminating infection observed in tuara mice after exposure to JEV, the putative mutation most likely results from disablement of a critical innate virus resistance gene, and does not involve the adaptive immune responses. This is supported by the finding that, ex vivo, JEV infection of bone marrow-derived macrophages from tuara mice resulted in significantly elevated viral load in culture supernatants as compared to wt mice (~2 logs difference) (Fig. 7.17). Moreover, antibody and CD8⁺ T cell immune responses in tuara mice remains intact, and were comparable to those in wt mice. The serum anti-JEV IgM response displayed similar kinetics between both mice groups, was first detectable on D4 pi, and increased to similar levels on D7 pi (Fig. 7.18A). As expected, anti-JEV IgG1 and IgG2b were comparable but only marginally detectable on day 7 pi in both mice groups (Fig. 7.18C). The functional activity of humoral response, as measured by 50% plaque reduction neutralization assay, also displayed similar titers between tuara and B/6 control mice on D7 pi (Fig. 7.18C). IFN-y expression of JEV NS4B peptides-specific CD8+ T cells was also comparable between tuara and B/6 control mice on D7 pi (Fig. 7.18D).





Figure 7.17 Susceptibility of B/6 and *tuara* bone marrow-derived macrophages to infection with JEV. Bone marrow cells were isolated from lower extremity bones of B/6 wt and *tuara* mice as described in materials and methods, and selectively cultured for 7 days towards macrophage differentiation. Mature bone marrow-derived macrophages were then infected with JEV at MOI of 1. Virus load in culture supernatants at 24 pi was later determined by plaque titration in Vero cells. Asterisks denote statistical significance (**, P < 0.01).





Figure 7.18 Antibody and CD8⁺ T cell responses in JEV-infected B/6 and *tuara* mice. Eight-week-old *tuara* and wt mice were infected sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV, and serum samples and splenocytes were collected at the indicated time points. Anti-JEV IgM (A) and IgG (B) isotype antibody titers were determined by ELISA. The data presented are reciprocal mean endpoint titers representative of 4 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars. (C) Neutralizing antibody titers determined by plaque reduction neutralization assay. The data presented are mean PRNT₅₀ titers representative of 4 mice per time point with the SEM indicated at day 0 and 7 pi and stimulated *ex vivo* with H-2D^b-restricted JEV NS4B protein-derived peptides, and IFN- γ production in CD8⁺ T cells was measured by flow cytometry. Data represent means of 4 mice samples per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars.

7.2.8 Susceptibility of *tuara* mice to DNA viruses. To investigate if the unknown mutation conferring increased susceptibility to flaviviral infection has a broader role in the defense against diverse groups of viruses, *tuara* and control mice (B/6 and CBA) were challenged with a DNA virus. As expected B/6 and CBA mice challenged iv with 1×10^5 PFU of vaccinia virus-Western Reserve strain (VACV_{WR}) did not show mortality nor did they present with any signs of disease. In sharp contrast, VACV_{WR} infection of *tuara* mice resulted in a fulminant disease phenotype, with 100% mortality and MST of 4.4 ± 0.5 days (Fig. 7.19).

It should be noted that an earlier study by Chaudhri *et al* (2006) have showed that Ectromelia virus (ECTV) challenge in MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice used in this work, displayed 100% mortality. However, >90% of mice succumbed to infection only after 15 days pi. A similar challenge with ECTV in the same mouse strain during my time, in contrast, revealed a fulminant disease phenotype of complete and rapid lethality, with all mice dying by day 5 pi (data not shown). This suggests that the spontaneous mutation in the MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice occurred during the past ~8 years.

These findings strongly suggest that the susceptibility allele is pivotal in the genetic resistance to a wide range of viral infections, with a possibility of an even broader role in host resistance against bacterial and other microbial pathogens.





Figure 7.19 Susceptibility of *tuara* mice to a DNA virus. Groups of 8-weekold mice were infected ip with 10^6 PFU of VACV_{WR}. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance (***, *P* < 0.001).



7.2.9 The unknown susceptibility allele display partial inactivation of the interferon (IFN) antiviral pathway. One viral infection model that could perhaps explain the fulminant disease phenotype observed in *tuara* mice is a defect in the type 1 IFN pathway. IFN- α -R^{-/-} mice infected with WNV_{NY99} (Samuel and Diamond, 2005), WNV_{KUN} (Daffis *et al.*, 2011), JEV (Lobigs *et al.*, 2009), or VACV (van den Broek *et al.*, 1995) display rapid and complete lethality. However, it should be noted that, compared to *tuara* mice, the MST is shorter when IFN- α -R^{-/-} mice) (Daffis *et al.*, 2011; Lobigs *et al.*, 2009). A possible contamination with an in-house IFNR- α -R^{-/-} mouse strain to MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice was also ruled out, since genotyping of MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ revealed that they were wt for the type 1 interferon receptor (data not shown). While no known components of the IFN pathway map to the ~7 MB chromosomal region putatively encompassing the susceptibility allele, it remained important to verify an intact type I IFN response in the *tuara* mouse.

ELISA determination of interferon production in JEV-infected bone marrow-derived macrophages from *tuara* and B/6 control mice was performed (Fig. 7.20). Macrophages from *tuara* mice secreted high levels of IFN- α following infection with JEV for 24 hours (>400 pg/ml), which exceeded IFN- α levels in infected B/6 control cultures (Fig. 7.20A). In addition, serum IFN- α levels during 48 hours of JEV infection were comparable in *tuara* and B/6 control mice (Fig. 7.20B). To determine the integrity of downstream IFN signalling and antiviral activity, bone marrow-derived macrophages from *tuara* and B/6 control mice were treated for 16 hrs with titrated concentrations of IFN- α , and later infected with JEV at MOI of 1. Virus growth inhibition was subsequently determined by plaque titration in Vero cells. Pre-treatment of bone marrow-derived macrophages from *tuara* and B/6 control mice with 250 or 100 IU IFN-218 α completely abolished growth of JEV, while untreated cells showed > 2 logs difference in virus yield at 24 h pi in *tuara* mouse-derived cells in comparison to that in a control culture at 24 h pi (Fig. 7.21). However, pre-treatment of bone marrow-derived macrophages from *tuara* mice with 1 IU of IFN- α only resulted in marginal inhibition of virus growth as opposed to almost complete inhibition observed in B/6 mousederived cells. The difference is even more pronounced (> 2 logs difference) when bone marrow-derived macrophages were treated with much lower concentration of IFN- α at 0.1 IU.

Altogether, these data suggest that the susceptibility allele impacts on type I IFN signalling and antiviral responses. The spontaneous mutation may involve a complete disruption of an IFN-inducible antiviral effector gene or a partial dysfunction of a key intermediate gene involved in signal transduction for IFN responses.





Figure 7.20 IFN- α production in JEV-infected *tuara* and B/6 mice. Bone marrow cells were isolated from lower extremity bones of B/6 wt (black bar) and *tuara* (white bar) mice as described in materials and methods, and selectively cultured for 7 days towards macrophage differentiation (A). Mature macrophages were infected with JEV at MOI of 1. IFN- α levels in culture supernatants at indicated time points were determined. (B) IFN- α production in serum in JEV-infected B/6 wt and *tuara* mice at indicated time points. Each bar graph represents 3 biological samples





Figure 7.21 Inhibition of JEV replication after IFN- α stimulation of bone marrow-derived macrophages from B/6 wt and *tuara* mice. Bone marrow cells were isolated from lower extremity bones of B/6 wt (black bar) and *tuara* (white bar) mice as described in materials and methods, and selectively cultured for 7 days towards macrophage differentiation. Mature macrophages were treated with 250, 100, 10, 1, 0.1 IU of IFN- α or mock-treated with tissue culture media for 16 hrs. Macrophages were then infected for 24 hrs with JEV at MOI of 1. Viral load in culture supernatants were measured by plaque titration in Vero cells. Each bar graph represents 3-6 samples from two independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01).



7.2.10 Customized sequence capture and re-sequencing identified candidate mutations responsible for the fulminant disease phenotype. At this point, the candidate gene was successfully segregated from the defective MHC-II gene in a new mouse strain, *tuara*. In summary, *tuara* mice are homozygous for the virus susceptibility trait and wt at the MHC-II locus, and when challenged with JEV, displayed a fulminant disease phenotype characterized by i.) complete and rapid mortality, ii.) early neuroinvasion, iii.) widespread virus dissemination into the CNS iv.) widespread viral tropism. In addition, the fulminant disease phenotype observed in *tuara* mice is most likely attributed to a mutation of a critical innate immune response gene, given that *tuara* mice presented with i.) intact antibody and ii.) CD8+ T cell immune responses, and that bone marrow derived-macrophages from *tuara* mice displayed increased susceptibility to JEV infection. Another significant finding was that the unidentified gene was not limited to conferring resistance against flaviviral infection, but also provided defence against infection with a DNA virus.

It should also be highlighted that the original MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice and/or bone marrowderived macrophages from MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice displayed susceptibility to a low virlunce flaviviruses, including WNV_{KUN}, DENV-2, and YFV. A more surprising discovery was the finding that ic challenge in parent MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice strain with a highly attenuated live vaccine, ChimeriVax-JE, resulted in complete lethality. This is remarkable, especially when mice deficient in the type 1 interferon receptor (Lobigs *et al.*, 2009) or

B cells (Chapter 8) tolerated vaccination with ChimeriVax-JE. Accordingly, I hypothesized that a combination of crucial innate immune response factor plus deficiency in antibody production (as a result of the CD4⁺ T cell deficiency in MHCII- $A\alpha^{-/-}$ mice) has contributed to the lethal phenotype of MHCII- $A\alpha^{-/-}$ mice in ChimeriVax-JE infections. This was later supported, given that 100% of B cell 222

sufficient and antibody -competent *tuara* mice, survived ic challenge with ChimeriVax-JE (data not shown).

To elucidate the remarkable findings described in this chapter, a forward genetics approach was employed: starting with an observable phenotype of increased susceptibility to viral infection to localization of the susceptibility allele responsible for the phenotype. In this hypothesis-free driven exercise, preliminary data was obtained with the gene of interest identified and narrowed within a ~7 Mb region of chromosome 1 at reference positions 36.94 to 43.80 Mb (NCBI mouse genome Build 37.1). However, no identifiable gene involved in IFN pathway signalling is located within the region. To identify the unknown mutation, two options were available: i.) Targeted exome re-sequencing or ii.) customized sequence capture and re-sequencing. The former is a robust target-enrichment strategy designed to selectively sequence only the exonic regions of the genome, and is based on the assumption that the mutation is confined to the coding regions (Bamshad et al., 2011). A significant limitation includes the exclusion of sequencing non-coding regions that may be responsible for the fulminant disease phenotype observed in tuara mice. Although uncommon, genome wide association studies have correlated diseases to particular SNVs in the non-coding regions of the genome, including introns and intergenic regions (reviewed in (Manolio, 2010)). On the other hand, customized sequence capture using the Nimblegen hardarray and re-sequencing using Illumina HiSeq system, selectively sequences a defined

region of interest (from 5 to 50 Mb) initially narrowed by chromosomal linkage analysis

(Sulonen et al., 2011). An advantage of customized sequence capture is that it

sequences all genomic regions including exons, introns, UTRs, and intergenic regions.

Additionally, the high depth coverage (more than 50 times) provided by the subsequent

second generation sequencing (Illumina HiSeq) gives the greater likelihood of detecting

large insertions or deletions. Hence, a decision to proceed with customized sequence capture and re-sequencing was made.

However, as earlier discussed, it should be highlighted that the gene of interest is not at full certainty located in the initially identified 7 Mb genomic region. Given that there were variants outside of the expected outcome in the individual SNP genotyping of the N2 mice during genome mapping, a customized sequence capture array was designed to include a wide genomic area (from 29 Mb to 79 Mb of chromosome 1) to provide a greater degree of confidence in detecting the mutation.

Pure quality genomic DNA samples (> 500μ g/sample, concentration of > 1μ g/ μ l) from tails of three *tuara* mice were prepared by the Animal Phenomics Facility (APF). Customized sequence capture bait/primer design was provided by the Nimblegen bioinformatics team. Sequence capture by Nimblegen hard array hybridization and resequencing by Illumina HiSeq systems were performed by the next generation sequencing team of the Australian Genomics Resource Facility (AGRF) in Melbourne, Australia. Bioinformatics teams from AGRF and APF independently provided analysis of the raw sequence data generated from Illumina HiSeq re-sequencing. The analysis revealed that, due to reasons not yet clear, only 2 out of 3 samples were successful during the sequence capture step. The analysed sequence data, provided by the 2 samples that were successfully captured and sequenced, revealed 3 candidate protein-

coding gene mutations that can be responsible for the observed fulminant disease phenotype: Prss40 (Protease, Serine, 40), Cyp20a1 (cytochrome P450, family 20, subfamily a, polypeptide 1), and STAT1 (Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription) (Table 7.7-8).

The Prss40 gene is localized at position 34,600,820-34,617,788 bp of chromosome 1. The protein product is known to have proteolytic action for an undefined cellular function (Mouse Genome Informatics). It is largely expressed in testicular tissue, and limitedly expressed in all other tissues (Fig. 7.22). The mutation identified is a G>A transition at genomic coordinate 34,616,619 of chromosome 1, and results in arginine to tryptophan substitution at amino acid position 79 of the Prss40 protein. The second candidate gene, Cyp20a1, is localized at position 60,400,167-60,444,904 bp of chromosome 1. As a cytochrome P450 enzyme, it is involved in oxidation-reduction biological processes for yet undefined cellular function (Mouse Genome Informatics). Notably, it is highly expressed in cells of monocytic lineage (Fig 7.23). The mutation is a 6-nucleotide deletion at a splice site region of the gene at genomic coordinates 60,409,744 to 60,409,749 of chromosome 1. Lastly, the STAT1 gene, is localized at position 52,176,282-52,218,704 bp of chromosome 1. It has a protein product that is involved in diverse cellular processes with well-defined functions (Mouse Genome Informatics). Most importantly, it is a key intermediate protein important for type 1 IFN signalling (reviewed in (Sadler et al., 2008)). The G>T transversion at reference position 52,179,547 bp of STAT1 gene results in a nonsynonymous mutation, with a Tryptophan to Leucine substitution at amino acid position 37 of the STAT1 protein. It has been previously shown that STAT1^{-/-} mice displayed significantly increased susceptibility to infection with diverse group of viruses (Muller et al., 1994) Although tuara mice presented with less severe disease outcome relative to STAT1-/- mice in

terms of survival times, it may be that the STAT1 mutation in tuara mice only resulted

in partial dysfunction of STAT1 protein. Treatment with lower concentrations IFN- α of

bone-marrow-derived macrophages from tuara mice, relative to B/6 wt mice, only

resulted in partial antiviral activity, supporting a probable partial dysfunction of the

STAT1 protein. Given its predominant role in antiviral signalling pathways, it is most

likely that the susceptibility allele is a result of partial dysfunction of the STAT1 protein.

Further experiments are needed to confirm STAT1, and rule out Prss40 and Cyp20a1, as the causal gene mutation for the fulminant disease phenotype. Thus, the initial comprehensive work done in this chapter leads to a likely identification and confirmation of a partial loss-of-function STAT1 mutation with profound biological consequences. The STAT1 mutation in tuara mice is a distinct mutation when compared to the 10 characterized STAT1^{-/-} mice (3 chemically induced and 7 targeted mutations) listed on the Mouse Genome Informatics database, given the unique locus of the mutation.(Table 7.9). In terms of clinical relevance, particular mutations in the human STAT1 gene had been associated with increased susceptibility to microbial infections and, at certain times, autoimmunity (Figure 7.24 and Table 7.10). Since the initial discovery of human STAT1 mutation in 2001 (Dupuis et al., 2001), an increasing number had been identified for the past years, and was recently classified by Boisson-Dupuis et al., (2012) into 4 subclasses: i.) autosomal recessive with partial STAT1 deficiency, ii.) autosomal recessive with complete STAT1 deficiency, iii.) autosomal dominant with loss-of-function STAT1 deficiency, and iv.) autosomal dominant with gain-of-function STAT1 disorder (Table 7.10).

Lastly, this chapter also highlights the issue of frequency of spontaneous mutations

generated in inbred wt or knockout mouse strains. With 30,000 mouse structural genes

and average mutation frequency per gamete per locus of 10⁻⁵, it is though that the

mutation rate in an inbred mouse is 0.3 per gamete (Bailey, 1978). Subline divergence

of inbred mouse strains due to spontaneous mutations has been reported in multiple

studies (Acton et al., 1973; Crusio et al, 1991; Grewal, 1962, Keightley, 1998;

Whitmore and Whitmore, 1985; van Abeleen and Hughes, 1986). The advantage of the mutation discovered in this chapter is that the phenotype is patently observable. Problems can arise when a spontaneous mutation generated produces a subtle phenotypic effect, which can affect the observational outcome, and bring about unwarranted and incorrect conclusions derived from experimental findings. This may, in part, explain reported variability in outcomes or published results produced by different laboratories, using a similar wt or knockout mouse strain maintained in their respective facilities. Certain recommendations were put forward to avoid subline divergence, and one is regular restocking of mouse colonies from common international frozen embryo source (Bailey, 1978). As full genome sequencing becomes substantially less expensive, it may be best that, in the future, complete genome sequences of all mouse strains used in any study be performed before publication.


Table 7.7 List of candidate Indel mutations

Mutation	Start- coordinate	End- coordinate	Variant Length	Gene	Gene desccription
Deletion	60409744	60409749	-6	CYP20A1	cytochrome P450, family 20, subfamily [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:1925201
·	74606950	74606952	-3	PLCD4	phospholipase C, delta 4 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:107469]
	40081149	40081150	-4	MAP4K4	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase k [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:1349394]
	90108571	90108572	-2	UGT1A5	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, po [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3032634]
Insertion	90163100	90163100	+1	HJURP	Holliday junction recognition protein [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:2685821]

Note: Highlighted gene indicates mutation identified in 2 out of 2 samples.

Table 7.8 List of candidate SNV mutations

SNR denotype	Gene - coordinate	Reference base	Variant base	Gene	Gene description
Homozygous	34616691	G	A	PRSS40	protease, serine, 40
	52179547	G	Т	STAT1	signal transducer and activator of trans [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI: 103063]
Heterozygous	151677280	G	Т	PLA2G4A	phospholipase A2, group IVA (cytosolic, c [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:1195256]
	171966128	С	т	DDR2	discoidin domain receptor family, member [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:1345277]

Note: Highlighted gene indicates mutation identified in 2 out of 2 samples.



inase kinase 4

olypeptide A5



calcium-dependent)



Figure 7.22 Expression profile of Prss40 gene. High-throughput gene expression profiling of Prss40 gene using the gene annotation portal www. bioGPS.org.



Figure 7.23 Expression profile of Cyp20a1 gene. High-throughput gene expression profiling of Cyp20a1 gene using the gene annotation portal www. bioGPS.org.

Table 7.9 List of STAT1 knockout mice

Mutation description Mouse **Chemically-induced (ENU)** Stat1^{fae} T-to-A transversion at nucleotide position 2263, M654K Stat1^{m1Btlr} T-to-A transversion in exon 11, V319E Stat1^{m2Btir} T-to-A transversion at nucleotide position 31788; frameshift occurs after codon 544 t introduces a premature stop codon following codon 561 **Targeted Knockout** Stat1^{tm1.1Mmul} A loxP site was inserted upstream of exon 6. A floxed neo cassette was inserted downstream of exon 10. Cre-mediated recombination removed the neo cassette and exons 6 through 10 floxed. Stat1^{tm1.2Mmul} Cre-mediated recombination removed exons 6 through 10 and the neo cassette. Stat1^{tm1DIv} A neomycin resistance cassette replaced 5.7 kb of sequence, including 3 exons and a portion of a fourth encoding amino acids 221-365 Stat1^{tm1Mam} A targeting vector was designed to place a loxP flanked neomycin resistance gene upstream of the first untranslated exon followed by a loxP site downstream of the first translated exon. The neo cassette was removed by germ-line cre-mediated resombination leaving loxP sites flanking the first two untranslated exons and the first translated exon. Stat1^{tm1Rds} A neomycin resistance cassette replaced the first three coding exons and 0.7kb of 5' upstream flanking sequence. Stat1^{tm1Tdec} Exon 22 and 23a were replaced with a segment containing exon 22, a floxed neo cassette and exon 23 containing a nucleotide substitution that results in an amino aci substitution of an alanine for a serine at position 727 (S272A), a site within the transactivation domain. The neo cassette was removed by germ-line, cre-mediated recombination. Stat1^{tm1Uvin} Nucleotide substitution(s) results in the amino acid substitution of glutamine for glutamic acid at position 705 (E705Q) that abolishes SUMO conjugation.

Knockout mouse list and mutation description adapted from Mouse Genome Informatics website (www.informatics.jax.org).

Reference

	Yates et al., 2006
	Crozat <i>et al.</i> , 2006
that	Whitley <i>et al.</i> , 2008
left	Wallner <i>et al.</i> , 2012
	Wallner <i>et al.</i> , 2012
1	Durbin <i>et al</i> ., 1996
ct	
	Klover <i>et al.</i> , 2010
st	
	Meraz <i>et al</i> ., 1996
hid	
	Varinou <i>et al.</i> , 2003
	Begitt et al., 2007



Figure 7.24 Identified pathogenic mutations in human STAT1 gene. Schematic diagram of human STAT1 gene with representative regions coding for domains III-XXV of the protein, or regions coding for the coiled-coil domain (CC), DNA-binding domain (DNA-B), linker domain (L), SH2 domain (SH2), tail segment domain (TS), and transactivator domain (TA), with their amino-acid boundaries demarcated by bold lines. Morbid mutations are represented by coloured text: green (autosomal dominant with partial STAT1 deficiency), brown (autosomal recessive with complete STAT1 deficiency), blue (autosomal recessive with partial STAT1 deficiency) and red (autosomal dominant with gain-of-activity of STAT1). Figure Adapted from Boisson-Dupuis et al., (2012).

Туре	Affected domain	Main cellular phenotype	Main clinical phenotype	References
Autosomal recessive with complete STAT1 deficiency	N-terminal domain SH2 domain	No STAT1-dependent response to IFN- γ , IFN- α/β , IFN-I and IL-27	Lethal intracellular bacteria (mainly mycobacteria) and viral (mainly herpes) diseases	Dupuis <i>et al</i> ., 2003 Chapgier <i>et al</i> ., 2006 <i>a</i> Vairo <i>et al</i> ., 2011
Autosomal recessive with partial STAT1 deficiency	N-terminal domain Coiled-coil domain Tail segment domain	Impaired STAT1-dependent response to IFN- γ , IFN- α/β , IFN-I and IL-27	Curable intracellular bacteria (mainly mycobacteria) and viral (mainly herpes) diseases	Chapgier <i>et al</i> ., 2009 <i>b</i> Kong <i>et al.</i> , 2010 Kistensen <i>et al</i> ., 2011
Autosomal dominant with loss-of-function STAT1 deficiency	DNA-binding domain SH2 binding domain Tail segment domain	Impaired STAT1-dependent response to IFN- γ and IL-27	Mycobacterial diseases To date, incomplete clinical penetrance is oberved	Chapgier <i>et al.</i> , 2006 <i>a</i> Dupuis <i>et al.</i> , 2001 Tsumura <i>et al.</i> , 2012 Sampaio <i>et al.</i> , 2012 Hirata <i>et al.</i> , in preparation
Autosomal dominant with gain-of-function STAT1 disorder	Coiled-coil domain	Enhanced STAT1-dependent response to at least IFN- γ , IFN- α/β , IL-27, IL-6 and IL-21. Impaired IL-17 T-cell immunity	Chronic mucocutaneous caindidiasis and autoimmunity	Liu <i>et al</i> ., 2011 van de Veerdnok <i>et al</i> ., 2011 Smeekens <i>et al</i> ., 2011

Table 7.10 Classification of STAT1 mutation in humans

IFN – Inteferon; IL – Interleukin. Table adapted, with some modifications, from Boisson-Dupuis et al., (2012).

Chapter 8

Protective role of memory B cells in vaccination against JEV and related flaviviruses



8.1 Introduction

Vaccination is the most cost-effective intervention to prevent Japanese encephalitis (JE) (Ding *et al.*, 2003; Siraprapasiri *et al.*, 2006; Surratdecha *et al.*, 2006). The public health impact of incorporating JE vaccines into the national immunization program in Japan cannot be underestimated; since the introduction of formalin-inactivated mouse brainderived JE vaccine (globally marketed by Sanofi-Pasteur as JE-VAX), the annual incidence of JE cases dropped from more than 1,000 per year in the late 1960's, to less than 100 from 1982 to 1991, and then to less than 10 from 1992 to 2004 (Matsunaga *et al.*, 1999; Arai *et al.*, 2008). However, due to perceived issues of safety, the Japanese authorities have recently recommended the suspension of its use (reviewed in (Halstead and Thomas, 2011)). Hence, the production of JE-VAX, the only internationally licensed JE vaccine at that time, was ceased in 2005. The policy was also implemented in anticipation of the replacement of JE-VAX with new-generation JE vaccines, such as, ChimeriVax-JE and inactivated Vero-cell culture derived (ccJE) vaccines.

ChimeriVax-JE is a recently licensed live-attenuated JE vaccine, that was designed via a construct composed of genes encoding for envelope and premembrane proteins of JEV SA14-14-4 strain and non-structural proteins of Yellow Fever 17D (Chambers *et al.*, 1999; Guy *et al.*, 2012). A series of studies revealed that ChimeriVax-JE is a promising

vaccine with an impressive safety and efficacy profile (Chokephaibulkit et al., 2010;

Monath et al., 2002; Monath et al., 2003; Nasveld et al., 2010; Torresi et al., 2010). On

the other hand, Advax-adjuvanted ccJE (JE-ADVAX[™]) is another promising new-

generation JE vaccine, which was shown to elicit robust humoral immune response

against JEV, with antibody titres comparable to that induced with ChimeriVax-JE, and

superior to that elicited with non-adjuvanted JE-VAX or alum-adjuvanted JEV vaccine (Jespect; Novartis) (Lobigs *et al.*, 2010).

In spite of increasingly available list of licensed and candidate JE vaccines, a profound understanding on the immunological correlates underlying vaccine-mediated protection remains not completely defined (reviewed in (Lobigs and Diamond, 2012)). A robust humoral immune response was deemed crucial in vaccine-mediated homologous protection against JE. Neutralizing antibodies against flaviviral E protein produced after immunization provided complete protection from lethal encephalitis, whereas CD8⁺ T cells was documented to be less substantial, and at best provided only limited protective contribution (Konishi *et al.*, 2003; Konishi *et al.*, 1998*b*; Pan *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, the cross-protective efficacy of flaviviral vaccines, such as Advax-adjuvanted ccJE, prM/E protein chimeric flaviviruses, and prM/E protein-based DNA vaccination are though to largely depend on competent humoral immune responses (Bosco-Lauth *et al.*, 2011; Lobigs *et al.*, 2009; Lobigs *et al.*, 2003*c*, Lobigs *et al.*, 2011).

The earlier chapters delved on the basic immunobiology of Japanese encephalitis, in the aim of using the insights in defining the immunological correlates of protection of rationally designed JE vaccines. Notably, a robust humoral immune response is critically important against primary infection with JEV (Chapter 3). While CD4⁺ T cells provide essential help in enhancing antibody responses, CD8⁺ T cells are, at best,

marginal in providing contribution in disease amelioration. In this chapter, I extend my

investigation on establishing the mechanism of vaccine-mediated protection against

homologous and heterologous flavivirus infections.

Results and Discussion 8.2

8.2.1 Absolute requirement for B cells in vaccine-mediated immune response. B cells but not CD8⁺ T cells are instrumental in recovery from primary infection with JEV (Chapter 3). Here I investigated whether a similar pivotal role of B cells exists in vaccine-mediated protection against JE. Groups of 8-week-old $\mu MT^{-/-}$ mice were immunized subcutaeneously (sc) with 1x10⁵ PFU of ChimeriVax-JE or 2 doses, given 2 weeks apart, of 1 µg of ccJE + Advax (Table 8.1). Another mice group, that did not receive any immunization, served as control. A month after completion of vaccine regimen, mice were challenged via the footpad (fp) with 10³ PFU of JEV. All immunized and control mice succumbed to disease on or before D12 post-infection (pi). This data clearly demonstrate the absolute requirement for antibodies in vaccinemediated homologous protection against JE.

To determine the role of CD4⁺ T cells in vaccine-mediated immune responses, groups of 8-week-old MHCII-A $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice were immunized sc with $1x10^5$ PFU of ChimeriVax-JE, or left unimmunised (Table 8.1). A month after immunization, mice were challenged via the fp with 10³ PFU of JEV. Control mice displayed complete mortality with mean survival time (MST) of 12.2 ± 0.4 days. On the other hand 60% of immunized succumbed to infection, with delayed MST of 14.2 ± 3.2 days. Although the

difference was not statistically significant, this data, together with the findings in

Chapter 3, clearly reflect the essential helper function of CD4⁺ T cells in inducing

237

protective humoral immune responses after a primary infection or immunization.

Table 8.1 Contribution of vaccine-mediated humoral and CD4⁺ T cell immune responses against challenge with JEV.

Mice and Immunogen ^a	Mortality (no. of deaths/total)	MST ± SD, days	P value ^b
μ Μ Τ- ^{/-}			
Naive	100% (4/4)	11.8 ± 1.0	
ChimerVax-JE	100% (4/4)	11.0 ± 0.0	0.21
ccJE 1µg + Advax	100% (5/5)	11.2 ± 1.1	0.44
MHCII-Aαβ ^{-/-}	ì	1	
Naive	100% (5/5)	12.2 ± 0.4	
ChimerVax-JE	67% (4/6)	14.2 ± 3.2	0.29

^{*a*} Eight-week-old μ MT^{-/-} or MHCII-A $\alpha\beta^{-/-}$ mice were immunized sc with 1x10⁵ of ChimeriVax JE or 2 doses, given 2 weeks apart, of 1 μ g of ccJE + Advax. Naïve control mice did not received any immunization. A month after completion of vaccination schedule, mice were challenged via the fp with 10³ PFU of JEV.

^b Statistical significance was computed in comparison with naive control.



8.2.2 $\beta 2m^{-1}$ mice are highly susceptible to JEV infection and provide a model for evaluating B cell memory responses following vaccination. For the purpose of evaluating memory B cell responses after vaccination, I established a mouse model characterized by deficiency in CD8⁺ T cells and persistent antibody, thereby uncovering protective B cell immunity following vaccination. $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice exhibit a congenital deficiency in CD8⁺ T cells due to a defect in MHC-I assembly, cell surface transport and antigen presentation (Koller et al., 1990). In addition, the mice also lack long-lived IgG as a result of a deficiency of neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) (Brambell, 1970; Junghans and Anderson, 1996; Ghetie et al., 1997; Suzuki et al., 2010). FcRn has a MHC-I-like molecular structure, with β 2m protein incorporated as the light chain (Simister and Mostov, 1989; West and Bjorkman, 2000). Along with other proteins, IgG is taken up by various cells in the body by fluid-phase endocytosis, is transported to an endosomal compartment, and, at low pH, is bounded to FcRn with high affinity (reviewed in (Junghans, 1997; Ghetie and Ward, 2000)). The strong binding of IgG with FcRn, diverts and prevents its catabolic degradation within lysosomes, and recycles it back extracellularly upon neutral-pH induced dissociation with FcRn (reviewed in (Rojas and Apodaca, 2002)).

To test the impact of β 2m deficiency on susceptibility to JEV infection, 8-weekold $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ and B/6 wt control mice were inoculated iv with 10³ PFU of JEV (Fig. 8.1A). Relative to wt control, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice displayed significantly increased mortality (100%)

vs. 75%, respectively), and shorter MST (12.0 \pm 2.3 vs. 13 \pm 1.4 days, respectively).

Subcutaneous challenge of 8 or 12-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice with 10³ PFU of JEV similarly

presented with increased mortality (95% and 94%, respectively) in comparison to wt

239

controls (65% and 55%, respectively) (Fig. 8.1B,C).

To determine whether the increased mortality rates observed in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were attributed to defective viral clearance, groups of 8-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ and B/6 wt mice were inoculated with 10³ PFU of JEV, and sacrificed at 2-day-interval time points for serum and tissue collection. Viral load was determined in serum and spleens by real time RT-PCR, and in brains and spinal cords by plaque titration in Vero cells. Serum viral load in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice presented with similar kinetics and magnitude relative to wt mice (Fig. 8.2A). Peak viremia appeared on D2 post-infection (pi), with geometric mean titres (GMT) decreasing afterwards. Likewise, viral load in spleen of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice was similar to that of wt controls, with peak titres on D4 pi (Fig. 8.2B). On the contrary, viral load in brains and viral dissemination into the spinal cord were significantly elevated in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice than wt controls. Virus in brains of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice was initially detected on day 6 pi, and relative to wt mice, GMT was ~100-fold and ~1,000-fold higher on days 8 and 10 pi, respectively (Fig. 8.2C). Furthermore, viral dissemination into the spinal cord was more pronounced in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice relative to wt mice (~ 3 logs GMT difference on D10 pi) (Fig. 8.2D).

As earlier described, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice exhibited short-lived IgG isotype antibodies brought about by absence of $\beta 2m$ protein-dependent protection of serum IgG from catabolism (reviewed in (Rojas and Apodaca, 2002)). To determine whether this phenomenon is similarly observed in JEV-infected $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice, serum antibody titres were determined by ELISA in comparison to wt controls. The kinetics and magnitude of anti-JEV IgM

antibodies was similar in both groups, initially detected on D4 pi, and peaked on D8 pi

(Fig. 8.3A). Anti-JEV IgG1 and IgG2b antibodies in wt mice were initially detected on

D8 pi, and increased on D10 pi (Fig. 8.3B). This is in contrast to what was observed in

β2m^{-/-} mice, where IgG1 and IgG2b levels were significantly lower on D10 pi, and were

threefold and twofold lower than the levels found in wt controls. In spite of less than 240

optimal IgG responses in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$, the functional activity of antibodies, as measured by 50% plaque reduction and neutralization assay (PRNT₅₀), was comparable to wt controls (Fig. 8.3C). However, it should be noted that, in addition to direct neutralization measured by in vitro assays, alternative in vivo mechanisms of viral clearance by antibodies such as Fc-portion interaction with complement and Fc receptors on cells of monocytic lineage should not be discounted (Chung et al., 2005; Hofmeister et al., 2011; Oliphant et al., 2005; Oliphant et al., 2006). Fc-mediated clearance of viruses has been suggested to play critical protective role in human infections with WNV (Hofmeister et al., 2022).

In addition to blunted IgG antibody responses, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were also documented to possess dysfunctional NK cell responses (Alsharifi et al., 1996; Muller et al., 1995; Tay et al., 1995). To investigate whether NK cell response remains intact after exposure to JEV, $\beta 2m^{-1/2}$ and B/6 wt control mice were inoculated iv with 10^3 PFU of JEV, splenocytes isolated at indicated time points, and NK cell responses were measured by chromium release assay (Fig. 8.3D). On D3 pi, NK cell activity in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ was approximately threefold lower to that of B/6 wt mice. This was reversed on D7 pi, where NK cell activity in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice increased, and was higher than in wt mice. This data represented a similar observation found in previous studies, where $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice exhibited delayed NK cell responses after viral infection. However, given that NK cell depletion did not alter susceptibility of mice to JEV infection (Chapter 5), dysfunctional

NK cell responses may be of little probative value in increasing the susceptibility of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ to challenge with JEV.

A less explored factor, that may explain the increased susceptibility to JEV infection, is the failure to induce an optimal IFN- γ response in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice. Previous studies have

suggested the role of $\beta 2m$ protein in the efficient production of IFN- γ (Antonelli *et al.*, 1988; Klingel et al., 2003). This is especially important, given the data I presented in chapter 5 that IFN-y plays an essential protective role against lethal JE. However, my initial investigation revealed comparable kinetics and magnitude in serum IFN-y levels in both JEV-infected B/6 wt and $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice (data not shown). Lastly, another unexplored factor is the documented presence of hereditary hemochromatosis in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice. Hepatic iron overload in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice is well documented, and is attributed to the absence of β2m-interacting protein important for iron homeostasis (Feder et al., 1997; Santos et al., 1996; Santos et al., 2000, Rothenberg and Voland, 1996; Waheed et al., 2002). It can be speculated that a slow but progressive liver disease (Rodrigues et al., 2006; Khan et al., 2007) can impact on the distinct immunologic functions of the liver. Hence, an impairment on hepatic metabolism of Vitamin D, and hepatic synthesis of Vitamin D binding protein, C-reactive protein, and all complement proteins can be expected (reviewed in (Baeke et al., 2010; Crisp, 2009; Gao et al., 2008)). The latter of which is known to be critical for protection against lethal West Nile encephalitis (Mehlhop et al., 2005).

In summary, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice displayed high mortality, high brain viral load, and widespread dissemination of virus into the CNS. The exquisite susceptibility of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice to JEV challenge is not only attributed to CD8⁺ T cell deficiency, but also credited to myriad of factors contributing to severe immunodeficiency. As such, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were identified

as a suitable stringent challenge model for preclinical evaluation of vaccines against

JEV.



Figure 8.1 Susceptibility of $\beta 2m^{-l}$ mice to low-dose challenge with JEV.

Intravenous inoculation of 8-week-old (A) or sc inoculation of 8-week-old (B) and 12-

week-old (C) $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ and B/6 wt control mice with 10^3 PFU of JEV. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 28 days. The data shown were constructed from three independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance (**, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001).





Eight-week-old mice were challenged sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV, and sacrificed at 2-day interval time points for serum and tissue collection. Viremia was measured in RNA copies/ml by qRT-PCR; viral load in brain and spinal cord was measured by plaque titration in Vero cells. The lower limit of virus detection was 1×10^3 PFU/g of tissue, and is indicated by a dotted line. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).





Antibody and NK cell responses in JEV-infected B/6 wt and Figure 8.3 $\beta 2m^{-1}$ mice. Eight-week-old B/6 wt and $\beta 2m^{-1}$ mice were infected sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, and sacrificed at indicated time points for serum and tissue collection. Anti-JEV IgM (A) or IgG (B) isotype antibody titres were determined by ELISA. The data presented are reciprocal mean endpoint titres representative of 4-5 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars. (C) Neutralizing antibody titres were determined by plaque reduction neutralization assay. The data presented are mean PRNT₅₀ titres representative of 4-5 mice per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars. (D) Splenocytes harvested at indicated time points, and NK cell activity determined by chromium release assay as described in materials and methods. Data represent means of

4 mice samples per time point with the SEM indicated by error bars. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).

8.2.3 Inactivated JE vaccines protect $\beta 2m^{-1}$ mice from sc challenge with **JEV.** Given the exquisite susceptibility of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice to challenge with JEV, I have used it as a stringent challenge model to evaluate the protective value of JE vaccines. Two Vero cell-grown inactivated JE vaccines (JESPECT®, which is adjuvanted with alum, and JE-ADVAXTM, which contains the polysaccheride adjuvant, inulin, in two different formulations either as standard or as supermix) and ChimeriVax-JE were used to immunise groups of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice. The immunisation schedule was with 2 doses given at 2 weeks apart, with the following treatment groups: PBS alone (as negative control), low (0.05 µg) and high (0.5 µg) doses Jespect (as positive control), low and high doses of ccJE alone, low and high doses of ccJE adjuvanted with Advax supermix, and low dose ccJE adjuvanted with Advax (Table 8.2). Another group of mice received sc 1×10^5 PFU of ChimeriVax-JE. A month after completion of immunization schedule, mice were challenged sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, and mortality recorded over a 28-dayobservation period. As expected, control $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with PBS alone displayed high mortality rate after JEV challenge (87%) (Table 8.2). In contrast, control $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice groups immunized with either low or high dose Jespect vaccine displayed complete resistance from lethal Japanese encephalitis. Also, 100% survival rate was observed in mice receiving ChimeriVax-JE, and in mice groups receiving high dose ccJE adjuvanted with either Advax supermix or Advax. Even in the absence of adjuvant, immunization with high dose ccJE alone similarly provided significant protection from JEV infection (mortality of 1 out of 10), while immunization with low

dose ccJE alone only provided limited protection (mortality rate of 53%). The efficacy

of low dose ccJE vaccine was significantly improved when it was adjuvanted with

246

either Advax supermix or Advax (mortality of 0% and 10%, respectively (Table 8.2).

It is well documented that humoral immunity is crucial for vaccine-mediated protection against lethal Japanese encephalitis (reviewed in (Lobigs and Diamond, 2012)). As a standard for clinical efficacy for JE vaccines, the established correlate of protection is neutralizing titres of at least 1/10 of serum dilution. However, as earlier presented, $\beta 2m^{-1}$ ^{/-} mice exhibited dysfunctional IgG antibody responses after live JEV infection. JEVspecific IgG responses in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ and B/6 wt mice immunized with low-dose ccJE + Advax or low-dose ccJE alone were then determined. IgG1 and IgG2b antibody responses in all mice groups were initially detected at low levels on D8 post-vaccination (Table 8.3). On D18 pi, B/6 wt mice immunized with ccJE + Advax expectedly presented with higher IgG1 and IgG2b antibody responses relative to B/6 wt mice immunized with ccJE only, and this difference was maintained until D28 pi. $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with ccJE alone presented with low to undetectable titres on days 18 and 28 pi. Interestingly, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with ccJE + Advax similarly presented with markedly low IgG antibody responses on days 18 and 30 pi, with titres ranging from undetectable to 200. This consistently reflected a dysfunctional IgG response uniquely found in mice with deficiency in $\beta 2m$ protein.

Measurement of pre-challenge neutralizing titres revealed that $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with ccJE + Advax was markedly low compared to its counterpart B/6 controls (mean PRNT₅₀ titre of <10 vs. 116, respectively) (Table 8.4). This finding is paradoxical to the notion that pre-challenge neutralizing titres serve as the main correlate of protection

against lethal Japanese encephalitis, since almost all $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with ccJE +

Advax survived the challenge with JEV. It was then speculated that in spite of failure to

maintain detectable levels of post-immunization neutralizing IgG antibodies, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$

mice are still capable of memory B cell development, that are readily inducible to

produce protective antibodies in time of viral challenge. Interestingly, on days 5 and 10

pi, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with ccJE + Advax presented with neutralizing titres higher than $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with ccJE alone (D5 pi: 38 vs. 14, respectively; D10 pi: 672 vs. 385, respectively). Indeed, post-infection neutralizing titre levels in immunized $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice correlated well with the outcome observed in earlier mice challenge experiments. This data reflected that $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice are capable of inducing memory immune responses vital for protection against JEV infection.

The phenomenon of vaccine-mediated protection in $\beta 2m^{-1}$ might help explain the disparity in established vaccine efficacy and clinical effectiveness of mouse brainderived formalin-inactivated JE vaccine, JE-VAX. It has been noted that the annual incidence of JE in Japan was significantly declining in the past decades, despite more than 50% of a representative cohort population aged 20-59 years old had undetectable post-immunization neutralizing antibodies (Kitano, 1993; Konishi and Suzuki, 2002). A three-dose vaccination regimen of JE-VAX afforded an overall time-limited efficacy of 91% for only up to two years (Hoke *et al.*, 1988), and yet based on crude evaluation of clinical effectiveness, vaccinated individuals had 2,000 to 80,000 times greater ratio of subclinical to clinical infections than unvaccinated population (Konishi and Suzuki, 2002). It is hypothesized that majority of the individuals exposed to JEV were protected by vaccination received during childhood. The discrepancy in vaccine efficacy and clinical effectiveness might be explained by rapidly induced anamnestic antibody response in vaccinated individuals with undetectable levels of pre-exposure neutralizing

antibodies. This essentially reflected immunized $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice, which were primed for the

development of durable memory B cells that are readily and rapidly inducible to

produce neutralizing antibodies at the time of JEV challenge. This phenomemon was

similarly observed in a previous study, where wild-type mice immunized with a plasmid

vaccine encoding prM and E genes of JEV displayed low to undetectable levels of post-

immunization neutralizing titres (Konishi *et al.*, 1999). However, upon live JEV challenge, mice rapidly induced neutralizing antibodies, and were completely protected.

In summary, this section confirmed the suitability of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice as a stringent challenge model for evaluating protective value of JE vaccines. This novel mice model have demonstrated that memory B cells, induced by either ChimeriVax-JE or JE-ADVAXTM immunization, were adequate and capable to protect mice from lethal JE. This significant protection was afforded in the absence of CD8⁺ T cells and long-lived IgG response.



Table 8.2	Protective value of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine.	
-----------	--	--

Immunogen ^a	Mortality (no. of deaths/total)	MST ± SD, days	P value ^b	P value ^c
PBS	87% (13/15)	16.2 ± 4.9		
ChimeriVax-JE	0% (0/5)	-	0.0029	Г Г
JE-spect 0.5 μg	0% (0/5)	_	0.0029	1 1
JE-spect 0.05 μg	0% (0/8)	_	0.0029	
ccJE 0.5 μg	6% (1/16)	16	0.0029	
ccJE 0.5 μg + Advax supermix	0% (0/10)	-	0.0029	τ
ccJE 0.05 μg	53% (8/15)	17.9 ± 5.8	0.03	t
ccJE 0.05 μg + Advax supermix	0% (0/10)	-	<0.0001	0.007
ccJE 0.05 μg + Advax	10% (1/10)	13	0.0004	0.04

^{*a*} Eight-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were immunized with 2 doses of PBS (control) or indicated vaccine formulations. A month after completion of vaccination schedule, mice were challenged sc via footpad with 10³ PFU of JEV.

^b Statistical significance was computed in comparison with PBS only control.

 c Statistical significance was computed in comparison with 0.05 μ g ccJE only vaccine formulation.



Mouse strain and		lgG1 ^b			lgG2b
Immunogen ^a	D8	~ D18	D28	D8	D18
<u>B/6 wt</u>					
ccJE 0.05 μg	<2.0 (<2.0-2.0)	2.5 (2.0-2.9)	2.4 (2.0-2.6)	<2.0 (<2.0-2.0)	2.3 (2.0-2.6
ccJE 0.05 μg + Advax	2.4 (2.0-2.6)	>4.1 (>4.1)	>4.1 (3.8->4.1)	2.3 (2.0-2.6)	>4.1 (>4.1)
<u>β2m^{-/-}</u>					
ccJE 0.05 μg	<2.0 (<2.0-2.3)	2.1 (<2.0-2.3)	<2.0 (<2.0)	<2.0 (<2.0-2.3)	<2.0 (<2.0-2
ccJE 0.05 μg + Advax	<2.0 (<2.0-2.0)	2.2 (<2.0-2.3)	2.0 (<2.0-2.3)	2.2 (<2.0-2.3)	2.0 (<2.0-2.

JEV-specific IgG isotype antibody responses after Advax-adjuvanted ccJE immunization. Table 8.3

^a Groups of 8-week-old B/6 wt or β2m^{-/-} mice were immunized with 2 doses, given 2 week apart, with 0.05 ccJE + Advax or 0.05 ccJE alone. Sera were collected on days 8, 18, and 28 post-immunization for IgG1 and IgG2b isotype antibody determination.

^b ELISA endpoint titres of individual test sera were determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/ group) and range are given.



- 2.1 (<2.0-2.6) >4.1 (>4.1)
- <2.0 (<2.0-2.0) 2.0) <2.0 (<2.0) .3)

Mouse strain and	Day post	Day post-		
Immunogen ^a	D8	D28	D5	
<u>B/6 wt</u>				
PBS	-	-	21 (<10-40)	38
ccJE 0.05 μg	<10 (<10-10)	<10 (<10-10)	27 (<10-80)	42
ccJE 0.05 μg + Advax	32 (10-80)	116 (10-320)	232 (40-640)	73
<u>β2m^{-/-}</u>				
PBS	-	-	10 (<10-20)	32
ccJE 0.05 μg	<10 (<10-10)	<10 (<10)	14 (<10-40)	38
ccJE 0.05 μg + Advax	16 (<10-40)	<10 (<10-10)	38 (10-80)	67

Post-immunization and post-challenge JEV-specific neutralizing antibody titres against JEV Table 8.4

^a Groups of 8-week-old B/6 wt or β2m^{-/-} mice immunized with 2 doses of 0.05 ccJE + Advax, 0.05 ccJE alone, or PBS control, given 2 weeks apart. Serum was collected at days 8 and 28 post-immunization, and days 5 and 10 post-infection with 10³ PFU of JEV.

^b Plaque reduction neutralization against JEV was determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/ group) and range are given.

allenge^b D10

- 38 (20-640)
- 24 (40-640)
- 36 (160->1280)
- 20 (<10-1280)
- 35 (<10-640)
- 72 (80-1280)

8.2.4 JE-ADVAX[™] elicits immune B cells that efficiently protect against lethal JEV challenge. Given that $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice are deficient in CD8⁺ T cells, it remains to be determined whether B cells or CD4⁺ T cells are the main cell effector population responsible for protection provided by Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine. Eight-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ donor mice were immunized with 2 doses of 0.5 µg ccJE + Advax, and a month later after completion of vaccination schedule, were sacrificed for splenocyte isolation (Fig. 8.5). CD4⁺ T cells were purified via depletion of B cells using magnetic beads, while B cells were purified via complement-mediated lysis of CD4⁺ T cells. Purified immune CD4⁺ T or B cells were then injected iv into 10 to 12-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice. A day after transfer, recipient and naive control mice ($\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice group receiving naive total splenocytes) were challenged sc with 10³ PFU of JEV. Relative to naive control group, immune CD4⁺ T cell-recipient mice displayed decreased, but not statistically significant, mortality rates (67% vs. 89%, respectively), and longer MST $(13.3 \pm 2.0 \text{ vs. } 11.9 \pm 1.4 \text{ days, respectively})$. On the other hand, mice recipients of immune B cells presented with significantly lower mortality rate relative to naive control group (10% vs. 89%, respectively). The substantial protection observed in immune B cell-recipient mice was correlated with higher serum antibody and neutralizing titres on days 5 and 10 pi (Table 8.5). On day 5 pi, immune B cell-recipient mice presented with PRNT₅₀ titres of 56 (range: 20-80), levels that are notably higher than what was observed in CD4⁺ T cell recipient-mice [26 (range: 10-40)] or naive control group [<10 (range: <10-20)]. The difference was more pronounced on day 10 pi,

where immune B cell-recipient mice displayed higher PRNT₅₀ titres of 832 (range: 320-

1280), compared to 528 (80-1280) in CD4⁺ T cell recipient-mice or 452 (20-640) in

naive control group.



Figure 8.5 Immune B cells mediate protection of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE against homologous challenge with JEV. Eight-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ donor mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 µg of ccJE + Advax, delivered 2 weeks apart, 1×10^7 B cells and CD4⁺ T cells purified at 1 month after completion of the vaccination schedule, and adoptively transferred (1×10^7 cells/mouse) into 8-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice recipients. Another group of $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice received naive total splenocytes, and served as control. At one-day post-transfer, mice were challenged sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV. Mice were monitored twice daily for morbidity and mortality over a 21-day-observation period. Asterisks denote statistical significance (***, *P* < 0.001).



Table 8.5 Post-challenge serum antibody and PRNT₅₀ titres in β 2m^{-/-} recipient mice groups.

Mouse strain and	Mean Ab titre	$[\log_{10}] (SD)^b$	Mean PRNT ₅₀	titre (range) ^c
Immunogen ^a	D5	D10	. D5	D10
Naive	2.4 (2.0-2.3)	2.5 (2.0-2.9)	<10 (<10 – 20)	452 (20-640)
B cell	>4.1 (3.8->4.1)	>4.1(3.2->4.1)	56 (20-80)	832 (320-1280)
$CD4^{+} T$ cell	2.8 (2.0-3.2)	3.8(3.2->4.1)	26 (<10-40)	528 (80-1280)

^{*a*} Groups of 10 to 12-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice recipients of immune B cell or CD4⁺ T cells (from $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ donor mice vaccinated with 2 doses of 0.5 µg ccJE + Advax, given 2 weeks apart). Naive control mice group received naive total splenocytes.

^b ELISA endpoint titres of individual test sera were determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/group) and range are given.

^c Plaque reduction neutralization by individual sera against JEV was determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/group) and range are given.



8.2.5 Durability of protection with JE-ADVAXTM To determine whether the protective value of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine is long-lived, groups of 6-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ were immunized with 2 doses of 0.05 µg ccJE + Advax or with PBS (control) (Fig. 8.6). Six months after completion of the vaccination schedule, mice were inoculated sc with 10³ PFU of JEV, and mortality recorded over a 28-day-observation period. Relative to PBS control group, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with low dose ccJE + Advax exhibited complete protection against JEV. As expected, the pre-challenge antibody ELISA and PRNT₅₀ titers were undetectable in both groups (Table 8.6). However, on day 5 pi, antibody and neutralizing titers were threefold and fourfold higher in low dose ccJE + Advax-immunized mice than in control group. This indicates that although $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice are unable to maintain long-lived antibody levels due to defects in antibody metabolism (reviewed in (Rojas and Apodaca, 2002)), these are able to produce durable B cell memory that is readily responsive upon homologous challenge even at 6 months post-immunization.

To support the finding that ccJE + Advax immunization induces the development of long-lived protective memory B cell response, an immune B cell splenocyte transfer experiment was done. Eight-week-old B/6 wt donor mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 µg of ccJE + Advax, delivered 2 weeks apart (Fig. 8.7A). Splenocytes were isolated at 3 months post-completion of vaccination schedule, and B cell were purified via complement-mediated lysis of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. Naive B cells purified from

unvaccinated mice served as control. Immune and naive B cells were then transferred iv

into B/6 w/t recipient mice. A day after transfer, recipient mice were challenged sc with

10³ PFU of JEV, and mortality was recorded over 28-day-observation period. Mice

group receiving immune B cells displayed significantly improved outcome relative to

control mice group (mortality rate of 20% vs. 80%, respectively). A second experiment

was done, wherein immune B cells were collected and purified from donor mice immunized for 6 months with the same vaccine regimen (Fig. 8.7B). Again, naive B cells purified from unvaccinated mice served as control. Similarly, immune B cellrecipient mice group displayed significantly lower mortality rate relative to naïve B cell-recipient mice group (40% vs. 90%, respectively). Relative to control group, the improved survival outcome in mice recipient of immune B cells was correlated with higher serum antibody and neutralizing titres on D5 pi (Table 8.7). Mice recipient of immune B cells isolated from 3 months post-vaccinated donor mice had sixfold and eightfold higher antibody and PRNT₅₀ titres, respectively; while mice recipient of immune B cells isolated from 6 months post-vaccinated donor mice had threefold and fourfold higher antibody and PRNT₅₀ titres, respectively.

Altogether, these data strongly suggest that immunization of mice with Advaxadjuvanted ccJE confers long-lasting B cell-mediated immunity that is substantially protective against homologous challenge with JEV.





Figure 8.6 Low dose Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine exerts long-term protection against challenge with JEV. Six-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were immunized with two doses of 0.05 µg of ccJE + Advax or PBS control at 2 weeks apart. Six months after the last dose, mice were challenged sc with 10³ PFU of JEV. Mice were monitored twice daily for morbidity and mortality over a 28-day-observation period. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).



Table 8.6 Post-challenge serum antibody and PRNT₅₀ titres in $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice.

Treatment ^a	Mean Ab titre	$e [log_{10}] (SD)^b$	Mean PRNT ₅₀ titre (range) ^c	
	Pre-challenge	Post-challenge	Pre-challenge	Post-challenge
PBS	< 2 (< 2)	2.5(2.0-2.9)	< 10 (<10)	28 (10-80)
0.05 μg ccJE + Advax	< 2 (< 2)	3.1(2.3-3.5)	< 10 (<10)	108 (20-320)

^{*a*} Groups of 8-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ immunized with PBS control or 2 doses of 0.05 µg ccJE + Advax, given 2 weeks apart, and challenged with 6 months later 10³ PFU of JEV. Sera were collected at day 5 pi for serologic examination.

^b ELISA endpoint titres of individual test sera were determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/group) and SD are given.

^c Plaque reduction neutralization by individual sera against JEV was determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/ group) and range are given.





Figure 8.7 Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine induces durable and protective B cell response. Eight-week-old B/6 wt donor mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 µg of ccJE + Advax, delivered 2 weeks apart, B cells purified at 3 (A) or 6 (B) months after completion of the vaccination schedule, and adoptively transferred ($1x10^7$ cells/mouse) into 8-week-old B/6 mice recipients. A control group of B/6 mice received naive B cells purified from unvaccinated mice. A day after transfer, mice were challenged sc with 10^3 PFU of JEV. Mice were monitored twice daily for morbidity and mortality over a 28-day-observation period. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).



Treatment ^a	Mean Ab titre [log ₁₀] (range) ^b	Mean PRNT ₅₀ titre (range) ^c
3 months		
Naive B cell	2.4 (<2.0–2.6)	12 (<10–20)
Immune B cell	3.2 (2.0–3.5)	98 (10–320)
6 months		
Naive B cell	2.7 (2.0–2.9)	21 (<10-40)
Immune B cell	3.0 (2.6–3.5)	84 (20–160)

Table 8.7 Post-challenge serum antibody and $PRNT_{50}$ titres in B/6 wt recipient mice groups.

^{*a*} Groups of 8-week-old B/6 mice recipients of naive or immune B cells (mice groups were derived from Figure 8.7). Immune B cells were from B/6 wt donor mice immunized (2 doses of 0.5 μ g ccJE + Advax, given 2 weeks apart) for 3 or 6 months, and naive B cells were from unvaccinated B/6 wt donor mice. A day after transfer, all recipient mice were challenged sc with 1x10³ PFU of JEV, and sera collected at D5 pi for serology.

^b ELISA endpoint titres of individual test sera were determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/group) and range are given.

^c Plaque reduction neutralization by individual sera against JEV was determined as described in the Materials and Methods section; mean titres (n = 4/ group) and range are given.



8.2.6 Cross-protection against highly virulent WNV_{NY99} challenge with JE-ADVAXTM in the absence of CD8+ T cells. Previous studies have shown that vaccination against encephalitic flaviviruses can be associated with either crossprotective immunity or disease-potentiating immunity (reviewed in (Lobigs and Diamond, 2012)). Enhancement of disease post-vaccination was attributed to an antibody-dependent phenomenon, a mechanism similarly hypothesized to be the basis of severe dengue hemorrhagic fever after secondary dengue virus infection (reviewed in (Murphy et al., 2011)). This is especially important, given that antigenically closely related flaviviruses under JE-serocomplex can co-exist within a particular geographical area, for instance, WNV and JEV in India, or WNV and MVEV in the Australasian region (reviewed in (Mackenzie *et al.*, 2004; van de Hurk *et al.*, 2009)). Establishing the feasibility of a broadly cross-protective flaviviral vaccine is also important given that, up to this date, there is no currently available WNV vaccine, and the likelihood of developing a vaccine against low endemicity MVEV is seen as economically unviable.

To further extend the investigation on whether Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine exhibits cross-protective value against a closely-related flavivirus, 8-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 µg ccJE + Advax vaccine preparation, and challenged sc with $1x10^3$ PFU of WNV_{NY99} a month after completion of vaccination schedule (Fig. 8.8). All $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ control mice immunized with PBS only succumbed to WNV_{NY99} challenge, with MST of 11.5 ± 1.4 days. In contrast, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice immunized with

Advax-adjuvanted ccJE had significantly lower mortality rate (15%) and longer MST

 $(12.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ days})$. This data clearly demonstrate that Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine

262

provides substantial cross-protection against lethal West Nile encephalitis.

To determine the cell population mainly responsible for cross-protection of Advaxadjuvanted ccJE vaccine against WNV_{NY99} infection, an immune splenocyte transfer experiment was done (Fig. 8.9). Eight-week-old B/6 wt donor mice were immunized with 2 doses of 0.5 µg ccJE + Advax vaccine preparation, and sacrificed 3 weeks later after the last vaccine dose for splenocyte isolation. CD4⁺ T cells were purified by B cell depletion via magnetic beads and subsequent CD8⁺ T cell depletion via complementmediated lysis, while B cells were purified via complement-mediated lysis of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Purified immune CD4⁺ T or B cells were then injected iv into 8-week-old B/6 mice. A day after transfer, recipient and naive control mice were challenged sc with 10^4 PFU of WNV_{NY99}. Relative to the naive control group, immune CD4⁺ T cell recipient mice group displayed lower, but not significantly different, mortality rates (33% and 50%, respectively). On the contrary, immune B cell recipient mice group displayed significantly improved outcome after WNV_{NY99} infection, with a 13% mortality rate. This data clearly demonstrate that memory B cells play a predominant role in Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine-mediated heterologous protection against WNV_{NY99} infection.




Figure 8.8 Cross-protective value of Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine against challenge with WNV_{NY99}. Groups of 8-week-old $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 µg of ccJE + Advax or PBS control, delivered 2 weeks apart. Six weeks after completion of the vaccination schedule, mice were inoculated sc with 10³ PFU of WNV_{NY99}. Morbidity and mortality were recorded daily, and surviving mice were monitored for 21 days. The data shown were constructed from two independent experiments. Viral challenge was performed by Dr Natalie Prow at a PC3 facility in University of Queensland. Asterisks denote statistical significance (***, P < 0.001).





Figure 8.9 Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine provides B cell-mediated cross-protection against WNV_{NY99} challenge. Eight-week-old B6/wt donor mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 μ g of ccJE + Advax, delivered 2 weeks apart, B cells and CD4⁺ T cells purified at 3 weeks after completion of the vaccination schedule, and adoptively transferred (1x10⁷ cells/mouse) into 6-week-old B/6 wt mice recipients. Another group of B/6 wt mice did not received any cells, and served as naive control. A day after splenocyte transfer, mice were challenged sc with 10⁴ PFU of WNV_{NY99}. Mice were monitored twice daily for morbidity and mortality over a 21-day-observation period. Experiment was performed, together with Dr Natalie Prow, at a PC3 facility in University of Queensland. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, *P* < 0.05).



8.2.7 Cross-protection with MVE. Previously, Licon Luna et al. (2002) demonstrated that mice deficient in CD8⁺ T cell effector pathways are less susceptible to challenge with MVEV. In support of the aforementioned finding, $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice had better survival outcome relative to B/6 wt control when challenged with MVEV (unpublished data). Given the relative resistance to MVEV challenge (mortality rate of < 30%), $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice is not a suitable model for a vaccine protection experiment. Alternatively, to address the question whether Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine also exerts cross-protection against MVEV challenge, an immune B cell transfer to weanling mice was performed (Fig. 8.10). Weanling mice are highly susceptible to MVEV, and provide a standard virulence model. Eight-week-old B/6 wt donor mice were immunized with 2 doses of 0.5 μ g ccJE + Advax. Six weeks after the last dose, donor mice were sacrificed, splenocytes were isolated, and immune B cells were purified via complement-mediated lysis of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Purified immune and naive B cells (isolated from unvaccinated mice) were then injected ip into 4-week-old B/6 mice. A day after transfer, recipient mice were challenged iv with 10^5 PFU of MVEV. Relative to naive B cell recipient control mice group, immune B cell recipient mice displayed lower mortality rate (40% vs. 80%, respectively), and longer MST (12.8 \pm 1.5 vs. 11.3 ± 1.3 days, respectively). This data demonstrate that memory B cell cells, induced by Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine, provides significant cross-protection against Murray Valley encephalitis.

As a supplementary contribution to an earlier publication (Lobigs et al., 2009), I also

investigated on the cross-protective value of ChimeriVax-JE against MVEV, with the

use of another stringent mice model. Groups of 6-week-old IFN- $\alpha R^{-/-}$ mice were

immunized ip with $1x10^5$ PFU of ChimeriVax-JE, or left unimmunised (Table 8.8). A

month later after immunization, mice were inoculated iv or via the fp with 1×10^2 PFU

of MVEV. All unimmunised mice succumbed to the disease, with MST delayed by ~1 day in mice challenged via the fp in comparison to that following iv challenge. All immunized mice were completely protected from infection. Next, I investigated on the mechanism of cross-protection of ChimeriVax JE against MVEV, through splenocyte transfer experiments. ChimeriVax-JE immune splenocytes were transferred to naive mice with or without the additional transfer of immune serum (Table 8.8). Recipient mice were challenged with MVEV $(10^2 PFU)$ by the iv or sc route. Transfer of ChimeriVax-JE immune splenocytes (1 \times 10⁷ or 5 \times 10⁷ cells) did not provide protection from lethal challenge by either of the two routes but significantly prolonged survival by 1 to 2 days in the recipient groups relative to untreated mice (Table 8.8). Naive splenocyte transfer did not alter MST and mortality. Immune serum transfer (300 µl total given at intervals pre- and post-challenge [Table 8.8]) also failed to protect animals from lethal MVEV infection but delayed the MST by ~3 days in comparison to that seen in the untreated controls. PRNT₅₀ titers of pooled immune sera used in the transfer experiments were in the ranges of 320 to 640 against JEV and 20 to 40 against MVEV. Mice were partially protected against lethal MVEV challenge following transfer of immune serum plus splenocytes, demonstrating the partial contribution of cell-mediated immunity elicited with ChimeriVax-JE in heterotypic protection. This was at least in part mediated by T cells, given that B-cell-depleted splenocytes maintained some protective value when transferred in the presence of immune serum, although this effect was marginal.

Altogether, this final section further supports the feasibility of using cross-protective

vaccines against closely-related flaviviruses. Both Advax-adjuvanted ccJE and

ChimeriVax-JE provided significant cross-protection against challenge with MVEV,

and this protection is largely mediated by a durable humoral immune response.



Figure 8.10 Advax-adjuvanted ccJE vaccine exerts cross-protection against challenge with MVEV. Eight-week-old B/6 wt donor mice were immunized with two doses of 0.5 µg of ccJE + Advax, delivered 2 weeks apart. B cells were purified at 6 weeks after completion of the vaccination schedule, and adoptively transferred ip $(1x10^7 \text{ cells/mouse})$ into 4-week-old B/6 mice recipients. A control group of B/6 mice received naive B cells isolated from unvaccinated mice. A day after transfer, mice were challenged iv with 10^5 PFU of MVEV. Mice were monitored twice daily for morbidity and mortality over a 28-day-observation period. Asterisks denote statistical significance (*, P < 0.05).



Table 8.8	Contribution	of immune	responses	to	heterotypic	protection
by Chimeri\	/ax-JE against	MVEV				

Challenge route and treatment ^a	No. of survivors/total	ATD, days (<i>P</i>) ^b
iv		
None	0/8	5.9
Immunization (10 ⁵ PFU ChimeriVax-JE)	5/5	NA
Immune serum (300 μl) ^c	0/4	9.5 (0.003)
Immune splenocytes (1 × 10^7 cells)	0/8	7.4 (0.0004)
Immune splenocytes (5 \times 10 ⁷ cells)	0/6	7.3 (0.001)
SC		
None	0/5	6.8
Immunization (10 ⁵ PFU ChimeriVax-JE)	11/11	NA
Immune serum (300 µI) ^d	0/6	9.7 (0.006)
Naive splenocytes (2×10^7 cells)	0/10	6.8
Immune splenocytes (2 \times 10 ⁷ cells)	0/8	7.8 (0.002)
Immune serum (300 μ I) ^{<i>d</i>} plus splenocytes (2 × 10 ⁷ cells)	4/10	12.8 (0.0006)
Immune serum (300 μ I) ^{<i>d</i>} plus T cells (1 × 10 ⁷ cells)	2/6	9.0 (0.002)
Immune serum (300 μ I) ^{<i>d</i>} plus T cells (5 × 10 ⁶ cells)	1/5	7.8 (0.01)

^{*a*} Six-week-old IFN- α -R^{-/-} mice were immunized with 10⁵ PFU of ChimeriVax-JE ip or left untreated. These donor mice were sacrificed 4 weeks later, and serum and spleen cells were harvested and transferred to 10-week-old IFN- α -R^{-/-} recipients, which were challenged with 10² PFU MVEV iv or by injection into the fp. Age-matched naive and ChimeriVax-JE-immunized mice were included as controls.

^b The ATD was analyzed for significance using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. For mice challenged iv, the ATD was compared to that of the naive group. For mice challenged sc, the effect of serum transfer only on ATD was compared to that of the naïve group, while the effect of splenocyte transfer with or without immune serum on ATD was compared to that of naïve splenocyte recipient mice. NA, not applicable.

^c Immune serum transfer schedule: 150 μ I on day 1 pre-challenge and 150 μ I on day 1 post-challenge.

^d Immune serum transfer schedule: 100 μl on day 1 pre-challenge and 50 μl on days 0, 1, 3, and 5 post-challenge.

Chapter 9

Concluding Remarks



A sound understanding on the immunobiology of infectious diseases is essential. Fundamental discoveries can generate basic insights that can aid in designing rational vaccines and novel therapies. Japanese encephalitis (JE) is the leading cause of viral encephalitis in Asia. In terms of incidence and severity of encephalitis in human populations, Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) is the most important member of the JE serocomplex, which includes Murray Valley encephalitis virus (MVEV) and West Nile virus (WNV). In spite of that, the immunological correlates for recovery from primary JEV infection remains poorly defined, in contrast to a more detailed understanding with regards to the pathogenesis of West Nile encephalitis.

In this work, I have established a pathogenesis model for JE. C57BL/6 wild-type (wt) mice, inoculated subcutaneously (sc) via the footpad with low-dose virus JEV, displayed fatal encephalitis in ~60%, and viral burden in the central nervous system (CNS) (Chapter 3). The disease closely resembles human viral encephalitis, which is characterized by seizures, ataxia, postural imbalance, and at times, unilateral hind limb paralysis. Wt mice induces a robust immune response to the sc challenge with JEV (Figure 9.1), characterized by systemic type I interferon response within the first 48 hours, NK cell activity that peaks at ~D3-4 post-infection (pi), JEV-specific IgM response that is initially detectable on D4, and peaks on D8 pi, JEV-specific IgG response that is initially detectable on D8 pi and increases thereafter, gradual splenocyte expansion of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells, extensive $CD8^+$ T cell activation (judged by

upregulation of surface markers CD69 and CD25 and cytokine production after stimulation with a JEV NS4B protein-derived H-2D^b-binding peptide) peaking on \sim D7

271

pi, and CCR5-mediated trafficking of leukocytes into the CNS (Chapters 3-7).



Figure 9.1 Kinetics of immune response after primary JEV infection. Approximate graphical representation of immune response kinetics (shaded areas under solid lines) and viral dissemination (non-solid lines) in wt mice after sc infection with low-dose JEV. Data is extrapolated from the following: IFN- α - serum levels determined by ELISA, NK cell – cytotoxic assay and intracellular staining of IFN- γ , T cell – T cell expansion and intracellular cytokine staining by FACS, Anti-JEV IgM – serum levels determined by ELISA, and Anti-JEV IgG - serum levels determined by ELISA, serum and spleen viral load – real time RT-PCR, CNS viral load – plaque titration in Vero cells.



I have demonstrated, by in vivo depletion of NK cells in wt mice, that this innate cytolytic effector cell population is dispensable for survival, and control of JEV infection in the periphery and in the CNS (Summarized in Table 9.1). Using mice lacking B cells (µMT^{-/-} mice) and immune B cell transfer to wild-type mice, I have established a critically important role for humoral immunity in preventing virus spread to the CNS. CD4⁺ T cell help plays an essential part in the maintenance of an effective antibody response necessary to combat the infection, since mice lacking major histocompatibility complex class II (MHCII) display with truncated IgM and blunted IgG responses and uniformly high lethality. On the other hand, CD8⁺ T cells have a limited role in recovery from primary infection with JEV. Only a combined transfer of immune CD4⁺ T and CD8⁺ T cells, and not the transfer of immune CD8⁺ T cell alone, afford protection in JEV-challenged recipient wt mice. Using in vivo depletion of CD8⁺ T cells in wt mice, an increase viral burden in the CNS is observed, however no significant effect is seen on the survival phenotype. It remains unclear whether immunopathology associated with CD8⁺ T cell infiltration of the brain or an insufficient magnitude of the response, per se, explains why the viral load reduction in the CNS mediated by CD8⁺ T cells do not translate into a survival advantage. Together, these data suggest, at best, a marginal contribution of CD8⁺ T cells in the pathogenesis of JE.

The relative importance of effector pathways of cytotoxicity in protection from lethal JE was examined using knockout mice models (Chapters 3-5). Mice lacking individual key

effector molecules (Fas receptor, perforin, or granzymes) of cytolytic pathways display

increased CNS JEV burden, however, present with no impact on survival rate. Only

mice defective in both granule exocytosis and Fas-Fas ligand pathways display increased susceptibility to JEV infection. The two cell contact-dependent cytotoxic effector mechanisms act within the CNS to reduce disease severity, and indicate a

redundancy in control JEV infection (Chapter 4). The pleiotropic cytokine, IFN- γ , is critical for protection from severe JE (Chapter 5), through a mechanism that involves suppression of virus growth in the CNS. T cells trafficking into the CNS are the main source of IFN- γ , which promotes non-cytolytic clearance of virus from the CNS.

In Chapter 6, I have extended the investigation on a key chemokine receptor documented as a critical host antiviral factor against JE. The chemokine receptor CCR5 play a role in activation and chemotaxis of leukocytes after JEV infection. Inoculation with JEV in mice deficient in CCR5 significantly displays increased mortality and viral burden in the CNS. Humoral immune responses, which are essential in recovery from JEV infection, are of similar magnitude in CCR5 sufficient and deficient mice. However, absence of CCR5 results in a multifaceted deficiency of cellular immune responses characterized by reduced natural killer and CD8⁺ T cell activity, low splenic cellularity, and impaired trafficking of leukocytes to the brain. These findings are consistent with a mechanism by which CCR5 expression enhances lymphocyte activation, and thereby promotes host survival in JE.



Factor	Outcome of JEV infection			
Age	↑ disease severity in younger animals			
Route of infection	intracranial and intranasal = high mortality extraneural = ↓ disease severity			
Mouse strain background	impacts on disease outcome 129 is more resistant than C57BI/6			
Innate Immunity				
Natural Killer cells	absence = no effect on disease severity			
Macrophages	susceptible to JEV infection			
MyD88	absence = no effect on disease severity			
Interferon- α receptor	absence = ↑ disease severity			
Adaptive Immunity				
Cell effectors				
B cells	absence = ↑ disease severity			
CD4+ T cells	absence = ↑ disease severity			
CD8+ T cells	absence = ↑ CNS viral burden without impact on mortality rate			
Cytolytic Pathways				
Perforin	absence = no effect on disease severity			
Granzyme A/B	absence = no effect on disease severity			
Fas	absence = no effect on disease severity			
Perforin + Granzyme A/B	absence = no effect on disease severity			
Fas + GzmA/B	absence = ↑ disease severity			
Other Cytokines and Chemokines				
CCR5	absence = ↑ disease severity			
Interferon-y	absence = ↑ disease severity			

Table 9.1Factors affecting outcome of JEV infection

 (\uparrow) increased, (\downarrow) decreased



The above findings highlight some differences in the pathogenesis of JE and closely related encephalitic flaviviruses. First, CD8⁺ T cells display variable and conflicting roles in the pathogenesis of flaviviral encephalitis. Whereas the CD8⁺ T cell response is required for virus elimination from the CNS and survival in mouse models of West Nile encephalitis (Shrestha and Diamond, 2004; Shrestha et al., 2006a; Wang et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2004), a disease-potentiating effect of cytotoxic T cells was documented in mice infected with MVEV (Licon Luna et al., 2002). In this work, I have presented that CD8⁺ T cells are at best, subsidiary in providing protective contribution against lethal JE. Second, mice with genetic deficiency in either FasL-Fas or perforin-dependent pathway of cytotoxicity showed greatly increased susceptibility to virulent lineage I WNV infection (Shrestha and Diamond, 2007; Shrestha et al., 2006a) but did not differ from wt mice in susceptibility to infection with JEV (Chapter 3) or lineage II WNV strain Sarafend (Wang et al., 2004) and were more resistant to infection with MVEV (Licon Luna et al., 2002). Only a combined deficiency in FasL-Fas and perforindependent pathways, increases the susceptibility of mice to severe JE, indicating a redundancy in contact-dependent pathways of cytotoxicity. Third, the mechanism of increased susceptibility to WNV infection in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice was mainly attributed to failure of early peripheral viral clearance by a potent IFN- γ -producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Shrestha *et al.*, 2006*b*), whereas in the case of JE, the morbid phenotype in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice is largely attributed to absence of IFN-y-producing T cell-mediated non-cytolytic clearance of virus from the CNS.

Another extended investigation is the establishment of a novel immunodeficient mouse

strain, *Tuara*. Remarkably, the loss-of-function mutation, conferring enhanced susceptibility to flavivirus infections, is a spontaneously generated defect found in an inbred knockout mouse strain, MHCII-A $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. After series of experiments, the gene

of interest have been segregated from the MHCII defect to produce the *Tuara* mouse, for which, after customized sequence capture and re-sequencing, is identified to carry candidate mutations within ~50 Mb region of Chromosome 1, with the G>T transversion at mouse genome reference position 52,179,547 bp of STAT1 gene as the most likely causal mutation. This is a unique STAT1 mutation, with a likely profound biologic consequence of clinical relevance. This finding can provide valuable additional insights, in relation to the increasing diverse list of STAT1 deficiencies in humans (reviewed in (Boisson-Dupuis *et al.*, 2012)).

Finally in Chapter 8, in application of the insights gained from the experiments on the basic immunobiology of JE, I have investigated on the mechanism of protection of new generation JE vaccines (live attenuated ChimeriVax-JE and Advax-adjuvanted inactivated Vero cell-derived JE vaccines) against homologous or heterologous flaviviral challenge. Using a $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ mice challenge model, the crucial role of long-term memory B cells in vaccine-mediated protection against JEV and WNV_{NY99} have been established. The significant level of protection has been provided in the absence of CD8⁺ T cells or long-term vaccine-induced neutralizing antibodies. Using splenocyte transfer experiments in IFN- α -R^{-/-} or weanling wt mice, humoral immunity is identified as the key survival determinant in JE vaccine-mediated cross-protection against Murray valley encephalitis. Altogether, it can be concluded that humoral immunity plays the most critical role in both primary and vaccine-mediated immune responses against

infection with JEV or related flaviviruses.

References



Abraham, S., Nagaraj, A. S., Basak, S. & Manjunath, R. (2010). Japanese encephalitis virus utilizes the canonical pathway to activate NF-kappaB but it utilizes the type I interferon pathway to induce major histocompatibility complex class I expression in mouse embryonic fibroblasts. *Journal of virology* **84**, 5485-5493.

Abraham, S., Yaddanapudi, K., Thomas, S., Damodaran, A., Ramireddy, B. & Manjunath, R. (2008). Nonclassical MHC-I and Japanese encephalitis virus infection: induction of H-2Q4, H-2T23 and H-2T10. *Virus research* **133**, 239-249.

Adachi, M., Suematsu, S., Kondo, T., Ogasawara, J., Tanaka, T., Yoshida, N. & Nagata, S. (1995). Targeted mutation in the Fas gene causes hyperplasia in peripheral lymphoid organs and liver. *Nature genetics* **11**, 294-300.

Adachi, O., Kawai, T., Takeda, K., Matsumoto, M., Tsutsui, H., Sakagami, M., Nakanishi, K. & Akira, S. (1998). Targeted disruption of the MyD88 gene results in loss of IL-1- and IL-18-mediated function. *Immunity* **9**, 143-150.

Adams, D. J. & van der Weyden, L. (2008). Contemporary approaches for modifying the mouse genome. *Physiol Genomics* 34, 225-238.

Adams, O., Besken, K., Oberdorfer, C., MacKenzie, C. R., Takikawa, O. & Daubener, W. (2004). Role of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase in alpha/beta and gamma interferonmediated antiviral effects against herpes simplex virus infections. *Journal of virology* 78, 2632-2636.

Agrawal, A. G. & Petersen, L. R. (2003). Human immunoglobulin as a treatment for West Nile virus infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **188**, 1-4.

Aihara, H., Takasaki, T., Matsutani, T., Suzuki, R. & Kurane, I. (1998). Establishment and characterization of Japanese encephalitis virus-specific, human CD4(+) T-cell clones: flavivirus cross-reactivity, protein recognition, and cytotoxic activity. *Journal of virology* 72, 8032-8036.

Albers, C. A., Lunter, G., MacArthur, D. G., McVean, G., Ouwehand, W. H. & Durbin, R. (2011). Dindel: accurate indel calls from short-read data. *Genome Res* 21, 961-973.

Aleyas, A. G., George, J. A., Han, Y. W., Rahman, M. M., Kim, S. J., Han, S. B., Kim, B. S., Kim, K. & Eo, S. K. (2009). Functional modulation of dendritic cells and macrophages by Japanese encephalitis virus through MyD88 adaptor molecule-dependent and independent pathways. *Journal of immunology* 183, 2462-2474.

Aleyas, A. G., Han, Y. W., George, J. A., Kim, B., Kim, K., Lee, C. K. & Eo, S. K. (2010). Multifront assault on antigen presentation by Japanese encephalitis virus subverts CD8+ T cell responses. *Journal of immunology* **185**, 1429-1441.

Algood, H. M. & Flynn, J. L. (2004). CCR5-deficient mice control Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection despite increased pulmonary lymphocytic infiltration. *Journal of immunology* 173, 3287-3296.

Aliberti, J., Reis e Sousa, C., Schito, M., Hieny, S., Wells, T., Huffnagle, G. B. & Sher, A. (2000). CCR5 provides a signal for microbial induced production of IL-12 by CD8 alpha+ dendritic cells. *Nature immunology* **1**, 83-87.

Alkhatib, G. (2009). The biology of CCR5 and CXCR4. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS 4, 96-103.

Allen, S. J., Crown, S. E. & Handel, T. M. (2007). Chemokine: receptor structure, interactions, and antagonism. *Annual review of immunology* **25**, 787-820.

Allison, S. L., Schalich, J., Stiasny, K., Mandl, C. W. & Heinz, F. X. (2001). Mutational evidence for an internal fusion peptide in flavivirus envelope protein E. *Journal of virology* **75**, 4268-4275.

Alphey, L., Beard, C. B., Billingsley, P., Coetzee, M., Crisanti, A., Curtis, C., Eggleston, P., Godfray, C., Hemingway, J., Jacobs-Lorena, M., James, A. A., Kafatos, F. C., Mukwaya, L. G., Paton, M., Powell, J. R., Schneider, W., Scott, T. W., Sina, B., Sinden, R., Sinkins, S., Spielman, A., Toure, Y. & Collins, F. H. (2002). Malaria control with genetically manipulated insect vectors. *Science* 298, 119-121.

Alsharifi, M., Lobigs, M., Simon, M. M., Kersten, A., Muller, K., Koskinen, A., Lee, E. & Mullbacher, A. (2006). NK cell-mediated immunopathology during an acute viral infection of the CNS. *European journal of immunology* **36**, 887-896.

- Alvarez, M., Rodriguez-Roche, R., Bernardo, L., Vazquez, S., Morier, L., Gonzalez, D., Castro, O., Kouri, G., Halstead, S. B. & Guzman, M. G. (2006). Dengue hemorrhagic Fever caused by sequential dengue 1-3 virus infections over a long time interval: Havana epidemic, 2001-2002. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 75, 1113-1117.
- Andrade, F. (2010). Non-cytotoxic antiviral activities of granzymes in the context of the immune antiviral state. *Immunological reviews* 235, 128-146.
- Ank, N., Petersen, K., Malmgaard, L., Mogensen, S. C. & Paludan, S. R. (2005). Agedependent role for CCR5 in antiviral host defense against herpes simplex virus type 2. *Journal of virology* **79**, 9831-9841.
- Ank, N., West, H. & Paludan, S. R. (2006). IFN-lambda: novel antiviral cytokines. J Interferon Cytokine Res 26, 373-379.
- Antonelli, G., Amicucci, P., Cefaro, A., Ausiello, C., Malavasi, F. & Dianzani, F. (1988). Mechanism of human interferon-gamma production: involvement of beta-2microglobulin. *Cellular immunology* **115**, 156-164.
- Appaiahgari, M. B. & Vrati, S. (2010). IMOJEV((R)): a Yellow fever virus-based novel Japanese encephalitis vaccine. *Expert review of vaccines* 9, 1371-1384.
- Arai, S., Matsunaga, Y., Takasaki, T., Tanaka-Taya, K., Taniguchi, K., Okabe, N. & Kurane,
 I. (2008). Japanese encephalitis: surveillance and elimination effort in Japan from 1982 to 2004. Japanese journal of infectious diseases 61, 333-338.
- Arjona, A., Ledizet, M., Anthony, K., Bonafe, N., Modis, Y., Town, T. & Fikrig, E. (2007). West Nile virus envelope protein inhibits dsRNA-induced innate immune responses. *Journal of immunology* **179**, 8403-8409.
- Aung, S., Rutigliano, J. A. & Graham, B. S. (2001). Alternative mechanisms of respiratory syncytial virus clearance in perforin knockout mice lead to enhanced disease. *Journal of virology* **75**, 9918-9924.
- Baeke, F., Takiishi, T., Korf, H., Gysemans, C. & Mathieu, C. (2010). Vitamin D: modulator of the immune system. *Current opinion in pharmacology* **10**, 482-496.
- Bailey, D. W. (1978). Sources of subline divergence and their relative importance for sublines of six major inbred strains of mice. In: *Origins of Inbred Mice*. Morse, H.C. III (Ed). Academic Press, New York. 197-215.
- Bamshad, M. J., Ng, S. B., Bigham, A. W., Tabor, H. K., Emond, M. J., Nickerson, D. A. & Shendure, J. (2011). Exome sequencing as a tool for Mendelian disease gene discovery. *Nat Rev Genet* 12, 745-755.
- Baron, R., Nemirovsky, A., Harpaz, I., Cohen, H., Owens, T. & Monsonego, A. (2008). IFNgamma enhances neurogenesis in wild-type mice and in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *FASEB J* 22, 2843-2852.
- Barrett, A. D. & Higgs, S. (2007). Yellow fever: a disease that has yet to be conquered. Annual review of entomology 52, 209-229.
- Beasley, D. W., Lewthwaite, P. & Solomon, T. (2008). Current use and development of vaccines for Japanese encephalitis. *Expert opinion on biological therapy* 8, 95-106.
- Beasley, D. W., Whiteman, M. C., Zhang, S., Huang, C. Y., Schneider, B. S., Smith, D. R., Gromowski, G. D., Higgs, S., Kinney, R. M. & Barrett, A. D. (2005). Envelope protein glycosylation status influences mouse neuroinvasion phenotype of genetic lineage 1 West Nile virus strains. *Journal of virology* 79, 8339-8347.
- Begitt, A., Droescher, M., Knobeloch, K. P. & Vinkemeier, U. (2011). SUMO conjugation of

STAT1 protects cells from hyperresponsiveness to IFNgamma. *Blood* **118**, 1002-1007.

- Belisle, S. E., Tisoncik, J. R., Korth, M. J., Carter, V. S., Proll, S. C., Swayne, D. E., Pantin-Jackwood, M., Tumpey, T. M. & Katze, M. G. (2010). Genomic profiling of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) receptor and interleukin-1 receptor knockout mice reveals a link between TNF-alpha signaling and increased severity of 1918 pandemic influenza virus infection. *Journal of virology* 84, 12576-12588.
- Belnoue, E., Kayibanda, M., Deschemin, J. C., Viguier, M., Mack, M., Kuziel, W. A. & Renia, L. (2003). CCR5 deficiency decreases susceptibility to experimental cerebral malaria. *Blood* 101, 4253-4259.

- Ben-Nathan, D., Huitinga, I., Lustig, S., van Rooijen, N. & Kobiler, D. (1996). West Nile virus neuroinvasion and encephalitis induced by macrophage depletion in mice. *Archives of virology* **141**, 459-469.
- Berg, S. W., Mitchell, B. S., Hanson, R. K., Olafson, R. P., Williams, R. P., Tueller, J. E., Burton, R. J., Novak, D. M., Tsai, T. F. & Wignall, F. S. (1997). Systemic reactions in U.S. Marine Corps personnel who received Japanese encephalitis vaccine. *Clin Infect Dis* 24, 265-266.
- Bergmann, C. C., Parra, B., Hinton, D. R., Chandran, R., Morrison, M. & Stohlman, S. A. (2003). Perforin-mediated effector function within the central nervous system requires IFN-gamma-mediated MHC up-regulation. *Journal of immunology* **170**, 3204-3213.
- Bergmann, C. C., Parra, B., Hinton, D. R., Ramakrishna, C., Dowdell, K. C. & Stohlman, S.
 A. (2004). Perforin and gamma interferon-mediated control of coronavirus central nervous system infection by CD8 T cells in the absence of CD4 T cells. *Journal of virology* 78, 1739-1750.
- Bertram, E. M., Tafuri, A., Shahinian, A., Chan, V. S., Hunziker, L., Recher, M., Ohashi, P. S., Mak, T. W. & Watts, T. H. (2002). Role of ICOS versus CD28 in antiviral immunity. *European journal of immunology* **32**, 3376-3385.
- Beutler, B., Eidenschenk, C., Crozat, K., Imler, J. L., Takeuchi, O., Hoffmann, J. A. & Akira, S. (2007). Genetic analysis of resistance to viral infection. *Nat Rev Immunol* **7**, 753-766.
- Beutler, B., Jiang, Z., Georgel, P., Crozat, K., Croker, B., Rutschmann, S., Du, X. & Hoebe,
 K. (2006). Genetic analysis of host resistance: Toll-like receptor signaling and immunity at large. Annual review of immunology 24, 353-389.
- Bhatt, T. R., Crabtree, M. B., Guirakhoo, F., Monath, T. P. & Miller, B. R. (2000). Growth characteristics of the chimeric Japanese encephalitis virus vaccine candidate, ChimeriVax-JE (YF/JE SA14--14--2), in Culex tritaeniorhynchus, Aedes albopictus, and Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 62, 480-484.
- Bhowmick, S., Duseja, R., Das, S., Appaiahgiri, M. B., Vrati, S. & Basu, A. (2007). Induction of IP-10 (CXCL10) in astrocytes following Japanese encephalitis. *Neuroscience letters* 414, 45-50.
- Biet, F., Locht, C. & Kremer, L. (2002). Immunoregulatory functions of interleukin 18 and its role in defense against bacterial pathogens. *J Mol Med (Berl)* 80, 147-162.
- Billoir, F., de Chesse, R., Tolou, H., de Micco, P., Gould, E. A. & de Lamballerie, X. (2000). Phylogeny of the genus flavivirus using complete coding sequences of arthropod-borne viruses and viruses with no known vector. *The Journal of general virology* 81 Pt 9, 2339.
- Binder, G. K. & Griffin, D. E. (2001). Interferon-gamma-mediated site-specific clearance of alphavirus from CNS neurons. Science 293, 303-306.
- Bista, M. B., Banerjee, M. K., Shin, S. H., Tandan, J. B., Kim, M. H., Sohn, Y. M., Ohrr, H. C., Tang, J. L. & Halstead, S. B. (2001). Efficacy of single-dose SA 14-14-2 vaccine against Japanese encephalitis: a case control study. *Lancet* **358**, 791-795.
- Biswas, S. M., Ayachit, V. M., Sapkal, G. N., Mahamuni, S. A. & Gore, M. M. (2009). Japanese encephalitis virus produces a CD4+ Th2 response and associated immunoprotection in an adoptive-transfer murine model. *The Journal of general virology* **90**, 818-826.
- Biswas, S. M., Kar, S., Singh, R., Chakraborty, D., Vipat, V., Raut, C. G., Mishra, A. C.,

Gore, M. M. & Ghosh, D. (2010). Immunomodulatory cytokines determine the outcome of Japanese encephalitis virus infection in mice. *Journal of medical virology* 82, 304-310.

Boisson-Dupuis, S., Kong, X. F., Okada, S., Cypowyj, S., Puel, A., Abel, L. & Casanova, J. L. (2012). Inborn errors of human STAT1: allelic heterogeneity governs the diversity of immunological and infectious phenotypes. *Current opinion in immunology*.

Borden, E. C., Sen, G. C., Uze, G., Silverman, R. H., Ransohoff, R. M., Foster, G. R. & Stark, G. R. (2007). Interferons at age 50: past, current and future impact on biomedicine. *Nature reviews* 6, 975-990.

Borrow, P., Tishon, A., Lee, S., Xu, J., Grewal, I. S., Oldstone, M. B. & Flavell, R. A. (1996). CD40L-deficient mice show deficits in antiviral immunity and have an impaired memory CD8+ CTL response. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **183**, 2129-2142.

Bosco-Lauth, A., Mason, G. & Bowen, R. (2011). Pathogenesis of Japanese encephalitis virus infection in a golden hamster model and evaluation of flavivirus cross-protective immunity. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **84**, 727-732.

Bouillet, P. & O'Reilly, L. A. (2009). CD95, BIM and T cell homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol 9, 514-519.

- Bowie, A. G. & Unterholzner, L. (2008). Viral evasion and subversion of pattern-recognition receptor signalling. *Nature reviews* 8, 911-922.
- Brambell, F. W. (1966). The transmission of immunity from mother to young and the catabolism of immunoglobulins. *Lancet* 2, 1087-1093.
- Brass, A. L., Huang, I. C., Benita, Y., John, S. P., Krishnan, M. N., Feeley, E. M., Ryan, B. J., Weyer, J. L., van der Weyden, L., Fikrig, E., Adams, D. J., Xavier, R. J., Farzan, M. & Elledge, S. J. (2009). The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus. *Cell* 139, 1243-1254.
- Bressanelli, S., Stiasny, K., Allison, S. L., Stura, E. A., Duquerroy, S., Lescar, J., Heinz, F. X. & Rey, F. A. (2004). Structure of a flavivirus envelope glycoprotein in its low-pH-induced membrane fusion conformation. *The EMBO journal* **23**, 728-738.
- Brien, J. D., Uhrlaub, J. L. & Nikolich-Zugich, J. (2007). Protective capacity and epitope specificity of CD8(+) T cells responding to lethal West Nile virus infection. *European journal of immunology* **37**, 1855-1863.
- Brien, J. D., Uhrlaub, J. L. & Nikolich-Zugich, J. (2008). West Nile virus-specific CD4 T cells exhibit direct antiviral cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity and are sufficient for antiviral protection. *Journal of immunology* **181**, 8568-8575.

Brinton, M. A. & Perelygin, A. A. (2003). Genetic resistance to flaviviruses. Advances in virus research 60, 43-85.

- Broom, A. K., Wallace, M. J., Mackenzie, J. S., Smith, D. W. & Hall, R. A. (2000). Immunisation with gamma globulin to Murray Valley Encephalitis virus and with an inactivated Japanese encephalitis virus vaccine as prophylaxis against Australian encephalitis: Evaluation in a mouse model. *Journal of medical virology* **61**, 259-265.
- Brown, D. M. (2010). Cytolytic CD4 cells: Direct mediators in infectious disease and malignancy. Cellular immunology 262, 89-95.
- Buckley, C. R. (1952). Agammaglobulinemia, by Col. Ogden C. Bruton, MC, USA, Pediatrics, 1952;9:722-728. *Pediatrics* 102, 213-215.
- Buescher, E. L. & Scherer, W. F. (1959). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. IX. Epidemiologic correlations and conclusions. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **8**, 719-722.
- Buescher, E. L., Scherer, W. F., Grossberg, S. E., Chanock, R. M. & Philpot, V., Jr. (1959a). Immunologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. I. Antibody responses following overt infection of man. *Journal of immunology* **83**, 582-593.
- Buescher, E. L., Scherer, W. F., Mc, C. H., Moyer, J. T., Rosenberg, M. Z., Yoshii, M. & Okada, Y. (1959b). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. IV. Avian infection. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **8**, 678-688.
- Buescher, E. L., Scherer, W. F., Rosenberg, M. Z., Gresser, I., Hardy, J. L. & Bullock, H. R. (1959c). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. II. Mosquito infection. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **8**, 651-664.
- Buescher, E. L., Scherer, W. F., Rosenberg, M. Z., Kutner, L. J. & Mc, C. H. (1959*d*). Immunologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. IV. Maternal antibody in birds. *Journal of immunology* **83**, 614-619.
- Buescher, E. L., Scherer, W. F., Rosenberg, M. Z. & Mc, C. H. (1959e). Immunologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. III. Infection and antibody responses of birds. *Journal of immunology* 83, 605-613.
- Burdeinick-Kerr, R. & Griffin, D. E. (2005). Gamma interferon-dependent, noncytolytic clearance of sindbis virus infection from neurons in vitro. *Journal of virology* **79**, 5374-5385.
- Burdeinick-Kerr, R., Wind, J. & Griffin, D. E. (2007). Synergistic roles of antibody and interferon in noncytolytic clearance of Sindbis virus from different regions of the central nervous system. *Journal of virology* **81**, 5628-5636.

- Burke, D. S., Lorsomrudee, W., Leake, C. J., Hoke, C. H., Nisalak, A., Chongswasdi, V. & Laorakpongse, T. (1985a). Fatal outcome in Japanese encephalitis. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **34**, 1203-1210.
- Burke, D. S., Nisalak, A. & Gentry, M. K. (1987). Detection of flavivirus antibodies in human serum by epitope-blocking immunoassay. *Journal of medical virology* 23, 165-173.
- Burke, D. S., Tingpalapong, M., Ward, G. S., Andre, R. & Leake, C. J. (1985b). Intense transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus to pigs in a region free of epidemic encephalitis. *The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health* **16**, 199-206.
- Burrow, J. N., Whelan, P. I., Kilburn, C. J., Fisher, D. A., Currie, B. J. & Smith, D. W. (1998). Australian encephalitis in the Northern Territory: clinical and epidemiological features, 1987-1996. *Australian and New Zealand journal of medicine* **28**, 590-596.
- Butovsky, O., Ziv, Y., Schwartz, A., Landa, G., Talpalar, A. E., Pluchino, S., Martino, G. & Schwartz, M. (2006). Microglia activated by IL-4 or IFN-gamma differentially induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis from adult stem/progenitor cells. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **31**, 149-160.
- Butrapet, S., Kimura-Kuroda, J., Zhou, D. S. & Yasui, K. (1998). Neutralizing mechanism of a monoclonal antibody against Japanese encephalitis virus glycoprotein E. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 58, 389-398.
- Cao, S., Li, Y., Ye, J., Yang, X., Chen, L., Liu, X. & Chen, H. (2011). Japanese encephalitis Virus wild strain infection suppresses dendritic cells maturation and function, and causes the expansion of regulatory T cells. *Virology journal* **8**, 39.
- Cardosa, M. J., Porterfield, J. S. & Gordon, S. (1983). Complement receptor mediates enhanced flavivirus replication in macrophages. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 158, 258-263.
- Carlson, C. M. & Largaespada, D. A. (2005). Insertional mutagenesis in mice: new perspectives and tools. *Nat Rev Genet* 6, 568-580.
- Carneiro-Sampaio, M. & Coutinho, A. (2007). Immunity to microbes: lessons from primary immunodeficiencies. Infection and immunity 75, 1545-1555.
- Casciola-Rosen, L., Garcia-Calvo, M., Bull, H. G., Becker, J. W., Hines, T., Thornberry, N.
 A. & Rosen, A. (2007). Mouse and human granzyme B have distinct tetrapeptide specificities and abilities to recruit the bid pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 282, 4545-4552.
- Castellino, F., Huang, A. Y., Altan-Bonnet, G., Stoll, S., Scheinecker, C. & Germain, R. N. (2006). Chemokines enhance immunity by guiding naive CD8+ T cells to sites of CD4+ T cell-dendritic cell interaction. *Nature* **440**, 890-895.
- Cerundolo, V. & de la Salle, H. (2006). Description of HLA class I- and CD8-deficient patients: Insights into the function of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and NK cells in host defense. Seminars in immunology 18, 330-336.
- Chakravarty, S. K., Sarkar, J. K., Chakravarty, M. S., Mukherjee, M. K., Mukherjee, K. K., Das, B. C. & Hati, A. K. (1975). The first epidemic of Japanese encephalitis studied in India--virological studies. *Indian J Med Res* 63, 77-82.
- Chambers, T. J., Droll, D. A., Walton, A. H., Schwartz, J., Wold, W. S. & Nickells, J. (2008). West Nile 25A virus infection of B-cell-deficient ((micro)MT) mice: characterization of neuroinvasiveness and pseudoreversion of the viral envelope protein. *The Journal of general virology* **89**, 627-635.

Chambers, T. J., Hahn, C. S., Galler, R. & Rice, C. M. (1990). Flavivirus genome organization, expression, and replication. *Annual review of microbiology* 44, 649-688.

- Chambers, T. J., Nestorowicz, A., Mason, P. W. & Rice, C. M. (1999). Yellow fever/Japanese encephalitis chimeric viruses: construction and biological properties. *Journal of virology* 73, 3095-3101.
- Chan, Y. L., Chang, T. H., Liao, C. L. & Lin, Y. L. (2008). The cellular antiviral protein viperin is attenuated by proteasome-mediated protein degradation in Japanese encephalitis virus-infected cells. *Journal of virology* 82, 10455-10464.
- Chang, G. J., Hunt, A. R. & Davis, B. (2000). A single intramuscular injection of recombinant plasmid DNA induces protective immunity and prevents Japanese encephalitis in mice. *Journal of virology* **74**, 4244-4252.

- Chang, T. H., Liao, C. L. & Lin, Y. L. (2006). Flavivirus induces interferon-beta gene expression through a pathway involving RIG-I-dependent IRF-3 and PI3K-dependent NF-kappaB activation. *Microbes and infection* **8**, 157-171.
- Chapgier, A., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Jouanguy, E., Vogt, G., Feinberg, J., Prochnicka-Chalufour, A., Casrouge, A., Yang, K., Soudais, C., Fieschi, C., Santos, O. F., Bustamante, J., Picard, C., de Beaucoudrey, L., Emile, J. F., Arkwright, P. D., Schreiber, R. D., Rolinck-Werninghaus, C., Rosen-Wolff, A., Magdorf, K., Roesler, J. & Casanova, J. L. (2006a). Novel STAT1 alleles in otherwise healthy patients with mycobacterial disease. *PLoS genetics* 2, e131.
- Chapgier, A., Wynn, R. F., Jouanguy, E., Filipe-Santos, O., Zhang, S., Feinberg, J., Hawkins, K., Casanova, J. L. & Arkwright, P. D. (2006b). Human complete Stat-1 deficiency is associated with defective type I and II IFN responses in vitro but immunity to some low virulence viruses in vivo. *Journal of immunology* 176, 5078-5083.
- Chaturvedi, U. C., Mathur, A., Chandra, A., Das, S. K., Tandon, H. O. & Singh, U. K. (1980). Transplacental infection with Japanese encephalitis virus. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 141, 712-715.
- Chaturvedi, U. C., Mathur, A., Tandon, P., Natu, S. M., Rajvanshi, S. & Tandon, H. O. (1979). Variable effect on peripheral blood leucocytes during JE virus infection of man. *Clinical and experimental immunology* **38**, 492-498.
- Chaudhri, G., Panchanathan, V., Bluethmann, H. & Karupiah, G. (2006). Obligatory requirement for antibody in recovery from a primary poxvirus infection. *Journal of virology* 80, 6339-6344.
- Chen, C. J., Chen, J. H., Chen, S. Y., Liao, S. L. & Raung, S. L. (2004). Upregulation of RANTES gene expression in neuroglia by Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *Journal* of virology 78, 12107-12119.
- Chen, C. J., Liao, S. L., Kuo, M. D. & Wang, Y. M. (2000). Astrocytic alteration induced by Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *Neuroreport* **11**, 1933-1937.
- Chen, C. J., Ou, Y. C., Chang, C. Y., Pan, H. C., Liao, S. L., Raung, S. L. & Chen, S. Y. (2010a). TNF-alpha and IL-1beta mediate Japanese encephalitis virus-induced RANTES gene expression in astrocytes. *Neurochemistry international* 58, 234-242.
- Chen, C. J., Ou, Y. C., Lin, S. Y., Raung, S. L., Liao, S. L., Lai, C. Y., Chen, S. Y. & Chen, J. H. (2010b). Glial activation involvement in neuronal death by Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *The Journal of general virology* 91, 1028-1037.
- Chen, C. J., Raung, S. L., Kuo, M. D. & Wang, Y. M. (2002). Suppression of Japanese encephalitis virus infection by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *The Journal of general virology* 83, 1897-1905.
- Chen, H. W., Pan, C. H., Liau, M. Y., Jou, R., Tsai, C. J., Wu, H. J., Lin, Y. L. & Tao, M. H. (1999). Screening of protective antigens of Japanese encephalitis virus by DNA immunization: a comparative study with conventional viral vaccines. *Journal of virology* 73, 10137-10145.
- Chen, K., Wallis, J. W., McLellan, M. D., Larson, D. E., Kalicki, J. M., Pohl, C. S., McGrath, S. D., Wendl, M. C., Zhang, Q., Locke, D. P., Shi, X., Fulton, R. S., Ley, T. J., Wilson, R. K., Ding, L. & Mardis, E. R. (2009). BreakDancer: an algorithm for high-resolution mapping of genomic structural variation. Nat Methods 6, 677-681.
- Chen, S. T., Lin, Y. L., Huang, M. T., Wu, M. F., Cheng, S. C., Lei, H. Y., Lee, C. K., Chiou, T. W., Wong, C. H. & Hsieh, S. L. (2008). CLEC5A is critical for dengue-virus-induced
 - lethal disease. Nature **453**, 672-676.
- Chen, S. T., Liu, R. S., Wu, M. F., Lin, Y. L., Chen, S. Y., Tan, D. T., Chou, T. Y., Tsai, I. S., Li, L. & Hsieh, S. L. (2012). CLEC5A regulates Japanese encephalitis virus-induced neuroinflammation and lethality. *PLoS pathogens* 8, e1002655.
- Chesler, D. A. & Reiss, C. S. (2002). The role of IFN-gamma in immune responses to viral infections of the central nervous system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **13**, 441-454.
- Chokephaibulkit, K., Sirivichayakul, C., Thisyakorn, U., Sabchareon, A., Pancharoen, C., Bouckenooghe, A., Gailhardou, S., Boaz, M. & Feroldi, E. (2010). Safety and immunogenicity of a single administration of live-attenuated Japanese encephalitis vaccine in previously primed 2- to 5-year-olds and naive 12- to 24-month-olds: multicenter randomized controlled trial. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal* **29**, 1111-1117.

- Chowdhury, D. & Lieberman, J. (2008). Death by a thousand cuts: granzyme pathways of programmed cell death. Annual review of immunology 26, 389-420.
- Chu, J. J. & Ng, M. L. (2004). Infectious entry of West Nile virus occurs through a clathrinmediated endocytic pathway. *Journal of virology* 78, 10543-10555.
- Chu, P. W. & Westaway, E. G. (1985). Replication strategy of Kunjin virus: evidence for recycling role of replicative form RNA as template in semiconservative and asymmetric replication. *Virology* 140, 68-79.
- Chu, P. W. & Westaway, E. G. (1992). Molecular and ultrastructural analysis of heavy membrane fractions associated with the replication of Kunjin virus RNA. Archives of virology 125, 177-191.
- Chung, K. M., Thompson, B. S., Fremont, D. H. & Diamond, M. S. (2007). Antibody recognition of cell surface-associated NS1 triggers Fc-gamma receptor-mediated phagocytosis and clearance of West Nile Virus-infected cells. *Journal of virology* 81, 9551-9555.
- Clark, D. C., Lobigs, M., Lee, E., Howard, M. J., Clark, K., Blitvich, B. J. & Hall, R. A. (2007). In situ reactions of monoclonal antibodies with a viable mutant of Murray Valley encephalitis virus reveal an absence of dimeric NS1 protein. *The Journal of general virology* 88, 1175-1183.
- Clark, M. J., Chen, R., Lam, H. Y., Karczewski, K. J., Euskirchen, G., Butte, A. J. & Snyder, M. (2011). Performance comparison of exome DNA sequencing technologies. *Nat Biotechnol* 29, 908-914.
- Clarke, P. & Tyler, K. L. (2009). Apoptosis in animal models of virus-induced disease. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 7, 144-155.
- Coffman, R. L., Sher, A. & Seder, R. A. (2010). Vaccine adjuvants: putting innate immunity to work. *Immunity* **33**, 492-503.
- Colombage, G., Hall, R., Pavy, M. & Lobigs, M. (1998). DNA-based and alphavirus-vectored immunisation with prM and E proteins elicits long-lived and protective immunity against the flavivirus, Murray Valley encephalitis virus. *Virology* **250**, 151-163.
- Cook, M. C., Vinuesa, C. G. & Goodnow, C. C. (2006). ENU-mutagenesis: insight into immune function and pathology. *Current opinion in immunology* **18**, 627-633.
- Cooper, P. D. & Petrovsky, N. (2011). Delta inulin: a novel, immunologically active, stable packing structure comprising beta-D-[2 -> 1] poly(fructo-furanosyl) alpha-D-glucose polymers. *Glycobiology* 21, 595-606.
- Cosgrove, D., Gray, D., Dierich, A., Kaufman, J., Lemeur, M., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. (1991). Mice lacking MHC class II molecules. *Cell* 66, 1051-1066.
- Crance, J. M., Scaramozzino, N., Jouan, A. & Garin, D. (2003). Interferon, ribavirin, 6azauridine and glycyrrhizin: antiviral compounds active against pathogenic flaviviruses. *Antiviral research* 58, 73-79.
- Crill, W. D. & Roehrig, J. T. (2001). Monoclonal antibodies that bind to domain III of dengue virus E glycoprotein are the most efficient blockers of virus adsorption to Vero cells. *Journal of virology* **75**, 7769-7773.

Crispe, I. N. (2009). The liver as a lymphoid organ. Annual review of immunology 27, 147-163.

- Cristillo, A. D., Ferrari, M. G., Hudacik, L., Lewis, B., Galmin, L., Bowen, B., Thompson, D., Petrovsky, N., Markham, P. & Pal, R. (2011). Induction of mucosal and systemic antibody and T-cell responses following prime-boost immunization with novel adjuvanted human immunodeficiency virus-1-vaccine formulations. *The Journal of* general virology 92, 128-140.
- Crotty, S., Kersh, E. N., Cannons, J., Schwartzberg, P. L. & Ahmed, R. (2003). SAP is required for generating long-term humoral immunity. *Nature* **421**, 282-287.
- Crozat, K., Georgel, P., Rutschmann, S., Mann, N., Du, X., Hoebe, K. & Beutler, B. (2006). Analysis of the MCMV resistome by ENU mutagenesis. *Mamm Genome* **17**, 398-406.
- Cruise, M. W., Lukens, J. R., Nguyen, A. P., Lassen, M. G., Waggoner, S. N. & Hahn, Y. S. (2006). Fas ligand is responsible for CXCR3 chemokine induction in CD4+ T cell-dependent liver damage. *Journal of immunology* **176**, 6235-6244.
- Cullen, S. P., Adrain, C., Luthi, A. U., Duriez, P. J. & Martin, S. J. (2007). Human and murine granzyme B exhibit divergent substrate preferences. *The Journal of cell biology* **176**, 435-444.

- Daffis, S., Lazear, H. M., Liu, W. J., Audsley, M., Engle, M., Khromykh, A. A. & Diamond, M. S. (2011). The naturally attenuated Kunjin strain of West Nile virus shows enhanced sensitivity to the host type I interferon response. *Journal of virology* 85, 5664-5668.
- Daffis, S., Samuel, M. A., Suthar, M. S., Gale, M., Jr. & Diamond, M. S. (2008). Toll-like receptor 3 has a protective role against West Nile virus infection. *Journal of virology* 82, 10349-10358.
- Dalton, D. K., Pitts-Meek, S., Keshav, S., Figari, I. S., Bradley, A. & Stewart, T. A. (1993). Multiple defects of immune cell function in mice with disrupted interferon-gamma genes. *Science* **259**, 1739-1742.
- Das, S., Dutta, K., Kumawat, K. L., Ghoshal, A., Adhya, D. & Basu, A. (2011). Abrogated inflammatory response promotes neurogenesis in a murine model of Japanese encephalitis. *PloS one* 6, e17225.
- Davis, C. W., Mattei, L. M., Nguyen, H. Y., Ansarah-Sobrinho, C., Doms, R. W. & Pierson, T. C. (2006a). The location of asparagine-linked glycans on West Nile virions controls their interactions with CD209 (dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 grabbing nonintegrin). The Journal of biological chemistry 281, 37183-37194.
- Davis, C. W., Nguyen, H. Y., Hanna, S. L., Sanchez, M. D., Doms, R. W. & Pierson, T. C. (2006b). West Nile virus discriminates between DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR for cellular attachment and infection. *Journal of virology* 80, 1290-1301.
- Dawson, T. C., Beck, M. A., Kuziel, W. A., Henderson, F. & Maeda, N. (2000). Contrasting effects of CCR5 and CCR2 deficiency in the pulmonary inflammatory response to influenza A virus. *The American journal of pathology* **156**, 1951-1959.
- Day, J. F. (2001). Predicting St. Louis encephalitis virus epidemics: lessons from recent, and not so recent, outbreaks. *Annual review of entomology* **46**, 111-138.
- Defraites, R. F., Gambel, J. M., Hoke, C. H., Jr., Sanchez, J. L., Withers, B. G., Karabatsos, N., Shope, R. E., Tirrell, S., Yoshida, I., Takagi, M., Meschievitz, C. K. & Tsai, T. F. (1999). Japanese encephalitis vaccine (inactivated, BIKEN) in U.S. soldiers: immunogenicity and safety of vaccine administered in two dosing regimens. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 61, 288-293.
- Dejnirattisai, W., Jumnainsong, A., Onsirisakul, N., Fitton, P., Vasanawathana, S., Limpitikul, W., Puttikhunt, C., Edwards, C., Duangchinda, T., Supasa, S., Chawansuntati, K., Malasit, P., Mongkolsapaya, J. & Screaton, G. (2010). Crossreacting antibodies enhance dengue virus infection in humans. *Science* 328, 745-748.
- **Desai, A., Ravi, B., Chandramuki, A. & Gouri-Devi, M. (1994).** Detection of neutralizing antibodies to Japanese encephalitis virus in the cerebrospinal fluid using a rapid microneutralization test. *Serodiagnosis and Immunotherapy in Infectious Disease* 6, 130-134.
- Desbarats, J., Birge, R. B., Mimouni-Rongy, M., Weinstein, D. E., Palerme, J. S. & Newell, M. K. (2003). Fas engagement induces neurite growth through ERK activation and p35 upregulation. *Nature cell biology* 5, 118-125.
- Desbarats, J., Duke, R. C. & Newell, M. K. (1998). Newly discovered role for Fas ligand in the cell-cycle arrest of CD4+ T cells. *Nature medicine* **4**, 1377-1382.
- Dewasthaly, S., Ayachit, V. M., Sarthi, S. A. & Gore, M. M. (2001). Monoclonal antibody raised against envelope glycoprotein peptide neutralizes Japanese encephalitis virus. *Archives of virology* **146**, 1427-1435.
- Dewasthaly, S. S., Bhonde, G. S., Shankarraman, V., Biswas, S. M., Ayachit, V. M. & Gore,

M. M. (2007). Chimeric T helper-B cell peptides induce protective response against Japanese encephalitis virus in mice. *Protein and peptide letters* **14**, 543-551.

Diamond, M. S., Mehlhop, E., Oliphant, T. & Samuel, M. A. (2009). The host immunologic response to West Nile encephalitis virus. *Front Biosci* 14, 3024-3034.

Diamond, M. S., Pierson, T. C. & Fremont, D. H. (2008). The structural immunology of antibody protection against West Nile virus. *Immunological reviews* 225, 212-225.

- Diamond, M. S., Shrestha, B., Marri, A., Mahan, D. & Engle, M. (2003a). B cells and antibody play critical roles in the immediate defense of disseminated infection by West Nile encephalitis virus. *Journal of virology* **77**, 2578-2586.
- Diamond, M. S., Sitati, E. M., Friend, L. D., Higgs, S., Shrestha, B. & Engle, M. (2003b). A critical role for induced IgM in the protection against West Nile virus infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **198**, 1853-1862.

- Dinarello, C. A. (2009). Immunological and inflammatory functions of the interleukin-1 family. Annual review of immunology 27, 519-550.
- Ding, D., Kilgore, P. E., Clemens, J. D., Wei, L. & Zhi-Yi, X. (2003). Cost-effectiveness of routine immunization to control Japanese encephalitis in Shanghai, China. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 81, 334-342.
- Dix, R. D., Podack, E. R. & Cousins, S. W. (2003). Loss of the perforin cytotoxic pathway predisposes mice to experimental cytomegalovirus retinitis. *Journal of virology* 77, 3402-3408.
- Doherty, P. C., Turner, S. J., Webby, R. G. & Thomas, P. G. (2006). Influenza and the challenge for immunology. *Nature immunology* 7, 449-455.
- Doi, R., Oya, A., Shirasaka, A., Yabe, S. & Sasa, M. (1983). Studies on Japanese encephalitis virus infection of reptiles. II. Role of lizards on hibernation of Japanese encephalitis virus. *The Japanese journal of experimental medicine* **53**, 125-134.
- Dokland, T., Walsh, M., Mackenzie, J. M., Khromykh, A. A., Ee, K. H. & Wang, S. (2004). West Nile virus core protein; tetramer structure and ribbon formation. *Structure* 12, 1157-1163.

Dong, Y. & Benveniste, E. N. (2001). Immune function of astrocytes. Glia 36, 180-190.

- Dubischar-Kastner, K., Eder, S., Kaltenboeck, A., Klade, C., Schuller, E. & Wolfl, G. (2009). Long term immunity following vaccination with the inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine IXIARO and neutralizing antibody response to a booster dose. 11th Conference of the International Society of Travel Medicine. Budapest, Hungary.
- Dupuis, S., Dargemont, C., Fieschi, C., Thomassin, N., Rosenzweig, S., Harris, J., Holland,
 S. M., Schreiber, R. D. & Casanova, J. L. (2001). Impairment of mycobacterial but not viral immunity by a germline human STAT1 mutation. Science 293, 300-303.
- Dupuis, S., Jouanguy, E., Al-Hajjar, S., Fieschi, C., Al-Mohsen, I. Z., Al-Jumaah, S., Yang, K., Chapgier, A., Eidenschenk, C., Eid, P., Al Ghonaium, A., Tufenkeji, H., Frayha, H., Al-Gazlan, S., Al-Rayes, H., Schreiber, R. D., Gresser, I. & Casanova, J. L. (2003). Impaired response to interferon-alpha/beta and lethal viral disease in human STAT1 deficiency. *Nature genetics* 33, 388-391.
- Durbin, J. E., Hackenmiller, R., Simon, M. C. & Levy, D. E. (1996). Targeted disruption of the mouse Stat1 gene results in compromised innate immunity to viral disease. *Cell* 84, 443-450.

Ebnet, K., Hausmann, M., Lehmann-Grube, F., Mullbacher, A., Kopf, M., Lamers, M. &

Eckersley AM, P. N., Kinne J, Wernery R, Wernery U. (2011). Improving the dromedary antibody response: the hunt for the ideal camel adjuvant. J Camel Pract Res 18, 35–46.

- Ehrenschwender, M. & Wajant, H. (2009). The role of FasL and Fas in health and disease. Advances in experimental medicine and biology 647, 64-93.
- Eisenbarth, S. C., Colegio, O. R., O'Connor, W., Sutterwala, F. S. & Flavell, R. A. (2008). Crucial role for the Nalp3 inflammasome in the immunostimulatory properties of aluminium adjuvants. *Nature* **453**, 1122-1126.
- Elshuber, S., Allison, S. L., Heinz, F. X. & Mandl, C. W. (2003). Cleavage of protein prM is necessary for infection of BHK-21 cells by tick-borne encephalitis virus. *The Journal of general virology* 84, 183-191.
- Endy, T. P., Nisalak, A., Chunsuttitwat, S., Vaughn, D. W., Green, S., Ennis, F. A., Rothman, A. L. & Libraty, D. H. (2004). Relationship of preexisting dengue virus (DV)

neutralizing antibody levels to viremia and severity of disease in a prospective cohort study of DV infection in Thailand. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **189**, 990-1000.

Engle, M. J. & Diamond, M. S. (2003). Antibody prophylaxis and therapy against West Nile virus infection in wild-type and immunodeficient mice. *Journal of virology* 77, 12941-12949.

Erlanger, T. E., Weiss, S., Keiser, J., Utzinger, J. & Wiedenmayer, K. (2009). Past, present, and future of Japanese encephalitis. *Emerging infectious diseases* 15, 1-7.

Eskenazi, B., Chevrier, J., Rosas, L. G., Anderson, H. A., Bornman, M. S., Bouwman, H., Chen, A., Cohn, B. A., de Jager, C., Henshel, D. S., Leipzig, F., Leipzig, J. S., Lorenz, E. C., Snedeker, S. M. & Stapleton, D. (2009). The Pine River statement: human health consequences of DDT use. *Environmental health perspectives* 117, 1359-1367.

- Exley, C., Siesjo, P. & Eriksson, H. (2010). The immunobiology of aluminium adjuvants: how do they really work? *Trends in immunology* **31**, 103-109.
- Fadel, S. A., Bromley, S. K., Medoff, B. D. & Luster, A. D. (2008). CXCR3-deficiency protects influenza-infected CCR5-deficient mice from mortality. *European journal of immunology* 38, 3376-3387.
- Fagundes, C. T., Costa, V. V., Cisalpino, D., Amaral, F. A., Souza, P. R., Souza, R. S., Ryffel, B., Vieira, L. Q., Silva, T. A., Atrasheuskaya, A., Ignatyev, G., Sousa, L. P., Souza, D. G. & Teixeira, M. M. (2011). IFN-gamma production depends on IL-12 and IL-18 combined action and mediates host resistance to dengue virus infection in a nitric oxide-dependent manner. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 5, e1449.
- Feder, J. N., Gnirke, A., Thomas, W., Tsuchihashi, Z., Ruddy, D. A. & Basava, A. (2003). The discovery of the new haemochromatosis gene. 1996. *Journal of hepatology* 38, 704-709.
- Finke, D., Brinckmann, U. G., ter Meulen, V. & Liebert, U. G. (1995). Gamma interferon is a major mediator of antiviral defense in experimental measles virus-induced encephalitis. *Journal of virology* **69**, 5469-5474.
- Fischer, M., Lindsey, N., Staples, J. E. & Hills, S. (2010). Japanese encephalitis vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *MMWR Recomm Rep* **59**, 1-27.
- Flach, T. L., Ng, G., Hari, A., Desrosiers, M. D., Zhang, P., Ward, S. M., Seamone, M. E., Vilaysane, A., Mucsi, A. D., Fong, Y., Prenner, E., Ling, C. C., Tschopp, J., Muruve, D. A., Amrein, M. W. & Shi, Y. (2011). Alum interaction with dendritic cell membrane lipids is essential for its adjuvanticity. *Nature medicine* 17, 479-487.
- Fleck, M., Kern, E. R., Zhou, T., Podlech, J., Wintersberger, W., Edwards, C. K., 3rd & Mountz, J. D. (1998). Apoptosis mediated by Fas but not tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 prevents chronic disease in mice infected with murine cytomegalovirus. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **102**, 1431-1443.
- Floto, R. A., MacAry, P. A., Boname, J. M., Mien, T. S., Kampmann, B., Hair, J. R., Huey, O. S., Houben, E. N., Pieters, J., Day, C., Oehlmann, W., Singh, M., Smith, K. G. & Lehner, P. J. (2006). Dendritic cell stimulation by mycobacterial Hsp70 is mediated through CCR5. Science 314, 454-458.
- Friedl, G., Hofer, M., Auber, B., Sauder, C., Hausmann, J., Staeheli, P. & Pagenstecher, A. (2004). Borna disease virus multiplication in mouse organotypic slice cultures is sitespecifically inhibited by gamma interferon but not by interleukin-12. *Journal of virology* 78, 1212-1218.
- Fritz, R., Stiasny, K. & Heinz, F. X. (2008). Identification of specific histidines as pH sensors in flavivirus membrane fusion. *The Journal of cell biology* **183**, 353-361.
- Froelich, C. J., Pardo, J. & Simon, M. M. (2009). Granule-associated serine proteases: granzymes might not just be killer proteases. *Trends in immunology* **30**, 117-123.
- Fu, Y., Gavotte, L., Mercer, D. R. & Dobson, S. L. (2010). Artificial triple Wolbachia infection in Aedes albopictus yields a new pattern of unidirectional cytoplasmic incompatibility. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **76**, 5887-5891.
- Fujita, S. & Kitamura, T. (1975). Origin of brain macrophages and the nature of the so-called microglia. Acta neuropathologica Suppl 6, 291-296.
- Fulginiti, V. A., Kempe, C. H., Hathaway, W. E., Pearlman, D. S., Sieber, O. F., Eller, J. J., Joyner, J. J. & Robinson, A. (1968). Progressive vaccinia in immunologically deficient individuals, In: *Immunologic deficiency diseases in man*, Vol 4. Bregsma, D. (Ed). The National Foundation-March of Dimes, New York. 129-144.
- Fuse, S., Tsai, C. Y., Molloy, M. J., Allie, S. R., Zhang, W., Yagita, H. & Usherwood, E. J. (2009). Recall responses by helpless memory CD8+ T cells are restricted by the upregulation of PD-1. *Journal of immunology* 182, 4244-4254.
- Gao, B., Jeong, W. I. & Tian, Z. (2008). Liver: An organ with predominant innate immunity. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md 47, 729-736.
- Gao, X., Gillig, T. A., Ye, P., D'Ercole, A. J., Matsushima, G. K. & Popko, B. (2000).
 Interferon-gamma protects against cuprizone-induced demyelination. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 16, 338-349.

- Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J. & Banerjee, R. (2009). IFN-gamma and IL-4 differentially shape metabolic responses and neuroprotective phenotype of astrocytes. *Journal of neurochemistry* **108**, 1155-1166.
- Geijtenbeek, T. B. & Gringhuis, S. I. (2009). Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. *Nature reviews* 9, 465-479.
- German, A. C., Myint, K. S., Mai, N. T., Pomeroy, I., Phu, N. H., Tzartos, J., Winter, P., Collett, J., Farrar, J., Barrett, A., Kipar, A., Esiri, M. M. & Solomon, T. (2006). A preliminary neuropathological study of Japanese encephalitis in humans and a mouse model. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **100**, 1135-1145.
- Getts, D. R., Terry, R. L., Getts, M. T., Muller, M., Rana, S., Shrestha, B., Radford, J., Van Rooijen, N., Campbell, I. L. & King, N. J. (2008). Ly6c+ "inflammatory monocytes" are microglial precursors recruited in a pathogenic manner in West Nile virus encephalitis. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **205**, 2319-2337.
- **Gherardi, R. K. & Authier, F. J. (2003).** Aluminum inclusion macrophagic myofasciitis: a recently identified condition. *Immunology and allergy clinics of North America* **23**, 699-712.
- Gherardi, R. K., Coquet, M., Cherin, P., Belec, L., Moretto, P., Dreyfus, P. A., Pellissier, J. F., Chariot, P. & Authier, F. J. (2001). Macrophagic myofasciitis lesions assess longterm persistence of vaccine-derived aluminium hydroxide in muscle. *Brain* 124, 1821-1831.
- Ghetie, V., Popov, S., Borvak, J., Radu, C., Matesoi, D., Medesan, C., Ober, R. J. & Ward,
 E. S. (1997). Increasing the serum persistence of an IgG fragment by random mutagenesis. *Nat Biotechnol* 15, 637-640.
- Ghetie, V. & Ward, E. S. (2000). Multiple roles for the major histocompatibility complex class lrelated receptor FcRn. Annual review of immunology 18, 739-766.
- Ghosh, S. N., Goverdhan, M. K., Sathe, P. S., Chelliah, S. C., Naik, S. V., Godbole, P. V. & Banerjee, K. (1990). Protective effect of 6-MFA, a fungal interferon inducer against Japanese encephalitis virus in bonnet macaques. The Indian journal of medical research 91, 408-413.
- Ghoshal, A., Das, S., Ghosh, S., Mishra, M. K., Sharma, V., Koli, P., Sen, E. & Basu, A. (2007). Proinflammatory mediators released by activated microglia induces neuronal death in Japanese encephalitis. *Glia* 55, 483-496.
- Glass, W. G. & Lane, T. E. (2003). Functional expression of chemokine receptor CCR5 on CD4(+) T cells during virus-induced central nervous system disease. *Journal of virology* 77, 191-198.
- Glass, W. G., Lim, J. K., Cholera, R., Pletnev, A. G., Gao, J. L. & Murphy, P. M. (2005). Chemokine receptor CCR5 promotes leukocyte trafficking to the brain and survival in West Nile virus infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **202**, 1087-1098.
- Glass, W. G., McDermott, D. H., Lim, J. K., Lekhong, S., Yu, S. F., Frank, W. A., Pape, J., Cheshier, R. C. & Murphy, P. M. (2006). CCR5 deficiency increases risk of symptomatic West Nile virus infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 203, 35-40.
- Goncalvez, A. P., Chien, C. H., Tubthong, K., Gorshkova, I., Roll, C., Donau, O., Schuck, P., Yoksan, S., Wang, S. D., Purcell, R. H. & Lai, C. J. (2008). Humanized monoclonal antibodies derived from chimpanzee Fabs protect against Japanese
 - encephalitis virus in vitro and in vivo. Journal of virology 82, 7009-7021.
- Gorak-Stolinska, P., Truman, J. P., Kemeny, D. M. & Noble, A. (2001). Activation-induced cell death of human T-cell subsets is mediated by Fas and granzyme B but is independent of TNF-alpha. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **70**, 756-766.
- Goto, N., Kato, H., Maeyama, J., Eto, K. & Yoshihara, S. (1993). Studies on the toxicities of aluminium hydroxide and calcium phosphate as immunological adjuvants for vaccines. *Vaccine* 11, 914-918.
- Goto, N., Kato, H., Maeyama, J., Shibano, M., Saito, T., Yamaguchi, J. & Yoshihara, S. (1997). Local tissue irritating effects and adjuvant activities of calcium phosphate and aluminium hydroxide with different physical properties. *Vaccine* **15**, 1364-1371.

- Gould, D. J., Byrne, R. J. & Hayes, D. E. (1964). Experimental Infection of Horses with Japanese Encephalitis Virus by Mosquito Bits. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 13, 742-746.
- Gould, E. A. & Buckley, A. (1989). Antibody-dependent enhancement of yellow fever and Japanese encephalitis virus neurovirulence. The Journal of general virology 70 (Pt 6), 1605-1608.
- Gould, E. A. & Solomon, T. (2008). Pathogenic flaviviruses. Lancet 371, 500-509.
- Granville, D. J. (2010). Granzymes in disease: bench to bedside. Cell death and differentiation **17**, 565-566.
- Gresser, I., Hardy, J. L., Hu, S. M. & Scherer, W. F. (1958a). Factors influencing transmission of Japanese B encephalitis virus by a colonized strain of Culex tritaeniorhynchus Giles, from infected pigs and chicks to susceptible pigs and birds. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 7, 365-373.
- Gresser, I., Hardy, J. L. & Scherer, W. F. (1958b). The growth curve of Japanese encephalitis virus in the vector mosquito of Japan, Culex tritaeniorhynchus. The Japanese journal of experimental medicine 28, 243-248.
- Grewal, M. S. (1962). The rate of genetic divergence of sublines in the C57BL strain of mice. Genetics Research 3, 226–237.
- Griffin, D. E. (2011). Viral encephalomyelitis. PLoS pathogens 7, e1002004.
- Grossberg, S. E. & Scherer, W. F. (1966). The effect of host age, virus dose and route of inoculation on inapparent infection in mice with Japanese encephalitis virus. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 123, 118-124.
- Grossman, R. A., Edelman, R., Chiewanich, P., Voodhikul, P. & Siriwan, C. (1973a). Study of Japanese encephalitis virus in Chiangmai valley, Thailand. II. Human clinical infections. American journal of epidemiology 98, 121-132.
- Grossman, R. A., Edelman, R., Willhight, M., Pantuwatana, S. & Udomsakdi, S. (1973b). Study of Japanese encephalitis virus in Chiangmai Valley, Thailand. 3. Human seroepidemiology and inapparent infections. American journal of epidemiology 98, 133-149.
- Grossman, R. A., Gould, D. J., Smith, T. J., Johnsen, D. O. & Pantuwatana, S. (1973c). Study of Japanese encephalitis virus in Chiangmai Valley, Thailand. I. Introduction and study design. American journal of epidemiology 98, 111-120.
- Gruenheid, S. & Gros, P. (2010). Forward genetic dissection of innate response to infection in inbred mouse strains: selected success stories. Clinical and experimental immunology **162**, 393-401.
- Grusby, M. J., Johnson, R. S., Papaioannou, V. E. & Glimcher, L. H. (1991). Depletion of CD4+ T cells in major histocompatibility complex class II-deficient mice. Science 253, 1417-1420.
- Gubler, D. J. (2004). The changing epidemiology of yellow fever and dengue, 1900 to 2003: full circle? Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases 27, 319-330.
- Guirakhoo, F., Zhang, Z. X., Chambers, T. J., Delagrave, S., Arroyo, J., Barrett, A. D. & Monath, T. P. (1999). Immunogenicity, genetic stability, and protective efficacy of a recombinant, chimeric yellow fever-Japanese encephalitis virus (ChimeriVax-JE) as a live, attenuated vaccine candidate against Japanese encephalitis. Virology 257, 363-372.
- Gupta, A. K., Lad, V. J. & Koshy, A. A. (2003). Protection of mice against experimental Japanese encephalitis virus infections by neutralizing anti-glycoprotein E monoclonal antibodies. Acta virologica 47, 141-145.
- Gupta, M., Greer, P., Mahanty, S., Shieh, W. J., Zaki, S. R., Ahmed, R. & Rollin, P. E. (2005). CD8-mediated protection against Ebola virus infection is perforin dependent. Journal of immunology **174**, 4198-4202.
- Gupta, N., Lomash, V. & Rao, P. V. (2010). Expression profile of Japanese encephalitis virus induced neuroinflammation and its implication in disease severity. Journal Clinical Virology 49, 4-10.
- Gupta, N. & Rao, P. L. (2011). Transcriptomic profile of host response in Japanese encephalitis virus infection. Virology journal 8, 92.

- Hagn, M., Schwesinger, E., Ebel, V., Sontheimer, K., Maier, J., Beyer, T., Syrovets, T., Laumonnier, Y., Fabricius, D., Simmet, T. & Jahrsdorfer, B. (2009). Human B cells secrete granzyme B when recognizing viral antigens in the context of the acute phase cytokine IL-21. Journal of immunology 183, 1838-1845.
- Haley, M., Retter, A. S., Fowler, D., Gea-Banacloche, J. & O'Grady, N. P. (2003). The role for intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of West Nile virus encephalitis. *Clin Infect Dis* 37, e88-90.
- Hall, R. A., Brand, T. N., Lobigs, M., Sangster, M. Y., Howard, M. J. & Mackenzie, J. S. (1996). Protective immune responses to the E and NS1 proteins of Murray Valley encephalitis virus in hybrids of flavivirus-resistant mice. *The Journal of general virology* 77 (Pt 6), 1287-1294.
- Halstead, S. B. (1979). In vivo enhancement of dengue virus infection in rhesus monkeys by passively transferred antibody. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 140, 527-533.
- Halstead, S. B. (2003). Neutralization and antibody-dependent enhancement of dengue viruses. Advances in virus research 60, 421-467.
- Halstead, S. B. & Jacobson, J. (2003). Japanese encephalitis. Advances in virus research 61, 103-138.
- Halstead, S. B. & O'Rourke, E. J. (1977). Dengue viruses and mononuclear phagocytes. I. Infection enhancement by non-neutralizing antibody. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 146, 201-217.
- Halstead, S. B. & Thomas, S. J. (2011). New Japanese encephalitis vaccines: alternatives to production in mouse brain. *Expert review of vaccines* **10**, 355-364.
- Halstead, S. B. & Tsai, T. F. (2004). Japanese Encephalitis Vaccines. In: Vaccines, 4th ed. Plotkin, S.A. & Orenstein W.A. (Eds). Philadelphia, Saunders. 919-958.
- Hamdan, A., Green, P., Mendelson, E., Kramer, M. R., Pitlik, S. & Weinberger, M. (2002). Possible benefit of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in a lung transplant recipient with West Nile virus encephalitis. *Transpl Infect Dis* **4**, 160-162.
- Hammon, W. M., Rees, D. M. & et al. (1949). Experimental transmission of Japanese B encephalitis virus by Culex tritaeniorhynchus and Culex pipiens var. pallens, suspected natural vectors. *American journal of hygiene* **50**, 46-50.
- Hammon, W. M. & Sather, G. E. (1973). Passive immunity for arbovirus infection. I. Artificially induced prophylaxis in man and mouse for Japanese (B) encephalitis. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 22, 524-534.
- Hanna, J. N., Ritchie, S. A., Phillips, D. A., Lee, J. M., Hills, S. L., van den Hurk, A. F., Pyke, A. T., Johansen, C. A. & Mackenzie, J. S. (1999). Japanese encephalitis in north Queensland, Australia, 1998. The Medical journal of Australia 170, 533-536.
- Hanna, S. L., Pierson, T. C., Sanchez, M. D., Ahmed, A. A., Murtadha, M. M. & Doms, R. W. (2005). N-linked glycosylation of west nile virus envelope proteins influences particle assembly and infectivity. *Journal of virology* 79, 13262-13274.
- Hao, Z., Duncan, G. S., Seagal, J., Su, Y. W., Hong, C., Haight, J., Chen, N. J., Elia, A., Wakeham, A., Li, W. Y., Liepa, J., Wood, G. A., Casola, S., Rajewsky, K. & Mak, T. W. (2008). Fas receptor expression in germinal-center B cells is essential for T and B lymphocyte homeostasis. *Immunity* 29, 615-627.
- Hardison, J. L., Wrightsman, R. A., Carpenter, P. M., Kuziel, W. A., Lane, T. E. & Manning, J. E. (2006). The CC chemokine receptor 5 is important in control of parasite replication and acute cardiac inflammation following infection with Trypanosoma cruzi. Infection and immunity 74, 135-143.
- Hardy, M. P., Owczarek, C. M., Jermiin, L. S., Ejdeback, M. & Hertzog, P. J. (2004). Characterization of the type I interferon locus and identification of novel genes. *Genomics* 84, 331-345.

Harinasuta, C., Nimmanitya, S. & Titsyakorn, U. (1985). The effect of interferon-alpha A on two cases of Japanese encephalitis in Thailand. *The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health* **16**, 332-336.

Hase, T., Dubois, D. R. & Summers, P. L. (1990). Comparative study of mouse brains infected with Japanese encephalitis virus by intracerebral or intraperitoneal inoculation. *International journal of experimental pathology* **71**, 857-869.

- Hase, T., Summers, P. L. & Eckels, K. H. (1989). Flavivirus entry into cultured mosquito cells and human peripheral blood monocytes. *Archives of virology* 104, 129-143.
- Hasegawa, H., Satake, Y. & Kobayashi, Y. (1990). Effect of cytokines on Japanese encephalitis virus production by human monocytes. *Microbiology and immunology* 34, 459-466.
- Hausmann, J., Pagenstecher, A., Baur, K., Richter, K., Rziha, H. J. & Staeheli, P. (2005). CD8 T cells require gamma interferon to clear borna disease virus from the brain and prevent immune system-mediated neuronal damage. *Journal of virology* 79, 13509-13518.
- Hayashi, V. M. (1934). Ubertragung des virus von encephalitis epidemica auf affen. Proceedings of the Imperial Academy of Japan, Tokyo 10, 41-44.
- Heinz, F. X., Collett, M. S., Purcell, R. H., Gould, E. A., Howard, C. R., Houghton, M., Moormann, R. J. M., Rice, C. M. & Thiel, H. J. (2000). "Family Flaviviridae," in Virus Taxonomy. Seventh Report of the International Committee for the Taxonomy of Viruses, M. H. V. van Regenmortel, C. M. Fauquet, D. H. L. Bishop, Eds, Academic Press, San Diego, Calif, USA. 859–878.
- Henkart, P. A. (1994). Lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity: two pathways and multiple effector molecules. *Immunity* 1, 343-346.
- Hennessy, S., Liu, Z., Tsai, T. F., Strom, B. L., Wan, C. M., Liu, H. L., Wu, T. X., Yu, H. J., Liu, Q. M., Karabatsos, N., Bilker, W. B. & Halstead, S. B. (1996). Effectiveness of live-attenuated Japanese encephalitis vaccine (SA14-14-2): a case-control study. Lancet 347, 1583-1586.
- Heppner, G. & Weiss, D. W. (1965). High Susceptibility of Strain A Mice to Endotoxin and Endotoxin-Red Blood Cell Mixtures. J Bacteriol 90, 696-703.
- Hershkovitz, O., Zilka, A., Bar-Ilan, A., Abutbul, S., Davidson, A., Mazzon, M., Kummerer, B. M., Monsoengo, A., Jacobs, M. & Porgador, A. (2008). Dengue virus replicon expressing the nonstructural proteins suffices to enhance membrane expression of HLA class I and inhibit lysis by human NK cells. *Journal of virology* 82, 7666-7676.
- Heusel, J. W., Wesselschmidt, R. L., Shresta, S., Russell, J. H. & Ley, T. J. (1994). Cytotoxic lymphocytes require granzyme B for the rapid induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in allogeneic target cells. *Cell* **76**, 977-987.
- Hickman, H. D., Li, L., Reynoso, G. V., Rubin, E. J., Skon, C. N., Mays, J. W., Gibbs, J., Schwartz, O., Bennink, J. R. & Yewdell, J. W. (2011). Chemokines control naive CD8+ T cell selection of optimal lymph node antigen presenting cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 208, 2511-2524.
- Higaki, T. (1971). Cytochemical studies on leucocyte in children. I. Changes of neutrophil alkaline phosphatase activity in infectious diseases and following immunizations. *Hiroshima journal of medical sciences* **20**, 101-135.
- Hisanaga, K., Hosokawa, M., Sato, N., Mochizuki, H., Itoyama, Y. & Iwasaki, Y. (1999). "Neuro-sweet disease": benign recurrent encephalitis with neutrophilic dermatosis. *Archives of neurology* 56, 1010-1013.
- Hofmeister, Y., Planitzer, C. B., Farcet, M. R., Teschner, W., Butterweck, H. A., Weber, A., Holzer, G. W. & Kreil, T. R. (2011). Human IgG subclasses: in vitro neutralization of and in vivo protection against West Nile virus. *Journal of virology* **85**, 1896-1899.
- Hoke, C. H., Nisalak, A., Sangawhipa, N., Jatanasen, S., Laorakapongse, T., Innis, B. L., Kotchasenee, S., Gingrich, J. B., Latendresse, J., Fukai, K. & et al. (1988).

Protection against Japanese encephalitis by inactivated vaccines. The New England journal of medicine **319**, 608-614.

- Hoke, C. H., Jr., Vaughn, D. W., Nisalak, A., Intralawan, P., Poolsuppasit, S., Jongsawas, V., Titsyakorn, U. & Johnson, R. T. (1992). Effect of high-dose dexamethasone on the outcome of acute encephalitis due to Japanese encephalitis virus. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 165, 631-637.
- Hombach, J., Solomon, T., Kurane, I., Jacobson, J. & Wood, D. (2005). Report on a WHO consultation on immunological endpoints for evaluation of new Japanese encephalitis vaccines, WHO, Geneva, 2-3 September, 2004. *Vaccine* 23, 5205-5211.
- Honda, H., Hasegawa, T., Morokawa, N., Kato, N. & Inoue, K. (1996). [A case of MPO-ANCA related vasculitis with transient leukoencephalopathy and multiple cerebral hemorrhage]. *Rinsho shinkeigaku = Clinical neurology* **36**, 1089-1094.

- Honda, K., Takaoka, A. & Taniguchi, T. (2006). Type I interferon [corrected] gene induction by the interferon regulatory factor family of transcription factors. Immunity 25, 349-360.
- Honda-Okubo, Y., Saade, F. & Petrovsky, N. (2012). Advax, a polysaccharide adjuvant derived from delta inulin, provides improved influenza vaccine protection through broadbased enhancement of adaptive immune responses. Vaccine 30, 5373-5381.
- Hornung, V., Bauernfeind, F., Halle, A., Samstad, E. O., Kono, H., Rock, K. L., Fitzgerald, K. A. & Latz, E. (2008). Silica crystals and aluminum salts activate the NALP3 inflammasome through phagosomal destabilization. Nature immunology 9, 847-856.
- Hou, B., Saudan, P., Ott, G., Wheeler, M. L., Ji, M., Kuzmich, L., Lee, L. M., Coffman, R. L., Bachmann, M. F. & Defranco, A. L. (2011). Selective Utilization of Toll-like Receptor and MyD88 Signaling in B Cells for Enhancement of the Antiviral Germinal Center Response. Immunity 34, 375-384.
- Hsiao, N. W., Chen, J. W., Yang, T. C., Orloff, G. M., Wu, Y. Y., Lai, C. H., Lan, Y. C. & Lin, C. W. (2010). ISG15 over-expression inhibits replication of the Japanese encephalitis virus in human medulloblastoma cells. Antiviral research 85, 504-511.
- Hsu, T. C., Chow, L. P., Wei, H. Y., Chen, C. L. & Hsu, S. T. (1971). A controlled field trial for an evaluation of effectiveness of mouse-brain Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Taiwan yi xue hui za zhi 70, 55-62.
- Hsu, T. C., Gao, J. Q., Lu, K. H., Tsai, C. H., Huang, C. Y. & Tzang, B. S. (2008). Japanese encephalitis virus envelope protein mitigates TNF-alpha mRNA expression in RAW264.7 cells. Inflammation 31, 133-140.
- Huang, C. Y., Butrapet, S., Moss, K. J., Childers, T., Erb, S. M., Calvert, A. E., Silengo, S. J., Kinney, R. M., Blair, C. D. & Roehrig, J. T. (2010). The dengue virus type 2 envelope protein fusion peptide is essential for membrane fusion. Virology 396, 305-315.
- Huffnagle, G. B., McNeil, L. K., McDonald, R. A., Murphy, J. W., Toews, G. B., Maeda, N. & Kuziel, W. A. (1999). Cutting edge: Role of C-C chemokine receptor 5 in organ-specific and innate immunity to Cryptococcus neoformans. Journal of immunology 163, 4642-4646.
- Hugues, S., Scholer, A., Boissonnas, A., Nussbaum, A., Combadiere, C., Amigorena, S. & Fetler, L. (2007). Dynamic imaging of chemokine-dependent CD8+ T cell help for CD8+ T cell responses. Nature immunology 8, 921-930.
- Imai, F., Suzuki, H., Oda, J., Ninomiya, T., Ono, K., Sano, H. & Sawada, M. (2007). Neuroprotective effect of exogenous microglia in global brain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27, 488-500.
- Ishikawa, T., Yamada, H., Oyamada, A., Goshima, F., Nishiyama, Y. & Yoshikai, Y. (2009). Protective role of Fas-FasL signaling in lethal infection with herpes simplex virus type 2 in mice. Journal of virology 83, 11777-11783.
- Ito, N. (1982). [A review on cerebrospinal fluid cytomorphology and proteins]. No to shinkei = Brain and nerve 34, 631-642.
- Iwasaki, Y., Sako, K., Tsunoda, I. & Ohara, Y. (1993). Phenotypes of mononuclear cell infiltrates in human central nervous system. Acta neuropathologica 85, 653-657.
- Janssen, E. M., Droin, N. M., Lemmens, E. E., Pinkoski, M. J., Bensinger, S. J., Ehst, B. D., Griffith, T. S., Green, D. R. & Schoenberger, S. P. (2005). CD4+ T-cell help controls CD8+ T-cell memory via TRAIL-mediated activation-induced cell death. Nature 434, 88-93.

Janssen, E. M., Lemmens, E. E., Wolfe, T., Christen, U., von Herrath, M. G. & Schoenberger, S. P. (2003). CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. Nature 421, 852-856.

- Jelinek, T. (2008). Japanese encephalitis vaccine in travelers. Expert review of vaccines 7, 689-693.
- Jiang, D., Weidner, J. M., Qing, M., Pan, X. B., Guo, H., Xu, C., Zhang, X., Birk, A., Chang, J., Shi, P. Y., Block, T. M. & Guo, J. T. (2010). Identification of five interferon-induced cellular proteins that inhibit west nile virus and dengue virus infections. Journal of virology 84, 8332-8341.
- Johnson, A. J., Chu, C. F. & Milligan, G. N. (2008). Effector CD4+ T-cell involvement in clearance of infectious herpes simplex virus type 1 from sensory ganglia and spinal cords. Journal of virology 82, 9678-9688.

- Johnson, A. J. & Roehrig, J. T. (1999). New mouse model for dengue virus vaccine testing. Journal of virology **73**, 783-786.
- Johnson, R. T., Burke, D. S., Elwell, M., Leake, C. J., Nisalak, A., Hoke, C. H. & Lorsomrudee, W. (1985). Japanese encephalitis: immunocytochemical studies of viral antigen and inflammatory cells in fatal cases. Annals of neurology 18, 567-573.
- Johnson, R. T., Intralawan, P. & Puapanwatton, S. (1986). Japanese encephalitis: identification of inflammatory cells in cerebrospinal fluid. Annals of neurology 20, 691-695.
- Jones, C. T., Ma, L., Burgner, J. W., Groesch, T. D., Post, C. B. & Kuhn, R. J. (2003). Flavivirus capsid is a dimeric alpha-helical protein. Journal of virology 77, 7143-7149.
- Junghans, R. P. (1997). Finally! The Brambell receptor (FcRB). Mediator of transmission of immunity and protection from catabolism for IgG. Immunologic research 16, 29-57.
- Junghans, R. P. & Anderson, C. L. (1996). The protection receptor for IgG catabolism is the beta2-microglobulin-containing neonatal intestinal transport receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93, 5512-5516.
- Kagi, D., Ledermann, B., Burki, K., Seiler, P., Odermatt, B., Olsen, K. J., Podack, E. R., Zinkernagel, R. M. & Hengartner, H. (1994). Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforin-deficient mice. Nature 369, 31-37.
- Kajaste-Rudnitski, A., Mashimo, T., Frenkiel, M. P., Guenet, J. L., Lucas, M. & Despres, P. (2006). The 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 1b is a potent inhibitor of West Nile virus replication inside infected cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 281, 4624-4637.
- Kalita, J., Srivastava, R., Mishra, M. K., Basu, A. & Misra, U. K. (2010). Cytokines and chemokines in viral encephalitis: a clinicoradiological correlation. Neuroscience letters **473**, 48-51.
- Kamperschroer, C., Dibble, J. P., Meents, D. L., Schwartzberg, P. L. & Swain, S. L. (2006). SAP is required for Th cell function and for immunity to influenza. Journal of immunology 177, 5317-5327.
- Karunamoorthi, K. (2011). Vector control: a cornerstone in the malaria elimination campaign. Clin Microbiol Infect 17, 1608-1616.
- Karupiah, G., Xie, Q. W., Buller, R. M., Nathan, C., Duarte, C. & MacMicking, J. D. (1993). Inhibition of viral replication by interferon-gamma-induced nitric oxide synthase. Science **261**, 1445-1448.
- Kasturi, S. P., Skountzou, I., Albrecht, R. A., Koutsonanos, D., Hua, T., Nakaya, H. I., Ravindran, R., Stewart, S., Alam, M., Kwissa, M., Villinger, F., Murthy, N., Steel, J., Jacob, J., Hogan, R. J., Garcia-Sastre, A., Compans, R. & Pulendran, B. (2011). Programming the magnitude and persistence of antibody responses with innate immunity. Nature 470, 543-547.
- Kato, H., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Yoneyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Matsui, K., Uematsu, S., Jung, A., Kawai, T., Ishii, K. J., Yamaguchi, O., Otsu, K., Tsujimura, T., Koh, C. S., Reis e Sousa, C., Matsuura, Y., Fujita, T. & Akira, S. (2006). Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. Nature 441, 101-105.
- Kaufmann, T., Strasser, A. & Jost, P. J. (2012). Fas death receptor signalling: roles of Bid and XIAP. Cell death and differentiation 19, 42-50.
- Kawai, T. & Akira, S. (2010). The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nature immunology 11, 373-384.

Kedarnath, N., Dayaraj, C., Goverdhan, M. K. & Ghosh, S. N. (1987). Replication of Japanese encephalitis virus in monkey, pig and chick leucocyte cultures. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 81, 829-832.

- Keefe, D., Shi, L., Feske, S., Massol, R., Navarro, F., Kirchhausen, T. & Lieberman, J. (2005). Perforin triggers a plasma membrane-repair response that facilitates CTL induction of apoptosis. Immunity 23, 249-262.
- Keightley, P. D. (1998). Genetic basis of response to 50 generations of selection on body weight in inbred mice. Genetics 148, 1931-1939.
- Keiser, J., Maltese, M. F., Erlanger, T. E., Bos, R., Tanner, M., Singer, B. H. & Utzinger, J. (2005). Effect of irrigated rice agriculture on Japanese encephalitis, including challenges and opportunities for integrated vector management. Acta tropica 95, 40-57.

- Kesson, A. M., Blanden, R. V. & Mullbacher, A. (1987). The primary in vivo murine cytotoxic T cell response to the flavivirus, West Nile. The Journal of general virology 68 (Pt 7), 2001-2006.
- Kesson, A. M., Cheng, Y. & King, N. J. (2002). Regulation of immune recognition molecules by flavivirus, West Nile. Viral immunology 15, 273-283.
- Kesson, A. M. & King, N. J. (2001). Transcriptional regulation of major histocompatibility complex class I by flavivirus West Nile is dependent on NF-kappaB activation. The Journal of infectious diseases 184, 947-954.
- Khan, F. A., Fisher, M. A. & Khakoo, R. A. (2007). Association of hemochromatosis with infectious diseases: expanding spectrum. Int J Infect Dis 11, 482-487.
- Khan, I. A., Thomas, S. Y., Moretto, M. M., Lee, F. S., Islam, S. A., Combe, C., Schwartzman, J. D. & Luster, A. D. (2006). CCR5 is essential for NK cell trafficking and host survival following Toxoplasma gondii infection. PLoS pathogens 2, 484-500.
- Khanna, N., Agnihotri, M., Mathur, A. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1991). Neutrophil chemotactic factor produced by Japanese encephalitis virus stimulated macrophages. Clinical and experimental immunology 86, 299-303.
- Khanna, N., Mathur, A. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1994). Regulation of vascular permeability by macrophage-derived chemotactic factor produced in Japanese encephalitis. Immunology and cell biology 72, 200-204.
- Khanna, N., Srivastav, S., Mathur, A. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1993). Stimulation of neutrophil respiratory burst and degranulation by Japanese encephalitis virus-induced macrophage derived factor. International journal of experimental pathology 74, 339-345.
- Khromykh, A. A. & Westaway, E. G. (1997). Subgenomic replicons of the flavivirus Kunjin: construction and applications. Journal of virology 71, 1497-1505.
- Kiessling, R., Klein, E. & Wigzell, H. (1975). "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. European journal of immunology 5, 112-117.
- Kim, S., Li, L., McMurtrey, C. P., Hildebrand, W. H., Weidanz, J. A., Gillanders, W. E., Diamond, M. S. & Hansen, T. H. (2010). Single-chain HLA-A2 MHC trimers that incorporate an immundominant peptide elicit protective T cell immunity against lethal West Nile virus infection. Journal of immunology 184, 4423-4430.
- Kimura, T., Sasaki, M., Okumura, M., Kim, E. & Sawa, H. (2010). Flavivirus encephalitis: pathological aspects of mouse and other animal models. Veterinary pathology 47, 806-818.
- Kimura-Kuroda, J. & Yasui, K. (1988). Protection of mice against Japanese encephalitis virus by passive administration with monoclonal antibodies. Journal of immunology 141, 3606-3610.
- Kindberg, E., Mickiene, A., Ax, C., Akerlind, B., Vene, S., Lindquist, L., Lundkvist, A. & Svensson, L. (2008). A deletion in the chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene is associated with tickborne encephalitis. The Journal of infectious diseases 197, 266-269.
- King, N. J. & Kesson, A. M. (1988). Interferon-independent increases in class I major histocompatibility complex antigen expression follow flavivirus infection. The Journal of general virology 69 (Pt 10), 2535-2543.
- Kitamura, D. & Rajewsky, K. (1992). Targeted disruption of mu chain membrane exon causes loss of heavy-chain allelic exclusion. Nature 356, 154-156.

Kitamura, T., Hattori, H. & Fujita, S. (1972). [EM-autoradiographic studies on the inflammatory cells in the experimental Japanese encephalitis]. Journal of electron microscopy 21, 315-322.

- Klein, R. S. (2008). A moving target: the multiple roles of CCR5 in infectious diseases. The Journal of infectious diseases 197, 183-186.
- Klein, R. S. & Diamond, M. S. (2008). Immunological headgear: antiviral immune responses protect against neuroinvasive West Nile virus. Trends in molecular medicine 14, 286-294.
- Klingel, K., Schnorr, J. J., Sauter, M., Szalay, G. & Kandolf, R. (2003). beta2-microglobulinassociated regulation of interferon-gamma and virus-specific immunoglobulin G confer resistance against the development of chronic coxsackievirus myocarditis. The American journal of pathology 162, 1709-1720.

- Klover, P. & Hennighausen, L. (2010). Generation of a Stat1 conditional allele. MGI Direct Data Submission.
- Knickelbein, J. E., Khanna, K. M., Yee, M. B., Baty, C. J., Kinchington, P. R. & Hendricks, R. L. (2008). Noncytotoxic lytic granule-mediated CD8+ T cell inhibition of HSV-1 reactivation from neuronal latency. *Science* 322, 268-271.
- Knox, J., Cowan, R. U., Doyle, J. S., Ligtermoet, M. K., Archer, J. S., Burrow, J. N., Tong, S. Y., Currie, B. J., Mackenzie, J. S., Smith, D. W., Catton, M., Moran, R. J., Aboltins, C. A. & Richards, J. S. (2012). Murray Valley encephalitis: a review of clinical features, diagnosis and treatment. *The Medical journal of Australia* 196, 322-326.
- Kohlmeier, J. E., Miller, S. C., Smith, J., Lu, B., Gerard, C., Cookenham, T., Roberts, A. D.
 & Woodland, D. L. (2008). The chemokine receptor CCR5 plays a key role in the early memory CD8+ T cell response to respiratory virus infections. *Immunity* 29, 101-113.
- Kohlmeier, J. E., Reiley, W. W., Perona-Wright, G., Freeman, M. L., Yager, E. J., Connor, L. M., Brincks, E. L., Cookenham, T., Roberts, A. D., Burkum, C. E., Sell, S., Winslow, G. M., Blackman, M. A., Mohrs, M. & Woodland, D. L. (2011). Inflammatory chemokine receptors regulate CD8(+) T cell contraction and memory generation following infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 208, 1621-1634.
- Kolaskar, A. S. & Kulkarni-Kale, U. (1999). Prediction of three-dimensional structure and mapping of conformational epitopes of envelope glycoprotein of Japanese encephalitis virus. Virology 261, 31-42.
- Koller, B. H., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. & Smithies, O. (1990). Normal development of mice deficient in beta 2M, MHC class I proteins, and CD8+ T cells. *Science* 248, 1227-1230.
- Komatsu, K., Miyazaki, D., Morohoshi, K., Kuo, C. H., Kakimaru-Hasegawa, A., Komatsu, N., Namba, S., Haino, M., Matsushima, K. & Inoue, Y. (2008). Pathogenesis of herpetic stromal keratitis in CCR5- and/or CXCR3-deficient mice. *Current eye research* 33, 736-749.
- Komuro, A. & Horvath, C. M. (2006). RNA- and virus-independent inhibition of antiviral signaling by RNA helicase LGP2. *Journal of virology* 80, 12332-12342.
- Kong, X. F., Ciancanelli, M., Al-Hajjar, S., Alsina, L., Zumwalt, T., Bustamante, J., Feinberg, J., Audry, M., Prando, C., Bryant, V., Kreins, A., Bogunovic, D., Halwani, R., Zhang, X. X., Abel, L., Chaussabel, D., Al-Muhsen, S., Casanova, J. L. & Boisson-Dupuis, S. (2010). A novel form of human STAT1 deficiency impairing early but not late responses to interferons. *Blood* 116, 5895-5906.
- Konishi, E., Kurane, I., Mason, P. W., Innis, B. L. & Ennis, F. A. (1995). Japanese encephalitis virus-specific proliferative responses of human peripheral blood T lymphocytes. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **53**, 278-283.
- Konishi, E., Kurane, I., Mason, P. W., Shope, R. E. & Ennis, F. A. (1997). Poxvirus-based Japanese encephalitis vaccine candidates induce JE virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes in mice. *Virology* 227, 353-360.
- Konishi, E., Kurane, I., Mason, P. W., Shope, R. E., Kanesa-Thasan, N., Smucny, J. J., Hoke, C. H., Jr. & Ennis, F. A. (1998a). Induction of Japanese encephalitis virusspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in humans by poxvirus-based JE vaccine candidates. Vaccine 16, 842-849.
- Konishi, E. & Mason, P. W. (1993). Proper maturation of the Japanese encephalitis virus envelope glycoprotein requires cosynthesis with the premembrane protein. Journal of

virology **67**, 1672-1675.

Konishi, E., Pincus, S., Fonseca, B. A., Shope, R. E., Paoletti, E. & Mason, P. W. (1991). Comparison of protective immunity elicited by recombinant vaccinia viruses that synthesize E or NS1 of Japanese encephalitis virus. *Virology* **185**, 401-410.

Konishi, E., Pincus, S., Paoletti, E., Laegreid, W. W., Shope, R. E. & Mason, P. W. (1992a). A highly attenuated host range-restricted vaccinia virus strain, NYVAC, encoding the prM, E, and NS1 genes of Japanese encephalitis virus prevents JEV viremia in swine. *Virology* 190, 454-458.

Konishi, E., Pincus, S., Paoletti, E., Shope, R. E., Burrage, T. & Mason, P. W. (1992b). Mice immunized with a subviral particle containing the Japanese encephalitis virus prM/M and E proteins are protected from lethal JEV infection. *Virology* **188**, 714-720.

- Konishi, E. & Suzuki, T. (2002). Ratios of subclinical to clinical Japanese encephalitis (JE) virus infections in vaccinated populations: evaluation of an inactivated JE vaccine by comparing the ratios with those in unvaccinated populations. Vaccine 21, 98-107.
- Konishi, E., Terazawa, A. & Imoto, J. (2003). Simultaneous immunization with DNA and protein vaccines against Japanese encephalitis or dengue synergistically increases their own abilities to induce neutralizing antibody in mice. Vaccine 21, 1826-1832.
- Konishi, E., Yamaoka, M., Khin Sane, W., Kurane, I. & Mason, P. W. (1998b). Induction of protective immunity against Japanese encephalitis in mice by immunization with a plasmid encoding Japanese encephalitis virus premembrane and envelope genes. Journal of virology 72, 4925-4930.
- Konishi, E., Yamaoka, M., Khin Sane, W., Kurane, I., Takada, K. & Mason, P. W. (1999). The anamnestic neutralizing antibody response is critical for protection of mice from challenge following vaccination with a plasmid encoding the Japanese encephalitis virus premembrane and envelope genes. Journal of virology 73, 5527-5534.
- Konno, J., Endo, K., Agatsuma, H. & Ishida, N. (1966). Cyclic outbreaks of Japanese encephalitis among pigs and humans. American journal of epidemiology 84, 292-300.
- Kontgen, F., Suss, G., Stewart, C., Steinmetz, M. & Bluethmann, H. (1993). Targeted disruption of the MHC class II Aa gene in C57BL/6 mice. Int Immunol 5, 957-964.
- Kool, M., Fierens, K. & Lambrecht, B. N. (2011). Alum adjuvant: some of the tricks of the oldest adjuvant. Journal of medical microbiology 61, 927-934.
- Korner, H., Cook, M., Riminton, D. S., Lemckert, F. A., Hoek, R. M., Ledermann, B., Kontgen, F., Fazekas de St Groth, B. & Sedgwick, J. D. (1997). Distinct roles for lymphotoxin-alpha and tumor necrosis factor in organogenesis and spatial organization of lymphoid tissue. European journal of immunology 27, 2600-2609.
- Kramer, L. D., Styer, L. M. & Ebel, G. D. (2008). A global perspective on the epidemiology of West Nile virus. Annual review of entomology 53, 61-81.
- Krishna, V. D., Rangappa, M. & Satchidanandam, V. (2009). Virus-specific cytolytic antibodies to nonstructural protein 1 of Japanese encephalitis virus effect reduction of virus output from infected cells. Journal of virology 83, 4766-4777.
- Krishnan, M. N., Ng, A., Sukumaran, B., Gilfoy, F. D., Uchil, P. D., Sultana, H., Brass, A. L., Adametz, R., Tsui, M., Qian, F., Montgomery, R. R., Lev, S., Mason, P. W., Koski, R. A., Elledge, S. J., Xavier, R. J., Agaisse, H. & Fikrig, E. (2008). RNA interference screen for human genes associated with West Nile virus infection. Nature 455, 242-245.
- Kristensen, I. A., Veirum, J. E., Moller, B. K. & Christiansen, M. (2011). Novel STAT1 alleles in a patient with impaired resistance to mycobacteria. Journal of clinical immunology 31, 265-271.
- Kuhn, R. J., Zhang, W., Rossmann, M. G., Pletnev, S. V., Corver, J., Lenches, E., Jones, C. T., Mukhopadhyay, S., Chipman, P. R., Strauss, E. G., Baker, T. S. & Strauss, J. H. (2002). Structure of dengue virus: implications for flavivirus organization, maturation, and fusion. Cell 108, 717-725.
- Kumar, P., Krishna, V. D., Sulochana, P., Nirmala, G., Haridattatreya, M. & Satchidanandam, V. (2004). Cell-mediated immune responses in healthy children with a history of subclinical infection with Japanese encephalitis virus: analysis of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell target specificities by intracellular delivery of viral proteins using the human immunodeficiency virus Tat protein transduction domain. The Journal of general virology 85, 471-482.

Kumar, P., Lee, S. K., Shankar, P. & Manjunath, N. (2006). A single siRNA suppresses fatal encephalitis induced by two different flaviviruses. PLoS medicine 3, e96.

Kumar, P., Sulochana, P., Nirmala, G., Chandrashekar, R., Haridattatreya, M. & Satchidanandam, V. (2004a). Impaired T helper 1 function of nonstructural protein 3specific T cells in Japanese patients with encephalitis with neurological sequelae. The Journal of infectious diseases 189, 880-891.

Kumar, P., Sulochana, P., Nirmala, G., Haridattatreya, M. & Satchidanandam, V. (2004b). Conserved amino acids 193-324 of non-structural protein 3 are a dominant source of peptide determinants for CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in a healthy Japanese encephalitis virus-endemic cohort. The Journal of general virology 85, 1131-1143.

- Kumar, P., Uchil, P. D., Sulochana, P., Nirmala, G., Chandrashekar, R., Haridattatreya, M.
 & Satchidanandam, V. (2003). Screening for T cell-eliciting proteins of Japanese encephalitis virus in a healthy JE-endemic human cohort using recombinant baculovirus-infected insect cell preparations. Archives of virology 148, 1569-1591.
- Kumar, P., Wu, H., McBride, J. L., Jung, K. E., Kim, M. H., Davidson, B. L., Lee, S. K., Shankar, P. & Manjunath, N. (2007). Transvascular delivery of small interfering RNA to the central nervous system. *Nature* 448, 39-43.
- Kumar, R., Tripathi, P., Baranwal, M., Singh, S., Tripathi, S. & Banerjee, G. (2009). Randomized, controlled trial of oral ribavirin for Japanese encephalitis in children in Uttar Pradesh, India. *Clin Infect Dis* **48**, 400-406.
- Kuno, G., Artsob, H., Karabatsos, N., Tsuchiya, K. R. & Chang, G. J. (2001). Genomic sequencing of deer tick virus and phylogeny of powassan-related viruses of North America. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 65, 671-676.
- Kuno, G., Chang, G. J., Tsuchiya, K. R., Karabatsos, N. & Cropp, C. B. (1998). Phylogeny of the genus Flavivirus. *Journal of virology* 72, 73-83.
- Kutubuddin, M., Kolaskar, A. S., Galande, S., Gore, M. M., Ghosh, S. N. & Banerjee, K. (1991). Recognition of helper T cell epitopes in envelope (E) glycoprotein of Japanese encephalitis, west Nile and Dengue viruses. *Molecular immunology* 28, 149-154.
- Kuziel, W. A., Dawson, T. C., Quinones, M., Garavito, E., Chenaux, G., Ahuja, S. S., Reddick, R. L. & Maeda, N. (2003). CCR5 deficiency is not protective in the early stages of atherogenesis in apoE knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis* 167, 25-32.
- Lai, C. J. & Monath, T. P. (2003). Chimeric flaviviruses: novel vaccines against dengue fever, tick-borne encephalitis, and Japanese encephalitis. Advances in virus research 61, 469-509.
- Lai, H., Engle, M., Fuchs, A., Keller, T., Johnson, S., Gorlatov, S., Diamond, M. S. & Chen, Q. (2010). Monoclonal antibody produced in plants efficiently treats West Nile virus infection in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 2419-2424.
- Lam, K. H., Ellis, T. M., Williams, D. T., Lunt, R. A., Daniels, P. W., Watkins, K. L. & Riggs, C. M. (2005). Japanese encephalitis in a racing thoroughbred gelding in Hong Kong. The Veterinary record 157, 168-173.
- Langevin, S. A., Arroyo, J., Monath, T. P. & Komar, N. (2003). Host-range restriction of chimeric yellow fever-West Nile vaccine in fish crows (Corvus ossifragus). The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 69, 78-80.
- Lanier, L. L. (2008). Up on the tightrope: natural killer cell activation and inhibition. *Nature immunology* 9, 495-502.
- Larena, M. & Lobigs, M. (2011). Immunobiology of Japanese Encephalitis Virus. In: *Flavivirus Encephalitis*. Daniel Ružek (Ed). ISBN: 978-953-307-669-0, InTech, Available from: http://www.intechopen.com/articles/show/title/immunobiology-of-japanese-encephalitisvirus.
- Larena, M., Regner, M., Lee, E. & Lobigs, M. (2011). Pivotal role of antibody and subsidiary contribution of CD8+ T cells to recovery from infection in a murine model of Japanese encephalitis. *Journal of virology* 85, 5446-5455.
- Lavrik, I. N. & Krammer, P. H. (2012). Regulation of CD95/Fas signaling at the DISC. Cell death and differentiation 19, 36-41.
- Layton, R. C., Petrovsky, N., Gigliotti, A. P., Pollock, Z., Knight, J., Donart, N., Pyles, J.,
- Harrod, K. S., Gao, P. & Koster, F. (2011). Delta inulin polysaccharide adjuvant enhances the ability of split-virion H5N1 vaccine to protect against lethal challenge in ferrets. *Vaccine* 29, 6242-6251.
- Le Bon, A., Schiavoni, G., D'Agostino, G., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F. & Tough, D. F. (2001). Type i interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells in vivo. *Immunity* **14**, 461-470.
- Lee, C., Liu, Q. H., Tomkowicz, B., Yi, Y., Freedman, B. D. & Collman, R. G. (2003). Macrophage activation through CCR5- and CXCR4-mediated gp120-elicited signaling pathways. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 74, 676-682.
- Lee, E., Hall, R. A. & Lobigs, M. (2004). Common E protein determinants for attenuation of glycosaminoglycan-binding variants of Japanese encephalitis and West Nile viruses. *Journal of virology* **78**, 8271-8280.

- Lee, E., Leang, S. K., Davidson, A. & Lobigs, M. (2010). Both E protein glycans adversely affect dengue virus infectivity but are beneficial for virion release. *Journal of virology* 84, 5171-5180.
- Lee, E. & Lobigs, M. (2002). Mechanism of virulence attenuation of glycosaminoglycan-binding variants of Japanese encephalitis virus and Murray Valley encephalitis virus. *Journal of virology* **76**, 4901-4911.
- Lee, E., Wright, P. J., Davidson, A. & Lobigs, M. (2006). Virulence attenuation of Dengue virus due to augmented glycosaminoglycan-binding affinity and restriction in extraneural dissemination. *The Journal of general virology* **87**, 2791-2801.
- Lee, J., Kim, S. J., Son, T. G., Chan, S. L. & Mattson, M. P. (2006). Interferon-gamma is upregulated in the hippocampus in response to intermittent fasting and protects hippocampal neurons against excitotoxicity. *J Neurosci Res* 83, 1552-1557.
- Levraud, J. P., Boudinot, P., Colin, I., Benmansour, A., Peyrieras, N., Herbomel, P. & Lutfalla, G. (2007). Identification of the zebrafish IFN receptor: implications for the origin of the vertebrate IFN system. *Journal of immunology* **178**, 4385-4394.
- Li, H. & Durbin, R. (2009). Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics* 25, 1754-1760.
- Li, H., Handsaker, B., Wysoker, A., Fennell, T., Ruan, J., Homer, N., Marth, G., Abecasis, G. & Durbin, R. (2009). The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics* 25, 2078-2079.
- Li, H., Nookala, S. & Re, F. (2007). Aluminum hydroxide adjuvants activate caspase-1 and induce IL-1beta and IL-18 release. *Journal of immunology* **178**, 5271-5276.
- Li, Y., Ye, J., Yang, X., Xu, M., Chen, L., Mei, L., Zhu, J., Liu, X., Chen, H. & Cao, S. (2010). Infection of mouse bone marrow-derived dendritic cells by live attenuated Japanese encephalitis virus induces cells maturation and triggers T cells activation. *Vaccine* **29**, 855-862.
- Liao, C. L., Lin, Y. L., Wu, B. C., Tsao, C. H., Wang, M. C., Liu, C. I., Huang, Y. L., Chen, J. H., Wang, J. P. & Chen, L. K. (2001). Salicylates inhibit flavivirus replication independently of blocking nuclear factor kappa B activation. *Journal of virology* 75, 7828-7839.
- Libraty, D. H., Nisalak, A., Endy, T. P., Suntayakorn, S., Vaughn, D. W. & Innis, B. L. (2002). Clinical and immunological risk factors for severe disease in Japanese encephalitis. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **96**, 173-178.
- Licon Luna, R. M., Lee, E., Mullbacher, A., Blanden, R. V., Langman, R. & Lobigs, M. (2002). Lack of both Fas ligand and perforin protects from flavivirus-mediated encephalitis in mice. *Journal of virology* **76**, 3202-3211.
- Lieberman, J. & Fan, Z. (2003). Nuclear war: the granzyme A-bomb. Current opinion in immunology 15, 553-559.
- Lim, J. K., Glass, W. G., McDermott, D. H. & Murphy, P. M. (2006). CCR5: no longer a "good for nothing" gene--chemokine control of West Nile virus infection. *Trends in immunology* 27, 308-312.
- Lim, J. K., Lisco, A., McDermott, D. H., Huynh, L., Ward, J. M., Johnson, B., Johnson, H., Pape, J., Foster, G. A., Krysztof, D., Follmann, D., Stramer, S. L., Margolis, L. B. & Murphy, P. M. (2009). Genetic variation in OAS1 is a risk factor for initial infection with West Nile virus in man. *PLoS pathogens* 5, e1000321.
- Lim, J. K., McDermott, D. H., Lisco, A., Foster, G. A., Krysztof, D., Follmann, D., Stramer, S. L. & Murphy, P. M. (2010). CCR5 deficiency is a risk factor for early clinical manifestations of West Nile virus infection but not for viral transmission. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 201, 178-185.
- Lim, J. K., Obara, C. J., Rivollier, A., Pletnev, A. G., Kelsall, B. L. & Murphy, P. M. (2011). Chemokine receptor Ccr2 is critical for monocyte accumulation and survival in West Nile virus encephalitis. *Journal of immunology* **186**, 471-478.
- Lin, C. W., Cheng, C. W., Yang, T. C., Li, S. W., Cheng, M. H., Wan, L., Lin, Y. J., Lai, C. H., Lin, W. Y. & Kao, M. C. (2008a). Interferon antagonist function of Japanese encephalitis virus NS4A and its interaction with DEAD-box RNA helicase DDX42. Virus research 137, 49-55.
- Lin, C. W., Liu, K. T., Huang, H. D. & Chen, W. J. (2008b). Protective immunity of E. colisynthesized NS1 protein of Japanese encephalitis virus. *Biotechnology letters* 30, 205-214.
- Lin, M. T., Stohlman, S. A. & Hinton, D. R. (1997a). Mouse hepatitis virus is cleared from the central nervous systems of mice lacking perforin-mediated cytolysis. *Journal of virology* **71**, 383-391.
- Lin, R. J., Liao, C. L., Lin, E. & Lin, Y. L. (2004). Blocking of the alpha interferon-induced Jak-Stat signaling pathway by Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *Journal of virology* 78, 9285-9294.
- Lin, Y. L., Chen, L. K., Liao, C. L., Yeh, C. T., Ma, S. H., Chen, J. L., Huang, Y. L., Chen, S. S. & Chiang, H. Y. (1998). DNA immunization with Japanese encephalitis virus nonstructural protein NS1 elicits protective immunity in mice. *Journal of virology* 72, 191-200.
- Lin, Y. L., Huang, Y. L., Ma, S. H., Yeh, C. T., Chiou, S. Y., Chen, L. K. & Liao, C. L. (1997b). Inhibition of Japanese encephalitis virus infection by nitric oxide: antiviral effect of nitric oxide on RNA virus replication. *Journal of virology* **71**, 5227-5235.
- Lindenbach, B. D., Thiel, H. J. & Rice, C. M. (2007). Flaviviridae: the viruses and their replication. In: *Fields Virology*, 5th edn. Knipe, D.M. & Howley, P.M. (Eds). Philadelphia, PA: LW&W., 1101–1152.
- Lindsey, N. P., Staples, J. E., Lehman, J. A. & Fischer, M. (2010). Surveillance for human West Nile virus disease - United States, 1999-2008. MMWR Surveill Summ 59, 1-17.
- Liou, M. L. & Hsu, C. Y. (1998). Japanese encephalitis virus is transported across the cerebral blood vessels by endocytosis in mouse brain. *Cell and tissue research* 293, 389-394.
- Liu, L., Okada, S., Kong, X. F., Kreins, A. Y., Cypowyj, S., Abhyankar, A., Toubiana, J., Itan, Y., Audry, M., Nitschke, P., Masson, C., Toth, B., Flatot, J., Migaud, M., Chrabieh, M., Kochetkov, T., Bolze, A., Borghesi, A., Toulon, A., Hiller, J., Eyerich, S., Eyerich, K., Gulacsy, V., Chernyshova, L., Chernyshov, V., Bondarenko, A., Grimaldo, R. M., Blancas-Galicia, L., Beas, I. M., Roesler, J., Magdorf, K., Engelhard, D., Thumerelle, C., Burgel, P. R., Hoernes, M., Drexel, B., Seger, R., Kusuma, T., Jansson, A. F., Sawalle-Belohradsky, J., Belohradsky, B., Jouanguy, E., Bustamante, J., Bue, M., Karin, N., Wildbaum, G., Bodemer, C., Lortholary, O., Fischer, A., Blanche, S., Al-Muhsen, S., Reichenbach, J., Kobayashi, M., Rosales, F. E., Lozano, C. T., Kilic, S. S., Oleastro, M., Etzioni, A., Traidl-Hoffmann, C., Renner, E. D., Abel, L., Picard, C., Marodi, L., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Puel, A. & Casanova, J. L. (2011). Gain-of-function human STAT1 mutations impair IL-17 immunity and underlie chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 208, 1635-1648.
- Liu, T. & Chambers, T. J. (2001). Yellow fever virus encephalitis: properties of the brainassociated T-cell response during virus clearance in normal and gamma interferondeficient mice and requirement for CD4+ lymphocytes. *Journal of virology* **75**, 2107-2118.
- Liu, T., Khanna, K. M., Carriere, B. N. & Hendricks, R. L. (2001). Gamma interferon can prevent herpes simplex virus type 1 reactivation from latency in sensory neurons. *Journal of virology* **75**, 11178-11184.
- Liu, Z. L., Hennessy, S., Strom, B. L., Tsai, T. F., Wan, C. M., Tang, S. C., Xiang, C. F., Bilker, W. B., Pan, X. P., Yao, Y. J., Xu, Z. W. & Halstead, S. B. (1997). Short-term safety of live attenuated Japanese encephalitis vaccine (SA14-14-2): results of a randomized trial with 26,239 subjects. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **176**, 1366-1369.
- Lobigs, M., Arthur, C. E., Mullbacher, A. & Blanden, R. V. (1994). The flavivirus nonstructural protein NS3 is a dominant source of cytotoxic T cell peptide determinants. *Virology* 202, 195-201.
- Lobigs, M., Blanden, R. V. & Mullbacher, A. (1996). Flavivirus-induced up-regulation of MHC class I antigens; implications for the induction of CD8+ T-cell-mediated autoimmunity. *Immunological reviews* 152, 5-19.
- Lobigs, M. & Diamond, M. S. (2012). Feasibility of cross-protective vaccination against flaviviruses of the Japanese encephalitis serocomplex. *Expert review of vaccines* **11**, 177-187.

- Lobigs, M., Larena, M., Alsharifi, M., Lee, E. & Pavy, M. (2009). Live chimeric and inactivated Japanese encephalitis virus vaccines differ in their cross-protective values against Murray Valley encephalitis virus. *Journal of virology* **83**, 2436-2445.
- Lobigs, M. & Lee, E. (2004). Inefficient signalase cleavage promotes efficient nucleocapsid incorporation into budding flavivirus membranes. *Journal of virology* **78**, 178-186.
- Lobigs, M., Marshall, I. D., Weir, R. C. & Dalgarno, L. (1988). Murray Valley encephalitis virus field strains from Australia and Papua New Guinea: studies on the sequence of the major envelope protein gene and virulence for mice. *Virology* **165**, 245-255.
- Lobigs, M. & Mullbacher, A. (1995). Recombinant expression of vaccinia virus-encoded TAP1 and TAP2 promotes MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation in a Syrian hamster cell line. *Immunology and cell biology* **73**, 181-184.
- Lobigs, M., Mullbacher, A. & Lee, E. (2004). Evidence that a mechanism for efficient flavivirus budding upregulates MHC class I. *Immunology and cell biology* 82, 184-188.
- Lobigs, M., Mullbacher, A. & Regner, M. (2003a). MHC class I up-regulation by flaviviruses: Immune interaction with unknown advantage to host or pathogen. *Immunology and cell biology* 81, 217-223.
- Lobigs, M., Mullbacher, A. & Regner, M. (2008). CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses in West Nile virus infection. In: West Nile encephalitis virus infection: Virus Pathogenesis and the Host immune response. Diamond, M. (Ed). Springer, New York. 287-309.
- Lobigs, M., Mullbacher, A., Wang, Y., Pavy, M. & Lee, E. (2003b). Role of type I and type II interferon responses in recovery from infection with an encephalitic flavivirus. *The Journal of general virology* 84, 567-572.
- Lobigs, M., Pavy, M. & Hall, R. (2003c). Cross-protective and infection-enhancing immunity in mice vaccinated against flaviviruses belonging to the Japanese encephalitis virus serocomplex. *Vaccine* 21, 1572-1579.
- Lobigs, M., Pavy, M., Hall, R. A., Lobigs, P., Cooper, P., Komiya, T., Toriniwa, H. & Petrovsky, N. (2010). An inactivated Vero cell-grown Japanese encephalitis vaccine formulated with Advax, a novel inulin-based adjuvant, induces protective neutralizing antibody against homologous and heterologous flaviviruses. *The Journal of general virology* **91**, 1407-1417.
- Loh, J., Chu, D. T., O'Guin, A. K., Yokoyama, W. M. & Virgin, H. W. t. (2005). Natural killer cells utilize both perforin and gamma interferon to regulate murine cytomegalovirus infection in the spleen and liver. *Journal of virology* 79, 661-667.
- Lombard, M., Pastoret, P. P. & Moulin, A. M. (2007). A brief history of vaccines and vaccination. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)* 26, 29-48.
- Lopez, A. D., Avasarala, S., Grewal, S., Murali, A. K. & London, L. (2009). Differential role of the Fas/Fas ligand apoptotic pathway in inflammation and lung fibrosis associated with reovirus 1/L-induced bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Journal of immunology* **183**, 8244-8257.
- Lu, Y. C., Yeh, W. C. & Ohashi, P. S. (2008). LPS/TLR4 signal transduction pathway. Cytokine 42, 145-151.
- Luca, V. C., AbiMansour, J., Nelson, C. A. & Fremont, D. H. (2012). Crystal structure of the Japanese encephalitis virus envelope protein. *Journal of virology* 86, 2337-2346.
- Ludolfs, D., Reinholz, M. & Schmitz, H. (2009). Highly specific detection of antibodies to tickborne encephalitis (TBE) virus in humans using a domain III antigen and a sensitive

immune complex (IC) ELISA. J Clin Virol 45, 125-128.

- Luo, D., Yin, H., Xili, L., Song, J. & Wang, Z. (1994). The efficacy of Japanese encephalitis vaccine in Henan, China: a case-control study. *The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health* 25, 643-646.
- Mackenzie, J. M. & Westaway, E. G. (2001). Assembly and maturation of the flavivirus Kunjin virus appear to occur in the rough endoplasmic reticulum and along the secretory pathway, respectively. *Journal of virology* **75**, 10787-10799.
- Mackenzie, J. S., Gubler, D. J. & Petersen, L. R. (2004). Emerging flaviviruses: the spread and resurgence of Japanese encephalitis, West Nile and dengue viruses. *Nature medicine* **10**, S98-109.

- Mackenzie, J. S., Johansen, C. A., Ritchie, S. A., van den Hurk, A. F. & Hall, R. A. (2002). Japanese encephalitis as an emerging virus: the emergence and spread of Japanese encephalitis virus in Australasia. *Current topics in microbiology and immunology* **267**, 49-73.
- Mackenzie, J. S., Williams, D. T. & Smith, D. W. (2007). Japanese encephalitis virus: the geographic distribution, incidence, and spread of a virus with a propensity to emerge in new areas. In Emerging Viruses in Human Populations, ed. E Tabor. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 201–268.
- Macmicking, J. D. (2012). Interferon-inducible effector mechanisms in cell-autonomous immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 12, 367-382.
- Madsen, L., Labrecque, N., Engberg, J., Dierich, A., Svejgaard, A., Benoist, C., Mathis, D.
 & Fugger, L. (1999). Mice lacking all conventional MHC class II genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96, 10338-10343.
- Maksimow, M., Soderstrom, T. S., Jalkanen, S., Eriksson, J. E. & Hanninen, A. (2006). Fas costimulation of naive CD4 T cells is controlled by NF-kappaB signaling and caspase activity. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **79**, 369-377.
- Mangada, M. M., Endy, T. P., Nisalak, A., Chunsuttiwat, S., Vaughn, D. W., Libraty, D. H., Green, S., Ennis, F. A. & Rothman, A. L. (2002). Dengue-specific T cell responses in peripheral blood mononuclear cells obtained prior to secondary dengue virus infections in Thai schoolchildren. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 185, 1697-1703.
- Manolio, T. A. (2010). Genomewide association studies and assessment of the risk of disease. The New England journal of medicine 363, 166-176.
- Mao, R., Zhang, J., Jiang, D., Cai, D., Levy, J. M., Cuconati, A., Block, T. M., Guo, J. T. & Guo, H. (2011). Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase mediates the antiviral effect of gamma interferon against hepatitis B virus in human hepatocyte-derived cells. *Journal of virology* 85, 1048-1057.
- Markoff, L. (2000). Points to consider in the development of a surrogate for efficacy of novel Japanese encephalitis virus vaccines. *Vaccine* **18 Suppl 2**, 26-32.
- Marrack, P., McKee, A. S. & Munks, M. W. (2009). Towards an understanding of the adjuvant action of aluminium. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9, 287-293.
- Marshall, I. D. (1988). Murray Valley and Kunjin Encephalitis. In: *The Arboviruses: Epidemiology and Ecology*, Volume III. Monath, T. (Ed). CRC Press, Florida. 151-190.
- Mashimo, T., Lucas, M., Simon-Chazottes, D., Frenkiel, M. P., Montagutelli, X., Ceccaldi, P. E., Deubel, V., Guenet, J. L. & Despres, P. (2002). A nonsense mutation in the gene encoding 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase/L1 isoform is associated with West Nile virus susceptibility in laboratory mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 11311-11316.
- Mashimo, T., Simon-Chazottes, D. & Guenet, J. L. (2008). Innate resistance to flavivirus infections and the functions of 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetases. *Current topics in microbiology and immunology* **321**, 85-100.
- Mathews, J. H., Allan, J. E., Roehrig, J. T., Brubaker, J. R., Uren, M. F. & Hunt, A. R. (1991). T-helper cell and associated antibody response to synthetic peptides of the E glycoprotein of Murray Valley encephalitis virus. *Journal of virology* **65**, 5141-5148.
- Mathur, A., Arora, K. L. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1981). Congenital infection of mice with Japanese encephalitis virus. *Infection and immunity* 34, 26-29.
- Mathur, A., Bharadwaj, M., Kulshreshtha, R., Rawat, S., Jain, A. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1988). Immunopathological study of spleen during Japanese encephalitis virus infection in mice. *British journal of experimental pathology* **69**, 423-432.
- Mathur, A., Khanna, N. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1992). Breakdown of blood-brain barrier by virusinduced cytokine during Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *International journal of experimental pathology* **73**, 603-611.
- Mathur, A., Khanna, N., Kulshreshtha, R., Maitra, S. C. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1995). Viruria during acute Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *International journal of experimental pathology* **76**, 103-109.
- Matsui, M., Kawano, H., Matsukura, M., Otani, Y. & Miike, T. (2002). Acute transverse myelitis after Japanese B encephalitis vaccination in a 4-year-old girl. *Brain & development* 24, 187-189.

- Matsunaga, Y., Yabe, S., Taniguchi, K., Nakayama, M. & Kurane, I. (1999). [Current status of Japanese encephalitis in Japan]. *Kansenshogaku zasshi* **73**, 97-103.
- McCallum, J. D. (1991). Japanese encephalitis in southeastern Nepal: clinical aspects in the 1986 epidemic. *Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps* 137, 8-13.
- McCandless, E. E., Zhang, B., Diamond, M. S. & Klein, R. S. (2008). CXCR4 antagonism increases T cell trafficking in the central nervous system and improves survival from West Nile virus encephalitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 11270-11275.
- Mehlhop, E., Whitby, K., Oliphant, T., Marri, A., Engle, M. & Diamond, M. S. (2005). Complement activation is required for induction of a protective antibody response against West Nile virus infection. *Journal of virology* **79**, 7466-7477.
- Meier, K. C., Gardner, C. L., Khoretonenko, M. V., Klimstra, W. B. & Ryman, K. D. (2009). A mouse model for studying viscerotropic disease caused by yellow fever virus infection. *PLoS pathogens* **5**, e1000614.
- Melo-Silva, C. R., Tscharke, D. C., Lobigs, M., Koskinen, A., Wong, Y. C., Buller, R. M., Mullbacher, A. & Regner, M. (2011). The ectromelia virus SPI-2 protein causes lethal mousepox by preventing NK cell responses. *Journal of virology* 85, 11170-11182.
- Meraz, M. A., White, J. M., Sheehan, K. C., Bach, E. A., Rodig, S. J., Dighe, A. S., Kaplan, D. H., Riley, J. K., Greenlund, A. C., Campbell, D., Carver-Moore, K., DuBois, R. N., Clark, R., Aguet, M. & Schreiber, R. D. (1996). Targeted disruption of the Stat1 gene in mice reveals unexpected physiologic specificity in the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. *Cell* 84, 431-442.
- Ming, J. G., Jin, H., Riley, J. R., Reynolds, D. R., Smith, A. D., Wang, R. L., Cheng, J. Y. & Cheng, X. N. (1993). Autumn southward 'return' migration of the mosquito Culex tritaeniorhynchus in China. *Medical and veterinary entomology* **7**, 323-327.
- Mishra, M. K. & Basu, A. (2008). Minocycline neuroprotects, reduces microglial activation, inhibits caspase 3 induction, and viral replication following Japanese encephalitis. *Journal of neurochemistry* **105**, 1582-1595.
- Mishra, M. K., Ghosh, D., Duseja, R. & Basu, A. (2009). Antioxidant potential of Minocycline in Japanese Encephalitis Virus infection in murine neuroblastoma cells: correlation with membrane fluidity and cell death. *Neurochemistry international* **54**, 464-470.
- Misra, U. K., Srivastava, R., Kalita, J. & Khan, M. Y. (2010). Sequential changes in serum cytokines and chemokines in a rat model of Japanese encephalitis. *Neuroimmunomodulation* **17**, 411-416.
- Mitamura, T., Kitaoka, M., Mori, K., Okuba, K. & Tenjin, S. (1938). Isolation of the virus of Japanese epidemic encephalitis from mosquitoes caught in nature. *Tokyo Iji Shinshi* 62, 820–824.
- Mitamura, T., Kitaoka, M., Watanabe, M., Okuba, K., Tenjin, S. & al., e. (1936). Study on Japanese encephalitis virus. Animal experiments and mosquito transmission experiments. *Kansai Iji* 1, 260–261.
- Miyakawa, T., Iseki, E., Shiraishi, M., Fujiwara, S. & Kosaka, K. (1999). [An autopsied case of subacute progressive dementia with flactuated disturbance of consciousness, myoclonus and periodic synchronous discharges on EEGs]. No to shinkei = Brain and nerve 51, 969-974.
- Miyake, M. (1964). The Pathology of Japanese Encephalitis. a Review. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 30, 153-160.

Mohammed, M. A., Galbraith, S. E., Radford, A. D., Dove, W., Takasaki, T., Kurane, I. & Solomon, T. (2011). Molecular phylogenetic and evolutionary analyses of Muar strain of Japanese encephalitis virus reveal it is the missing fifth genotype. *Infect Genet Evol* 11, 855-862.

Mombaerts, P., Iacomini, J., Johnson, R. S., Herrup, K., Tonegawa, S. & Papaioannou, V. E. (1992). RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell* 68, 869-877.

Momburg, F., Mullbacher, A. & Lobigs, M. (2001). Modulation of transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP)-mediated peptide import into the endoplasmic reticulum by flavivirus infection. *Journal of virology* **75**, 5663-5671.

- Monath, T. P., Cropp, C. B. & Harrison, A. K. (1983). Mode of entry of a neurotropic arbovirus into the central nervous system. Reinvestigation of an old controversy. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* **48**, 399-410.
- Monath, T. P., Guirakhoo, F., Nichols, R., Yoksan, S., Schrader, R., Murphy, C., Blum, P., Woodward, S., McCarthy, K., Mathis, D., Johnson, C. & Bedford, P. (2003). Chimeric live, attenuated vaccine against Japanese encephalitis (ChimeriVax-JE): phase 2 clinical trials for safety and immunogenicity, effect of vaccine dose and schedule, and memory response to challenge with inactivated Japanese encephalitis antigen. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 188, 1213-1230.
- Monath, T. P., Levenbook, I., Soike, K., Zhang, Z. X., Ratterree, M., Draper, K., Barrett, A. D., Nichols, R., Weltzin, R., Arroyo, J. & Guirakhoo, F. (2000). Chimeric yellow fever virus 17D-Japanese encephalitis virus vaccine: dose-response effectiveness and extended safety testing in rhesus monkeys. *Journal of virology* 74, 1742-1751.
- Monath, T. P., McCarthy, K., Bedford, P., Johnson, C. T., Nichols, R., Yoksan, S., Marchesani, R., Knauber, M., Wells, K. H., Arroyo, J. & Guirakhoo, F. (2002). Clinical proof of principle for ChimeriVax: recombinant live, attenuated vaccines against flavivirus infections. Vaccine 20, 1004-1018.
- Monath, T. P., Soike, K., Levenbook, I., Zhang, Z. X., Arroyo, J., Delagrave, S., Myers, G., Barrett, A. D., Shope, R. E., Ratterree, M., Chambers, T. J. & Guirakhoo, F. (1999). Recombinant, chimaeric live, attenuated vaccine (ChimeriVax) incorporating the envelope genes of Japanese encephalitis (SA14-14-2) virus and the capsid and nonstructural genes of yellow fever (17D) virus is safe, immunogenic and protective in non-human primates. *Vaccine* 17, 1869-1882.
- Moreira, L. A., Iturbe-Ormaetxe, I., Jeffery, J. A., Lu, G., Pyke, A. T., Hedges, L. M., Rocha, B. C., Hall-Mendelin, S., Day, A., Riegler, M., Hugo, L. E., Johnson, K. N., Kay, B. H., McGraw, E. A., van den Hurk, A. F., Ryan, P. A. & O'Neill, S. L. (2009). A Wolbachia symbiont in Aedes aegypti limits infection with dengue, Chikungunya, and Plasmodium. *Cell* 139, 1268-1278.
- Morens, D. M., Folkers, G. K. & Fauci, A. S. (2004). The challenge of emerging and reemerging infectious diseases. *Nature* 430, 242-249.
- Mori, H., Takaoka, S., Ogawa, S., Takiura, F., Ueda, G., Mizutani, Y., Shirai, T., Nishi, K., Hashimoto, H., Hirose, T. & et al. (1993). [A 47-year-old woman with meningeal signs and consciousness disturbance]. *No to shinkei* = *Brain and nerve* **45**, 883-890.
- Mori, Y., Yamashita, T., Tanaka, Y., Tsuda, Y., Abe, T., Moriishi, K. & Matsuura, Y. (2007). Processing of capsid protein by cathepsin L plays a crucial role in replication of Japanese encephalitis virus in neural and macrophage cells. *Journal of virology* 81, 8477-8487.
- Morimoto, T., Kurogi, H., Miura, Y., Sugimori, T. & Fujisaki, Y. (1972). Isolation of Japanese encephalitis virus and a hemagglutinating DNA virus from the brain of stillborn piglets. *National Institute of Animal Health quarterly* **12**, 127-136.
- Morrey, J. D., Siddharthan, V., Olsen, A. L., Roper, G. Y., Wang, H., Baldwin, T. J., Koenig, S., Johnson, S., Nordstrom, J. L. & Diamond, M. S. (2006). Humanized monoclonal antibody against West Nile virus envelope protein administered after neuronal infection protects against lethal encephalitis in hamsters. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 194, 1300-1308.
- Mueller, S. N., Jones, C. M., Stock, A. T., Suter, M., Heath, W. R. & Carbone, F. R. (2006). CD4+ T cells can protect APC from CTL-mediated elimination. *Journal of immunology*

176, 7379-7384.

Mukhopadhyay, S., Kuhn, R. J. & Rossmann, M. G. (2005). A structural perspective of the flavivirus life cycle. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **3**, 13-22.

Mullbacher, A., Hill, A. B., Blanden, R. V., Cowden, W. B., King, N. J. & Hla, R. T. (1991). Alloreactive cytotoxic T cells recognize MHC class I antigen without peptide specificity. *Journal of immunology* **147**, 1765-1772.

Mullbacher, A. & Lobigs, M. (1995). Up-regulation of MHC class I by flavivirus-induced peptide translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum. *Immunity* **3**, 207-214.

Mullbacher, A., Lobigs, M. & Lee, E. (2003). Immunobiology of mosquito-borne encephalitic flaviviruses. Advances in virus research 60, 87-120.

- Mullbacher, A., Regner, M., Wang, Y., Lee, E., Lobigs, M. & Simon, M. (2004). Can we really learn from model pathogens? Trends in immunology 25, 524-528.
- Mullbacher, A., Waring, P., Tha Hla, R., Tran, T., Chin, S., Stehle, T., Museteanu, C. & Simon, M. M. (1999). Granzymes are the essential downstream effector molecules for the control of primary virus infections by cytolytic leukocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96, 13950-13955.
- Muller, U., Steinhoff, U., Reis, L. F., Hemmi, S., Pavlovic, J., Zinkernagel, R. M. & Aguet, M. (1994). Functional role of type I and type II interferons in antiviral defense. Science **264**, 1918-1921.
- Murali, A., Li, X., Ranjith-Kumar, C. T., Bhardwaj, K., Holzenburg, A., Li, P. & Kao, C. C. (2008). Structure and function of LGP2, a DEX(D/H) helicase that regulates the innate immunity response. The Journal of biological chemistry 283, 15825-15833.
- Murali-Krishna, K., Ramireddy, B., Ravi, V. & Manjunath, R. (1995a). Recognition of nonstructural protein peptides by cytotoxic T lymphocytes raised against Japanese encephalitis virus. *Microbiology and immunology* **39**, 1021-1024.
- Murali-Krishna, K., Ravi, V. & Manjunath, R. (1994). Cytotoxic T lymphocytes raised against Japanese encephalitis virus: effector cell phenotype, target specificity and in vitro virus clearance. The Journal of general virology **75**, 799-807.
- Murali-Krishna, K., Ravi, V. & Manjunath, R. (1995b). Japanese encephalitis virus infection of mouse cell lines: ability to prime mice for generation of virus specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and differences in CTL recognisable viral determinants. Archives of virology 140, 127-143.
- Murali-Krishna, K., Ravi, V. & Manjunath, R. (1996). Protection of adult but not newborn mice against lethal intracerebral challenge with Japanese encephalitis virus by adoptively transferred virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes: requirement for L3T4+ T cells. The Journal of general virology 77 (Pt 4), 705-714.
- Murphy, F. A. (1980). Togavirus morphology and morphogenesis. In: The Togaviruses. Biology, Structure, Replication. Schlesinger, R.W. (Ed). New York: Academic Press. 241-316
- Murray, C. L., Jones, C. T. & Rice, C. M. (2008). Architects of assembly: roles of Flaviviridae non-structural proteins in virion morphogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol 6, 699-708.
- Myakishev, M. V., Khripin, Y., Hu, S. & Hamer, D. H. (2001). High-throughput SNP genotyping by allele-specific PCR with universal energy-transfer-labeled primers. Genome Res 11, 163-169.

Nagata, S. (1997). Apoptosis by death factor. Cell 88, 355-365.

- Nam, J. H., Wyatt, L. S., Chae, S. L., Cho, H. W., Park, Y. K. & Moss, B. (1999). Protection against lethal Japanese encephalitis virus infection of mice by immunization with the highly attenuated MVA strain of vaccinia virus expressing JEV prM and E genes. Vaccine 17, 261-268.
- Nansen, A., Christensen, J. P., Andreasen, S. O., Bartholdy, C., Christensen, J. E. & Thomsen, A. R. (2002). The role of CC chemokine receptor 5 in antiviral immunity. Blood 99, 1237-1245.
- Nasveld, P. E., Ebringer, A., Elmes, N., Bennett, S., Yoksan, S., Aaskov, J., McCarthy, K., Kanesa-thasan, N., Meric, C. & Reid, M. (2010). Long term immunity to live attenuated Japanese encephalitis chimeric virus vaccine: randomized, double-blind, 5year phase II study in healthy adults. Human vaccines 6, 1038-1046.

- Navarro-Sanchez, E., Altmeyer, R., Amara, A., Schwartz, O., Fieschi, F., Virelizier, J. L., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F. & Despres, P. (2003). Dendritic-cell-specific ICAM3-grabbing non-integrin is essential for the productive infection of human dendritic cells by mosquito-cell-derived dengue viruses. EMBO reports 4, 723-728.
- Nazmi, A., Dutta, K., Das, S. & Basu, A. (2011). Japanese encephalitis virus-infected macrophages induce neuronal death. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 6, 420-433.
- Nelms, K. A. & Goodnow, C. C. (2001). Genome-wide ENU mutagenesis to reveal immune regulators. Immunity 15, 409-418.

Neumann, H., Schmidt, H., Wilharm, E., Behrens, L. & Wekerle, H. (1997). Interferon gamma gene expression in sensory neurons: evidence for autocrine gene regulation. The Journal of experimental medicine **186**, 2023-2031.

- Nga, P. T., del Carmen Parquet, M., Cuong, V. D., Ma, S. P., Hasebe, F., Inoue, S., Makino, Y., Takagi, M., Nam, V. S. & Morita, K. (2004). Shift in Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) genotype circulating in northern Vietnam: implications for frequent introductions of JEV from Southeast Asia to East Asia. The Journal of general virology 85, 1625-1631.
- Nybakken, G. E., Oliphant, T., Johnson, S., Burke, S., Diamond, M. S. & Fremont, D. H. (2005). Structural basis of West Nile virus neutralization by a therapeutic antibody. *Nature* **437**, 764-769.
- O'Donnell, L. A., Conway, S., Rose, R. W., Nicolas, E., Slifker, M., Balachandran, S. & Rall, G. F. (2012). STAT1-independent control of a neurotropic measles virus challenge in primary neurons and infected mice. *Journal of immunology* 188, 1915-1923.
- Obar, J. J., Molloy, M. J., Jellison, E. R., Stoklasek, T. A., Zhang, W., Usherwood, E. J. & Lefrancois, L. (2010). CD4+ T cell regulation of CD25 expression controls development of short-lived effector CD8+ T cells in primary and secondary responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 193-198.
- Oh, S., Perera, L. P., Terabe, M., Ni, L., Waldmann, T. A. & Berzofsky, J. A. (2008). IL-15 as a mediator of CD4+ help for CD8+ T cell longevity and avoidance of TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 5201-5206.
- Ohrr, H., Tandan, J. B., Sohn, Y. M., Shin, S. H., Pradhan, D. P. & Halstead, S. B. (2005). Effect of single dose of SA 14-14-2 vaccine 1 year after immunisation in Nepalese children with Japanese encephalitis: a case-control study. *Lancet* **366**, 1375-1378.
- Ohtaki, E., Matsuishi, T., Hirano, Y. & Maekawa, K. (1995). Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis after treatment with Japanese B encephalitis vaccine (Nakayama-Yoken and Beijing strains). *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* **59**, 316-317.
- Oliphant, T., Engle, M., Nybakken, G. E., Doane, C., Johnson, S., Huang, L., Gorlatov, S., Mehlhop, E., Marri, A., Chung, K. M., Ebel, G. D., Kramer, L. D., Fremont, D. H. & Diamond, M. S. (2005). Development of a humanized monoclonal antibody with therapeutic potential against West Nile virus. *Nature medicine* 11, 522-530.
- Oliphant, T., Nybakken, G. E., Austin, S. K., Xu, Q., Bramson, J., Loeb, M., Throsby, M., Fremont, D. H., Pierson, T. C. & Diamond, M. S. (2007). Induction of epitope-specific neutralizing antibodies against West Nile virus. *Journal of virology* 81, 11828-11839.
- Oliphant, T., Nybakken, G. E., Engle, M., Xu, Q., Nelson, C. A., Sukupolvi-Petty, S., Marri, A., Lachmi, B. E., Olshevsky, U., Fremont, D. H., Pierson, T. C. & Diamond, M. S. (2006). Antibody recognition and neutralization determinants on domains I and II of West Nile Virus envelope protein. *Journal of virology* 80, 12149-12159.
- Olive, A. J., Gondek, D. C. & Starnbach, M. N. (2011). CXCR3 and CCR5 are both required for T cell-mediated protection against C. trachomatis infection in the murine genital mucosa. *Mucosal immunology* **4**, 208-216.
- Oya, A., Doi, R., Shirasaka, A., Yabe, S. & Sasa, M. (1983). Studies on Japanese encephalitis virus infection of reptiles. I. Experimental infection of snakes and lizards. *The Japanese journal of experimental medicine* **53**, 117-123.
- Pan, C. H., Chen, H. W., Huang, H. W. & Tao, M. H. (2001). Protective mechanisms induced by a Japanese encephalitis virus DNA vaccine: requirement for antibody but not CD8(+) cytotoxic T-cell responses. *Journal of virology* 75, 11457-11463.
- Parra, B., Hinton, D. R., Marten, N. W., Bergmann, C. C., Lin, M. T., Yang, C. S. & Stohlman, S. A. (1999). IFN-gamma is required for viral clearance from central nervous system oligodendroglia. *Journal of immunology* 162, 1641-1647.
- Parra, B., Lin, M. T., Stohlman, S. A., Bergmann, C. C., Atkinson, R. & Hinton, D. R. (2000). Contributions of Fas-Fas ligand interactions to the pathogenesis of mouse hepatitis virus in the central nervous system. *Journal of virology* **74**, 2447-2450.
- Patterson, C. E., Lawrence, D. M., Echols, L. A. & Rall, G. F. (2002). Immune-mediated protection from measles virus-induced central nervous system disease is noncytolytic and gamma interferon dependent. *Journal of virology* **76**, 4497–4506.

- Pearce, B. D., Hobbs, M. V., McGraw, T. S. & Buchmeier, M. J. (1994). Cytokine induction during T-cell-mediated clearance of mouse hepatitis virus from neurons in vivo. *Journal* of virology 68, 5483-5495.
- Peiris, J. S., Amerasinghe, F. P., Amerasinghe, P. H., Ratnayake, C. B., Karunaratne, S. H.
 & Tsai, T. F. (1992). Japanese encephalitis in Sri Lanka--the study of an epidemic: vector incrimination, porcine infection and human disease. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 86, 307-313.
- Peiris, J. S., Amerasinghe, F. P., Arunagiri, C. K., Perera, L. P., Karunaratne, S. H., Ratnayake, C. B., Kulatilaka, T. A. & Abeysinghe, M. R. (1993). Japanese encephalitis in Sri Lanka: comparison of vector and virus ecology in different agroclimatic areas. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 87, 541-548.
- Pellegrini, M., Belz, G., Bouillet, P. & Strasser, A. (2003). Shutdown of an acute T cell immune response to viral infection is mediated by the proapoptotic Bcl-2 homology 3only protein Bim. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100, 14175-14180.
- Perelygin, A. A., Scherbik, S. V., Zhulin, I. B., Stockman, B. M., Li, Y. & Brinton, M. A. (2002). Positional cloning of the murine flavivirus resistance gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 9322-9327.
- Peter, M. E., Budd, R. C., Desbarats, J., Hedrick, S. M., Hueber, A. O., Newell, M. K., Owen,
 L. B., Pope, R. M., Tschopp, J., Wajant, H., Wallach, D., Wiltrout, R. H., Zornig, M.
 & Lynch, D. H. (2007). The CD95 receptor: apoptosis revisited. *Cell* 129, 447-450.
- Peterson, K. E., Errett, J. S., Wei, T., Dimcheff, D. E., Ransohoff, R., Kuziel, W. A., Evans, L. & Chesebro, B. (2004). MCP-1 and CCR2 contribute to non-lymphocyte-mediated brain disease induced by Fr98 polytropic retrovirus infection in mice: role for astrocytes in retroviral neuropathogenesis. *Journal of virology* 78, 6449-6458.
- Petkov, P. M., Cassell, M. A., Sargent, E. E., Donnelly, C. J., Robinson, P., Crew, V., Asquith, S., Haar, R. V. & Wiles, M. V. (2004a). Development of a SNP genotyping panel for genetic monitoring of the laboratory mouse. *Genomics* 83, 902-911.
- Petkov, P. M., Ding, Y., Cassell, M. A., Zhang, W., Wagner, G., Sargent, E. E., Asquith, S., Crew, V., Johnson, K. A., Robinson, P., Scott, V. E. & Wiles, M. V. (2004b). An efficient SNP system for mouse genome scanning and elucidating strain relationships. *Genome Res* 14, 1806-1811.
- Pierson, T. C. & Diamond, M. S. (2008). Molecular mechanisms of antibody-mediated neutralisation of flavivirus infection. *Expert reviews in molecular medicine* **10**, e12.
- Pierson, T. C., Fremont, D. H., Kuhn, R. J. & Diamond, M. S. (2008). Structural insights into the mechanisms of antibody-mediated neutralization of flavivirus infection: implications for vaccine development. *Cell host & microbe* 4, 229-238.
- Pipkin, M. E. & Lieberman, J. (2007). Delivering the kiss of death: progress on understanding how perforin works. *Current opinion in immunology* **19**, 301-308.
- Plesner, A., Ronne, T. & Wachmann, H. (2000). Case-control study of allergic reactions to Japanese encephalitis vaccine. *Vaccine* 18, 1830-1836.
- Poland, J. D., Cropp, C. B., Craven, R. B. & Monath, T. P. (1990). Evaluation of the potency and safety of inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine in US inhabitants. *The Journal* of infectious diseases 161, 878-882.
- Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M. Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E.,

Silva, M., Galanos, C., Freudenberg, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Layton, B. & Beutler, B. (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science* 282, 2085-2088.

Poneprasert, B. (1989). Japanese encephalitis in children in northern Thailand. *The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health* **20**, 599-603.

Proudfoot, A. E. (2002). Chemokine receptors: multifaceted therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2, 106-115.

- Pulendran, B., Miller, J., Querec, T. D., Akondy, R., Moseley, N., Laur, O., Glidewell, J., Monson, N., Zhu, T., Zhu, H., Staprans, S., Lee, D., Brinton, M. A., Perelygin, A. A., Vellozzi, C., Brachman, P., Jr., Lalor, S., Teuwen, D., Eidex, R. B., Cetron, M., Priddy, F., del Rio, C., Altman, J. & Ahmed, R. (2008). Case of yellow fever vaccine-associated viscerotropic disease with prolonged viremia, robust adaptive immune responses, and polymorphisms in CCR5 and RANTES genes. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 198, 500-507.
- Purtha, W. E., Myers, N., Mitaksov, V., Sitati, E., Connolly, J., Fremont, D. H., Hansen, T.
 H. & Diamond, M. S. (2007). Antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes protect against lethal West Nile virus encephalitis. *European journal of immunology* 37, 1845-1854.
- Putvatana, R., Yoksan, S., Chayayodhin, T., Bhamarapravati, N. & Halstead, S. B. (1984). Absence of dengue 2 infection enhancement in human sera containing Japanese encephalitis antibodies. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 33, 288-294.
- Qi, J. & Zhao, F. (2011). inGAP-sv: a novel scheme to identify and visualize structural variation from paired end mapping data. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, W567-575.
- Ramakrishna, C., Ravi, V., Desai, A., Subbakrishna, D. K., Shankar, S. K. & Chandramuki, A. (2003). T helper responses to Japanese encephalitis virus infection are dependent on the route of inoculation and the strain of mouse used. *The Journal of general virology* 84, 1559-1567.
- Rammensee, H., Bachmann, J., Emmerich, N. P., Bachor, O. A. & Stevanovic, S. (1999). SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligands and peptide motifs. *Immunogenetics* **50**, 213-219.
- Ravi, V., Parida, S., Desai, A., Chandramuki, A., Gourie-Devi, M. & Grau, G. E. (1997). Correlation of tumor necrosis factor levels in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid with clinical outcome in Japanese encephalitis patients. *Journal of medical virology* 51, 132-136.
- Reading, P. C. & Smith, G. L. (2003). Vaccinia virus interleukin-18-binding protein promotes virulence by reducing gamma interferon production and natural killer and T-cell activity. *Journal of virology* 77, 9960-9968.
- Regner, M., Lobigs, M., Blanden, R. V., Milburn, P. & Mullbacher, A. (2001). Antiviral cytotoxic T cells cross-reactively recognize disparate peptide determinants from related viruses but ignore more similar self- and foreign determinants. *Journal of immunology* 166, 3820-3828.
- **Reisen, W. K. (1981).** Culex tarsalis Coq. and Cx. tritaeniorhynchus Giles: similarities and differences in bionomics and disease relationships. *Proc Annu Conf Calif Mosq Vector Control Assoc* **49**, 10–14.
- Rinka, H., Ujino, H., Miyachi, T., Kan, M., Shigemoto, T., Kaji, A., Satani, M. & Tsukioka, K. (2000). [Studies on surfactant replacement therapy in pediatric measles pneumonitis]. *Masui* 49, 396-403.
- Rios, J. J., Fleming, J. G., Bryant, U. K., Carter, C. N., Huber, J. C., Long, M. T., Spencer, T. E. & Adelson, D. L. (2010). OAS1 polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to West Nile encephalitis in horses. *PloS one* **5**, e10537.
- Ritchie, S. A., Phillips, D., Broom, A., Mackenzie, J., Poidinger, M. & van den Hurk, A. (1997). Isolation of Japanese encephalitis virus from Culex annulirostris in Australia. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **56**, 80-84.
- Ritchie, S. A. & Rochester, W. (2001). Wind-blown mosquitoes and introduction of Japanese encephalitis into Australia. *Emerging infectious diseases* 7, 900-903.
- **Rivest, S. (2009).** Regulation of innate immune responses in the brain. *Nat Rev Immunol* **9**, 429-439.
- Rode, M., Balkow, S., Sobek, V., Brehm, R., Martin, P., Kersten, A., Dumrese, T., Stehle,
 T., Mullbacher, A., Wallich, R. & Simon, M. M. (2004). Perforin and Fas act together in the induction of apoptosis, and both are critical in the clearance of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. *Journal of virology* 78, 12395-12405.
- Rodrigues, F. M., Guttikar, S. N. & Pinto, B. D. (1981). Prevalence of antibodies to Japanese encephalitis and West Nile viruses among wild birds in the Krishna-Godavari Delta, Andhra Pradesh, India. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **75**, 258-262.

- Rodrigues, P., Lopes, C., Mascarenhas, C., Arosio, P., Porto, G. & De Sousa, M. (2006). Comparative study between Hfe-/- and beta2m-/- mice: progression with age of iron status and liver pathology. *International journal of experimental pathology* **87**, 317-324.
- Rodriguez, M., Zoecklein, L. J., Howe, C. L., Pavelko, K. D., Gamez, J. D., Nakane, S. & Papke, L. M. (2003). Gamma interferon is critical for neuronal viral clearance and protection in a susceptible mouse strain following early intracranial Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus infection. *Journal of virology* 77, 12252-12265.
- Rojas, R. & Apodaca, G. (2002). Immunoglobulin transport across polarized epithelial cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3, 944-955.
- Rokutanda, H. K. (1969). Relationship between viremia and interferon production of Japanese encephalitis virus. *Journal of immunology* **102**, 662-670.
- Romero, V., Fellows, E., Jenne, D. E. & Andrade, F. (2009). Cleavage of La protein by granzyme H induces cytoplasmic translocation and interferes with La-mediated HCV-IRES translational activity. *Cell death and differentiation* **16**, 340-348.
- Rosen, L., Lien, J. C., Shroyer, D. A., Baker, R. H. & Lu, L. C. (1989). Experimental vertical transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus by Culex tritaeniorhynchus and other mosquitoes. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **40**, 548-556.
- Rosen, L., Tesh, R. B., Lien, J. C. & Cross, J. H. (1978). Transovarial transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus by mosquitoes. *Science* **199**, 909-911.
- Rossi, C. P., McAllister, A., Tanguy, M., Kagi, D. & Brahic, M. (1998). Theiler's virus infection of perforin-deficient mice. *Journal of virology* 72, 4515-4519.
- Rothenberg, B. E. & Voland, J. R. (1996). beta2 knockout mice develop parenchymal iron overload: A putative role for class I genes of the major histocompatibility complex in iron metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 93, 1529-1534.
- Rouvier, E., Luciani, M. F. & Golstein, P. (1993). Fas involvement in Ca(2+)-independent T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 177, 195-200.
- Russell, J. H. & Ley, T. J. (2002). Lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. Annual review of immunology 20, 323-370.
- Sadler, A. J. & Williams, B. R. (2008). Interferon-inducible antiviral effectors. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 559-568.
- Saito, T., Katayama, S., Hirata, K., Hirano, Y. & Honma, K. (1990). [A case of Hurst's encephalitis complicated by hepatoma]. *Rinsho shinkeigaku = Clinical neurology* **30**, 888-890.
- Sakaguchi, M. & Inouye, S. (1998). Two patterns of systemic immediate-type reactions to Japanese encephalitis vaccines. *Vaccine* 16, 68-69.
- Sakaguchi, M., Miyazawa, H. & Inouye, S. (2001a). Specific IgE and IgG to gelatin in children with systemic cutaneous reactions to Japanese encephalitis vaccines. Allergy 56, 536-539.
- Sakaguchi, M., Nakashima, K., Takahashi, H., Nakayama, T., Fujita, H. & Inouye, S. (2001b). Anaphylaxis to Japanese encephalitis vaccine. *Allergy* 56, 804-805.
- Sakaguchi, M., Yoshida, M., Kuroda, W., Harayama, O., Matsunaga, Y. & Inouye, S. (1997). Systemic immediate-type reactions to gelatin included in Japanese encephalitis vaccines. *Vaccine* **15**, 121-122.
- Salazar-Gonzalez, J. F., Salazar, M. G., Keele, B. F., Learn, G. H., Giorgi, E. E., Li, H.,

Decker, J. M., Wang, S., Baalwa, J., Kraus, M. H., Parrish, N. F., Shaw, K. S., Guffey, M. B., Bar, K. J., Davis, K. L., Ochsenbauer-Jambor, C., Kappes, J. C., Saag, M. S., Cohen, M. S., Mulenga, J., Derdeyn, C. A., Allen, S., Hunter, E., Markowitz, M., Hraber, P., Perelson, A. S., Bhattacharya, T., Haynes, B. F., Korber, B. T., Hahn, B. H. & Shaw, G. M. (2009). Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **206**, 1273-1289.

309

Sampaio, E. P., Bax, H. I., Hsu, A. P., Kristosturyan, E., Pechacek, J., Chandrasekaran, P., Paulson, M. L., Dias, D. L., Spalding, C., Uzel, G., Ding, L., McFarland, E. & Holland, S. M. (2012). A Novel STAT1 Mutation Associated with Disseminated Mycobacterial Disease. *Journal of clinical immunology* 32, 681-689.

- Samuel, M. A. & Diamond, M. S. (2005). Alpha/beta interferon protects against lethal West Nile virus infection by restricting cellular tropism and enhancing neuronal survival. *Journal of virology* 79, 13350-13361.
- Samuel, M. A., Wang, H., Siddharthan, V., Morrey, J. D. & Diamond, M. S. (2007). Axonal transport mediates West Nile virus entry into the central nervous system and induces acute flaccid paralysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**, 17140-17145.
- Samuel, M. A., Whitby, K., Keller, B. C., Marri, A., Barchet, W., Williams, B. R., Silverman, R. H., Gale, M., Jr. & Diamond, M. S. (2006). PKR and RNase L contribute to protection against lethal West Nile Virus infection by controlling early viral spread in the periphery and replication in neurons. *Journal of virology* 80, 7009-7019.
- Sangster, M. Y., Riberdy, J. M., Gonzalez, M., Topham, D. J., Baumgarth, N. & Doherty, P.
 C. (2003). An early CD4+ T cell-dependent immunoglobulin A response to influenza infection in the absence of key cognate T-B interactions. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 198, 1011-1021.
- Santos, M., Schilham, M. W., Rademakers, L. H., Marx, J. J., de Sousa, M. & Clevers, H. (1996). Defective iron homeostasis in beta 2-microglobulin knockout mice recapitulates hereditary hemochromatosis in man. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 184, 1975-1985.
- Santos, M. M., de Sousa, M., Rademakers, L. H., Clevers, H., Marx, J. J. & Schilham, M. W. (2000). Iron overload and heart fibrosis in mice deficient for both beta2-microglobulin and Rag1. *The American journal of pathology* **157**, 1883-1892.
- Sato, N., Kuziel, W. A., Melby, P. C., Reddick, R. L., Kostecki, V., Zhao, W., Maeda, N., Ahuja, S. K. & Ahuja, S. S. (1999). Defects in the generation of IFN-gamma are overcome to control infection with Leishmania donovani in CC chemokine receptor (CCR) 5-, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha-, or CCR2-deficient mice. *Journal* of immunology 163, 5519-5525.
- Sato, Y., Hachiya, N., Kuno, H., Asoh, T. & Oizumi, K. (1998). Cerebrospinal fluid atypical lymphocytes in Japanese encephalitis. *Journal of the neurological sciences* 160, 92-95.
- Satoh, T., Kato, H., Kumagai, Y., Yoneyama, M., Sato, S., Matsushita, K., Tsujimura, T., Fujita, T., Akira, S. & Takeuchi, O. (2010). LGP2 is a positive regulator of RIG-I- and MDA5-mediated antiviral responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 107, 1512-1517.
- Saxena, S. K., Mathur, A. & Srivastava, R. C. (2001). Induction of nitric oxide synthase during Japanese encephalitis virus infection: evidence of protective role. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **391**, 1-7.
- Saxena, S. K., Singh, A. & Mathur, A. (2000). Antiviral effect of nitric oxide during Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *International journal of experimental pathology* **81**, 165-172.
- Saxena, V., Mathur, A., Krishnani, N. & Dhole, T. N. (2008). Kinetics of cytokine profile during intraperitoneal inoculation of Japanese encephalitis virus in BALB/c mice model. *Microbes and infection* **10**, 1210-1217.
- Sayers, S., Ulysse, G., Xiang, Z. & He, Y. (2012). Vaxjo: a web-based vaccine adjuvant database and its application for analysis of vaccine adjuvants and their uses in vaccine development. *Journal of biomedicine & biotechnology* **2012**, 831486.
- Scherbik, S. V., Paranjape, J. M., Stockman, B. M., Silverman, R. H. & Brinton, M. A. (2006). RNase L plays a role in the antiviral response to West Nile virus. *Journal of*

virology **80**, 2987-2999.

Scherer, W. F. & Buescher, E. L. (1959). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis firus in Japan. I. Introduction. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 8, 644-650.

Scherer, W. F., Buescher, E. L., Flemings, M. B., Noguchi, A. & Scanlon, J. (1959a). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. III. Mosquito factors. Zootropism and vertical flight of Culex tritaeniorhynchus with observations on variations in collections from animal-baited traps in different habitats. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 8, 665-677.

Scherer, W. F., Buescher, E. L. & Mc, C. H. (1959b). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. V. Avian factors. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **8**, 689-697.

- Scherer, W. F., Buescher, E. L., Southam, C. M., Flemings, M. B. & Noguchi, A. (1959c). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. VIII. Survey for infection of wild rodents. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 8, 716-718.
- Scherer, W. F., Kitaoka, M., Grossberg, S. E., Okuno, T., Ogata, T. & Chanock, R. M. (1959d). Immunologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. II. Antibody responses following inapparent human infection. Journal of immunology 83, 594-604.
- Scherer, W. F., Kitaoka, M., Okuno, T. & Ogata, T. (1959e). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. VII. Human infection. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 8, 707-715.
- Scherer, W. F., Moyer, J. T. & Izumi, T. (1959f). Immunologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. V. Maternal antibodies, antibody responses and viremia following infection of swine. Journal of immunology 83, 620-626.
- Scherer, W. F., Moyer, J. T., Izumi, T., Gresser, I. & Mc, C. J. (1959g). Ecologic studies of Japanese encephalitis virus in Japan. VI. Swine infection. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 8, 698-706.
- Schioler, K. L., Samuel, M. & Wai, K. L. (2007). Vaccines for preventing Japanese encephalitis. Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online), CD004263.
- Schmitz, N., Kurrer, M., Bachmann, M. F. & Kopf, M. (2005). Interleukin-1 is responsible for acute lung immunopathology but increases survival of respiratory influenza virus infection. Journal of virology 79, 6441-6448.
- Schoenborn, J. R. & Wilson, C. B. (2007). Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. Adv Immunol 96, 41-101.
- Schoggins, J. W., Wilson, S. J., Panis, M., Murphy, M. Y., Jones, C. T., Bieniasz, P. & Rice, C. M. (2011). A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. Nature 472, 481-485.
- Schroder, K., Hertzog, P. J., Ravasi, T. & Hume, D. A. (2004). Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. Journal of leukocyte biology 75, 163-189.
- Schuller, E., Jilma, B., Voicu, V., Golor, G., Kollaritsch, H., Kaltenbock, A., Klade, C. & Tauber, E. (2008). Long-term immunogenicity of the new Vero cell-derived, inactivated Japanese encephalitis virus vaccine IC51 Six and 12 month results of a multicenter follow-up phase 3 study. Vaccine 26, 4382-4386.
- Seif, S. A., Morita, K., Matsuo, S., Hasebe, F. & Igarashi, A. (1995). Finer mapping of neutralizing epitope(s) on the C-terminal of Japanese encephalitis virus E-protein expressed in recombinant Escherichia coli system. Vaccine 13, 1515-1521.
- Sejvar, J. J., Bode, A. V., Marfin, A. A., Campbell, G. L., Pape, J., Biggerstaff, B. J. & Petersen, L. R. (2006). West Nile Virus-associated flaccid paralysis outcome. Emerging infectious diseases 12, 514-516.
- Sellers, R. F. (1980). Weather, host and vector--their interplay in the spread of insect-borne animal virus diseases. The Journal of hygiene 85, 65-102.
- Shimada, K., Koh, C. S., Hashimoto, T., Shoji, S. & Yanagisawa, N. (1989). [A case of aseptic meningoencephalitis with recurrent abnormal behavior, status epilepticus and aphthous stomatitis, improved by acyclovir]. Rinsho shinkeigaku = Clinical neurology **29**, 367-370.
- Shimoni, Z., Niven, M. J., Pitlick, S. & Bulvik, S. (2001). Treatment of West Nile virus encephalitis with intravenous immunoglobulin. Emerging infectious diseases 7, 759.

- Shiraki, H. (1970). Japanese encephalitis. In: Clinical virology: the evaluation and management of human viral infections. Debre, R. & Celers, J.H. (Eds). Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders. . 155-175.
- Shresta, S., Kyle, J. L., Snider, H. M., Basavapatna, M., Beatty, P. R. & Harris, E. (2004). Interferon-dependent immunity is essential for resistance to primary dengue virus infection in mice, whereas T- and B-cell-dependent immunity are less critical. Journal of virology 78, 2701-2710.

Shrestha, B. & Diamond, M. S. (2004). Role of CD8+ T cells in control of West Nile virus infection. Journal of virology 78, 8312-8321.

- Shrestha, B. & Diamond, M. S. (2007). Fas ligand interactions contribute to CD8+ T-cellmediated control of West Nile virus infection in the central nervous system. *Journal of virology* 81, 11749-11757.
- Shrestha, B., Samuel, M. A. & Diamond, M. S. (2006a). CD8+ T cells require perforin to clear West Nile virus from infected neurons. *Journal of virology* 80, 119-129.
- Shrestha, B., Wang, T., Samuel, M. A., Whitby, K., Craft, J., Fikrig, E. & Diamond, M. S. (2006b). Gamma interferon plays a crucial early antiviral role in protection against West Nile virus infection. *Journal of virology* 80, 5338-5348.
- Silva, M. C., Guerrero-Plata, A., Gilfoy, F. D., Garofalo, R. P. & Mason, P. W. (2007). Differential activation of human monocyte-derived and plasmacytoid dendritic cells by West Nile virus generated in different host cells. *Journal of virology* **81**, 13640-13648.
- Silverman, R. H. (2007). Viral encounters with 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and RNase L during the interferon antiviral response. *Journal of virology* 81, 12720-12729.
- Simister, N. E. & Mostov, K. E. (1989). An Fc receptor structurally related to MHC class I antigens. *Nature* 337, 184-187.
- Simmons, C. P., Farrar, J. J., Nguyen v, V. & Wills, B. (2012). Dengue. The New England journal of medicine 366, 1423-1432.
- Simon, M. M. (1995). Granzyme A-deficient mice retain potent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *The EMBO journal* 14, 4230-4239.
- Simon, M. M., Hausmann, M., Tran, T., Ebnet, K., Tschopp, J., ThaHla, R. & Mullbacher, A. (1997). In vitro- and ex vivo-derived cytolytic leukocytes from granzyme A x B double knockout mice are defective in granule-mediated apoptosis but not lysis of target cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 186, 1781-1786.
- Simon, M. M. & Kramer, M. D. (1994). Granzyme A. Methods in enzymology 244, 68-79.
- Simon, V., Ho, D. D. & Abdool Karim, Q. (2006). HIV/AIDS epidemiology, pathogenesis, prevention, and treatment. *Lancet* 368, 489-504.
- Singh, A., Kulshreshtha, R. & Mathur, A. (2000a). An enzyme immunoassay for detection of Japanese encephalitis virus-induced chemotactic cytokine. *Journal of biosciences* 25, 47-55.
- Singh, A., Kulshreshtha, R. & Mathur, A. (2000b). Secretion of the chemokine interleukin-8 during Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *Journal of medical microbiology* 49, 607-612.
- Siraprapasiri, T., Sawaddiwudhipong, W. & Rojanasuphot, S. (1997). Cost benefit analysis of Japanese encephalitis vaccination program in Thailand. *The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health* **28**, 143-148.
- Sitati, E., McCandless, E. E., Klein, R. S. & Diamond, M. S. (2007). CD40-CD40 ligand interactions promote trafficking of CD8+ T cells into the brain and protection against West Nile virus encephalitis. *Journal of virology* **81**, 9801-9811.
- Sitati, E. M. & Diamond, M. S. (2006). CD4+ T-cell responses are required for clearance of West Nile virus from the central nervous system. *Journal of virology* **80**, 12060-12069.
- Smeekens, S. P., Plantinga, T. S., van de Veerdonk, F. L., Heinhuis, B., Hoischen, A., Joosten, L. A., Arkwright, P. D., Gennery, A., Kullberg, B. J., Veltman, J. A., Lilic, D., van der Meer, J. W. & Netea, M. G. (2011). STAT1 hyperphosphorylation and defective IL12R/IL23R signaling underlie defective immunity in autosomal dominant chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. *PloS one* 6, e29248.

Solomon, T. (2003). Recent advances in Japanese encephalitis. *Journal of neurovirology* 9, 274-283.

- Solomon, T. (2004). Flavivirus encephalitis. *The New England journal of medicine* 351, 370-378.
- Solomon, T., Dung, N. M., Kneen, R., Gainsborough, M., Vaughn, D. W. & Khanh, V. T. (2000). Japanese encephalitis. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 68, 405-415.
- Solomon, T., Dung, N. M., Kneen, R., Thao le, T. T., Gainsborough, M., Nisalak, A., Day, N.
 P., Kirkham, F. J., Vaughn, D. W., Smith, S. & White, N. J. (2002). Seizures and raised intracranial pressure in Vietnamese patients with Japanese encephalitis. *Brain* 125, 1084-1093.

- Solomon, T., Dung, N. M., Wills, B., Kneen, R., Gainsborough, M., Diet, T. V., Thuy, T. T., Loan, H. T., Khanh, V. C., Vaughn, D. W., White, N. J. & Farrar, J. J. (2003a). Interferon alfa-2a in Japanese encephalitis: a randomised double-blind placebocontrolled trial. Lancet 361, 821-826.
- Solomon, T., Kneen, R., Dung, N. M., Khanh, V. C., Thuy, T. T., Ha, D. Q., Day, N. P., Nisalak, A., Vaughn, D. W. & White, N. J. (1998). Poliomyelitis-like illness due to Japanese encephalitis virus. Lancet 351, 1094-1097.
- Solomon, T., Ni, H., Beasley, D. W., Ekkelenkamp, M., Cardosa, M. J. & Barrett, A. D. (2003b). Origin and evolution of Japanese encephalitis virus in southeast Asia. Journal of virology 77, 3091-3098.
- Song, J. H., Wang, C. X., Song, D. K., Wang, P., Shuaib, A. & Hao, C. (2005). Interferon gamma induces neurite outgrowth by up-regulation of p35 neuron-specific cyclindependent kinase 5 activator via activation of ERK1/2 pathway. The Journal of biological chemistry 280, 12896-12901.
- Sorce, S., Myburgh, R. & Krause, K. H. (2011). The chemokine receptor CCR5 in the central nervous system. Progress in neurobiology 93, 297-311.
- Souza, A. L., Souza, P. R., Pereira, C. A., Fernandes, A., Guabiraba, R., Russo, R. C., Vieira, L. Q., Correa, A., Jr., Teixeira, M. M. & Negrao-Correa, D. (2011). Experimental infection with Schistosoma mansoni in CCR5-deficient mice is associated with increased disease severity, as CCR5 plays a role in controlling granulomatous inflammation. Infection and immunity 79, 1741-1749.
- Spohn, G. & Bachmann, M. F. (2008). Exploiting viral properties for the rational design of modern vaccines. Expert review of vaccines 7, 43-54.
- Srivastava, S., Khanna, N., Mathur, A. & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1994). Role of calcium in neutrophil activation by Japanese encephalitis virus-induced macrophage derived factor. Acta virologica 38, 111-116.
- Srivastava, S., Khanna, N., Saxena, S. K., Singh, A., Mathur, A. & Dhole, T. N. (1999). Degradation of Japanese encephalitis virus by neutrophils. International journal of experimental pathology 80, 17-24.
- Stadler, K., Allison, S. L., Schalich, J. & Heinz, F. X. (1997). Proteolytic activation of tickborne encephalitis virus by furin. Journal of virology 71, 8475-8481.
- Sulkin, S. E., Allen, R. & Sims, R. (1966). Studies of arthropod-borne virus infections in Chiroptera. 3. Influence of environmental temperature on experimental infection with Japanese B and St. Louis encephalitis viruses. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 15, 406-417.
- Sulkin, S. E., Sims, R. & Allen, R. (1964). Studies of Arthropod-Borne Virus Infections in Chiroptera. Ii. Experiments with Japanese B and St. Louis Encephalitis Viruses in the Gravid Bat. Evidence of Transplacental Transmission. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 13, 475-481.
- Sulonen, A. M., Ellonen, P., Almusa, H., Lepisto, M., Eldfors, S., Hannula, S., Miettinen, T., Tyynismaa, H., Salo, P., Heckman, C., Joensuu, H., Raivio, T., Suomalainen, A. & Saarela, J. (2011). Comparison of solution-based exome capture methods for next generation sequencing. Genome biology 12, R94.
- Sumiyoshi, H., Mori, C., Fuke, I., Morita, K., Kuhara, S., Kondou, J., Kikuchi, Y., Nagamatu, H. & Igarashi, A. (1987). Complete nucleotide sequence of the Japanese encephalitis virus genome RNA. Virology 161, 497-510.

- Suraratdecha, C., Jacobson, J., Sivalenka, S. & Narahari, D. (2006). A Cost-effectiveness Analysis of Strategies for Controlling Japanese Encephalitis in Andhra Pradesh, India. Journal of Pharmaceutical Finance, Economics & Policy 15.
- Sutherland, D. B., Ranasinghe, C., Regner, M., Phipps, S., Matthaei, K. I., Day, S. L. & Ramshaw, I. A. (2011). Evaluating vaccinia virus cytokine co-expression in TLR GKO mice. Immunology and cell biology 89, 706-715.
- Suzuki, T., Ishii-Watabe, A., Tada, M., Kobayashi, T., Kanayasu-Toyoda, T., Kawanishi, T. & Yamaguchi, T. (2010). Importance of neonatal FcR in regulating the serum half-life of therapeutic proteins containing the Fc domain of human IgG1: a comparative study of the affinity of monoclonal antibodies and Fc-fusion proteins to human neonatal FcR. Journal of immunology **184**, 1968-1976.

- Swain, S. L., McKinstry, K. K. & Strutt, T. M. (2012). Expanding roles for CD4(+) T cells in immunity to viruses. *Nat Rev Immunol* 12, 136-148.
- Swarup, V., Ghosh, J., Das, S. & Basu, A. (2008). Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated death domain mediated neuronal death contributes to the glial activation and subsequent neuroinflammation in Japanese encephalitis. *Neurochemistry international* 52, 1310-1321.
- Szretter, K. J., Gangappa, S., Lu, X., Smith, C., Shieh, W. J., Zaki, S. R., Sambhara, S., Tumpey, T. M. & Katz, J. M. (2007). Role of host cytokine responses in the pathogenesis of avian H5N1 influenza viruses in mice. *Journal of virology* 81, 2736-2744.
- Takada, K., Masaki, H., Konishi, E., Takahashi, M. & Kurane, I. (2000). Definition of an epitope on Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) envelope protein recognized by JEV-specific murine CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Archives of virology* **145**, 523-534.
- Takagi, K., Umezawa, T., Saji, T., Morooka, K. & Matsuo, N. (1990). [Meningoencephalitis in Kawasaki disease]. No to hattatsu 22, 429-435.
- Takahashi, H., Pool, V., Tsai, T. F. & Chen, R. T. (2000). Adverse events after Japanese encephalitis vaccination: review of post-marketing surveillance data from Japan and the United States. The VAERS Working Group. Vaccine 18, 2963-2969.
- Takashima, I. & Rosen, L. (1989). Horizontal and vertical transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus by Aedes japonicus (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of medical entomology 26, 454-458.
- Takeuchi, O. & Akira, S. (2010). Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell* 140, 805-820.
- Tamm, C., Robertson, J. D., Sleeper, E., Enoksson, M., Emgard, M., Orrenius, S. & Ceccatelli, S. (2004). Differential regulation of the mitochondrial and death receptor pathways in neural stem cells. *The European journal of neuroscience* 19, 2613-2621.
- Tay, C. H., Welsh, R. M. & Brutkiewicz, R. R. (1995). NK cell response to viral infections in beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. *Journal of immunology* **154**, 780-789.
- Taylor, J. L., Schoenherr, C. & Grossberg, S. E. (1980). Protection against Japanese encephalitis virus in mice and hamsters by treatment with carboxymethylacridanone, a potent interferon inducer. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **142**, 394-399.
- Tenoever, B. R., Ng, S. L., Chua, M. A., McWhirter, S. M., Garcia-Sastre, A. & Maniatis, T. (2007). Multiple functions of the IKK-related kinase IKKepsilon in interferon-mediated antiviral immunity. Science 315, 1274-1278.
- Terajima, M. & Leporati, A. M. (2005). Role of Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase in Antiviral Activity of Interferon-gamma Against Vaccinia Virus. *Viral immunology* **18**, 722-729.
- Thakare, J. P., Gore, M. M., Risbud, A. R., Banerjee, K. & Ghosh, S. N. (1991). Detection of virus specific IgG subclasses in Japanese encephalitis patients. *Indian J Med Res* 93, 271-276.
- Thapa, M., Kuziel, W. A. & Carr, D. J. (2007). Susceptibility of CCR5-deficient mice to genital herpes simplex virus type 2 is linked to NK cell mobilization. *Journal of virology* 81, 3704-3713.
- Thomas, D. D., Donnelly, C. A., Wood, R. J. & Alphey, L. S. (2000). Insect population control using a dominant, repressible, lethal genetic system. *Science* **287**, 2474-2476.

Thongtan, T., Cheepsunthorn, P., Chaiworakul, V., Rattanarungsan, C., Wikan, N. &

- Smith, D. R. (2010). Highly permissive infection of microglial cells by Japanese encephalitis virus: a possible role as a viral reservoir. *Microbes and infection* **12**, 37-45.
- Tishon, A., Lewicki, H., Rall, G., Von Herrath, M. & Oldstone, M. B. (1995). An essential role for type 1 interferon-gamma in terminating persistent viral infection. *Virology* **212**, 244-250.
- Tisoncik, J. R., Belisle, S. E., Diamond, D. L., Korth, M. J. & Katze, M. G. (2009). Is systems biology the key to preventing the next pandemic? *Future Virol* **4**, 553-561.
- Topham, D. J., Tripp, R. A. & Doherty, P. C. (1997). CD8+ T cells clear influenza virus by perforin or Fas-dependent processes. *Journal of immunology* **159**, 5197-5200.
- Toriniwa, H. & Komiya, T. (2008). Long-term stability of Vero cell-derived inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine prepared using serum-free medium. *Vaccine* 26, 3680-3689.

- Torresi, J., McCarthy, K., Feroldi, E. & Meric, C. (2010). Immunogenicity, safety and tolerability in adults of a new single-dose, live-attenuated vaccine against Japanese encephalitis: Randomised controlled phase 3 trials. Vaccine 28, 7993-8000.
- Touch, S., Suraratdecha, C., Samnang, C., Heng, S., Gazley, L., Huch, C., Sovann, L., Chhay, C. S. & Soeung, S. C. (2010). A cost-effectiveness analysis of Japanese encephalitis vaccine in Cambodia. Vaccine 28, 4593-4599.
- Trapani, J. A. & Smyth, M. J. (2002). Functional significance of the perforin/granzyme cell death pathway. Nat Rev Immunol 2, 735-747.
- Trobaugh, D. W., Yang, L., Ennis, F. A. & Green, S. (2010). Altered effector functions of virusspecific and virus cross-reactive CD8+ T cells in mice immunized with related flaviviruses. European journal of immunology 40, 1315-1327.
- Tsai, T. F. (2000). New initiatives for the control of Japanese encephalitis by vaccination: minutes of a WHO/CVI meeting, Bangkok, Thailand, 13-15 October 1998. Vaccine 18 **Suppl 2**, 1-25.
- Tscharke, D. C., Karupiah, G., Zhou, J., Palmore, T., Irvine, K. R., Haeryfar, S. M., Williams, S., Sidney, J., Sette, A., Bennink, J. R. & Yewdell, J. W. (2005). Identification of poxvirus CD8+ T cell determinants to enable rational design and characterization of smallpox vaccines. The Journal of experimental medicine 201, 95-104.
- Tsumura, M., Okada, S., Sakai, H., Yasunaga, S., Ohtsubo, M., Murata, T., Obata, H., Yasumi, T., Kong, X. F., Abhyankar, A., Heike, T., Nakahata, T., Nishikomori, R., Al-Muhsen, S., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Casanova, J. L., Alzahrani, M., Shehri, M. A., Elghazali, G., Takihara, Y. & Kobayashi, M. (2012). Dominant-negative STAT1 SH2 domain mutations in unrelated patients with mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial disease. Human mutation 33, 1377-1387.
- Umenai, T., Krzysko, R., Bektimirov, T. A. & Assaad, F. A. (1985). Japanese encephalitis: current worldwide status. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 63, 625-631.
- Vairo, D., Tassone, L., Tabellini, G., Tamassia, N., Gasperini, S., Bazzoni, F., Plebani, A., Porta, F., Notarangelo, L. D., Parolini, S., Giliani, S. & Badolato, R. (2011). Severe impairment of IFN-gamma and IFN-alpha responses in cells of a patient with a novel STAT1 splicing mutation. *Blood* **118**, 1806-1817.
- van Abeleen, J. H. F. & Hughes, R. N. (1986). A note on behavioral divergence between two substrains of DBA/2 inbred mice. Behavior Genetics 16, 281-284.
- van de Berg, P. J., van Leeuwen, E. M., ten Berge, I. J. & van Lier, R. (2008). Cytotoxic human CD4(+) T cells. Current opinion in immunology 20, 339-343.
- van de Veerdonk, F. L., Plantinga, T. S., Hoischen, A., Smeekens, S. P., Joosten, L. A., Gilissen, C., Arts, P., Rosentul, D. C., Carmichael, A. J., Smits-van der Graaf, C. A., Kullberg, B. J., van der Meer, J. W., Lilic, D., Veltman, J. A. & Netea, M. G. (2011). STAT1 mutations in autosomal dominant chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. The New England journal of medicine **365**, 54-61.
- van den Berg, H. (2009). Global status of DDT and its alternatives for use in vector control to prevent disease. Environmental health perspectives **117**, 1656-1663.
- van den Broek, M. F., Muller, U., Huang, S., Aguet, M. & Zinkernagel, R. M. (1995). Antiviral defense in mice lacking both alpha/beta and gamma interferon receptors. Journal of virology 69, 4792-4796.

van den Hurk, A. F., Ritchie, S. A. & Mackenzie, J. S. (2009). Ecology and geographical expansion of Japanese encephalitis virus. Annual review of entomology 54, 17-35.

- van Domselaar, R. & Bovenschen, N. (2011). Cell death-independent functions of granzymes: hit viruses where it hurts. Reviews in medical virology.
- Varinou, L., Ramsauer, K., Karaghiosoff, M., Kolbe, T., Pfeffer, K., Muller, M. & Decker, T. (2003). Phosphorylation of the Stat1 transactivation domain is required for full-fledged IFN-gamma-dependent innate immunity. Immunity 19, 793-802.
- Vashist, S., Anantpadma, M., Sharma, H. & Vrati, S. (2009). La protein binds the predicted loop structures in the 3' non-coding region of Japanese encephalitis virus genome: role in virus replication. The Journal of general virology **90**, 1343-1352.
- Vaughn, D. W. & Hoke, C. H., Jr. (1992). The epidemiology of Japanese encephalitis: prospects for prevention. *Epidemiologic reviews* **14**, 197-221.

- Vidal, S. M., Malo, D., Marquis, J. F. & Gros, P. (2008). Forward genetic dissection of immunity to infection in the mouse. *Annual review of immunology* 26, 81-132.
- Vitarana, T., Jayasekera, N., Wedasinghe, N., Senaratne, A., Colombage, G. & al., e. (1988). The 1985/86 Japanese encephalitis outbreak in Sri Lanka and the impact of new irrigation schemes. In Virus Diseases in Asia, ed. P Thongcharoen, E Kurstak. Bangkok: Mahidol Univ., 193-196.
- Vogt, M. R., Moesker, B., Goudsmit, J., Jongeneelen, M., Austin, S. K., Oliphant, T., Nelson, S., Pierson, T. C., Wilschut, J., Throsby, M. & Diamond, M. S. (2009). Human monoclonal antibodies against West Nile virus induced by natural infection neutralize at a postattachment step. *Journal of virology* 83, 6494-6507.
- Voskoboinik, I., Dunstone, M. A., Baran, K., Whisstock, J. C. & Trapani, J. A. (2010). Perforin: structure, function, and role in human immunopathology. *Immunological reviews* 235, 35-54.
- Vythilingam, I., Oda, K., Mahadevan, S., Abdullah, G., Thim, C. S., Hong, C. C., Vijayamalar, B., Sinniah, M. & Igarashi, A. (1997). Abundance, parity, and Japanese encephalitis virus infection of mosquitoes (Diptera:Culicidae) in Sepang District, Malaysia. Journal of medical entomology 34, 257-262.
- Waheed, A., Grubb, J. H., Zhou, X. Y., Tomatsu, S., Fleming, R. E., Costaldi, M. E., Britton, R. S., Bacon, B. R. & Sly, W. S. (2002). Regulation of transferrin-mediated iron uptake by HFE, the protein defective in hereditary hemochromatosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 3117-3122.
- Walker, K. & Lynch, M. (2007). Contributions of Anopheles larval control to malaria suppression in tropical Africa: review of achievements and potential. *Medical and veterinary entomology* 21, 2-21.
- Wallace, M. J., Smith, D. W., Broom, A. K., Mackenzie, J. S., Hall, R. A., Shellam, G. R. & McMinn, P. C. (2003). Antibody-dependent enhancement of Murray Valley encephalitis virus virulence in mice. *The Journal of general virology* 84, 1723-1728.
- Wallner, B., Leitner, N. R., Vielnascher, R. M., Kernbauer, E., Kolbe, T., Karaghiosoff, M., Rulicke, T., Decker, T. & Muller, M. (2012). Generation of mice with a conditional Stat1 null allele. *Transgenic research* 21, 217-224.
- Walsh, C. M., Matloubian, M., Liu, C. C., Ueda, R., Kurahara, C. G., Christensen, J. L., Huang, M. T., Young, J. D., Ahmed, R. & Clark, W. R. (1994). Immune function in mice lacking the perforin gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 91, 10854-10858.
- Wang, J., Mullighan, C. G., Easton, J., Roberts, S., Heatley, S. L., Ma, J., Rusch, M. C., Chen, K., Harris, C. C., Ding, L., Holmfeldt, L., Payne-Turner, D., Fan, X., Wei, L., Zhao, D., Obenauer, J. C., Naeve, C., Mardis, E. R., Wilson, R. K., Downing, J. R. & Zhang, J. (2011). CREST maps somatic structural variation in cancer genomes with base-pair resolution. Nat Methods 8, 652-654.
- Wang, J., Taniuchi, I., Maekawa, Y., Howard, M., Cooper, M. D. & Watanabe, T. (1996). Expression and function of Fas antigen on activated murine B cells. *European journal of immunology* 26, 92-96.
- Wang, K. & Deubel, V. (2011). Mice with different susceptibility to Japanese encephalitis virus infection show selective neutralizing antibody response and myeloid cell infectivity. *PloS* one 6, e24744.
- Wang, T., Gao, Y., Scully, E., Davis, C. T., Anderson, J. F., Welte, T., Ledizet, M., Koski, R.,
- Madri, J. A., Barrett, A., Yin, Z., Craft, J. & Fikrig, E. (2006). Gamma delta T cells facilitate adaptive immunity against West Nile virus infection in mice. *Journal of immunology* **177**, 1825-1832.
- Wang, T., Scully, E., Yin, Z., Kim, J. H., Wang, S., Yan, J., Mamula, M., Anderson, J. F., Craft, J. & Fikrig, E. (2003). IFN-gamma-producing gamma delta T cells help control murine West Nile virus infection. *Journal of immunology* 171, 2524-2531.
- Wang, Y., Lobigs, M., Lee, E., Koskinen, A. & Mullbacher, A. (2006). CD8(+) T cell-mediated immune responses in West Nile virus (Sarafend strain) encephalitis are independent of gamma interferon. *The Journal of general virology* 87, 3599-3609.
- Wang, Y., Lobigs, M., Lee, E. & Mullbacher, A. (2003). CD8+ T cells mediate recovery and immunopathology in West Nile virus encephalitis. *Journal of virology* 77, 13323-13334.

- Wang, Y., Lobigs, M., Lee, E. & Mullbacher, A. (2004). Exocytosis and Fas mediated cytolytic mechanisms exert protection from West Nile virus induced encephalitis in mice. *Immunology and cell biology* 82, 170-173.
- Weiss, I. D., Shoham, H., Wald, O., Wald, H., Beider, K., Abraham, M., Barashi, N., Galun, E., Nagler, A. & Peled, A. (2011). Ccr5 deficiency regulates the proliferation and trafficking of natural killer cells under physiological conditions. *Cytokine* 54, 249-257.
- Wengler, G. & Wengler, G. (1989). Cell-associated West Nile flavivirus is covered with E+pre-M protein heterodimers which are destroyed and reorganized by proteolytic cleavage during virus release. *Journal of virology* 63, 2521-2526.
- West, A. P., Jr. & Bjorkman, P. J. (2000). Crystal structure and immunoglobulin G binding properties of the human major histocompatibility complex-related Fc receptor(,). *Biochemistry* **39**, 9698-9708.
- Westaway, E. G. & Blok, J. (1997). Taxonomy and evolutionary relationships of flaviviruses. In: Dengue and Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever. Gubler, D.J. & Kuno, G. (Eds). Wallingford: CAB International., 147-173
- Whitley, K., Hoebe, K. & Beutler, B. (2008). Poison is an allele of Stat1 and affects NK cell function and MCMV clearance. *MGI Direct Data Submission*.
- Whitmore, A. C. & Whitmore, S. P. (1985). Subline divergence within L.C. Strong's C3H and CBA inbred mouse strains. A review. *Immunogenetics* 21, 407-428.
- Whittall, T., Wang, Y., Younson, J., Kelly, C., Bergmeier, L., Peters, B., Singh, M. & Lehner, T. (2006). Interaction between the CCR5 chemokine receptors and microbial HSP70. *European journal of immunology* **36**, 2304-2314.
- Wilfert, C. M., Buckley, R. H., Mohanakumar, T., Griffith, J. F., Katz, S. L., Whisnant, J. K., Eggleston, P. A., Moore, M., Treadwell, E., Oxman, M. N. & Rosen, F. S. (1977). Persistent and fatal central-nervous-system ECHOvirus infections in patients with agammaglobulinemia. *The New England journal of medicine* 296, 1485-1489.
- Wilkin, T. J. & Gulick, R. M. (2012). CCR5 Antagonism in HIV Infection: Current Concepts and Future Opportunities. *Annual review of medicine* 63, 15.11-15.13.
- Wilkins, C. & Gale, M., Jr. (2010). Recognition of viruses by cytoplasmic sensors. Current opinion in immunology 22, 41-47.
- Williams, M. A., Tyznik, A. J. & Bevan, M. J. (2006). Interleukin-2 signals during priming are required for secondary expansion of CD8+ memory T cells. *Nature* 441, 890-893.
- Winter, P. M., Dung, N. M., Loan, H. T., Kneen, R., Wills, B., Thu le, T., House, D., White, N. J., Farrar, J. J., Hart, C. A. & Solomon, T. (2004). Proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in humans with Japanese encephalitis. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 190, 1618-1626.
- Wong, G., Goldshmit, Y. & Turnley, A. M. (2004). Interferon-gamma but not TNF alpha promotes neuronal differentiation and neurite outgrowth of murine adult neural stem cells. *Exp Neurol* **187**, 171-177.
- World Health Organization. (2006). Pesticides and their application for the control of vectors and pests of public health importance. WHO/CDS/NTD/WHOPES/GCDPP/2006.1.
- World Health Organization. (2005). Global Advisory Committee on vaccine safety. Weekly Epidemiogic Record 80, 242-243.
- Wu, K. P., Wu, C. W., Tsao, Y. P., Kuo, T. W., Lou, Y. C., Lin, C. W., Wu, S. C. & Cheng, J. W. (2003). Structural basis of a flavivirus recognized by its neutralizing antibody: solution structure of the domain III of the Japanese encephalitis virus envelope protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 278, 46007-46013.
- Wu, S. C. & Lin, C. W. (2001). Neutralizing peptide ligands selected from phage-displayed libraries mimic the conformational epitope on domain III of the Japanese encephalitis virus envelope protein. *Virus research* **76**, 59-69.
- Wu, S. F., Lee, C. J., Liao, C. L., Dwek, R. A., Zitzmann, N. & Lin, Y. L. (2002). Antiviral effects of an iminosugar derivative on flavivirus infections. *Journal of virology* **76**, 3596-3604.
- Wu, Y., Zhang, F., Ma, W., Song, J., Huang, Q. & Zhang, H. (2004). A plasmid encoding Japanese encephalitis virus PrM and E proteins elicits protective immunity in suckling mice. *Microbiology and immunology* 48, 585-590.

- Wyatt, H. V. (1973). Poliomyelitis in hypogammaglobulinemics. The Journal of infectious diseases 128, 802-806.
- Xi, Z., Khoo, C. C. & Dobson, S. L. (2005). Wolbachia establishment and invasion in an Aedes aegypti laboratory population. Science 310, 326-328.
- Xu, G., Xu, X., Li, Z., He, Q., Wu, B., Sun, S. & Chen, H. (2004). Construction of recombinant pseudorabies virus expressing NS1 protein of Japanese encephalitis (SA14-14-2) virus and its safety and immunogenicity. Vaccine 22, 1846-1853.
- Yamada, T., Rojanasuphot, S., Takagi, M., Wungkobkiat, S. & Hirota, T. (1971). Studies on an epidemic of Japanese encephalitis in the northern region of Thailand in 1969 and 1970. Biken journal 14, 267-296.
- Yamanaka, T., Tsujimura, K., Kondo, T., Yasuda, W., Okada, A., Noda, K., Okumura, T. & Matsumura, T. (2006). Isolation and genetic analysis of Japanese encephalitis virus from a diseased horse in Japan. The Journal of veterinary medical science / the Japanese Society of Veterinary Science 68, 293-295.
- Yang, D., Buchholz, F., Huang, Z., Goga, A., Chen, C. Y., Brodsky, F. M. & Bishop, J. M. (2002). Short RNA duplexes produced by hydrolysis with Escherichia coli RNase III mediate effective RNA interference in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 9942-9947.
- Yang, K. D., Yeh, W. T., Chen, R. F., Chuon, H. L., Tsai, H. P., Yao, C. W. & Shaio, M. F. (2004). A model to study neurotropism and persistency of Japanese encephalitis virus infection in human neuroblastoma cells and leukocytes. The Journal of general virology **85**, 635-642.
- Yang, P. L., Althage, A., Chung, J., Maier, H., Wieland, S., Isogawa, M. & Chisari, F. V. (2009). Immune effectors required for hepatitis B virus clearance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 798-802.
- Yang, T. C., Lai, C. C., Shiu, S. L., Chuang, P. H., Tzou, B. C., Lin, Y. Y., Tsai, F. J. & Lin, C. W. (2010). Japanese encephalitis virus down-regulates thioredoxin and induces ROSmediated ASK1-ERK/p38 MAPK activation in human promonocyte cells. Microbes and infection **12**, 643-651.
- Yates, A., Bertram, E. M. & Goodnow, C. C. (1986). Involvement of ENU induced mutant of Stat1 in the immune system. MGI Direct Data Submission.
- Ye, K., Schulz, M. H., Long, Q., Apweiler, R. & Ning, Z. (2009). Pindel: a pattern growth approach to detect break points of large deletions and medium sized insertions from paired-end short reads. Bioinformatics 25, 2865-2871.
- Yu, I. M., Holdaway, H. A., Chipman, P. R., Kuhn, R. J., Rossmann, M. G. & Chen, J. (2009). Association of the pr peptides with dengue virus at acidic pH blocks membrane fusion. Journal of virology 83, 12101-12107.
- Zajac, A. J., Dye, J. M. & Quinn, D. G. (2003). Control of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection in granzyme B deficient mice. Virology 305, 1-9.
- Zajac, A. J., Muller, D., Pederson, K., Frelinger, J. A. & Quinn, D. G. (1995). Natural killer cell activity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus-infected beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. Int Immunol 7, 1545-1556.
- Zajac, A. J., Quinn, D. G., Cohen, P. L. & Frelinger, J. A. (1996). Fas-dependent CD4+ cytotoxic T-cell-mediated pathogenesis during virus infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93, 14730-14735.
- Zanotto, P. M., Gibbs, M. J., Gould, E. A. & Holmes, E. C. (1996). A reevaluation of the higher taxonomy of viruses based on RNA polymerases. Journal of virology 70, 6083-6096.
- Zhang, M. J., Wang, M. J., Jiang, S. Z. & Ma, W. Y. (1989). Passive protection of mice, goats, and monkeys against Japanese encephalitis with monoclonal antibodies. Journal of medical virology 29, 133-138.
- Zhang, S., Vogt, M. R., Oliphant, T., Engle, M., Bovshik, E. I., Diamond, M. S. & Beasley, D. W. (2009). Development of resistance to passive therapy with a potently neutralizing humanized monoclonal antibody against West Nile virus. The Journal of infectious diseases 200, 202-205.
- Zhao, Y., De Trez, C., Flynn, R., Ware, C. F., Croft, M. & Salek-Ardakani, S. (2009). The adaptor molecule MyD88 directly promotes CD8 T cell responses to vaccinia virus. Journal of immunology 182, 6278-6286.

- Zhao, Z., Wakita, T. & Yasui, K. (2003). Inoculation of plasmids encoding Japanese encephalitis virus PrM-E proteins with colloidal gold elicits a protective immune response in BALB/c mice. *Journal of virology* 77, 4248-4260.
- Zhong, M. X., Kuziel, W. A., Pamer, E. G. & Serbina, N. V. (2004). Chemokine receptor 5 is dispensable for innate and adaptive immune responses to Listeria monocytogenes infection. *Infection and immunity* 72, 1057-1064.
- **Zhou, B., Jia, L. & Xu, X. (1999).** [A large-scale study on the safety and epidemiological efficacy of Japanese encephalitis (JE) live vaccine (SA14-14-2) in the JE endemic areas]. *Zhonghua liu xing bing xue za zhi = Zhonghua liuxingbingxue zazhi* **20**, 38-41.
- Zhou, B., Zhang, M., Chen, P. & al., e. (2001). An 11 year follow-up of epidemiological effect Japanese encephalitis vaccine, live (SA14-14-2). *Chinese Journal of Biologicals* (translated by Chengdu Institute of Biologic Products) **14**.
- Zhou, Y., Kurihara, T., Ryseck, R. P., Yang, Y., Ryan, C., Loy, J., Warr, G. & Bravo, R. (1998). Impaired macrophage function and enhanced T cell-dependent immune response in mice lacking CCR5, the mouse homologue of the major HIV-1 coreceptor. *Journal of immunology* 160, 4018-4025.
- Zhu, J., Yamane, H. & Paul, W. E. (2010). Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (*). Annual review of immunology 28, 445-489.
- Zhu, P., Martinvalet, D., Chowdhury, D., Zhang, D., Schlesinger, A. & Lieberman, J. (2009). The cytotoxic T lymphocyte protease granzyme A cleaves and inactivates poly(adenosine 5'-diphosphate-ribose) polymerase-1. *Blood* **114**, 1205-1216.
- Zhu, P., Zhang, D., Chowdhury, D., Martinvalet, D., Keefe, D., Shi, L. & Lieberman, J. (2006). Granzyme A, which causes single-stranded DNA damage, targets the doublestrand break repair protein Ku70. *EMBO reports* 7, 431-437.
- Zuliani, C., Kleber, S., Klussmann, S., Wenger, T., Kenzelmann, M., Schreglmann, N., Martinez, A., del Rio, J. A., Soriano, E., Vodrazka, P., Kuner, R., Groene, H. J., Herr, I., Krammer, P. H. & Martin-Villalba, A. (2006). Control of neuronal branching by the death receptor CD95 (Fas/Apo-1). *Cell death and differentiation* **13**, 31-40.

